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John Laing Group plc

Improving
the lives of the
communities in
which we work
John Laing is delivering infrastructure solutions.
We are investors and partners behind responsible
infrastructure projects which respond to public
needs, empower sustainable growth and improve
the lives of communities in which we work.￼
ff View our reports and presentations online
www.laing.com
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Financial highlights
Net Asset Value (‘NAV’)
at 31 December 2020

NAV per share
at 31 December 2020

Investment
commitments²

2019: £184m

Realisations

310p

£292m

Change in NAV per share
before dividends paid¹

Loss before tax

2019: +7.2%

2019: profit £100m

2019: 337p

-5.2%

1

Operational highlights

£1,529m £43m
2019: £1,658m

Financial Statements

2019: £143m

£65m

ff 5.2% decline in NAV per share before
dividends paid driven predominantly by
challenges we faced with our Renewable
Energy portfolio, principally in the first
half of the year.
ff Resilient performance from our PPP &
Projects portfolio throughout the year
and through the pandemic.
ff Significant gain on the agreed
divestment of IEP East and continued
good project delivery on a number
of key projects helped deliver a 10%
contribution to NAV in the year from
the PPP & Projects portfolio.
ff Asset-specific issues, particularly on
our solar and biomass assets, as well
as adverse external factors, resulted
in a -8% contribution to NAV from our
Renewable Energy portfolio, but there
was a much improved performance in
the second half of the year.
ff Further divestment activity of our
Renewable Energy assets in the year,
with the sale of four assets completed
and the sale of six wind farms in Australia
agreed and expected to complete in
March 2021. We continue to prioritise
the realisation of our remaining
Renewable Energy portfolio.

Total dividend per share

Our alignment to the
United Nations Sustainable
Development Goals

2019: 9.50p

ff We recognise the role of sustainable
infrastructure as central to the delivery of
the UN SDGs. Our projects have overlaps
across many of these goals and we highlight
five as priorities for our portfolio.

9.70p

COVID impact information

1 Based on NAV at 31 December 2020 plus dividends paid in the year of £47 million.
2 Based on new investment commitments secured in the year ended 31 December 2020; for further details
see the Chief Executive Officer’s Statement.

The COVID-19 pandemic has
impacted some aspects of our
business. Information is provided
across this report detailing how we
have adapted our ways of working
and the impacts on our operations.
Annual Report and Accounts 2020
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At a glance

Results for the year ended 31 December 2020
Summary financial information

£ million (unless otherwise stated)
Net asset value (‘NAV’)

Year
ended
or as at
31 December
2020

Year
ended
or as at
31 December
2019

1,529

1,658

NAV per share 1

310p

337p

NAV per share before dividends paid in the year

320p

347p

(Loss)/profit before tax

(65)

100

(13)p

20p

Dividends per share

9.70p

9.50p

Primary Investment portfolio

336

907

(Loss)/earnings per share (‘EPS’)

2

Secondary Investment portfolio

1,206

861

Total investment portfolio

1,542

1,768

– Availability-based PPP assets

721

1,008

– Volume-based PPP assets

197

153

– Renewable Energy assets

268

607

– Assets held at agreed sale price

356

–

Future investment commitments backed by letters of credit or cash collateral
Gross investment portfolio

163

219

1,705

1,987

43

184

Cash invested into projects

103

267

Proceeds from investment disposals

New investment committed during the period 3

292

143

Cash yield from investments

58

57

Available financial resources

466

314

1 Calculated as NAV at 31 December 2020 of £1,529 million divided by the number of shares in issue at 31 December 2020 of 493.1 million, excluding shares held in the EBT.
2 Basic EPS; see note 6 to the Group Financial Statements.
3 For further details, see the Chief Executive Officer’s Statement.
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Strategy

Stakeholders

Sustainability

Our vision is to evolve John Laing into a
leading international investor and manager
of balance sheet and third-party capital
across a range of infrastructure sectors.
During the year, we undertook a
comprehensive review of our strategy and
operating model. Please see pages 9 to 13
and 22 to 23 for more information.

Our stakeholders are fundamental to the
success of our business, and by engaging
in a meaningful way, we further enhance
these critical relationships, gain valuable
insight and strengthen our business. For
information as to how we have engaged
with our stakeholders during the year,
please see pages 26 to 29.

A core aspect of our new strategy will
be greater integration of ESG principles in
our management decisions and processes.
For information regarding the actions taken
and progress made during the year please
see pages 62 to 81.

Successful realisations

Investing with efficiency

Responsible investing

During the year we agreed the sale of
our 30% stake in the InterCity Express
Programme Phase 2 (‘IEP East’) for gross
proceeds of up to £422 million. For further
details regarding IEP East please see page 17.

We increased our investment in both the
I-77 Express Lanes in North Carolina and
Clarence Correctional Centre in Australia
during the year. Please see page 15 for
more information.

A new end-to-end train line across
Melbourne will greatly improve the capacity
across the city’s rail network and reduce
travel times for passengers. For more details
regarding our responsible investing, please
see pages 68 to 75.

3
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Chairman’s statement

A stronger and better positioned
John Laing is emerging. Our new
strategy and the actions we are
taking provide a solid foundation
for the next phase of the Group’s
evolution and growth.”
Will Samuel
Chairman

John Laing Group plc

Overview

Financial highlights
of the year
Net Asset Value (‘NAV’)

£1,529m
31 Dec 2019: £1,658m
NAV per share

310p

31 Dec 2019: 337p
Total dividend
per share

9.70p
2019: 9.50p
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Positioning
John Laing
for sustainable
growth
T he COVID-19 pandemic has had a profound impact
on us all. I am very proud of how the John Laing team
has responded, keeping essential public infrastructure
running smoothly and supporting colleagues,
communities, partners and clients through the crisis.

The well-being of our people has been paramount
and we have introduced a number of initiatives
during the year to support the team. On behalf
of the Board, I would like to thank all of our
people for their continued dedication and
commitment during these challenging times.
I would also like to extend the Board’s thanks
to all of our stakeholders for their continued
support.
From a performance perspective, 2020 was
a challenging year for John Laing. We reported
a loss before tax for 2020 of £65 million, well
below our result in 2019, which led to a reduction
in our NAV per share before dividends paid of
5% (-7% at constant currency). While our PPP
portfolio consistently demonstrated its
resilience throughout the year, the pandemic
served to compound the challenges in our
Renewable Energy portfolio, particularly in the
first half when our NAV reduced by 6% (-10%
at constant currency), driven predominantly
by a -7% NAV contribution from the Renewable
Energy portfolio (-9% at constant currency).
I am pleased to say that we turned a corner
in the second half, with a much-improved
performance. During the last six months of
2020, the Group as a whole delivered 1% NAV
growth, which improved to a 5% underlying NAV
growth after excluding a net foreign exchange
loss of £44 million and a loss on our pension

schemes of £16 million in the period, in line
with our guidance at the half year. Within this
5% underlying NAV growth was a significantly
smaller 1% decline from the Renewable Energy
portfolio in the second half, and steady 1%
underlying growth after excluding the impact
of lower power prices of £36 million in H2.
We have made significant progress towards
our objective of realising our assets in the
Renewable Energy portfolio, and we are
focusing on reducing the volatility of returns
that was a feature of our results during 2019
and the first half of 2020.
It has also been a year of looking to the future
for the Group, with the appointment of a
new Chief Executive and the completion of
a strategic review. In April 2020, we announced
the appointment of Ben Loomes as Chief
Executive. Ben took up his role on 8 May,
bringing with him over 20 years of experience
in the infrastructure sector. We are delighted
to have secured someone of his calibre and
experience, and believe we have appointed
a Chief Executive with the right skills to lead
John Laing in the next phase of its growth
and development. Ben has made a significant
positive impact already with the review and
announcement of our new strategy last year,
as well as growing and developing key talent
in the business.
Annual Report and Accounts 2020
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Chairman’s statement continued

Delivering responsible infrastructure solutions
Growth underpinned by focus on sustainable investments, responsible asset management, and diverse and engaged talent

Diverse and
engaged talent

Delivering
sustainable
growth

Responsible
investment and
asset management

Good corporate
citizenship

When we appointed Ben, the Board’s mandate
was that he should review the Group’s overall
strategy and address our performance; we also
asked him to clarify and sharpen our investment
strategy.
Ben launched a comprehensive review of the
business and the outputs were presented
at our Capital Markets & Strategy Update on
25 November 2020, as discussed further below.
Alongside this, he launched a range of other
business improvement initiatives and has made
a very positive impact during his first ten months
as Chief Executive.
Greenfield infrastructure is, and will remain,
part of John Laing’s DNA. Our new strategy
will focus on playing to the Group’s strengths
in developing new infrastructure assets. John
Laing’s infrastructure end markets have arguably
never been stronger. Our new strategy seeks to
evolve our model and better position the Group
to fully capitalise on the opportunities available.
By broadening our investment platform beyond
PPP, John Laing will be better positioned to do
this and to deliver sustainable growth over the
medium to long term.

John Laing Group plc

Sustainability is at the heart of the new strategy;
responsible investing has always been integral
to our model and success. It is also central to
our purpose, which remains to create value for
all stakeholders by investing in, developing and
actively managing infrastructure which responds
to public needs, foster sustainable growth
and improve the lives of communities around
the world. However, there is much more we
can and will do. Our growth and returns will be
underpinned by a focus on sustainable assets,
a diverse team and responsible asset
management.
Underpinning our strategy are our culture and
values. The Board recognises the importance of
its role in setting the tone for the Group’s culture
and embedding it throughout the business. The
values and standards of behaviour we set are an
important influence and there are strong links
between governance, strategy and establishing
a culture that supports long-term success.
Our culture is monitored in a number of ways
including employee engagement, employee
turnover rates, compliance with policies and

processes, and formal and informal channels
for employees to raise concerns including via
our whistleblowing programme. Although direct
engagement has been limited during the year
as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we
launched various initiatives to ensure workforce
engagement has continued, and we will be
developing this further in early 2021 (please
see pages 27, 66 and 86 for further details).
John Laing is committed to building a diverse
team by attracting talented people with a broad
range of skills and experience and this starts
with the Board as demonstrated by our
appointments during the year.
Following the retirement of Toby Hiscock at the
Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’) on 7 May 2020,
Philip Keller succeeded Toby as Chair of the
Audit & Risk Committee.
In August 2020, Luciana Germinario stood
down from her position as Chief Financial
Officer. After the year end, we announced the
appointment of a new Chief Financial Officer,

Overview

Rob Memmott, with effect from 6 January 2021.
I am delighted to welcome Rob to John Laing,
and believe that his strong financial and listed
company experience will play a crucial role in
supporting our strategy and future growth.
Having served on the Board for six years,
Anne Wade decided to retire as Non-executive
Director and Chair of the Remuneration
Committee with effect from 31 January 2021.
During her time on the Board, Anne has played
a strong and active role, for which we are
enormously grateful. Andrea Abt has succeeded
Anne as Chair of the Remuneration Committee
with effect from 1 February 2021, having served
as a member of the Committee since her
appointment to the Board in May 2018. Andrea
stepped down from her role as a member of the
Audit & Risk Committee on 31 December 2020.
Towards the end of the year, we welcomed
Leanne Bell and Lisa Stone as Non-executive
Directors. Both joined the Audit & Risk,
Nomination and Remuneration Committees
with effect from 1 December 2020. Given their
considerable international investment and
infrastructure experience, I have no doubt
that they will make a significant contribution.
Since March 2020, the Board has changed its
way of working with all meetings taking place
by video conference. In addition to the regular
scheduled Board meetings, we have had a larger
than usual number of additional Board meetings
to monitor the impact of COVID-19 and to
discuss the output of the strategic review.
We continued our focus on our ESG approach
as well as the development of our diversity and
inclusion strategy and the plans to implement
these. The Board complied with all applicable
provisions of the 2018 UK Corporate Governance
Code (the ‘Code’).

Strategic Report

Governance

Our dividend policy remains unchanged and
consists of two parts – an annual base dividend
growing at least in line with inflation; and a
special dividend which enables shareholders
to share in the success of realisations and which
pays out approximately 5-10% of gross proceeds
from the sale of investments on an annual basis,
subject to specific investment requirements
in any one year. For 2020, the Board is
recommending:
•

a final base dividend of 3.76p per share,
an above inflation increase of 2.2% on the
prior year; and

•

a special dividend of 4.06p per share, which
represents a pay-out equivalent to 8.7%
of gross proceeds of £230 million eligible
to be included in the 2020 special dividend
calculation. Eligible proceeds consist of
£292 million received during the year, less
£62 million of proceeds included in the 2019
special dividend calculation.

Financial Statements
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In summary, 2020 has not been without its
challenges, but I believe we have ended the year
in a much stronger position than we started.
On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank the
entire John Laing team for their dedication and
commitment through this period of significant
change and against the challenges posed by the
COVID-19 pandemic. I am confident that our
new strategy, under Ben and the management
team’s leadership, and the actions taken during
the last six months, provide a solid foundation
for the next phase of the Group’s evolution
and growth.

Will Samuel
Chairman

The total final dividend therefore amounts to
7.82p per share. Including the interim dividend
of 1.88p per share paid in October 2020, the
total dividend for 2020 is 9.70p per share, 2.1%
higher than the 2019 total dividend per share
of 9.50p.
The divestments of the second tranche of
IEP East and the Australian wind farm portfolio,
agreed during 2020, and which have completed
or are expected to complete in 2021, provide
shareholders with good visibility for dividends
in 2021. At present, proceeds from these
disposals which are eligible to be included in
the 2021 special dividend amount to £356 million.
There is potential for upside through further
realisations planned for 2021.

Annual Report and Accounts 2020
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Chief Executive Officer’s statement

2020 was a year of change at John Laing.
During the course of last year, we set out
the Company’s future strategy in order
to deliver more sustainable returns going
forward. The solid and stable second half
performance is a demonstration of the
progress that has been made in a short
period of time. In particular, our PPP &
Projects portfolio has demonstrated
its resilience throughout the year and
made a strong contribution to NAV.”
Ben Loomes
Chief Executive Officer

John Laing Group plc
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A strong platform for growth
We enter 2021 in a much stronger position, with a clear strategy
and vision. I am confident in the outlook, and excited to be
leading a business that makes a real difference to society on
the next stage of its growth and evolution.

saw momentum returning to our investing
activity after a quiet first half, including the
acquisitions of additional stakes in two of our
existing PPP projects.
With our new strategy, and good progress
made in implementing changes to develop our
business, I am confident that we will be able to
deliver attractive and sustainable shareholder
returns in the future.

We will continue to create value for all stakeholders by investing
in, developing and actively managing infrastructure that
responds to public needs.

A leading greenfield infrastructure platform
Shortly after joining John Laing as Chief
Executive in May last year, I launched a
comprehensive review of the business.
The outputs of this review were presented
at our Capital Markets & Strategy Update on
25 November, at which I set out our future
strategy for John Laing.

Our people are our greatest asset and
their mental and physical well-being is
paramount. We have adapted well to new
ways of working and, throughout the
pandemic, the team has successfully worked
with our clients and partners to keep
essential public infrastructure running.

John Laing has a great many strengths, not least
our strong competitive position, skilled people
and track record in greenfield infrastructure
development. Our new strategy builds on these
strengths and will leave us better placed to
capitalise on the positive market outlook for
infrastructure investment around the world.
The review also identified a number of areas
where we can do better, and where there are
real opportunities to strengthen our business
and enhance future shareholder returns.

I am pleased with the improvement and stability
in our financial and operational performance
during the second half of 2020 after a challenging
first half of the year. As I set out in more detail
later in this statement, our NAV per share before
dividends paid fell by 5% for the year as a whole.
But after a 6% decline in the first half of the year,
we delivered 1% NAV growth in the second half,
with good underlying growth of 5% at constant
currency and excluding a pension loss, driven by
a continued strongly positive performance from
our PPP portfolio and a more stable performance
from the Renewable Energy portfolio.

We have not delayed in making changes and
a number of actions were implemented ahead
of November’s strategic update. The progress
made to date is testament to the commitment
of the John Laing team, and the actions taken
to date are described in more detail in the
following pages.

Over its history, John Laing has invested in
around 150 projects and, as a result, has
developed strong credentials and a network
of valuable relationships with both construction
partners and clients.
At its core, John Laing creates value through
a combination of approaches:

•

Sourcing primary investments:
through winning publicly procured bids
and structuring arrangements with project
partners and clients. Our investment team
has an extensive network of relationships
with international and local partners and
we have a strong reputation with clients.

•

We also had a strong second half for divestment
activity, with the announced sales of our
investments in IEP East and our Australian wind
farm portfolio at premia to book value, and we

Active project management:
our asset management teams are
experienced in managing complex projects
through construction. And, as part of that, we
actively manage stakeholder relationships to
make sure issues are resolved promptly and
that programmes are delivered successfully.

Our competitive strengths
Sourcing and winning
greenfield projects

Project management
skills

• Extensive network
of partnerships with
industry leaders

• Experienced team
managing complex
construction
programmes

• Strong credentials and
reputation with clients
• Recognised structuring
expertise

• Actively managing
stakeholder relationships
to ensure successful
delivery

International footprint

Track record

Balance sheet capital

• Good footprint in key
infrastructure markets

• Strong investment track
record of successful PPP
realisations, achieving
>3x our investment

• Strong balance sheet
and liquidity

• Local teams and
resources on the ground

• Access to permanent
and flexible capital

• Invested in c.150
projects globally

Strong and proven greenfield infrastructure platform

Annual Report and Accounts 2020
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•

Realising secondary assets for value:
our team has a strong track record of
realising operational assets to secondary
market investors and generating good
value uplifts.

•

•

Realised money multiples1

Realised value2
>£75m

10x

International: we have an international

9x

£25m-75m

team, where we have local teams and
resources in our key markets, in the UK
and Europe, North America, Australia and
in Latin America.

8x

<£25m

Partnerships: over many years, and with

4x

our track record of successfully winning and
delivering projects, we have established a
strong network of partners across all of our
regions. This is critical because it means we
can team up with the best partners for bids.

•

Our strong PPP investment track record

7x
6x

1 Post-IPO realisations.

5x

2 Achieved value
at disposal in GBP
converted at the
FX rate of the date
of disposals.

3x
2x
1x
0x
2015

Year of disposal

2020

Proven and long-term track record:
we have a consistently strong investment
track record in PPP, particularly in the
transport and social infrastructure sectors.
Since our IPO, we have realised assets at an
average multiple of cash invested of over
three times. This is a demonstration of the
value that we are able to create in the
projects we invest in and manage.

A clear vision and strategy
Our vision is to evolve John Laing into a leading
international investor and manager of balance
sheet and third-party capital across a range
of infrastructure sectors. Our strategy is built
around three priorities, or strategic pillars, that
have emerged from our review – grow, optimise
and enhance. We are targeting returns over the
medium-term of 9-12% per annum.
Grow: we plan to build John Laing into a broader
platform with complementary infrastructure
investment businesses: a strong Greenfield PPP
& Projects business, with a second engine for
growth in mid-market Core-plus infrastructure

Money multiples
calculated as disposal
proceeds plus cash
yields received divided
by total cash invested.

Strong track record of value creation with weighted average money multiple of over 3x

businesses. Together, these will provide us
with scale and diversity and allow us to grow.
Optimise: most of the initiatives to optimise
John Laing are already completed or well
underway and are expected to deliver
improvements in 2021. These include a
more disciplined and centralised approach
to portfolio and capital management.
The Group has substantially delivered the
annualised run-rate operating cost savings
of £6 million that we announced in November
and we will be reinvesting these savings
into growth initiatives including in building
a Core-plus investment business.
Enhance: following a review of our capabilities
and talent in 2020, we have already made
changes to the leadership team. We have also
brought new capabilities and skillsets into the

Group with a number of key hires. Further
recruitment is underway, particularly for
a Core-plus investment team. During 2021,
we will further develop our approach to
ESG, particularly with respect to metrics,
reporting and transparency. Finally, there
are opportunities to enhance our financial
and funding model, and in the medium- to
-longer-term there is a clear opportunity
to further leverage our platform and create
additional shareholder value through building
a third-party capital business.
With a more diverse portfolio, scale and
third-party capital, we can generate an
attractive combination of capital upside and
income, with sustainable and growing annual
profits available for distribution.

A clear vision and strategy
A leading international investor and manager of balance sheet and third-party capital across a range of infrastructure sectors, delivering attractive
and sustainable shareholder returns over the longer term.
Diversified and scalable
platform
Over time, developing scale
through a broad range of
investment mandates across
complementary infrastructure
sectors with different risk and
return characteristics, which
together provide an attractive
balance of capital gains and
income yield for our
shareholders.

John Laing Group plc

Efficient operating model

Strong financial
and funding model

Cost-competitive operating
platform, common to all
investment businesses, with
disciplined investment, asset
management and risk processes
underpinning performance.

Investing our balance sheet
alongside managing third-party
funds, generating a combination
of capital upside as well as
sustainable and growing
annual profits.

Integrated ESG principles
Growth underpinned by a focus
on sustainable investments,
responsible asset management,
and engaged and diverse talent.
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Our strategic pillars and priorities
Grow

Optimise

Enhance

Refocus and optimise core greenfield
PPP business

Portfolio and capital management

Organisation and capabilities

Grow adjacent greenfield projects
alongside PPP

Operating costs and efficiencies

ESG strategy and integration

Build Core-plus investment capabilities

Processes and operating model

Financial and funding model

Assess opportunities to grow
platform inorganically

Grow
Our aim is to create a scalable and more
diversified platform that leverages our deep
greenfield infrastructure expertise and track
record and which will position John Laing for
sustainable growth. In order to fully capture the
market opportunity, John Laing will invest in PPP
projects and adjacent greenfield infrastructure
projects as well as mid-market Core-plus
infrastructure businesses and platforms.
1.

Refocus and optimise our core greenfield
PPP business: going forward, we will focus
our resources on those markets where we
have demonstrable competitive advantage
and see the best opportunities – namely,
the US, Australia and Colombia. We have
reduced costs in other locations, including
in the UK and Europe where the traditional

PPP market has matured and where future
opportunities are likely to be limited in
the short to medium term. In the UK and
Europe, we are reinvesting in new talent
that brings investment capabilities in new
areas, including in energy transition
(see below).
2. Grow adjacent greenfield projects: as we
look to grow John Laing further, we will
focus on new areas that play to our strengths
and our proven capabilities in developing
greenfield PPP projects. An immediate
opportunity for us to grow is to invest in
‘PPP-like’ projects, which we call adjacent
greenfield projects.
We already have experience in areas that are
PPP-like and in adjacent sectors such as in
waste-to-energy. For example, we won the

bid for East Rockingham in 2019 which is
a waste-to-energy facility in Australia.
These types of projects are similar to PPP,
and they have a similar risk-return profile.
Our counterparties can be public sector
clients like in PPP, or highly-rated private
sector clients. We are seeing more of these
types of opportunities in a broader range
of sectors, including in electrification of
transport, specialised accommodation,
campus energy and water. We are able to
leverage our existing teams on the ground
and networks in our key geographical
markets. Many of our existing partners are
already investing in these areas, and so that
provides us with good access.

Adjacent greenfield project opportunities

Waste-to-energy

Campus energy

Plants generating
electricity and/or heat
from treatment of waste,
with largely contracted
revenues.

Projects related to
modernisation and
operation of campus
energy and utilities
facilities.

Specialised
accommodation
Greenfield housing
projects with a mix of
private rents and social
or affordable housing.

Water
Including water
treatment, water supply
and desalination.

Decarbonisation
of transport
Electrification of transport
(e.g. public transport) and
supporting infrastructure
including vehicle charging.

Annual Report and Accounts 2020
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A key example of this relates to climate
change energy transition. There is a
global focus on sustainable infrastructure
and tackling climate change with many
countries re-affirming Net Zero targets
and announcing ambitious plans for
decarbonisation of their economies.

Characteristics of Core-plus:
Operational businesses or platforms
with good growth potential
Attractive risk-adjusted returns
Asset intensive with strong
market position

To deliver Net Zero will require significant
investment in infrastructure, including
renewal and adaptation of existing
infrastructure, as well as the developing and
building of new infrastructure. John Laing has
proven capabilities in the development of
new infrastructure globally, and we expect
energy transition to be a major opportunity
for our business over the next decade and
beyond. John Laing already has experience
in waste-to-energy projects, electrification
of rail, and renewable energy generation.

Provide essential or critical services
Long-term resilient cash flow
Acceptable level of demand
or market risk
As outlined in the Market Outlook section
on pages 18 to 21, Core-plus offers a large
and growing market in our key geographies
and is complementary to our PPP business
given the potential to invest in larger equity
tickets at similar returns. We will look to
use our own balance sheet and third-party
capital to manage balance sheet
concentration over time.

Due to their high emissions profile, a focus
on the infrastructure asset classes of power,
buildings, transport and industry will be key
to achieving Net Zero. Additionally, digital
infrastructure will be an important enabler
of decarbonisation, such as smarter energy
systems.
For example, in the transport sector,
decarbonisation is needed across road and
rail, where John Laing has extensive project
experience and credentials. Electrification
of transport, both private vehicles as well
as public modes of transport, and the
associated charging infrastructure will have
a key role to play. We also see emerging
opportunities in low carbon fuel alternatives
for homes, businesses and industry, for
example hydrogen and biomethane. There
are already examples of infrastructure-type
investments in district heating, battery
storage and smart energy meters.
3. Build a mid-market Core-plus investment
capability: ‘Core-plus’ infrastructure
investments possess many of the
characteristics that we see in our current
portfolio. The risk-adjusted returns are also
similar to those of greenfield PPP and
adjacent projects. The difference is that
these investments are in business or
platforms, and they offer more growth
potential as well as yield.

Success in this area will require a specialist
Core-plus investment team; building this will
take time, but I am confident we can do so.
We will also benefit from our longstanding
relationships with our partners and from our
existing international footprint.
4. Assess opportunities to grow
inorganically: our primary focus will be on
organic growth, but there are also existing
infrastructure investment platforms
which could provide inorganic growth
opportunities, bringing investment talent,
scale and assets into the Group. We will
continue to review these opportunities
alongside our existing organic growth plans.

Optimise
1.

Portfolio and capital management: our
near-term focus is on actively managing
the remaining Renewable Energy portfolio
for value over the next two years (2021 to
2022) and on realising these assets at the
right time and under the right conditions
in order to maximise value for shareholders.
We have made material progress during
2020, having announced the divestment
of ten Renewable Energy assets for total
proceeds of £228 million. We are launching
further divestment processes during 2021.
We have also identified a ‘tail’ of operational
assets which add limited value to the portfolio,
either because they are low-yielding and/or
sub-scale. We are actively seeking to realise
these assets, which should enhance overall
portfolio returns and efficiency.

John Laing Group plc

Another way in which we can improve
resource efficiency is by increasing our
stakes in existing projects as we did with
the I-77 and Clarence Correctional Centre in
2020, which is discussed further on page 15.
2. Operating cost efficiencies: we identified
in 2020 annualised run-rate cost savings
of £6 million, or c.13% of our estimated
run-rate cost base, of which £4 million
had been achieved by the end of 2020 with
the remainder expected in 2021. In time,
there are also likely to be further efficiencies
as we realise our Renewable Energy assets
and address the ‘tail’. The savings will be
reinvested in growth areas, including in
building a Core-plus investment business.
3. Processes and operating model: following
a detailed review of our processes, we
have implemented a number of changes
to increase central control and oversight,
and improve efficiency. We will continue to
maintain strong local investment and asset
management teams, but these are now
supported by much stronger centralised
processes and controls.
We have also combined our Investment and
Divestment Committees and added to its
depth of investment experience, including
the addition of Susan Shehata as a senior
adviser, and introduced a more systematic
approach to filtering new investment
opportunities.

Enhance
1.

Organisation and capabilities: to capitalise
on new opportunities and sectors, it is
critical that we bring in seasoned investors
with strong investment track records
in areas such as adjacent sectors and
Core-plus. This recruitment is underway
and is a key priority for 2021.
A diverse and engaged team is a
competitive advantage. A detailed review
of our capabilities and talent in 2020 has led
to a number of changes to the management
team, including the promotion of Clare
Underwood to the role of Chief Operating
Officer and the appointment of Anthony
Phillips and Justin Bailey as Co-Heads of
PPP & Greenfield Projects; Ariam EnraghtMoony has joined us as Group HR Director.
In early 2021, we announced the appointment
of Rob Memmott as Chief Financial Officer,
who joined the business in early January. In
addition, we recently hired Angenika Kunne
as Investment Director in Europe focusing
on adjacent greenfield projects and
development businesses, partially in energy
transition, and we recruited Christopher
Reeves as our ESG Director to bring focus
to this implementation.
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Vision: attractive balance of capital returns and income
Future shape of John Laing – building out the platform
Investment mandate

Greenfield PPP & Projects

Adjacent Greenfield Projects

Mid-market Core-plus

Asset type

Project

Project

Growth business or platform

Client/counterparties

Public sector, e.g. government,
local authority

‘Public sector like’, e.g. subsidies,
guaranteed off-take

Private sector/businesses, e.g. utility,
internet services provider

Example sectors

Transport: roads, rail, bridges
Social: hospitals, education

Waste-to-energy, Campus energy,
Specialised accommodation,
Decarbonisation of transport, Water

Economic infrastructure across a range
of sectors, including transport, digital,
and energy transition

Value creation

Construction of project through
to operation, delivering value
enhancements and return shift

Construction of project through
to operation, delivering value
enhancements and return shift

Growth and de-risking of business over
time into core economic infrastructure

Exit to secondary market or hold for yield Exit to secondary market or hold for yield Exit to secondary market or hold for
further growth and yield
Typical equity
investment range

£25-75 million

£25-75 million

£100-300 million

Growth opportunity

US, Australia and Colombia

Further growth through adjacencies
and leveraging existing platform

Significant opportunity to scale

Building a more diversified and scalable platform

We also need to ensure that our
remuneration strategy is aligned with our
strategy and shareholders’ interests, and
able to attract new talent and motivate the
existing team. We plan to launch a detailed
review in 2021. Please refer to the Directors’
Remuneration Report for more details
(pages 108 to 130).
2. ESG strategy and integration: John Laing’s
projects have fundamental benefits for
society, and investing in assets that respond
to local communities’ needs remains at the
core of our purpose. We intend to significantly
enhance our approach to ESG and bring
much greater ambition to bear.
During 2020, we retained our B score in the
CDP Climate Change Programme, we are
reporting in this Annual Report & Accounts

under Taskforce on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures (‘TCFD’) for the second
time, and have signed up to the United
Nations Principles for Responsible
Investment (‘UNPRI’).
Looking ahead, we are committed to a
greater level of accountability. As mentioned
earlier, we appointed an ESG Director to
focus on embedding ESG in general and
sustainability in particular into the Group
strategy along with evolving our reporting
and target-setting across our investment
portfolio and corporate footprint.
3. Financial and funding model: John Laing
is well-funded, and our near-term priority
is to invest our own balance sheet. Over
the medium to longer term, a balance sheet
only approach is likely to be a constraint

on growth. Introducing third-party capital
would significantly strengthen our financial
and funding model while also enhancing
our returns – it will give us greater flexibility,
particularly where larger equity investments
are required. It will also generate annual fee
income to offset operating costs and
enhance return on equity. Building a material
third-party fund management business will
take time; it is our ambition to do so over the
next five years.
A key priority for 2021 will be to consider
other ways to enhance our model and
reduce volatility in our results by
undertaking a broader review of liabilities
management. This will be led by Rob, and
will include a review of our policies and
approach to debt facilities, leverage and
foreign exchange hedging.

Vision: attractive balance of capital returns and income
Business line

PPP & Projects

Economic Infrastructure

Investment mandate

Greenfield PPP & Projects

Brownfield PPP & Projects

Mid-market Core-plus

Core

Primary return type

Capital return

Income yield

Capital return

Income yield

Value creation strategy

Development and
construction of project
through to operation

Maximise value:
Hold for yield, or
Exit to secondary market
or managed funds

Growth and de-risking
of business over time to
develop into Core economic
infrastructure

Maximise value:
Hold for yield, or
Exit to secondary market
or managed funds

Illustrative funding model
and capital allocation

Balance sheet: 90%
Third-party: 10%

Balance sheet: 10%
Third-party: 90%

Balance sheet: 40%
Third-party: 60%

Balance sheet: 10%
Third-party: 90%

Financial model:
return drivers for JLG

Capital return

Income yield
Fee income

Capital return
Fee income

Fee income
Income yield

Providing an attractive financial model with a balance of capital return and income to shareholders
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Performance
The overall result for 2020 was heavily
influenced by a challenging first half which
saw some significant value reductions, mainly
in our Renewable Energy portfolio. In 2020,
a loss before tax of £65 million was a key driver
in our NAV per share reducing from 337p at
31 December 2019 to 310p at 31 December 2020.
This represents a reduction of 5% before
dividends paid.
This does not tell the full story of the year or
the portfolio. Our performance in the second
half was materially better than in the first half and
much more stable, with NAV returning to growth
and a strong performance from our PPP portfolio
throughout the year. During the second half of
the year, growth in NAV per share was 1% (3%
at constant currency). Excluding a net adverse
impact from foreign exchange movements and
a loss under IAS 19 on the pensions scheme,
growth in the second half was 5%.

PPP & Projects portfolio
At the end of 2020, the PPP & Projects portfolio
valuation was £918 million, excluding the
investment in IEP East which is held at the
agreed sale price.
For the year as a whole, the PPP portfolio
contributed 10% (9% at constant currency to NAV
growth) helped by the gain on the sale of IEP East.
A resilient performance in the first half, when the
PPP & Projects portfolio contributed 3% to NAV
(1% at constant currency), was followed by a
strong second half performance which delivered
a NAV contribution of 7% (9% at constant
currency), including a significant divestment
gain on IEP East (4% NAV contribution).

during the second half, with underlying growth
in the portfolio value contributing 1% to NAV
growth, excluding power prices and foreign
exchange movements. Positive value creation
from the portfolio was more than offset by
reduced power prices, predominantly in the
fourth quarter, resulting in a reported reduction
in the portfolio value of £18 million in the second
half of the year.

Continued good project delivery
throughout the pandemic
Throughout the pandemic, the well-being of
our people, partners, clients and communities
has been our foremost priority. Our business
continuity plans were initiated at the outset of the
pandemic and the team has worked well remotely.
Our assets and teams responded well to
the challenges presented by the pandemic,
progressing projects under construction and
maintaining asset availability. With construction
work regarded as an essential activity in most of
the territories in which we operate, our primary
assets experienced very limited construction
delays. For our operational assets, our teams have
successfully supported the public sector to keep
essential infrastructure running smoothly.
We continued to make progress with some
of our largest PPP projects, realising further
embedded value in the portfolio. Key milestones
achieved in the second half include:
•

IEP East, our rolling stock replacement
project in the UK: the 65th and final train
was accepted in September, shortly before
we agreed the sale of our investment.

•

New Generation Rollingstock, our rolling
stock replacement project in South East
Queensland: the 75th and final train was
accepted in December.

•

Denver Eagle, a commuter rail link project
in the US: the final completion certificate
was issued in November, and the project
was successfully refinanced in December.

•

I-4, our availability-based road project in
Florida: the general use lanes and I-4/SR408
interchange completed, a major milestone
for the project.

Renewable Energy portfolio
The Renewable Energy portfolio valuation as
at 31 December 2020 was £268 million, excluding
the investments in the Australian wind farms
which are held at an agreed sale price. The
portfolio reduced NAV by 8% (-10% excluding
foreign exchange), largely reflecting value
reductions in the first half of the year. The
portfolio had a much more stable performance

Across our secondary portfolio, asset availability
was maintained broadly in line with expectations.
In the face of the pandemic, we are pleased with
the performance of our two operational volumebased roads projects, the A130 in the UK and the
I-77. Traffic volumes on both fell sharply initially,
hitting their lows in April 2020, but saw a strong
recovery during the rest of the second quarter
and have been largely steady during the second
half of the year. Further detail is also provided
in the Business Review section (pages 30 to 37).

Strong year for realisations
2020 was an exceptionally strong year for
realisations, particularly the second half when
we were pleased to be able to announce the sale
of our investments in IEP East and our Australian
wind farm portfolio:
•

In September, we announced the sale
of our 30% interest in IEP East at an uplift
of up to 22% to the 30 June 2020 valuation,
representing a money multiple of up to
5.8x on our original investment. The first
stage of the transaction for the sale of a 15%
interest completed in October 2020. The
second stage for the sale of the remaining
15% interest will complete no later than
27 October 2021 at the Group’s election.

•

The sale of our Australian wind farm
portfolio for AUD285 million (approximately
£158 million) was announced in October, at an
uplift of 3% to the 30 June 2020 valuation and
representing a money multiple of 1.5x on the
original investment. The sale is expected to
complete in March 2021.

Total proceeds received in the year amounted
to £292 million. A further £356 million of
proceeds are expected to be received in 2021.
As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s secondary
assets portfolio was valued at £850 million,
excluding the investments above where disposal
has been agreed and which are held at an agreed
sale price. A material proportion of our secondary
portfolio is made up of availability-based revenue
projects with good yield characteristics, which
are expected to be highly attractive prospects
for realisation.

12 realisations including ten Renewable Energy assets
Date announced

Realised projects

Sector

Country

Total
proceeds

Cash proceeds
received in 2020

16 March 2020

Buckthorn Wind Farm

Renewable Energy

US

£44m

23 March 2020

Pasilly Wind Farm
St Martin Wind Farm
Sommette Wind Farm

Renewable Energy

France

£26m

5 May 2020

Auckland South Corrections Facility

Social Infrastructure

New Zealand

18 September 2020

IEP East

Rail

19 October 2020

Australian wind farm portfolio (six assets) Renewable Energy

Total realisations in 2020
John Laing Group plc

vs Book
value

Money
multiple

£44m

-1%

0.9x

£26m

+2%

1.0x

£18m

£18m

-1%

2.5x

UK

up to £422m

£204m

+22%

5.8x

Australia

£158m

–

+3%

1.5x

£292m
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Our near-term priority is to realise our remaining Renewable Energy assets, and we remain committed to realising these at the right time and under the right
conditions in order to maximise value for shareholders. In turn, this will reduce the exposure of the portfolio to merchant power prices and reduce volatility
in the portfolio value and returns.
The Group’s dividend policy allows shareholders to share directly in the Group’s realisation successes.
New investment commitments totalled £43 million for the year, substantially all of which related to acquisitions of additional stakes in the I-77 and
Clarence Correctional Centre (see below). In the first half of the year, we invested an additional £2 million in MBTA, our fare collection and ticketing
system upgrade project in Boston, USA, as part of a scope expansion and refinancing of the project.

New investment commitments of £43 million
Investment

Region

Sectors

Country

June 2020

MBTA

Transport - roads and other

US

Committed

£2m

November 2020

I-77 Express Lanes

Transport - roads and other

US

£29m

December 2020

Clarence Correctional Centre

Social Infrastructure

Australia

£12m

Acquisitions of additional stakes in existing PPP projects
Increasing our stakes in existing PPP projects enables us to grow NAV and invest more
capital for the same management resources, increasing our resource efficiency.

I-77 Express Lanes
The I-77 Express Lanes is a public private
partnership between the North Carolina
Department of Transportation and I-77
Mobility Partners to alleviate congestion
and enable faster, more reliable journeys.
The project included rebuilding the existing
highway and creating managed lanes with
variable electronic tolling to improve traffic
flow and provide drivers with choice.
Since first investing in the project in 2015,
we have worked closely with our partners to
de-risk the project through the construction
phase and bring it into operation in late 2019,
including active financial support for technical
enhancements to improve the user experience
and increase revenues.
The I-77 is strategically located in a catchment
area exposed to positive economic and
demographic trends. The reduction in
congestion, and associated ‘stop-go’ traffic,
coupled with pricing mechanisms designed
to encourage the use of carpools should also

reduce emissions and pollution to create
more liveable local areas.
In November 2020, we invested £29 million to
acquire an additional 7.45% from an existing
partner, taking our overall shareholding in the
project to 17.45%. This enabled us to increase
our stake in an attractive asset with a 50-year
concession, located in a growing metropolitan
area and which has considerable opportunities
for further value creation and growth.

Clarence Correctional Centre
Clarence is a public private partnership
project between the New South Wales
Government and the NorthernPathways
consortium to design, build, finance and
maintain a 1,700 bed correctional centre
in Grafton, New South Wales.
Since investing in Clarence in 2017, John Laing
has played a lead role in the development and
delivery of the project. The project company
management team consists entirely of
John Laing employees who, working closely

with our partners, have been instrumental in
leading the project through the design and
construction phase and achieving the on-time
commencement of operations in July 2020.
The project created over 1,200 jobs
during construction and will employ up to
600 permanent staff once fully operational.
Clarence has an innovative approach to the
education and reintegration of offenders into
the community which includes industry and
community partnerships to provide vocational
training, and operates a results-focused
model aimed at reducing recidivism rates.
In December 2020, we invested £12 million
to acquire an additional 10% interest from
construction partner John Holland Group
to increase our overall stake to 90%. Clarence
is an availability-based asset with a 20-year
operating concession from a highly-rated
state government. The acquisition of this
additional stake was an opportunity for us
to generate additional value from the asset
as we work with our partners to build a strong
operational track record.
Annual Report and Accounts 2020
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Preferred and short-listed bidder PPP positions
Project

Competitive
position

Sector

Country

Revenue type

Expected
financial close

North East Link

1 of 2

Transport – roads and other

Australia

Availability

H1 2021

ViA15

1 of 1

Transport – roads and other

Netherlands

Availability

H2 2021

Georgia SR-400 Express Lanes

1 of 3

Transport – roads and other

US

Availability

H2 2021

SE Metro Waste to Energy

1 of 3

Environmental – waste and biomass

Australia

Volume

H1 2022

Frankston Hospital

1 of 3

Social Infrastructure

Australia

Availability

H1 2022

Aloha Stadium

1 of 3

Social Infrastructure

US

Availability

H2 2022

Redfern Communities Plus

1 of 3

Social Infrastructure

Australia

Volume

H2 2022

Ontario Line

1 of 3

Transport – rail and rolling stock

Canada

Availability

H2 2022

Potrero Bus Yard Modernisation

1 of 3

Transport – roads and other

US

Hybrid¹

H1 2023

Sepulveda Transit Corridor

1 of 2

Transport – rail and rolling stock

US

Availability

H2 2024

1 Hybrid project with both availability and volume components.

Healthy preferred bidder and shortlisted positions
One of the most notable impacts of the pandemic
was its impact on public procurement processes,
where we saw a number of delays during the first
half of 2020. During the second half of 2020, we
saw momentum return, particularly in the US.
Since the time of our interim results in August
2020 to February 2021, we have added four
short-listed positions – SE Metro Waste to
Energy, Frankston Hospital in Australia, the
Ontario Line in Canada and Potrero Bus Yard
Modernisation in the US. We have made
progress on Sepulveda Transit Corridor, where
our consortium is one of the two selected to
move forward to the next stage of the process.
We received notification that competing
consortia had been successful on Footscray
Hospital and Phase 1 of the I-495 & I-270 P3
Program. The Dartmouth Green Energy
procurement was cancelled and there is
increased uncertainty as to the future of the
Jefferson Parkway project. As at the end of
February 2021, we had ten preferred bidder and
short-listed positions with an aggregate gross
investment value of £388 million (31 December
2019: eight positions with an aggregate gross
investment value of £443 million).
In addition to the PPP pipeline, we have also
secured exclusive positions in two opportunities
in the UK and Europe. These opportunities are in
adjacent sectors and development businesses.
The aggregate equity value of these is £83 million
in 2021.

John Laing Group plc

Strong balance sheet and liquidity
The success of our realisations in 2020 means we
ended the year with available financial resources
of £466 million. This does not include proceeds
of £158 million from the Australian wind
portfolio. The completion of the second stage
of the realisation of IEP East will also generate
proceeds of up to £205 million. This puts us
in a strong position to fund future investments.

Conclusion and outlook
Our strategic review has highlighted the
opportunity to build on John Laing’s strengths
in greenfield projects and build a scalable and
more diversified infrastructure investment
platform. We have identified areas where we
can optimise and enhance our business, and we
have a clear plan to enable us to deliver more
sustainable returns in the future.
Our strong balance sheet puts us in an
excellent position to take advantage of future
investment opportunities, and the building
momentum we are seeing in our pipeline of
exclusive, short-listed and preferred bidder
positions underpins our confidence in the
mid-term outlook.

I am proud of how much we have achieved in
a short space of time, particularly against the
backdrop of a global pandemic. The measures
implemented in the second half of 2020 will
bear fruit in future years, and there is more
to be done.
We enter 2021 in a strong position, and in a
structurally favourable market for infrastructure.
In all our core geographies there are significant
plans for investment in building new infrastructure
which, coupled with a currently low interest rate
environment, is driving strong demand for
operational assets in the secondary market.
We are confident in our sustainable, mediumterm returns target of 9-12% per annum, with a
return to underlying NAV growth in 2021 and a
step up in growth in 2022 towards our mediumterm returns target range.
I am excited to have the opportunity to lead
a business with John Laing’s track record, and
with the ability to really make a difference to
society, on the next stage of the Group’s
growth and evolution.
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Realisations: Agreed sale of IEP East in September 2020
The InterCity Express Programme (‘IEP’) was
designed to support growth and improve
some of Britain’s busiest intercity rail routes,
and covered the finance, design, manufacture
and delivery into daily service and maintenance
of a fleet of 122 IEP trains. The contract
awarded in 2012 consisted of two phases:
IEP West, which John Laing fully realised in
2018; and IEP East, which achieved financial
close in 2014, and comprises 65 trains for the
East Coast Mainline and the construction and
refurbishment of four depots.
IEP East was successfully delivered by Agility
Trains East, a consortium formed between
Hitachi (70% shareholder) and John Laing
(30% shareholder).

Gross proceeds (inc. distributions)
up to

£422m
Gross money multiple
up to

5.8x

UN SDGs supported

A highly attractive asset in a strong secondary market:
•

Scale – one of the largest existing
PPPs in the UK market

•
•

•

De-risked – all 65 trains successfully
delivered

High-quality asset – bespoke fleet
of proven trains to a marketleading specification

•

Highly visible cash flows – 27.5 year
concession with availability-based,
inflation-linked revenues

Comprehensive maintenance agreement
to ensure high performance, considerable
residual life and visibility on costs

•

Strong ESG credentials

•

Further value creation opportunities
available to the buyer

•

Project delivery: four John Laing SPV
appointees including Finance Director
and Operations Director

•

Value enhancements: identification
and implementation

•

Governance: two board directors

Active investor:
•

The bid: John Laing-led bid including
consortium formation; strong
combination of our UK PPP track record
and Hitachi’s expertise in rolling stock

•

Financing: lead role in implementing an
award-winning project finance solution

Enabling the decarbonisation of the rail network
• Replacement of an existing mixed fleet with 42 electric multiple units and 23 bi-mode trains:
95% of bi-mode miles on electric power, maximising use of the electrification network unlike
previous diesel trains.

Who benefits?

Shareholders

Local communities

Capital appreciation

Direct job creation: Newton Aycliffe factory
employing 730 people. New maintenance
depot in Doncaster employing 150 people

2020 and 2021 special dividends

Wider impact on the local supply chain –
70% of parts sourced within a 40-mile radius
of factory

Client

Travelling public

Supporting essential public services

East Coast Mainline: >22 million passengers
p.a. (2018/19)

Flexible, innovative and future-proofed solution

An extra 12,200 seats, increased legroom
and luggage space

Efficient approach to maintenance

Potential for faster journeys and increased
services from London

Gain share mechanisms

Improved accessibility for passengers
with reduced mobility

Annual Report and Accounts 2020

18

Market outlook

Positive mega trends
The fundamental drivers of infrastructure investment
are stronger than ever – population growth,
climate change, energy transition, urbanisation
and the ever-increasing need for connectivity.

We are in a structurally
favourable market.
COVID-19 has given added
impetus to the fundamental
drivers of investment in new
infrastructure.

Demographic change
Growing and ageing populations will drive significant
demographic and social changes.
Increased investment expected in education,
affordable housing and healthcare.

Climate change and energy transition
Significant new investment is required to achieve
decarbonisation targets and connect renewable
generation to end users. Growing demand for
scarce resources such as water and food will also
require new solutions.

Urbanisation
The UN estimates that one in three people will live
in cities of at least 500,000 inhabitants by 2030.
Rapid urbanisation is driving the need to expand
existing infrastructure in cities, including transport
and social infrastructure.

COVID-19 is accelerating
and shaping infrastructure
investment
Governments around the world are looking
to infrastructure investment not only as a
means of stimulating economic recovery, but of
modernising and making their economies more
sustainable. The pandemic is also accelerating
and shaping future infrastructure investment
trends, in particular the need for greater digital
connectivity as a result of more home and
flexible working. Over and above this, the
pandemic has demonstrated the need to
adapt, including the adaptation of transport
and the need for improved domestic resilience,
including through the strengthening of key
supply chains. For John Laing, this will include
investment in our traditional sectors, particularly
transport and social infrastructure.
Tackling the pandemic has left government
budgets facing fiscal stretch, creating a role for
the private sector to support the development
of new infrastructure by providing finance and
helping to drive innovation.

Global infrastructure investment
set for continued growth

Digital connectivity
Increasing digitisation and the need for connectivity
requires significant investment in fibre networks
and broadband capacity.

Technology
Rapidly changing technology and associated changes
in consumer demands will require new supporting
infrastructure, including investment in the
electrification of transport.

John Laing Group plc

There is a significant requirement globally
for new infrastructure investment. Oxford
Economics estimates that annual investment
of US$3.7 trillion is required globally to 2040,
including US$1.3 trillion to support forecast
economic growth and demographic changes
in developed markets.
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Solid growth outlook
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Forecast growth in global infrastructure
investment 2019-24 prior to COVID-19
stimulus packages:
• 2% CAGR assuming investment at current levels
• 5% CAGR assuming a step up to address
historical under-investment

Investment
need

Post-COVID-19
Growth in investment expected to accelerate:
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• US: Biden’s US$2tn programme
• Australia: AUD9.3bn of investment injected
or accelerated since late 2019
• Europe: €750bn Green Deal

Sources: Global Infrastructure Hub, Oxford Economics, Press, Bain analysis

North America
The US is the world’s second largest
infrastructure market, yet historical underinvestment means it also has one of the largest
investment gaps. Based on current trends,
Oxford Economics estimates 2016-2040
spending of US$8.5 trillion, with some 45%
more required to address the investment gap.
The most acute need is in transportation.

Estimated infrastructure
funding gap 2016 – 2025
(US$ trillion)
Surface
transportation
Power
Airports
Water/Wastewater
Port & Waterways

0.0

0.5

1.0

Funded

1.5

2.0

2.5

Funding gap

Source: American Society of Civil Engineers

With President Biden in the White House, and
the Democrats in control of both the Senate
and Congress, there is an opportunity to turn
Biden’s ‘Build Back Better’ policy into law. His
pre-election policy to spend US$2 trillion over
the next four years has a sustainable recovery
at its heart, as well as investment in highways,
bridges, schools and universal broadband.
In the meantime, state and local governments,
which account for the majority of infrastructure
investment, face ever-greater budget constraints
with deficits compounded by a COVID-19 loss of
transportation revenues. Most states are facing
a 30% drop in transport-related revenues in the
short term, creating a clear opportunity and
potential role for private finance.

Canada represents a smaller opportunity for
the Group, but is set to continue its strong track
record of infrastructure investment, particularly
in transit, with the CAD180 billion ‘Investing in
Canada’ plan over the 12 years to 2028.

Australia
Australia is a well-invested infrastructure market
where investment is expected to continue at
high levels to support economic and population
growth. Oxford Economics forecasts the
population to increase by over 40% between
2016 and 2040 and for total infrastructure
investment of US$1.7 trillion during this period.
The Commonwealth government has an
AUD110 billion, ten-year pipeline, and state
budgets are even larger, particularly for New
South Wales and Victoria. The New South Wales
pipeline alone is AUD107 billion over the next
three years. Since November 2019, Australian
authorities have brought forward or injected
additional investment of nearly AUD3.9 billion
and the country is targeting a 50% reduction
in assessment and approval times for
major projects.

Latin America: Colombia and Peru
With the third largest population in Latin
America, Colombia has a strong track record
of economic growth and joined the OECD
during 2020. The country also has a significant
infrastructure investment gap, particularly for
its road network. The government recognises
that addressing this is critical to improving
economic competitiveness as well as accelerating
the development of the country’s poorest regions.

Similarly, Peru offers strong macro-economic
fundamentals, is on track to join the OECD and
has a significant infrastructure investment gap.
The National Infrastructure Programme plans
to spend c.US$27 billion between 2019 – 2025,
with transport a key area of focus.

The UK and Europe
While the UK and Europe has a limited future
pipeline of greenfield PPP opportunities, there
is significant potential for us to tap into wider
infrastructure investment plans as we build
a Core-plus platform. In November, the
Chancellor published his National Infrastructure
Strategy, aimed at rebuilding the economy
post-COVID. It includes a £100 billion plan
for 2021, with government spending set to
rise to £600 billion over the next five years.
Decarbonisation and digital connectivity are
key opportunities; the Committee on Climate
Change believes the UK’s commitment to
net zero by 2050 could cost 1-2% of GDP. In
November, the Prime Minister set out his ‘Ten
point plan for a green industrial revolution’. This
includes a role for the private sector, with plans
to mobilise £12 billion of government investment
and potentially three times as much from
the private sector. Similarly, the new National
Infrastructure Bank will co-invest alongside
private investors to help deliver the commitment
to net zero and provide funding for projects
across the UK.
In Europe, the EC, the European Parliament
and EU leaders have agreed on a recovery plan
that will lay the foundations for ‘a more modern
and sustainable Europe’ post the pandemic.
This includes NextGenerationEU, a €750 billion
temporary instrument designed to boost the
recovery. Taken together with the EU budget,
the EU plans to invest a total of €1.8 trillion in a
‘green, more digital and more resilient Europe’.
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Market outlook continued

Healthy PPP pipeline in our core markets

Colombian PPP

Economic infrastructure business

As set out on pages 9 to 16, the future focus of
our PPP business will be on the US, Australia
and Colombia. These are markets where we have
a competitive advantage and see significant
opportunities with attractive risk/return
profiles. We have strong teams on the ground
with extensive partner networks who are also
able to access opportunities in Canada, New
Zealand and Peru. Transport is likely to make up
the significant majority of investment projects,
with a smaller social infrastructure opportunity.

•

Over the past 15 years or more, infrastructure
has evolved into a distinct and sizeable
alternative asset class and become more
segmented according to risk/return
characteristics. Historically, John Laing has
focused on greenfield PPP projects, which
it de-risks through the construction phase,
thereby creating a yield shift. A similar yield
or return shift that is available in greenfield PPP
projects also exists in Core-plus economic
infrastructure business.

During 2020, we experienced a number of
delays with public procurement processes,
driven by the disruption caused by the COVID-19
pandemic which understandably diverted the
resources and attention of governments and
authorities. However, we are seeing signs of
momentum picking up, as demonstrated by
the increase in our preferred bidder and
short-listed positions.

US PPP
•

All states with major cities now have PPP/P3
legislation in place and we expect the model
to play a role in bridging the funding gap in
US infrastructure investment.

•

We see a very strong pipeline of
opportunities, with a focus on transport,
which is already translating into a notable
pick up in our short-listed positions.

 olombia is one of the largest greenfield
C
PPP markets in Latin America. The Fourth
Generation (‘4G’) PPP programme launched
in 2014 consisted of 29 road projects
with total capex of c.US$15 billion. The
forthcoming 5G programme is expected
to consist of around 20 projects and capex
of c.US$9 billion.

Other PPP markets
•

Canada: a strong and stable P3 market, with
a focus on social and transit projects. These
trends are expected to continue, and there
are currently a small number of light rail
projects in the pipeline, including the
Ontario Line for which we were recently
short-listed.

•

Peru: a comparatively smaller marker versus
Colombia, but with a well-developed PPP
market and US$5.4 billion PPP pipeline as
at January 2020.

By investing in Core-plus businesses or
platforms, and then growing and/or de-risking
the business through buy-and-build or entering
long-term contracts which underpin revenues,
we can create a larger Core infrastructure asset
which generates stable, long-term yield. This
is highly attractive to the same secondary
investors who also invest in operational PPPs.
Moving into Core-plus will open up a significant
growth opportunity for John Laing. In doing so,
we will maintain our differentiated greenfield
focus which, coupled with the investment and
sector-specific capabilities we will add, will mean
we are ideally positioned.

Greenfield projects and Core-plus businesses
generate similar financial returns
Traditional
Private Equity

Return

Australian PPP
•

•

Australia has a mature framework and a
long history of private sector organisations
financing and providing public sector
infrastructure. In Australia, PPPs are used
not as a funding mechanism, but to drive
innovation, risk transfer and value for money.

Core-plus Economic
Infrastructure

Procurement typically takes place at state
level, with New South Wales and Victoria,
the country’s two most populous states,
historically the most active. The country has
a visible pipeline of PPP projects, particularly
large transport projects aimed at reducing
congestion, improving connectivity
between regions, improving road safety
and meeting the national freight challenge.

Greenfield PPP
& Adjacent Projects
Core Economic
Infrastructure
Brownfield
PPP Projects

“return shift”

“return shift”
Risk

Value creation

John Laing Group plc

•

Projects: return shift between greenfield (development and construction risk) to
brownfield (operational and yielding)

•

Core-plus business: return shift between growth businesses or platforms (potentially
with a greenfield element) to larger and lower risk Core assets

Overview
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Core-plus economic infrastructure is a sizeable and
growing opportunity
Historical Core-plus deal value in key geographies 2008-2019 ($US billions)
Australia
Western Europe
North America

25,000

20,000

Attractive growth
2008-19 CAGR:
• Total: 21%
• Australia: 12%
• Western Europe: 20%
• North America: 23%

21% p.a

10,000

5,000

0
09

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

Sources: Inframation; Infrastructure Journal; Bain analysis

A significant mid-market opportunity
Transaction value and fund size
Large deals
(US$1bn+)

Mid-size deals
(US$100-999m)

Small deals
(<US$100m)
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While we are focused initially on building
a Core-plus team in the UK and Europe, there
are opportunities in our other core markets,
including the US where a large portion of Biden’s
US$2 trillion relates to the digital economy.

Strong secondary markets

15,000

08
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12%
49%

Large funds
(US$2bn or more)

23%

Upper mid-size funds
(US$1-1.9bn)

16%

Lower mid-size funds
(US$500-999m)

12%

Small funds
(Less than US$500m)

42%

46%

Infrastructure deals completed
by transaction value

Today, the secondary market is very strong.
Infrastructure assets provide what many
investors are seeking – positive and stable
returns, uncorrelated with other asset classes
and a hedge against inflation. Over the past year,
the greater part of the infrastructure sector has
also demonstrated its resilience.
Infrastructure has become a mainstream
alternative asset class, and over the past
decade Preqin estimates that Assets under
Management (‘AUM’) have increased fivefold.
Fundraising continues to reach new highs, with
US$98 billion raised in 2019 and US$100 billion in
2020 (as per Preqin). Despite this, many pension
funds remain under-allocated to this asset class,
creating scope for further growth. Moreover,
there is significant dry powder amongst
infrastructure investors to be deployed –
at the end of 2019, Preqin estimated a total
of c.US$200 billion.
This creates an ideal backdrop for John Laing; we
have the skills and expertise to take greenfield
investments through construction and produce
highly attractive operational assets, for which
there is strong demand. This is demonstrated
by the realisation of our investment in IEP East,
with a competitive auction process enabling us
to realise a significant premium versus book
value and a money multiple of up to 5.8x.

Un-listed infrastructure
dry power by fund size

Global infrastructure deals 2009–2019
No. of
deals

Aggregate deal
value (US$bn)

Number of deals
Aggregate deal value ($bn)

3,500

3,252

3,000

2,748
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300
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Source: Preqin
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Business model

Positioned for sustainable growth
Our purpose is to create value for all our
stakeholders by investing in, developing and
managing infrastructure projects which respond
to public needs, foster sustainable growth and
improve the lives of communities around the world.
Sourcing and winning greenfield projects
•

Extensive network of partnerships with
industry leaders

•

Strong credentials and reputation with clients

•

Recognised structuring expertise

Project management skills
•

Experienced team managing complex
construction programmes

•

Actively managing stakeholder relationships
to ensure successful delivery

International footprint
•

Good footprint in key infrastructure markets

•

Local teams and resources on the ground

Track record
•

Strong investment track record of successful
PPP realisations, achieving >3x our investment

•

c.150 investment commitments globally

Balance sheet capital
•

Strong balance sheet and liquidity

•

Access to permanent and flexible capital

Our approach

John Laing Group plc
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Who benefits?

We create value through investing in sustainable greenfield
infrastructure projects, platforms and businesses, and by actively
managing these through construction and into operation. We play
a key role in providing solutions to complex infrastructure challenges,
leveraging our deep expertise, flexible business model and strong
network of partners to respond to new opportunities as they emerge,
helping to deliver vital infrastructure that improves the lives of the
communities we serve.

Invest
Selective and
disciplined approach

Shareholders
Sustainable returns of 9-12% p.a. over
the medium term

Our communities
Our assets respond to local needs
and improve the lives of communities
around the world

Our people
Our people are our most important
asset and we are committed to investing
in their development and well-being

Our partners and clients

Realise

Our active management capability
solves problems and plays a critical role
in delivering infrastructure projects for
the benefit of both partners and clients

Realise investments
to maximise value
for our shareholders

Manage
and grow
Manage actively and grow
value of our portfolio

Strong corporate
governance,
culture and values

Effective risk
management and
robust processes

Responsible and
sustainable focus
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Key performance indicators

We measure our performance through four financial
and four non-financial key performance indicators (‘KPIs’).
Our KPIs are aligned with our strategy and linked into our
remuneration incentives.

Financial KPIs
NAV per share growth before
dividends paid (%)

Total dividend per share
(pence)

New investment commitments
(£m)

20

20

9.70

20

19

9.50

19

18

9.50

18

-5.2%

9.70p

-5.2

19

7.2%

18
17
16

18.2%

17

13.5%
17.5%

16

8.92
7.04

£43m
43
184

302

17
16

383
182

Why is it a KPI?

Why is it a KPI?

Why is it a KPI?

Our strategy focuses on NAV per share growth
as a key performance measure for our
shareholders.

We view the dividend that we pay as an
important part of shareholders realising the
growth that the Group achieves. The special
dividend allows our shareholders to share
directly in the Group’s realisation success.

The level of primary investments is an important
part of the Group’s ability to grow and scale
the business.

2020 performance: the negative growth in the
year was as a result of a significantly lower gain
on our investment portfolio, principally due
to substantial losses from external factors,
including adverse movements in power price
forecasts and changes in macro-economic
assumptions, as well as project performance
losses, particularly with our solar and biomass
assets (see the Financial Review section for
more details).

Link to remuneration incentive
on page 126

John Laing Group plc

2020 performance: we are recommending a
special dividend of 4.06p, by applying 8.7%
to proceeds of £230 million, which excludes the
two disposals in 2020 which counted towards
last year’s dividend. This special dividend will
be paid along with a final base dividend of 3.76p,
which in addition to the 1.88p interim results in
a total dividend of 9.70p, 2% higher than 2019.

2020 performance: 2020 was a quiet year for
John Laing on new investments. In 2019, the
Group made the decision to cease investment
in standalone wind and solar generation assets
and with PPP procurement processes delayed
in all regions as a result of the COVID crisis,
opportunities for new investments were limited.
However, we were pleased to acquire additional
stakes in two existing projects towards the end
of 2020 and with our increasing bidding activity
we are looking to build on this momentum
in 2021.

Link to remuneration incentive
on page 126

Link to remuneration incentive
on page 126
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Non-financial KPIs
=

Preferred bidder and short-listed positions
(£m)

£388m

¹

20
19

388
443

1 As at 28 February 2021.

Why is it a KPI?
A healthy pipeline of future investment opportunities in the short term
is important in achieving the growth the Group is targeting. This KPI
replaces the previous investment pipeline KPI. As set out in our half-yearly
results for 2020, we do not believe the more long-term investment
pipeline is a reliable guide to the future opportunities available to the
Group and instead we now focus on our preferred bidder and short-listed
positions which are typically opportunities more in the short term.

Employee
turnover

Women on
the Board¹

(2019: 13.6%)

(2019: 37.5%)

8%

44.4%

Employee
engagement²

Group Gender
Diversity

(2019: 78%)

(2019: 34%)

n/a

39.1%

1 As at 31 December 2020.
2 As explained in the Responsible Employer section on page 66, a full employee
engagement survey was not carried out in 2020 but one is planned for 2021.

2020 performance: we have increased the number of short-term
investment opportunities by two, from eight at 31 December 2019 to
ten now, but the aggregate potential gross investment value on these
opportunities has decreased.

Link to remuneration incentive
on page 126
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s172 statement

Directors of the Company must act in a way they consider, in good faith, would most likely
promote the success of the Company for the benefit of the shareholders, having regard to the
factors set out in section 172 of the Companies Act 2006.
The Directors give careful consideration to the factors set out below in discharging their duties
under section 172 including in taking decisions of strategic importance to the Group. The information
set out below gives examples of how the Directors have had regard to each of those factors where
they are relevant to decisions taken during the year.
Section 172 factors

Key examples

Page

Consequences of
long-term decisions

•
•
•
•
•

9 to 13 and 29
17
22 and 23
92 and 95
45 and 52 to 53

•

Our strategy
Case study – sale of IEP
Business Model
Board Activities
Going Concern and Viability
Statement
Principal risks

Interests of employees

•
•

Responsible Employer
Directors Remuneration Report

64 to 67
108 to 110

Fostering the Company’s business
relationships with suppliers,
customers and others

•
•
•

Responsible Investor
Business Review
Market Overview

68 to 75
30 to 37
18 to 21

Impact of the Company’s operations
on the community and environment

•
•
•

Responsible Investor
Community
Climate

68 to 75
80 and 81
76 to 79

Maintaining a reputation for high
standards of business conduct

•
•
•
•

Strong governance
Business Model
Risks and uncertainties
Approach to sustainability

86, 87 and 91
22
54 to 61
62 and 63

Acting fairly between members

•
•

Shareholder engagement
AGM information

26
87 and 93

57 to 61

Approach to stakeholder engagement
The relations with all our stakeholders are
fundamental to the success of our business, and
the Board is responsible for leading stakeholder
engagement. By engaging in a meaningful way,
we further enhance these critical relationships,
gain valuable insight and strengthen our
business. As detailed in the Corporate
Governance Report, John Laing has a
Governance Framework which sets out the
structure for how the Board and senior
management operate and interact, detailing
delegation levels and responsibilities across the
business, along with feedback channels back to
the Board. Therefore, although the Board may
not have direct engagement at every level with
every stakeholder, there are mechanisms in
place whereby they receive relevant insight
which can be applied to decision-making. The
Board also recognises that existing mechanisms
for engagement can be strengthened as well
as adapted in light of the impact of COVID-19
on our ways of working. Further information
can be found on page 86.
Whilst the Group has many different
stakeholders, those listed below are considered
to be our key stakeholders. The table also shows
details of how the Board has engaged with them
either directly, or indirectly during the year.
In addition to the details below, please see
the Board activities report on pages 92 and 93
which provides details of how the Board
considered the views of our key stakeholders
in its decision-making.

Who are our key stakeholders?
Stakeholder and their importance

Stakeholder priorities

How we engage

•

There is an ongoing dialogue with both institutional and private
investors by way of our Annual General Meeting, announcements,
face-to-face meetings at investor roadshows, which have been
held virtually this year, the Capital Markets and Strategy update in
November and calls with the Chairman, CEO and other members
of the management team.

Our investors
As owners of our business,
shareholders provide invaluable
investment to our business. Ongoing
engagement with both existing and
potential future investors provides a
good understanding of the business,
our operations and strategic aims.

Delivering sustainable long-term
returns.

All shareholders are given the opportunity to raise questions with
members of the Board during the year. The Board receives regular
analyst and broker presentations detailing shareholder feedback
on key information, such as financial updates and results, and the
strategy update.
Further information can be found in the Corporate Governance
section.

John Laing Group plc
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Stakeholder priorities

How we engage

•

Recognising the challenges to ways of working during the pandemic
and keeping in touch with colleagues when working from home,
sometimes in isolation, there have been regular All-Employee Calls
held since March 2020. An all-employee survey was conducted to
seek the views of employees as part of the strategic review and ad
hoc pulse surveys were undertaken, focusing on well-being and the
return to the office. The Board receives regular updates on employee
matters from the management team.
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Our people
Our employees are at the centre
of our business strategy, and essential
to its delivery and success.

•
•
•
•

Providing a diverse, inclusive and
supportive working environment;
Involvement in the strategic review,
and ensuring buy-in;
Strengthening the mechanism
to facilitate a two-way dialogue;
Ensuring employees are appropriately
incentivised to achieve their potential;
Identifying and supporting the
learning and development needs
of our employees.

Informal team and individual ‘check ins’ have been carried out during
the year to support and help to avoid employees feeling isolated.
We have supported greater remote working and digital engagement
and the roll out of communication platforms such as MS Teams was
accelerated to facilitate remote working and promote connectivity.
Further information can be found in the Responsible Employer
section on pages 64 to 67.

Our partners
A key element of our success is
our partner relationships. We rely
on the expertise of our partners to
bring knowledge and experience in
specialist areas which complement
our strengths on projects in order
to deliver the best solutions for our
infrastructure projects.

•

•

Deepen understanding of objectives
and values, and to identify new
opportunities;
With moving into new sectors and
technologies, seeking to learn and
benefit from and contribute to
partner’s expertise.

Regular engagement with our partners is always fundamental to the
success of our projects, but has been especially critical this year whilst
faced with the COVID-19 pandemic. Engagement takes place directly
between the project teams with John Laing employees holding
management positions in the asset management structures; they
work alongside the partner’s employees, with information provided
to the Executive Committee on a regular basis via update reports.
The Board’s engagement is indirect, as they receive regular reports
from the Executive and other members of the management team for
ongoing projects, and presentations regarding any new proposals.

These relationships will be particularly
critical as we grow into new areas
such as adjacent greenfield projects,
where many of our existing partners
already have significant experience.

Further information can be found in the Responsible Investor section
on pages 68 to 75.

Our communities
Our investments are providing
essential infrastructure solutions
which improve the lives of
communities around the world,
and must have a positive impact.
They respond to local
community needs.

•

•

Ensuring the projects have limited
negative impact on communities and
environments during the build phase;
The solutions provided fulfil the
requirements once in operation.

Projects begin with consultation with local authorities and the end
user to establish the requirements for the project in question. During
the build process, regular discussions are held with local communities
to ensure they are not adversely impacted, and any solutions for
disruption can be implemented.
Regular updates from project teams are provided to the management
team and Board.
Further information can be found in the Responsible Investor section
on pages 68 to 75.

Governments
As a greenfield infrastructure
investor, many of our bidding
opportunities for new projects are
through government procurements,
working with them to deliver upon
key objectives such as economic
recovery, whilst delivering best
value for money. They are also
a key regulator of the industries
in which we operate.

•

•

•

Understanding the infrastructure
procurement needs, along with key
themes and objectives of government
in order to be able to partner with key
organisations and deliver that
infrastructure;
Demonstrate benefits of private
finance in the delivery of greenfield
infrastructure;
Demonstrate multiple procurement
options available which can be
adapted to the objectives and
constraints of government.

Regular meetings held with government stakeholders across all levels
of government, including federal, state and local.
Hosting key events and speaking at multiple engagements
represented by the public sector.
Working with particular governments in relation to the delivery and/
or operation of our existing project portfolio as well as in relation
to new bidding opportunities.
Instrumental in the establishment of the Clean Energy Investor Group
in Australia to ensure private investment is considered as part of the
redesign of the energy system.
Board membership of the Association for the Improvement of
American Infrastructure, the key industry advocacy group for public
private partnerships in North America.
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S172 statement continued

How stakeholders have been
considered in strategic decisions

Realisation of IEP East
Stakeholder considerations were fundamental
to the decision in respect of the realisation of
IEP East during the year. The Board considered
the benefits, impact and concerns for key
stakeholders involved, with the aim to create
long-term sustainable value and growth for the
business as a whole. In particular the following
key factors were taken into consideration:

Shareholders:
•

Achieving the best possible price for the
Group’s stake in IEP East, established
through a broad-based competitive auction
process among a qualified group of global
investors;

•

Securing attractive terms and conditions
for the sale, through a transaction structure
which provides the Group with benefits
from a funding and capital allocation
perspective;

•

Recognising that the timing worked well
for the Group in that there was significant
investor interest, and that the project was
fully operational.

Employees:
•

COVID-19
The pandemic has impacted a wide range of
our stakeholders around the globe. The safety
and well-being of our employees and project
colleagues is fundamental to our business,
and is always a focus of the management team
and the Board. It has been central to our
business operations during the COVID-19 crisis.
The Board has been monitoring the Group’s
approach to the pandemic since early February.
Given the severity of the outbreak we have
taken a conservative approach, especially
during the initial stages when the magnitude
of the situation was not known. The Board has
received regular updates throughout the year
on the actions the management team has
implemented. The Board has been involved in
direct engagement with both employees and
investors throughout, and received indirect
feedback from the management team. The
Board approved the establishment of a
community fund to donate £500,000 to local
charities which would support communities
impacted by the pandemic. Employees were
given the opportunity to take up to five days
paid volunteering leave for activities supporting
the COVID-19 global crisis.

John Laing Group plc

As detailed in the Responsible Employer section
on page 64, local pulse surveys were conducted
to help understand how employees were
adapting to the new working environment, to
measure appetite and concerns relating to the
return to the office, and to provide management
with guidance as to what employees required in
order to feel safe to return to the office.
The practicalities in respect of our AGM were a
matter of Board consideration during the year,
taking account of government guidelines and
the safety of both shareholders and employees.
In order to hold a meeting that was compliant
with our Articles of Association, a closed
meeting was held, with two colleagues who were
also shareholders forming the quorum, and the
Directors dialling in via a video link. Shareholders
were offered the opportunity to email any
questions they had ahead of the meeting, which
would be responded to directly on an individual
basis via email.
Further information regarding actions taken
in respect of COVID-19 can be found on
pages 64, 80, 86 and 87.

Keeping all employees seconded to IEP East
informed of our intention to sell and engage
in discussion with other stakeholders in the
IEP East programme in respect of planning
for future management structure.

Partners, future acquirers
and project clients:
•

Acknowledging the nature of the new
owner and their ability to deliver positive
benefits to IEP East and its key stakeholders,
having conducted due diligence on
all bidders;

•

Open discussions held with Hitachi, our
industrial partner and majority shareholder
in IEP East, about our intention to sell;

•

Consideration of the project’s client (the
Department for Transport) and operator
(London North Eastern Railway) and
understanding that the ongoing service
and operations will not be impacted by
a change in shareholding.

Overview

Dividend strategy
The Board considered and approved the
recommendation to make a final dividend of
7.66 pence per share at the February 2020 Board
meeting. At that point in time, COVID-19 was
a developing situation, and as the scale of the
epidemic became more obvious in March, the
Board met again in late March to reconsider
whether the payment of the dividend was still
appropriate. The Board considered in further
detail the Group’s liquidity and stress testing
scenarios, along with impact on shareholders
and considered analyst advice. It was agreed
that the resolution to pay a final dividend in May
remain as a resolution to be put to shareholders
at the May AGM. The resolution was approved
by 99.37% of the voted share capital, and was
paid in May 2020.
A further interim dividend was considered in
August, and as the business had remained
resilient to the impact of COVID-19, with no
government assistance required and no
furlough of employees, the interim dividend
of 1.88 pence per share was paid to shareholders
in October.

Strategic review
The Group undertook a strategic review of the
entire business during the year, as detailed on
pages 9 to 13. The review gave consideration
to the markets in which the Group operates,
the areas of opportunity, the Group’s strengths
as well as our knowledge and experience and
our ambitions in respect of responsible and
sustainable investing. In addition to this, a
Group-wide survey was carried out by an
independent management consultancy, taking
the views of employees into account on aspects
such as purpose and values, structure and
accountability, leadership and ways of working,
and technology and business processes. These
findings formed an important foundation to the
overall strategic review, and changes required
to the organisational structure. The Board held
a dedicated two-day meeting in October to
review and discuss the new strategic aims and
priorities as well as the implementation plan.
This included consideration of the market in
which the Group operates, new opportunities,
the operating model and organisational design,
financial model, capital allocation, investment
pipeline, valuations and risk, and the ESG
strategy to support the overall strategic priorities.
Due to regular, ongoing shareholder
engagement via the Investor Relations team
and CEO, overall feedback on the business
and investor insight along with equity market
analysis was built into the strategic review.
The Capital Markets and Strategy day held in
November 2020 was followed by meetings with
major shareholders to discuss the results and the
strategic review on a one-to-one basis. These
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meetings have helped to provide shareholders
with full details of the strategic review and its
implications for the Group and its stakeholders,
along with implementation plans. It has also
given shareholders the opportunity to raise
any questions or concerns they may have. In
addition to this, a programme of communication
was implemented for employees and partners.
As part of the strategic review, a detailed review
of our capabilities and talent was undertaken,
which resulted in changes to the management
team. We have also brought new capabilities and
skillsets into the Group with a number of key
hires. Further recruitment is planned for 2021 to
bring in seasoned investors with strong records
in areas such as Core-plus.
As a result of the strategic review, a number
of roles were made redundant. The Board did
not take this decision lightly, and considered
carefully the overall aims and needs of the
business, and its future requirements.
In addition to this, our sustainability approach
will be enhanced with focus on investments,
people and operations. Many of our projects are
critical to helping to reduce carbon emissions,
but also to improve the livelihoods of local
communities.
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Executive Director changes
Following the departure of both Olivier
Brousse and Luciana Germinario and the
subsequent appointments of Ben Loomes
and Rob Memmott, major shareholders
were offered the opportunity to speak
with the Chairman and the Executive
Directors. Calls were held with seven
institutional shareholders.
In addition to this, all members of the
Executive Committee held team meetings
to provide their teams with a chance to ask
questions. Key themes arising from these
discussions were timing and succession
planning. A town hall event was also held in
the London office with Olivier, where Olivier
described why he was leaving, and his time
at John Laing. This gave colleagues a chance
to ask questions directly.
In respect of other key stakeholders, an
engagement programme was undertaken
by the members of the Executive Committee
to reach out to the Chairman of the pension
trustees and partners. The Chief Financial
Officer and Group Treasurer held meetings
with lenders, with the management team
also doing so on a local level.

Jeremy Beeton’s visit to Colombia
and Peru
In mid-February, Jeremy Beeton (Nonexecutive Director) visited Colombia and
Peru. Whilst there he met with the Latin
American team and discussed regional
strategy, the pipeline and the Ruta del Cacao
project. The local team had a Q&A session
with Jeremy which had significant focus on
current projects and future opportunities
with the team keen to learn from Jeremy’s
construction experience.
Jeremy also met with a number of key
stakeholders including Ashmore (Ruta
del Cacao co-investor), Infrata (technical
adviser), the British Ambassador to Colombia
and lenders. Jeremy also visited the Ruta del
Cacao project.
The visit to Peru focused on potential
opportunities within Peru. He also met
with key stakeholders in the region including
the British Ambassador to Peru, partners
such as Cintra and Ferrovial and the Minister
of Finance.
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Return to underlying NAV growth
in the second half of the year

PPP and Greenfield Projects

After a 6% decline in NAV per share before
dividends paid to 317p (31 December 2019: 337p)
in the first six months of 2020, the second half
delivered reported growth in NAV per share
before dividends paid of 1% (3% at constant
currency) to 320p. Excluding foreign exchange
movements and other external factors, notably
pension and power prices, second half growth
in NAV before dividends paid was 6%.
•

•

PPP & Projects portfolio: positive 10%
contribution to NAV growth for the full year
(9% at constant currency). A strong second
half to the year due to the realisation of IEP
East at a 22% premium to book value and
continued strong project delivery resulted
in 7% NAV growth (9% at constant
currency).

A strong and resilient PPP & Greenfield
Projects business

Justin Bailey
Co-Head of PPP & Greenfield Projects

Renewable Energy portfolio: negative
8% contribution to NAV for the full year
(-10% at constant currency). Significantly
improved second half performance, with
a 1% negative impact on NAV at constant
currency. Excluding the impact of lower
power prices, the Renewable Energy
portfolio contributed 1% to NAV growth.

Anthony Phillips
Co-Head of PPP & Greenfield Projects

Our PPP & Projects portfolio performed well
during the year, demonstrating its resilience
in a challenging macro-economic environment.
At 31 December 2020, our PPP & Projects
portfolio comprised 21 assets (31 December
2019: 22) including ten in the Primary portfolio
(31 December 2019: 13) and 11 in the Secondary
portfolio (31 December 2019: nine) with a total
value of £1,113 million (31 December 2019:
£1,161 million).
The overall reduction in the value of the
portfolio is largely due to divestments of
£222 million, primarily the first stage of the
divestment of IEP East, and cash distributions
received from projects totalling £40 million.
Cash invested into existing projects totalled
£55 million, and included the acquisition of
additional stakes in the I-77 Express Lanes
(£29 million) and Clarence Correctional Centre
(£12 million). The net fair value gain on the PPP
& Projects portfolio of £159 million for the year
(2019: £191 million) includes foreign exchange
gains of £9 million, project delivery gains of
£105 million and value enhancements of

Pro forma portfolio value of £1,186 million1
By Stage of Lifecycle
Primary

By Revenue Type
28%

Secondary 72%

Portfolio value invested¹

By Region

PPP: availability-based 61%

North America 41%

PPP: volume-based

16%

APAC

36%

Renewable Energy

23%

Europe

16%

Latin America

7%

1 Pro forma: based on the portfolio as at 31 December 2020, adjusted to exclude assets under agreed sales (IEP East and the Australian wind farm portfolio).
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77%

in PPP projects,
majority of which
have availabilitybased revenues

Overview

£28 million which were only partially offset
by an adverse impact from external factors,
largely related to changes in short-term
inflation expectations.
On a pro forma basis, excluding the second
stage of the IEP East transaction which
will complete before 27 October 2021, at
31 December 2020, the PPP & Projects portfolio
comprised 20 assets, including ten in the
Primary portfolio and ten in the Secondary
portfolio, with a total value of £918 million.
For our Primary portfolio (35% of pro forma
PPP & Projects portfolio value), which consists
of projects under construction, we saw some
limited stoppages of construction works in
some locations, but these were short-lived.
With construction classed as an essential activity
in most of our markets, we continued to
progress our primary assets, with workers
adhering to strict COVID-19 safety measures.
A number of our projects hit key milestones
during the year, which are discussed in more
detail below, and three transitioned into the
Secondary portfolio – Clarence Correctional
Centre, Sydney Light Rail and IEP East.
For our operational projects in the Secondary
portfolio (65% of pro forma PPP & Projects
portfolio value), asset availability was maintained
throughout the year broadly in line with
expectations. Our two operational volumebased assets, the A130 road project in the UK
and the I-77 Managed Lanes project in the US,
both experienced a strong recovery in traffic
from its lows in April, and traffic volumes on
both were largely steady in the second half
of the year.
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Pro forma PPP portfolio value of £918 million
By Region

By Revenue Type
APAC

41%

Availability-based 79%

North America 40%
Europe
Latin America

Volume-based

21%

10%
9%

Strong and resilient PPP business
Strong local teams
and expertise
• PPP business focused on
US, Australia and Colombia
where we have competitive
advantage and see good
opportunities
• Strong local teams
and partnerships
• Good pipeline of future
opportunities;
government spending
programmes supportive
of PPP

Resilient portfolio
and good
performance

Embedded
portfolio value

• c.75% of total portfolio
value invested in PPP;
majority availabilitybased revenues

• Value creation as existing
greenfield projects move
towards operation and
receive lower discount rates

• Resilient PPP portfolio
performance during
COVID-19 lockdowns

• Valuation reflects
cautious macro-economic
assumptions

• Minimal delays to
construction and
project delivery

• Strong secondary market
demand and valuations
for PPPs

• Continued good
project availability
• During 2020, PPP portfolio
contributed 10% to NAV
growth
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Portfolio review: largest PPP assets
Largest primary investments by value

Largest secondary investments by value

Ruta del Cacao – Colombia

Clarence Correctional Centre

Highways • Availability

– Australia

Roads project in North Eastern Colombia
consisting of the construction and upgrading
of new and existing roads

Social • Availability

Equity holding: 30%

Equity holding: 90%

I-66 Managed Lanes – USA

Denver Eagle P3 – USA

Highways • Volume

Rail • Availability

Largest greenfield toll road project in
the USA through PPP, providing 22.5 miles
of managed lanes

Rail project to expand transit across
the Denver metropolitan area

1,700 bed correctional facility focused on
rehabilitation and reduction of reoffending

Equity holding: 45%

Equity holding: 10%

I-4 Ultimate – USA

Sydney Light Rail – Australia

Highways • Availability

Rail • Availability

Reconstructed highway providing additional
capacity along a 21-mile section of a major
tourist route through central Florida

Light rail system with capacity for up
to 13,500 commuters in peak hours
Equity holding: 32.5%

Equity holding: 50%

Melbourne Metro – Australia

New Royal Adelaide Hospital

Rail • Availability

– Australia

Major enhancement of the city’s rail network

Social • Availability

Equity holding: 30%

800 bed hospital with capacity to admit
over 80,000 patients p.a.
Equity holding: 17.26%

John Laing Group plc

MBTA – USA

I-77 Managed Lanes – USA

Transport • Availability

Highways • Volume

Fare collection and ticketing system
upgrade project

Managed lanes spanning 25.9 miles,
constructed to ease congestion in Charlotte

Equity holding: 90%

Equity holding: 17.45%

Overview

North America
As at 31 December 2020, our PPP & Projects
portfolio of investments in North America
comprised seven assets (31 December 2019:
seven), including five in the Primary portfolio
(31 December 2019: five) and two in the
Secondary portfolio (31 December 2019: two)
with a total value of £363 million (31 December
2019: £294 million).
The increase in portfolio value of £69 million
reflects an increase in our stake in the I-77 for
£29 million, other cash investments into projects
of £8 million and a fair value gain of £38 million,
offset by cash yields from projects of £6 million.
The fair value gain includes a foreign exchange
loss of £11 million and a £16 million adverse
impact from external factors, largely related to
lower short-term inflation assumptions adopted
in H1 2020. These losses were more than offset
by project delivery gains of £34 million and value
enhancements of £22 million.
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Throughout 2020, we have continued to make
good progress across the North American
portfolio. Two of the most significant project
milestones achieved in the second half relate to:
•

•

Denver Eagle (commuter rail project): the
project’s Final Completion Certificate was
issued in mid-November, which formally
concluded construction. During December,
working together with our equity partners,
John Laing led the successful refinancing
of the project, which will improve cash
yields going forward and included a gain
share with the Regional Transportation
District. Services continued to operate
on all lines throughout the pandemic,
with special cleaning and safety measures
implemented to safeguard employees
and the travelling public.
I-4 (highway project in Florida): 2020 has
been a year of major progress, and following
on from the settlement reached in April,
the project’s General Use lanes reached
completion just before the end of the year
and partial Availability Payments are now
being made by the Florida Department of
Transportation.

We also continued to make progress elsewhere,
including on the I-66, our Managed Lanes
project in Northern Virginia where lower traffic
volumes due to the pandemic helped accelerate
construction, and the project remains on
schedule to open for revenue service in late 2022.
Construction works commenced on Hurontario
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LRT, a light rail project in Ontario, in early 2020
and we made good progress on this complex
project during the year. The I-75, our availabilitybased highway project in Michigan, is also moving
forward and tunnel boring commenced on its
key four-mile long drainage and storage tunnel
in July. MBTA AFC 2.0, our fare collection and
ticketing upgrade project in the Boston area,
was significantly expanded and refinanced as
part of a major project reset. The project also
commenced its technology field demonstration
with live users in Boston in December.
As already mentioned, we increased our stake
in the I-77 Managed Lanes project in November
to 17.45%. Traffic volumes recovered sharply
from their April lows during the second quarter,
and were largely stable during the third and
fourth quarters; revenues have seen a stronger
recovery than volumes, benefitting from rate
increases implemented during the year. During
2020 the project also signed an agreement with
the North Carolina Department of Transport to
launch a three-year pilot to allow small trucks
access to the Express Lanes, which has the
potential to create an additional revenue
stream for the project.
One of the key features of the second half of
2020 was an acceleration of bidding activity.
By the end of the year, we were short-listed for
five opportunities in North America, four of
which are transport related: Georgia SR-400
Express Lanes, the Ontario Line, Potrero Yard
Bus Yard Modernisation and the Sepulveda
Transit Corridor.

The I-4 is an availability-based road project in
Florida to add capacity and reduce congestion
along a 21-mile section. John Laing has a 50%
shareholding in I-4 Mobility Partners, the
consortium delivering the project. The
additional capacity will improve traffic flow
and mobility, while reducing travel times for
commuters, freight and tourists who rely on
this strategically positioned highway. John Laing
has been actively involved in delivering the
project with representatives on the project’s
board of directors, as well as CEO, CCO, CTO
and COO roles in the consortium.
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In May 2020, John Laing announced that it
had completed the divestment of its 30%
shareholding in Auckland South Corrections
Facility (‘ASCF’), in New Zealand to AMP Capital.
ASCF is an availability-based, 960-bed
correctional facility with an innovative approach
to the education, rehabilitation and reintegration
of offenders into the community. A resultsfocused model has the aim of reducing
recidivism, including a target to reduce
reoffending rates among the Māori prisoner
population by at least 10% versus other prisons in
New Zealand. As an active investor, John Laing
was central to development of the bid solution
and successful delivery of the project in
operations. A senior John Laing resource was
seconded to New Zealand from the UK to manage
the investment which was seen as critical by the
government client and our delivery partners.

Australia
As at 31 December 2020, our PPP & Projects
portfolio of investments in Australia comprised
six assets (31 December 2019: seven), including
two in the Primary portfolio (31 December 2019:
four) and four in the Secondary portfolio
(31 December 2019: three) with a total value of
£378 million (31 December 2019: £354 million).
The increase in portfolio value in the year of
£24 million reflects an increase in our stake in
Clarence Correctional Centre for £12 million
and a fair value gain of £46 million, offset by the
divestment of our interest in ASCF for £18 million
and cash yield from projects of £17 million.
The fair value gain included a £21 million positive
foreign exchange movement, project delivery
gains of £33 million and value enhancements of
£3 million, which were partially offset by losses
from project performance of £8 million and an
adverse impact of £3 million from changes in
macro-economic assumptions.
Two of our flagship PPP projects transitioned
into the Secondary portfolio – Clarence
Correctional Centre, which commenced
operations in early July, and Sydney Light Rail,
which achieved completion and is now a fully
operational light rail system. Key milestones
were also reached in respect of:

John Laing Group plc

•

New Generation Rollingstock (‘NGR’),
our rolling stock project for the South East
Queensland suburban rail network: the 75th
and final train was accepted in September.
The project achieved Initial Fleet
Acceptance in December.

•

Melbourne Metro, a major enhancement of
Melbourne’s rail network: following a series
of tunnel boring machine breakthroughs,
tunnelling works on the project’s rail tunnels
passed the halfway mark. In December, the
Cross Yarra Partnership, the consortium
responsible for the stations and tunnelling
works, in which John Laing is a 30%
shareholder, finalised and signed amending
documents which resolve the outstanding
issues in relation to scope and costs and
provide a clear path forward for the project.

As mentioned above, in December we acquired
an additional 10% in Clarence Correctional
Centre, which increases our shareholding to
90%. We also announced the sale of our 30%
stake in ASCF to AMP Capital in May, our second
realisation since establishing offices in Australia.

Overview

Europe
As at 31 December 2020, our PPP & Projects
portfolio of investments in Europe comprised
seven assets (31 December 2019: seven), including
two in the Primary portfolio (31 December
2019: three) and five in the Secondary portfolio
(31 December 2019: four) with a total value of
£289 million (31 December 2019: £443 million).
This includes our remaining 15% interest in
IEP East, which we have agreed to sell.
The reduction of £154 million in the portfolio
in the year was principally due to the divestment
of the first 15% in IEP East for £204 million, as well
as cash yields from projects of £17 million, offset
by a fair value gain of £67 million. The fair value
primarily includes a gain on the agreed
divestment of IEP East of £73 million, offset by
an adverse impact of £13 million from changes
in macro-economic assumptions, most notably
due to lower short-term inflation expectations.
The most significant milestone achieved in the
year related to IEP East, our UK rolling stock
replacement project, with the delivery and
qualified acceptance of the 65th and final train
in September. Following this, the agreed
realisation of this flagship project at a 22%
premium to book value was a key highlight
for the Group as a whole in 2020.
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The European PPP & Projects portfolio includes
three Dutch roads projects. Two of these, the
A6 and A15, are operational and have performed
in line with expectations. On the A16, which is
under construction, a settlement was reached
in December 2020 to address cost overruns and
delays by extending the construction timetable.
Importantly, this will not impact the length of
the 20-year operating concession.
The University of Brighton was one of only
two of the Group’s assets under construction
to experience a full suspension of works in
March 2020 due to the pandemic. The site was
reopened on a phased basis from mid-April and,
working in close collaboration with our partners
and clients, we have made good progress with
catching up on COVID-19 related delays. The
project is on track for completion and handover
in September 2021.
We remain preferred bidder for ViA15, a
greenfield road project in the Netherlands.
We now expect financial close during H2 2021.

John Laing is a 47.5% shareholder in the A16,
an availability-based road project in the
Netherlands. The project consists of a new
11 km connection between the A13 and A20
motorways north of Rotterdam in order to
relieve congestion and improve access to
The Hague airport. In 2020, it was awarded
a ‘Duurzame Parel’ (Sustainable Pearl) award
in recognition of its sustainable civil engineering
approach, which includes the first energyneutral tunnel in the world. As well as our
representatives on the project’s board of
directors, John Laing is providing the Project
Director to the SPV during the construction
phase.
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Latin America
During 2020, the Group’s investment in the
Ruta del Cacao PPP road project in Colombia
generated a positive fair value movement of
£7 million, which included a £4 million adverse
foreign exchange movement which partially
offset project delivery gains and value
enhancements.
The project achieved a number of important
construction milestones in 2020. 40 km of dual
carriageway have been delivered together with
related service stations and toll booths. Most
of the geotechnical complexities related to the
tunnelling works have also now been addressed.
Following a three-week stoppage for the
construction sector at the beginning of the
pandemic, works quickly caught up with the
planned schedule. By the end of December,
construction was 69% complete.
In January 2021, we announced the acquisition
of a 21.15% stake in the Pacifico 2 road project
for a total consideration of £32 million. The
transaction is expected to complete in Q2 2021.

John Laing Group plc

Pacifico 2 will be our second investment
in Colombia. Like Ruta del Cacao, it is an
availability-based road project which is part of
the Colombian government’s 4G road building
PPP programme. Located 20 km south of
Medellin, the second largest city in Colombia,
Pacifico 2 includes the construction of a new
82 km dual carriageway and two tunnels, as
well as an upgrade of 54 km of existing road.
The road will connect local communities and key
cities, reduce travel times and transportation
costs, and improve road safety. Construction
is expected to complete during 2021.

Overview

Renewable Energy
Stable underlying performance
in the second half of the year
As at 31 December 2020, our Renewable Energy
portfolio comprised 19 assets (31 December
2019: 26) including one in the Primary portfolio
(31 December 2019: three) and 18 in the
Secondary portfolio (31 December 2019: 23) with
a total value of £429 million (31 December 2019:
£607 million). This includes the six Australian
wind farms subject to an agreed sale process
at year end that is expected to complete in
March 2021.
We remain committed to reducing our exposure
to renewable energy. We made material
progress in 2020 towards this goal with
completed disposals of four assets and the
agreed sale of the six assets in the Australian
wind farm portfolio. While our portfolio has
been adversely impacted by lower power price
forecasts, they are also well placed to benefit
from a resumption of economic activity and
strong secondary market demand for quality
Renewable Energy assets. We are focused on a
disciplined approach that ensures each asset is
properly prepared for sale with a demonstrable
track record and stable cash flows in order to
achieve maximum value.
The reduction of £178 million in the year of
the reported value of the Renewable Energy
portfolio was principally due to a fair value loss
of £138 million, net of a £24 million foreign
exchange gain, as well as divestments of
£70 million and cash yields from projects of
£18 million, which was partially offset by cash
invested into projects of £48 million.
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The key drivers of the net fair value loss were net
losses from project performance of £89 million
and value reductions from changes in power
prices of £101 million and macro-economic
assumptions of £13 million. Transmission issues
in Australia also had a negative impact of
£10 million.
Project performance losses were concentrated
in solar and biomass (£78 million). This includes
£39 million due to increased discount rates
to reflect higher risks on these projects.
Other items include the expected costs of
recapitalisation of our Australian solar assets
as well as operational performance issues and
higher costs.
The £101 million value reduction from lower
power prices was broadly spread across the
regions in which our Renewable Energy assets
are located. In Australia, our solar assets were
hit hardest, while in the US, lower power prices
affected both our one remaining wind farm
and our solar assets. In Europe, the largest
component, £17 million, related to a change
in valuation methodology to use Generation
Weighted Average power price curves following
an external benchmarking in the secondary
market.
The £10 million value reduction from
transmission losses primarily relates to
a constraint placed on the network by the
Australian Energy Market Operator to address
the instability of the power system in southwestern New South Wales. The effect of this is
to limit the flow of power from one of our solar
assets, Sunraysia.
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Pro forma Renewable Energy portfolio
value of £268 million¹
By Stage of Lifecycle
Primary

5%

Secondary

95%

Wind asset

63%

Solar asset

37%

By Type

By Region
North America 46%
Europe

35%

Australia

19%

1 Based on the Renewable Energy portfolio at
31 December 2020 adjusted to exclude the assets under
agreed sales.

Of the total value reductions in the year of
£213 million, 79% was on our solar and biomass
assets. As at 31 December 2020, solar accounted
for 6.5% of the Renewable Energy portfolio value
and biomass is no longer part of the portfolio.
The vast majority, or £173 million, of these
value reductions arose in the first half of 2020.
The performance of the Renewable Energy
portfolio in the second half showed a significant
improvement, demonstrating that the measures
taken earlier in the year have addressed those
issues that are within our control. In the last
six months of 2020, the Renewable Energy
portfolio experienced a modest fair value loss
of £18 million reflecting the adverse impact of
£36 million from updated power prices curves
received in Q4 which offset an otherwise
positive contribution from project delivery.
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During the year we agreed realisations
of £648 million, £292 million of
which was received in 2020 with the
balance due in 2021. This increased
our available financial resources at
31 December 2020 to £466 million.”
Rob Memmott
Chief Financial Officer

Positive movement in fair value

£21m
2019: £141m

John Laing Group plc

Overview

FY 2020 NAV and portfolio value creation
Our net asset value (‘NAV’) decreased from
£1,658 million at 31 December 2019 to £1,529 million
at 31 December 2020. This is equivalent to a NAV
per share of 310p which is down 5% (–7% at
constant currency) before dividends paid in the
period of £47 million, versus NAV per share of
337p at 31 December 2019. The Group achieved
a robust growth in NAV per share in the second
half of the year of 1% (3% at constant currency)
following a decline of 6% in the first half.
This overall reduction in NAV per share in the
year was principally as a result of the gains on
the investment portfolio being significantly
lower than expected and below the operating
costs for the year. The investment portfolio at
31 December 2020 was valued at £1,542 million,
a decrease of £226 million from £1,768 million at
31 December 2019. After rebasing the portfolio
value at 1 January 2020 for realisations of
£292 million, cash yield of £58 million and
cash invested into projects of £103 million in
the period, the value of our portfolio increased
by £21 million or 1.4% on this rebased value.
Within this, our core PPP portfolio contributed
a positive fair value movement of £159 million,
9.6% of opening NAV (or 9.0% at constant
currency), while negative fair value movements
of £138 million on our Renewable Energy
portfolio reduced NAV by 8.3% of opening
NAV (or –9.8% at constant currency).
Availability-based PPP projects delivered
the strongest performance, contributing a
positive fair value movement of £150 million.

Contribution
Value at
as % of 31 Dec 2020
opening NAV
(£ million)

PPP portfolio (72% of
total portfolio value)
– Availability-based
PPPs (59% of total
portfolio value)
– Volume-based
PPPs (13% of total
portfolio value)
Renewable Energy
portfolio (28% of total
portfolio value)

+10%

+9%

+1%

–8%

1,113

916¹

197

4292

1 Includes £195 million of assets held at agreed sale price.
2 Includes £161 million of assets held at agreed sale price.

Strategic Report

Governance

There was an adverse impact of
£49 million on the entire portfolio
from changes in macro-economic
assumptions resulting from increased
market volatility and uncertainty brought on by
COVID-19. There was a further adverse direct
COVID-19 impact of £25 million in the PPP
portfolio, as described below, but growth from
unwinding of discounting (£80 million) and
reduction of construction risk premia (£25 million)
from projects making good progress through
the construction stage, as well as a significant
gain on the agreed divestment of IEP East of
£73 million resulted in a strong performance
overall from the PPP portfolio. Value uplift of
£14 million on the acquisition of additional stakes
in two existing PPP projects also contributed
to this performance.
In the Renewable Energy portfolio, the modest
losses from changes in macro-economic
assumptions were exacerbated by reductions
in power price forecasts (£101 million loss)
and further transmission issues in Australia
(£10 million), as well as project performance
losses of £89 million, particularly on the solar
assets in Australia and on the UK biomass assets,
which have been written down in value. We have
increased discount rates on the solar assets
to reflect increased risk from asset-specific
challenges and perception of these risks in
a more volatile and uncertain market. A small
gain of £4 million was achieved on the agreed
divestment of the Australian wind farm portfolio,
which is held at the sale price of £161 million
within the total Renewable Energy portfolio
of £429 million.
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The overall positive movement in fair value of
£21 million (2019: positive fair value movement
of £141 million) is analysed in the table below.
The portfolio generated positive fair value
movement from project delivery of £145 million
(2019: £183 million), made up of unwinding
of discounting and reduction of construction
risk premia. These are levers of value creation
embedded in the portfolio value and should
continue to contribute value uplift in the future.
Despite COVID-19, the investment portfolio
produced a resilient underlying operational
performance. Short construction delays as
a result of the pandemic had only a modest
financial impact.
As described above, gains of £77 million arose
on the agreed divestments of our interests in IEP
East and the Australian wind farm portfolio. We
also achieved £14 million of value uplifts on the
acquisitions we made in the year.
Value enhancements of £34 million (2019:
£157 million) were achieved in the year, following
a record year for value enhancements in 2019.
Relatively low levels of new investments over
the last two years together with current market
volatility and the COVID-19 lockdown hampering
operational improvements have all restricted
the opportunities for enhancements in the year.
However, a successful refinancing was achieved
on the Denver Eagle P3 project towards the end
of the year which contributed to £28 million of
value enhancements in the PPP portfolio.

31 December
2020

31 December
2019

Year ended

PPP

RE

Total
£ million

Total
£ million

Unwind of discounting

80

32

112

110

Reduction of construction risk premia

25

8

33

73

Value enhancements

28

6

34

157

Net losses from project performance

(11)

(89)

(100)

(74)

Change in macro-economic assumptions

(36)

(13)

(49)

(11)

COVID-19 impacts

(25)

–

(25)

–

Change in operational benchmark discount rates

2

1

3

12

Change in power and gas prices

–

(101)

(101)

(48)

Transmission issues – Australia

–

(10)

(10)

(52)

Value uplift on financial closes

14

–

14

31

Gains arising on agreed divestments

73

4

77

–

24

33

(57)

(138)

21

141

Impact of foreign exchange movements
Movement in fair value

9
159

Alternative Performance Measures – The Group presents Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) within these results. In presenting APMs,
management have applied the “European Securities and Markets Authority Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures”. The most significant
APMs used to measure the Group’s performance include NAV per share, cash yield and the represented financial statements in this Financial Review
section. The Directors consider these APMs to be appropriate to properly report the value and performance of the business.
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Net losses from project performance in 2020
were £100 million (2019: £74 million loss). 91% of
these losses related to renewable energy assets,
particularly solar and biomass assets on which
total losses were £78 million. The solar assets
have limited operational track records and face
asset-specific challenges, including completing
construction in respect of one of the assets.
We have increased discount rates on these
assets to reflect a heightened risk relative to
other assets, partly due to current market
volatility and uncertainty.

Balance sheet
The net assets (‘NAV’) at 31 December 2020 were £1,529 million (31 December 2019: £1,658 million).
The principal components of NAV were the portfolio valuation, cash holdings and cash borrowings.
A re-presented balance sheet is shown below.

Portfolio valuation (note 13)
Cash collateral balances (note 13)
Cash and cash equivalents¹

31 Dec
2020
£ million

31 Dec
2019
£ million

1,542

1,768

114

118

11

7

Other losses reflect the impact on the portfolio
from external factors:

Pension surplus (note 19)

19

13

Other assets2

14

16

•

Change in macro-economic assumptions:
£49 million negative (2019: £11 million
negative). Of this, £33 million relates to
lower short-term inflation assumptions;
the remainder reflected lower deposit rates.

Total assets

1,700

1,922

COVID-19 impacts: £25 million
negative consisting of write
downs to reflect lower traffic
assumptions for the A130 and I-77
road projects and credit market movements
eroding the upside from planned
refinancings.

Net assets

•

•

•

Change in power and gas prices: £101 million
negative (2019: £48 million negative) as
a result of lower power and gas price
forecasts, as well as a change in methodology
for our European wind assets where,
following an external benchmarking to
listed funds in the secondary market, we
moved to use Generation Weighted Average
power price curves.
Transmission issues – Australia: £10 million
negative (2019: £52 million negative)
primarily as a result of network transmission
constraint problems affecting one of our
solar assets in Australia. Following the
significant losses of £52 million from
marginal loss factors (‘MLFs’) last year,
there have been only small changes in MLFs
and in the MLF regime in this period which
have led to a net positive fair value
movement of £4 million.

Cash borrowings³

(33)

(25)

Total liabilities

(171)

(264)

1,529

1,658

1 Cash and cash equivalents comprise £5 million (2019: £2 million) in the Company and recourse subsidiaries that are consolidated
(as shown in the Group Balance Sheet) and £6 million (2019: £5 million) in recourse subsidiaries held at FVTPL (included within
investments at FVTPL in the Group Balance Sheet; see note 13).
2 Other assets comprise net other assets and liabilities within recourse investment entity subsidiaries of £1 million (2019:
£6 million) (included within investments at FVTPL in the Group Balance Sheet; see note 13) and other assets as shown in the
Group Balance Sheet of £13 million (2019: £10 million).
3 Borrowings of £136 million (2019: £236 million) as shown in the Group Balance Sheet comprise £138 million (2019: £239 million)
of cash borrowings less unamortised financing costs of £2 million (2019 – £3 million) included in other liabilities above.
References to ‘note’ in the above table and the footnotes underneath are to the notes to the Group Financial Statements.

Portfolio valuation
The Group’s portfolio of investments in
project companies was valued at £1,542 million
at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019:
£1,768 million). Further details are provided
in the Portfolio valuation section.

Cash and cash borrowings
The Group held total cash balances of £125 million
at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019:
£125 million) of which £114 million (31 December
2019: £118 million) was held to collateralise
US dollar investment commitments to the I-66
Managed Lanes project.

Net asset value

Portfolio valuation

2019: £1,658m

2019: £1,768m

John Laing Group plc

(239)

Other liabilities

The impact of foreign exchange movements
in the year was £33 million positive (2019:
£57 million negative). This reflects the net effect
of weakening of Sterling against the Australian
dollar and Euro and strengthening of Sterling
against the US dollar and the Colombian peso.

£1,529m

(138)

£1,542m

The Group had short-term cash borrowings
from its corporate banking facilities of
£138 million at 31 December 2020 (31 December
2019: £239 million).
Cash borrowings decreased from 31 December
2019 as a result of the proceeds received from
the divestments in the year of £292 million being
considerably higher than the cash invested into
projects of £103 million.

Overview
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Income statement

Pension surplus
The Group operates two defined benefit
pension schemes in the UK – the John Laing
Pension Fund (‘JLPF’) and the John Laing Pension
Plan (the ‘Plan’). Both schemes are closed to new
members and future accrual.
The triennial actuarial valuation of JLPF as
at 31 March 2019 was finalised and agreed in
April 2020. The actuarial deficit decreased by
£70 million from £171 million as at 31 March 2016
to £100 million as at 31 March 2019 with the
decrease primarily as a result of the scheduled
cash contributions of £90 million over the
three-year period.
A new deficit repayment plan has been agreed
with the JLPF Trustee, as set out below, which
results in a small increase to each of the
remaining four annual payments under the
previous repayment plan and an overall
increase in payments of £3.1 million:

31 Dec
2020
£ million

Year ended

Recurring
items

31 Dec
2019
£ million

Nonrecurring
items¹

Total

Total

Fair value movement – portfolio (note 13)

21

–

21

141

Fair value movement – other (note 13)

(5)

–

(5)

6

Other income (note 8)

9

–

9

32

Operating income

25

–

25

179

Staff costs – non-PMS² staff

(28)

(2)

(30)

(32)

(6)

–

(6)

(5)

(16)

(3)

(19)

(15)

Third-party bid costs

(7)

–

(7)

(8)

Other third-party costs

(2)

–

(2)

(2)

Staff costs – PMS² staff
General overheads

(10)

–

(10)

(4)

Post-retirement charges

(1)

(3)

(4)

(2)

26.4

Administrative expenses

(70)

(8)

(78)

(68)

2021

26.4

(Loss)/profit from operations

(45)

(8)

(53)

111

2022

26.4

Finance costs

(12)

–

(12)

25.4

(Loss)/profit before tax

(57)

(8)

(65)

By 31 March

2020

2023

£ million

The combined net accounting surplus in the
Group’s defined benefit pension schemes at
31 December 2020 was £19 million (31 December
2019: surplus of £13 million). Under IAS 19,
at 31 December 2020, JLPF recorded a surplus
of £18 million (31 December 2019: surplus of
£12 million) and the Plan recorded a surplus
of £1 million (31 December 2019: surplus
of £1 million).
The surplus (under IAS 19) as at 31 December
2020 increased from 31 December 2019 primarily
as a result of the Group’s cash contribution
to JLPF of £26 million in March 2020 offset
by a remeasurement loss of £17 million. The
remeasurement loss of £17 million was primarily
due to a decrease in the discount rate and
an increase in the long-term CPI rate used to
measure liabilities, partially offset by gains in
asset values including from assets that provide
a c.93% hedge against interest rate and inflation
rate movement.
At 31 December 2020 the pension liabilities in
JLPF under IAS 19 were based on a discount rate
of 1.3% (31 December 2019: 2.1%) and long-term
RPI of 2.80% (31 December 2019: 3.0%). The
amount of the liabilities is dependent on key
assumptions, principally: inflation rate, discount
rate and life expectancy of members. The
discount rate, as prescribed by IAS 19, is based
on yields from high-quality corporate bonds.

Disposal costs

Taxation
(Loss)/profit after tax

(11)
100

(1)

–

(1)

–

(58)

(8)

(66)

100

1 Non-recurring items include: a strategic review that was performed in the second half of the year for which £3 million of external
costs were incurred. This review led to a restructuring in the Group resulting in redundancies of around 20 employees and
related termination costs of £2 million; GMP equalisation charge on the John Laing pension fund of £3 million as described
below.
2 Project Management Services (‘PMS’) are services provided to projects in which the Group invests under management services
and secondment agreements.
References to ‘note’ in the above table are to the notes to the Group Financial Statements.

The Group incurred a loss before tax for the
year ended 31 December 2020 of £65 million
compared to a profit before tax for the year
ended 31 December 2019 of £100 million.
The significant reduction was principally due to
lower fair value movements on the investment
portfolio of £21 million in 2020 compared to fair
value movements of £141 million in the previous
year. There was also a reduction in asset
management services revenue compared to
the previous year primarily as a result of the sale
of the Group’s remaining fund management
activities in June 2019. There were a number
of non-recurring costs in 2020 as set out in the
table above.

Fair value movement – portfolio
The components of the fair value movement on
the investment portfolio are shown at the start
of this Financial Review together with analysis
and details of these movements.

Fair value movement – other
There were other fair value movements outside
of the investment portfolio resulting in a loss
of £5 million (2019: £6 million gain). This was
primarily made up of a loss on a foreign
exchange contract to hedge the disposals
of AUD$285 million on the agreed sale of the
Australian wind farm portfolio that is expected
to complete in March 2021. The fair value
movement on the portfolio included a
corresponding foreign exchange gain.

Other income
Other income for 2020 of £9 million comprises
fees from asset management services revenue
which in 2019 amounted to £22 million. The
reduction was primarily due to the cessation
of the Group’s fund management activities in
2019, which included the sale of its remaining
investment advisory agreement for £5 million.
In 2019, the Group also had recovery of bid costs
of £5 million.
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Administrative expenses
Total administrative expenses in 2020 were
£78 million, £10 million higher than in 2019.
The increase was primarily due to higher
disposal costs (£6 million), principally incurred
on the significant divestment processes on
IEP East and the Australian wind farm portfolio,
and certain one-off costs of £8 million incurred
in 2020. These one-off costs include costs of
approximately £3 million for a strategic review
undertaken during the year, £2 million of costs
in relation to employee redundancies that were
agreed following the strategic review and
subsequent restructuring, and a non-recurring
charge of £3 million, within post-retirement
charges recorded under IAS 19, representing
the additional costs to the pension fund from
the High Court ruling on the Lloyds Banking
Group Guaranteed Minimum Pension (‘GMP’)
equalisation case in November 2020 in relation
to historic transfers out of the fund.
Non-PMS staff costs excluding redundancy costs
were £28 million for 2020, £4 million lower than
2019. The reduction is primarily as a result of the
IFRS 2 charge in relation to long-term incentive
awards being approximately £2 million lower
than in 2019 mainly as a result of the lapsing of
awards previously given to the former CEO and
CFO on their resignations, as well as a reduction
in the expected vesting outcome on

outstanding awards. A lower bonus pay-out
for 2020 compared to 2019 also contributed to
the year-on-year reduction. Otherwise, the
reduction in staff costs following the transfer of
the investment advisory team on the sale of the
Group’s remaining fund management activities
in June 2019 was broadly offset by increases in
headcount in growth areas and support
functions of the business.
As a result of the strategic review and
subsequent restructuring, annual run-rate
staff cost savings of approximately £4 million,
from net headcount reductions of around 20
employees, and overhead and other cost savings
of approximately £2 million are expected to be
achieved by the end of 2021. These savings will
be reinvested in setting up a new Core-plus team
during 2021 as well as in certain other growth
initiatives, and other than inflationary increases
and higher bonus pay-outs, we are targeting
core costs for 2021 to be at a broadly consistent
level to 2020.
The income statement for years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019 by reportable
segment is shown in the tables below.
Asia Pacific – the lower profit in 2020 compared
to 2019 was mainly due to higher losses from
reductions in power price forecasts and other
losses on the region’s solar assets.

Europe – the slightly higher profit in 2020
compared to 2019 was driven by the gain
on the divestment of IEP East, which offset
the losses on the European Renewable Energy
portfolio from reductions in power price
forecasts and the write down of our investments
in the biomass projects.
North America – whilst good progress was
made on the PPP assets in the US, reduced
power price forecasts and project performance
issues, primarily on the region’s solar assets, on
which discount rates were increased to reflect
the increased risk, contributed to an overall loss
in the year on the Renewable Energy portfolio
of £51 million.
Latin America – following the initial value uplift
of the first investment in Latin America in 2019,
the asset continued to progress positively
through 2020 and generated further value
as the project was de-risked.
Central – the overall loss for the Central
segment reflects the costs of the Group’s
central support and overview functions,
as well as the Group’s finance costs and its
post-retirement charges. Other administrative
expenses for 2020 of £15 million was higher
than the £11 million for 2019 primarily due
to the strategic review and the one-off GMP
equalisation charge of £3 million in 2020.

Year ended 31 December 2020
Asia Pacific
£ million

Net (loss)/gain on investments at FVTPL

(10)

Europe
£ million

30

North
America Latin America
£ million
£ million

(10)

6

Central
£ million

Total
£ million

–

16

Other income

3

2

4

–

–

9

Operating (loss)/income

(7)

32

(6)

6

–

25

Staff costs

(7)

(6)

(8)

(2)

(14)

(37)

Other administrative expenses

(9)

(9)

(5)

(3)

(15)

(41)

Administrative expenses

(16)

(15)

(13)

(5)

(29)

(78)

(Loss)/profit from operations

(23)

17

(19)

1

(29)

(53)

Finance costs
(Loss)/profit before tax

–

–

–

–

(12)

(12)

(23)

17

(19)

1

(41)

(65)

Year ended 31 December 2019

Net gain on investments at FVTPL
Other income

Asia Pacific
£ million

Europe
£ million

North
America
£ million

Latin
America
£ million

Fund
Management
£ million

Central
£ million

Total
£ million

12

18

100

12

–

5

147

2

3

6

–

20

1

32

Operating income

14

21

106

12

20

6

179

Staff costs

(7)

(6)

(7)

(1)

(3)

(13)

(37)

Other administrative expenses

(3)

(6)

(7)

(2)

(2)

(11)

(31)

Profit/(loss) from operations

4

9

92

9

15

(18)

111

Finance costs

–

–

–

–

–

(11)

(11)

Profit/(loss) before tax

4

9

92

9

15

(29)

John Laing Group plc
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Cash flow
The Group Cash Flow Statement includes the
cash flows of the Company and those recourse
subsidiaries that are consolidated (‘Service
Companies’). The Group’s recourse investment
entity subsidiaries, through which the Company
holds its investments in non-recourse project
companies, are held at fair value in the financial
statements and accordingly cash flows rel5ating
to investments in the portfolio are not included
in the Group Cash Flow Statement. Investmentrelated cash flows are disclosed in note 13 to the
Group financial statements.
The re-presented cash flow statement shows
all recourse cash flows that arise in both the
consolidated group (the Company and its
consolidated subsidiaries) and in the recourse
investment entity subsidiaries.
Cash yield from the investment portfolio was
£58 million in the year compared to £57 million
in 2019, with both years benefitting from larger
than normal distributions from projects
following the end of their construction periods.
For this reason, total cash yield can vary year
on year as the more significant distributions can
be dependent on the timing of projects coming
to the end of construction.
Operating cash inflow in the year ended
31 December 2020 was adverse compared to
2019 primarily due to no fund management
income received in 2020 compared to
£22 million received in 2019. This is a result of
the sale of the fund management business in
2019. There were also higher general overheads
payments in 2020 by £2 million compared to
2019 due to increased recruitment costs as well
as the cost of the strategic review. Savings in
travelling costs and office running costs as a
result of the lockdown due to the COVID-19
crisis were largely offset by donations the Group
made during the year to various organisations,
with a focus on those with links to our projects
and people.
During the year, cash of £103 million (2019:
£267 million) was invested in project companies
and our interests in six projects were sold for
total proceeds of £292 million (2019: £143 million
from the realisation of four investments).
Offsetting proceeds from realisations were
disposal costs paid of £7 million (2019: £3 million).
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In the year, the Group made a cash contribution to JLPF of £26 million (2019: £29 million) in line with
the agreed schedule of contributions.
Dividend payments of £47 million in the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: £47 million) comprised the
final dividend for 2019 of £38 million (2019: final dividend for 2018 of £38 million) and the interim dividend
for 2020 of £9 million (2019: interim dividend for 2019 of £9 million).
2020
Year ended
31 December

2019

Re-presented
cash flows
£ million

Re-presented
cash flows
£ million

Cash yield

58

57

Operating cash outflow

(51)

(24)

(5)

1

Net foreign exchange impact
Total operating cash inflow
Cash investment in projects
Reduction in cash collateral balance
Proceeds from realisations
Disposal costs

2
(103)

34
(267)

4

14

292

143

(7)

(3)

Net investing cash inflow/(outflow)

186

(113)

Finance charges

(10)

(11)

–

(4)

Cash contributions to JLPF

(26)

(29)

Dividend payments

(47)

(47)

Purchase of own shares related to share-based incentives

Net cash outflow from financing activities

(83)

(91)

Recourse group cash inflow/(outflow)

105

(170)

Recourse group opening net debt

(232)

(62)

Recourse group closing net debt

(127)

(232)

Reconciliation to line items on re-presented balance sheet
Cash and cash equivalents¹

11

7

Cash borrowings

(138)

Net debt

(127)

(232)

(57)

(104)

(184)

(336)

(138)

(239)

Off-balance sheet debt²
Total net debt²

(239)

Reconciliation of cash borrowings to Group Balance Sheet
Cash borrowings as per re-presented balance sheet
Unamortised financing costs
Borrowings as per Group Balance Sheet

2
(136)

3
(236)

1 For reconciliation of these amounts to the Group Balance Sheet see the re-presented balance sheet above.
2 See Financial Resources section below.
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Available financial resources

£466m
2019: £314m

Final dividend per share

7.82p

Financial resources

Foreign currency exposure

At 31 December 2020, the Group had
principal committed revolving credit banking
facilities of £650 million (31 December 2019:
£650 million), £500 million expiring in July 2023
and £150 million expiring in January 2023
(extended to January 2023 in January 2021),
which are primarily used to issue letters of credit
to back investment commitments. Net available
financial resources at 31 December 2020 were
£466 million (31 December 2019: £314 million).

The Group regularly reviews the sensitivity
of its balance sheet to changes in exchange rates
relative to Sterling and to the timing and amount
of forecast foreign currency denominated cash
flows. As set out in the Portfolio valuation
section, the Group’s portfolio comprised
investments denominated in Sterling, Euro,
Colombian peso and Australian, US, Canadian
and New Zealand dollars. As a result of foreign
exchange movements in the year ended
31 December 2020, there was a net favourable
fair value movement of £33 million in the
portfolio valuation. This reflects the net effect
of weakening of Sterling against the Australian
dollar and Euro and strengthening of Sterling
against the US dollar and the Colombian peso.

Analysis of Group financial resources

2019: 7.66p

Total committed facilities
Letters of credit issued
under corporate banking
facilities
Other guarantees and
commitments
Short-term cash
borrowings
Bank overdraft

31 Dec
2020
£ million

31 Dec
2019
£ million

650

650

(55)

(95)

(2)

(9)

(138)

(232)

–

(7)

Utilisation of facilities

(195)

(343)

Headroom

455

307

11

7

Net available financial
resources

466

314

Total net debt

184

336

10.8%

16.9%

Available cash and bank
deposits1

Total net debt as % of
gross investment
portfolio

1 Cash and bank deposits exclude cash collateral balances.
Of the total cash and bank deposit balances of £11 million,
£5 million was in the Company and recourse subsidiaries
that are consolidated and therefore shown as cash and cash
equivalents on the Group Balance Sheet, with the remaining
£6 million in recourse subsidiaries held at FVTPL which are
included within investments at FVTPL on the Group Balance
Sheet (see the re-presented balance sheet).

Total net debt as a percentage of the gross
investment portfolio at 31 December 2020 was
10.8% compared to 16.9% at 31 December 2019
with the decrease primarily due to the high level
of divestments, including the first tranche of the
disposal of IEP East, relative to the new
investments in the year.

John Laing Group plc

The Group does not typically hedge against
foreign exchange movements in its portfolio
value but may hedge for investments
denominated in currencies that have been
volatile in the past or expected to be so in the
future. At the time of its investment in 2019 in
the Ruta del Cacao road project in Colombia, the
Group entered into a Colombian peso foreign
exchange derivative hedge to provide a band of
protection against possible significant adverse
changes in the Sterling value of its investment
from adverse movements in the Colombian peso
to Sterling exchange rate. The Group may apply
an appropriate foreign currency cash flow hedge
to a specific currency transaction exposure.
After reaching agreement on the disposal of the
Australian wind farm portfolio in October 2020,
the Group entered into a forward foreign
exchange contract to fix in Sterling the agreed
Australian dollar disposal proceeds.
The Group hedges the foreign exchange
exposure on its foreign currency denominated
future investment cash flows at the time of entry
into each project. These hedges take the form
of either letters of credit issued in foreign
currency, foreign currency denominated cash
collateral deposits or cash provided as equity
bridge loans.
An analysis of the portfolio value by currency
is set out in the Portfolio valuation section.

Dividend
In line with our dividend policy, the Board
has declared a final dividend for the period of
7.82 pence per share, or £39 million in aggregate
(2019: 7.66 pence; £38 million).

Overview

Outlook
For 2021, the building blocks for NAV growth
(before dividends paid) are set out below:
•

Project delivery: we expect unwind of
discounting and the reduction in
construction risk premia to be somewhat
lower year on year due to a lower level of
in-construction assets in the portfolio.

•

Value enhancements: we expect a similar
performance to 2020, but this could depend
on opportunities in the financial markets for
planned refinancings on certain projects.

•

Administrative expenses: we expect
third-party bid costs and disposal costs in
aggregate to be at a similar level to 2020
with increased bidding activity, following
procurement delays in 2020, and less
divestment activity. We expect staff costs
and overheads in 2021 to be broadly flat on
2020 with cost savings reinvested in setting
up the Core-plus team and in other growth
initiatives.

•

New investment commitments expected to
be at least £100 million.

•

External factors: sensitivities are set out
in the following Portfolio Valuation section.

Going concern
The Directors have reviewed the Group’s financial
projections and cash flow forecasts and believe,
based on those projections and forecasts and
taking into account expected bidding activity
and operational performance, that it is
appropriate to prepare the Group financial
statements on the going concern basis. In arriving
at their conclusion, the Directors took into
account the financial resources available to the
Group from its committed banking facilities
comprising £500 million corporate banking
facilities committed until July 2023 and an
additional £150 million facilities committed until
January 2023. At 31 December 2020, there were
available financial resources of £466 million,
as detailed above. Utilisation of the facilities
includes letters of credit issued which, together
with cash collateral balances held by the Group,
back all future investment commitments which at
31 December 2020 were £163 million. Investments
into project companies are made on a non-recourse
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basis, which means that providers of debt to such
project companies do not have recourse to
the Group beyond its investment commitment.
The completion in October 2020 of the first
tranche of the sale of our interest in the IEP East
project increased the liquidity of the Group and
this will be increased further by the completion of
the disposal of the Australian wind farm portfolio
for proceeds of AUD285 million (c£158 million)
later this month. Completion of the sale of the
Group’s remaining 15% interest will take place
before 27 October 2021 at John Laing’s election,
and will generate additional consideration of £192
million plus interest, calculated at a rate of 7% per
annum, less any cash yield received from the
project before completion. All future capital
commitments of £163 million are already
supported by letters of credit issued under the
banking facilities or cash collateral. Whilst further
divestment processes are in progress, the Group
is not reliant on divestment proceeds to meet its
debts as they fall due, to operate within its
banking facilities and to comply with the financial
covenants over the next 18 months. In
determining that the Group is a going concern,
certain risks and uncertainties, some of which
have heightened as a result of COVID-19 as
described in the Principal Risks section, have been
considered. This has been carried out by running
various sensitivities on the Group’s cash flow
projections including up to a six-month delay in
planned disposals and reductions in the valuation
of investments. The Group has also run a reverse
stress test with a six-month delay on planned
divestments and the decline in the investment
valuation before there is a covenant breach. This
reduction of £650 million is significant and
therefore the Group believes the risk of such a
decline to be remote. The Directors have also
considered various mitigating actions that could
be undertaken to maintain liquidity including a
delay in future investments in order to preserve
cash and liquidity. After making this assessment,
the Directors believe that the Group is adequately
placed to manage these risks.

Rob Memmott
Chief Financial Officer
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Portfolio valuation

The Group’s investments at 31 December 2020 were valued at
£1,542 million compared to £1,768 million at 31 December 2019.
After adjusting for realisations, cash yield and cash invested,
this represented a positive movement in fair value of £21 million
(1.4%) on the rebased portfolio valuation.

Primary investment

Secondary investment

SOCIAL INFRASTRUCTURE
University of
Brighton Student
Accommodation
85% (EUR)

Alder Hey
Children’s
Hospital
40% (EUR)

Clarence
Correctional
Centre
90% (APAC)

New Royal
Adelaide
Hospital
17.26% (APAC)

A6 Parkway
Netherlands
85% (EUR)

A15
Netherlands
28% (EUR)

A130
100% (EUR)

I-77 Managed
Lanes
17.45% (NA)

Denver
Eagle P3
45% (NA)

New Generation
Rollingstock
40% (APAC)

IEP
East***
15% (EUR)

Sydney
Light Rail
32.5% (APAC)

Brantley
Solar Farm*
100% (NA)

Buckleberry
Solar Farm*
100% (NA)

Cherry Tree
Wind Farm**
100% (APAC)

Finley
Solar Farm
100% (APAC)

Fox Creek
Solar Farm*
100% (NA)

Glencarbry
Wind Farm
100% (EUR)

Granville
Wind Farm**
49.8% (APAC)

Horath
Wind Farm
81.82% (EUR)

Hornsdale 1
Wind Farm**
30% (APAC)

Hornsdale 2
Wind Farm**
20% (APAC)

Hornsdale 3
Wind Farm**
20% (APAC)

IS54 Solar
Farm*
100% (NA)

IS67 Solar Farm*
100% (NA)

Kiata Wind Farm**
72.3% (APAC)

Klettwitz Wind Farm Live Oak Wind Farm
100% (EUR)
75% (NA)

Nordergründe
Wind Farm
30% (EUR)

Rammeldalsberget
Wind Farm
100% (EUR)

TRANSPORT
Roads and other
A16 Road
47.5% (EUR)

I-4 Ultimate
50% (NA)

I-66 Managed
Lanes
10% (NA)

I-75 Road
40% (NA)

MBTA Automated
Fare Collection
System
90% (NA)

Ruta del Cacao
30% (LatAm)

Rail and rolling stock
Hurontario Light
Rail 35% (NA)

Melbourne Metro
30% (APAC)

ENVIRONMENTAL
Waste and biomass
East Rockingham
Waste 35% (APAC)
Wind and solar
Sunraysia
Solar Farm
90.1% (APAC)

APAC – Asia Pacific
EUR – Europe
NA – North America
LatAm – Latin America
* Cypress Creek projects.
** Interests in Australian wind farm portfolio held at agreed sale price at 31 December 2020; disposal expected to complete in March 2021.
*** Remaining 15% interest in IEP East held at agreed sale price where sale will complete at Company’s election no later than 27 October 2021.
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2020
£ million

2019
£ million

1,768

1,560

– Cash invested

103

267

– Cash yield

(58)

(57)

Portfolio valuation at 1 January

(292)

– Proceeds from realisations
Rebased portfolio valuation

1,521

– Movement in fair value
Portfolio valuation at 31 December
Future investment commitments backed by letters of credit or cash collateral at 1 January
New investment committed during the year
Cash invested in year as above
– Of which not previously backed by commitment
Other movement

(143)
1,627

21

141

1,542

1,768

219

296

43

184

(103)

(267)

6

7

(1)

–

(1)

Foreign exchange movement
Future investment commitments backed by letters of credit or cash collateral at 31 December

(1)

163

219

The split of the portfolio valuation between Primary and Secondary investments and the movements in the year within each are shown in the tables
below:
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

Number of
projects

£ million

%

Number of
projects

£ million

%

11

336

21.8

16

907

51.3

Secondary Investment

29

1,206

78.2

32

861

48.7

Total

40

1,542

100.0

48

1,768

100.0

Primary Investment
£ million

PPP

RE

Total

Portfolio valuation at 1 January 2020

812

95

907

14

42

56

Primary Investment

– Cash invested
– Cash yield
– Transfers to Secondary Investment

(12)

–

(12)

(539)

(87)

(626)

Rebased portfolio valuation

275

50

325

– Movement in fair value

47

(36)

11

322

14

336

PPP

RE

Total

349

512

861

Portfolio valuation at 31 December 2020
Secondary Investment
£ million

Portfolio valuation at 1 January 2020
– Cash invested

41

6

47

– Cash yield

(28)

(18)

(46)

– Proceeds from realisations

(222)

(70)

(292)

– Transfers from Primary Investment

539

87

626
1,196

Rebased portfolio valuation

679

517

– Movement in fair value

112

(102)

791

415

Portfolio valuation at 31 December 2020

10
1,206
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Methodology
The methodology for the valuation of the investment portfolio is unchanged from the methodology used as at 31 December 2019, as described in the
2019 Annual Report and Accounts.
In arriving at the valuation as at 31 December 2020, we considered and reflected changes to the two principal inputs, (i) forecast cash flows from
investments in projects and (ii) discount rates.
In addition, we have obtained an independent opinion from a third party, which has considerable expertise in valuing the type of investments held by the
Group, that the investment portfolio valuation as a whole represented a fair market value in the conditions prevailing at 31 December 2020.
A significant amount of the Secondary portfolio at 31 December 2020 (£195 million in the PPP portfolio and £161 million in the Renewable Energy portfolio,
in total £356 million) was held at agreed sale prices rather than at discounted cash flow values and accordingly have been excluded from the calculation
of the weighted average discount rates and the sensitivity analysis shown below.

Discount rates
For the 31 December 2020 valuation, the overall weighted average discount rate was 9.1% compared to the weighted average discount rate at
31 December 2019 of 8.6%.
The weighted average discount rate at 31 December 2020 was made up of 10.3% (31 December 2019: 9.1%) for the Primary investment portfolio and 8.1%
(31 December 2019: 8.0%) for the Secondary investment portfolio.
The weighted average discount rate at 31 December 2020 was 9.2% (31 December 2019: 8.9%) for the PPP investments and 8.6% (31 December 2019: 8.1%)
for the Renewable Energy investments.
At 31 December 2020

Weighted average discount rate

At 31 December 2019

Primary
Investment

Secondary
Investment

PPP

RE

Overall

Primary
Investment

Secondary
Investment

PPP

RE

Overall

10.3%

8.1%

9.2%

8.6%

9.1%

9.1%

8.0%

8.9%

8.1%

8.6%

The changes in the weighted average discount rates for the Primary, Secondary and PPP investment portfolios are principally due to movements in the
investment in IEP East. This investment, which had a lower than average discount rate as part of the Primary portfolio at 31 December 2019, transferred to the
Secondary portfolio during the year before half the Group’s interest was sold, with the remaining interest held at agreed sale price at 31 December 2020.
The increase in the weighted average discount rate for the Renewable Energy investments is principally due to an increase in the discount rates on certain
assets to reflect an increase in risk on those projects and, to a lesser extent, as a result of holding the Australia wind farm portfolio, which at 31 December
2019 had a lower than average discount rate, at agreed sale price of £161 million at 31 December 2020.
The discount rate ranges used in the portfolio valuation at 31 December 2020 were as set out below:
At 31 December 2020
Sector

PPP investments
Renewable Energy investments

At 31 December 2019

Primary
Investment

Secondary
Investment

Primary
Investment

Secondary
Investment

7.9% – 11.9%

6.5% – 9.2%

7.1% – 12.4%

6.5% – 9.3%

10.3% – 10.3%

6.3% – 9.2%

8.6% – 8.6%

6.4% – 8.5%

The table below shows the sensitivity of a 0.25% change in discount rates on all investments other than those held at agreed sale prices:

Discount rate sensitivity

Portfolio
valuation
£ million

Increase/
(decrease) in
valuation
£ million

+0.25%

1,151

(35)

–

1,186

–

-0.25%

1,223

37

Energy yields
Revenues and therefore cash flows from investments in wind and solar generation projects may be affected by the volume of power production, for
example from changes in wind or solar yield.
Our valuation of wind and solar generation projects assumes a P50 level of electricity output based on reports by technical consultants. The P50 output is the
estimated annual amount of electricity generation (in MWh) that has a 50% probability of being achieved or exceeded and a 50% probability of being
underachieved – both in any single year and over the long term. Hence the P50 is the expected level of generation forecast over the long term. A P75 output
means a forecast with a 75% probability of being achieved or exceeded and a P25 output means a forecast with a 25% probability of being achieved or exceeded.
The impact on the valuation at 31 December 2020 on all wind and solar generation assets, other than those held at agreed sale prices, with total value
of £268 million from changes in energy yield is shown in the following table.
John Laing Group plc
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Portfolio
Increase/
valuation of (decrease)
assets in valuation
£ million
£ million

Energy yield sensitivity

P75

217

(51)

P50

268

–

P25

314

46

The sensitivities shown above assume that changes in energy yields move in the same direction for all of the assets. However, across the portfolio of wind
and solar generation assets, any actual change in forecast energy yields could be an increase for some assets and a decrease for others.

Macro-economic assumptions
During 2020, updates for actual macro-economic outcomes and assumptions had a net adverse impact of £49 million (2019: £11 million net adverse
impact) on the portfolio valuation. This included £33 million adverse impact from lower short-term inflation expectations and £16 million from lower cash
deposit rates. Additionally, a decrease in forecast power and gas prices resulted in a £101 million adverse fair value movement (2019: £48 million adverse
fair value movement).
Movements of foreign currencies against Sterling over the year to 31 December 2020 resulted in net favourable foreign exchange movements of £33 million
(2019: £57 million net adverse foreign exchange movements).
The table below summarises the main macro-economic and exchange rate assumptions used in the portfolio valuation at 31 December 2020 and at
31 December 2019. The table also shows the impact from changes in these assumptions and from changes in power and gas prices and marginal loss
factors in the year as well as the sensitivity to the portfolio value from changes in the future:
Assumption

Long-term inflation

UK

RPI & RPIX

31 December
2020

31 December 2019

3.00%

3.00%

Europe

CPI

2.00%

1.25% – 2.00%

North America

CPI

2.00% – 2.25%

2.00% – 2.25%

Asia Pacific

CPI

2.50%

1.50% – 2.50%

Latin America

CPI

3.00%

3.20% – 3.40%

Impact recognised in the year

£(33) million

£(5) million

Sensitivity: change in value of all investments other than those held at agreed sale price
(2019: five PPP investments) with a total value of

£1,186 million

£596 million

c.£36 million
c.£(36) million

c.£14 million
c.£(13) million

0.25% increase in inflation
0.25% decrease in inflation
Exchange rates

Impact recognised in the year
Sensitivity: 5% movement of each relevant currency against Sterling

GBP/EUR

1.1175

1.1799

GBP/AUD

1.7736

1.8847

GBP/USD

1.3667

1.3241

GBP/NZD

1.8996

1.9641

GBP/CAD

1.7434

1.7174

GBP/COP

4,674.7793

4,351.4000

£33 million

£(57) million

+/- c.£57 million +/- c.£64 million

Power and gas prices
Impact in the year
Sensitivity: change in value of all investments subject to power and gas prices (2019:
seven Renewable Energy investments) with a total value of

£(101) million

£(48) million

£272 million

£338 million

5% increase in power and gas prices

c.£20 million

c.£21 million

5% decrease in power and gas prices

c.£(20) million

c.£(19) million

£3 million

£(52) million

£52 million

£233 million

Marginal loss factors (MLFs)
Impact recognised in the year
Sensitivity: change in value of all investments subject to MLFs with a total value of
5% increase in MLFs

c.£13 million

c.£29 million

5% decrease in MLFs

c.£(13) million

c.£(29) million
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The sensitivities shown above from changes in assumptions are on the basis that changes are in the same direction across all assets. In practice, there
could be an increase for some assets and a decrease for others and as a result offsetting impacts.

Portfolio analysis
The Group has an investment portfolio that is well diversified by geographical regional and sector as shown in the following analysis.

By geographical region
31 December 2020

Europe

31 December 2019

£ million

%

£ million

%

189

12.3

599

33.9

Asia Pacific

430

27.9

587

33.2

North America

486

31.4

514

29.1

Latin America
Assets held at agreed sale price
Total

81

5.3

68

3.8

356

23.1

–

–

1,542

100.0

1,768

100.0

By PPP and Renewable Energy
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

£ million

%

£ million

%

Primary PPP

322

20.9

812

45.9

Secondary PPP

596

38.6

349

19.7

14

0.9

95

5.4

Secondary Renewable Energy

254

16.5

512

29.0

Assets held at agreed sale price

356

23.1

–

–

1,542

100.0

1,768

100.0

Primary Renewable Energy

Total

By time remaining on project concession/operational life
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

£ million

%

£ million

Greater than 25 years

656

42.5

1,113

63.0

20 to 25 years

213

13.8

402

22.7

15 to 20 years

271

17.6

62

3.5

10 to 15 years

30

2.0

122

6.9

Less than 10 years
Assets held at agreed sale price
Total

%

16

1.0

69

3.9

356

23.1

–

–

1,542

100.0

1,768

100.0

By revenue type
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

£ million

%

£ million

%

721

46.7

1,008

57.0

Volume – PPP

197

12.8

153

8.7

Volume – Renewable Energy

268

17.4

607

34.3

Availability – PPP

Assets held at agreed sale price
Total

Availability-based PPP investments made up the majority of the portfolio at 31 December 2020.

John Laing Group plc

356

23.1

–

–

1,542

100.0

1,768

100.0
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By sector
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

£ million

%

£ million

%

279

18.1

605

34.2

Transport – roads and other

413

26.8

344

19.5

Environmental – wind and solar generation

268

17.4

577

32.6

Transport – rail and rolling stock

Environmental – waste and biomass
Social infrastructure
Assets held at agreed sale price
Total

3

0.2

35

2.0

223

14.4

207

11.7

356

23.1

–

–

1,542

100.0

1,768

100.0

The reduction in the rail and rolling stock sector during 2020 was primarily due to the disposal of the Group’s interest in the IEP East project. The disposal
of one wind farm in the US and three in Europe in the year and the agreed sale of six wind farms in Australia, as well as negative fair value movements on
the Renewable Energy portfolio, resulted in a significant reduction in the value of wind and solar generation assets since 31 December 2019. The reduction
in the waste and biomass sector was principally as a result of the write down of the UK biomass assets. Further cash injections and positive fair value
movements resulted in increases in value in 2020 in other sectors.
By currency
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

£ million

%

£ million

%

38

2.4

417

23.6

Euro

151

9.8

182

10.3

Australian dollar

430

27.9

568

32.1

–

–

19

1.1

483

31.3

510

28.8

3

0.2

4

0.2

Sterling

New Zealand dollar
US dollar
Canadian dollar
Colombian peso
Assets held at agreed sale price
Total

81

5.3

68

3.9

356

23.1

–

–

1,542

100.0

1,768

100.0

The valuation ranges for the five largest Primary Investments and the five largest Secondary Investments, not including those assets held at agreed sale
price, are shown in the tables below:

Primary
31 Dec 2020
£ million

Ruta del Cacao

80 – 90

I-66 Managed Lanes

70 – 80

I-4 Ultimate

50 – 60

Melbourne Metro

30 – 40

MBTA

30 – 40

Secondary
31 Dec 2020
£ million

Clarence Correctional Centre

130 – 140

Denver Eagle P3

100 – 110

I-77 Managed Lanes

90 – 100

Sydney Light Rail

80 – 90

Live Oak Wind Farm

70 – 80
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Prospects and viability

The long-term prospects and viability of the Group are
a consistent focus of the Board when reviewing and
determining the Group’s strategy and business model.

The identification and mitigation of the Group’s
principal risks also form part of the Board’s
assessment of long-term prospects and
viability. The Directors have assessed the
longer-term prospects of the Group in
accordance with provision 31 of the UK
Corporate Governance Code 2018 (the ‘Code’).

Assessing our prospects
John Laing has established itself as a valued
and trusted partner for infrastructure
investment. We have successfully grown our
investment portfolio since IPO in 2015 and
expanded our footprint into new
geographical markets and new asset classes.
We have proven to be adaptable and flexible
in our business model, particularly with the
types of investments that we have chosen to
target. Towards the end of 2019, we made the
decision to cease investment in standalone
wind and solar generation assets in all our
geographies and, following a strategic review
in the second half of 2020, the Group
announced its intention to broaden its
investment platform into adjacent areas in
infrastructure. We aim to create a scalable
and more diversified platform that capitalises
on the Group’s existing strong Greenfield PPP
projects expertise and enables us to benefit
from the positive market outlook for
infrastructure investment around the world.
The fundamental drivers of the infrastructure
market and the need for new infrastructure
remain as strong as ever: population growth,
urbanisation, energy transition, and the
growing role of data and therefore the need
for communications infrastructure. The
COVID-19 pandemic has strengthened the
medium-to-longer term outlook for
infrastructure investment, with governments
around the world viewing infrastructure
investments not only as a means to support
economic recovery, but as essential to the
functioning of a modern economy. We are
confident that we are well placed to continue
to see significant investment opportunities
for growth over the foreseeable future.

John Laing Group plc

The Group adopts an annual business planning
process which involves all of the Group’s
operating regions and senior management with
review by the Board. The annual business plan
looks out over the next three years with one
budget year followed by two plan years. Detailed
budgets for the coming financial year are
established for both the Group and each of the
core business lines, with performance targets
set accordingly.
This planning process is a significant part of the
Board’s assessment of the Group’s prospects
and is complemented by separate strategic
reviews by the Board during the year. The
Group’s current market position, its strategy and
business model and the potential impact of the
principal risks (as set out on pages 9 to 61) are all
taken into account in the Board’s assessment of
the prospects of the Group. In assessing the risks
facing our business, we have considered the
longer-term impacts of COVID-19 and the
implications of the UK’s withdrawal from the
European Union following the end of the
transition period and the post-Brexit trade deal.
We believe our business model is robust enough
and adaptable to weather any potential
disruptions which might arise.

The Directors’ assessment has been undertaken
using projections from a detailed financial
model which the Group uses continually and
consistently both for forecasting purposes and
to monitor compliance with the covenants in its
corporate banking facilities. Key outputs from
this model are reviewed at monthly treasury
meetings as well as being used for monthly
financial reporting and forecasting to the
Executive Committee, the Board and in the
annual business planning process.
These projections include expected fair value
movements from the existing portfolio and
incorporate forecasts of the timing of new
investment commitments and the disposal of
investments as well as all cash flows of the Group
and its working capital requirements.
The key assumptions the Directors have made in
making their assessment were as follows:
•

Stable government policy and macroeconomic factors and a continuing strong
and liquid secondary market;

•

Availability of debt finance continues at
Group level through the corporate banking
facilities. Currently, the Group has committed
corporate banking facilities of £650 million, of
which £500 million matures in July 2023, and
£150 million matures in January 2023. Our
projections assume an extension of the
facilities beyond the end of the viability
assessment period and include the costs of a
refinancing in 2021. Our strategy for
enhancement includes the strengthening of
the Group’s funding model, which may result
in alternative forms of funding;

•

The value of the Group’s investment
portfolio is not significantly adversely
impacted by changes in a number of key
assumptions including: discount rates
derived from the secondary market;
macro-economic factors such as exchange
rates, taxation rates, inflation and deposit
rates; the construction stage and
operational performance of underlying
assets; forecast project cash flows; volumes
(where project revenue is linked to project
usage); and forward energy prices and
energy yields; and

Assessing our viability
In accordance with provision 31 of the Code, the
Directors have assessed the viability of the
Group over a three-year period to 31 December
2023. The assessment carried out supports the
Directors’ statements both on viability, as set
out below, and also in respect of going concern,
as set out in the Financial Review section. In
making this assessment, the Board have given
due consideration to the Group’s future
strategy, in particular the broadening of the
Group’s investment platform.
The use of a three-year time horizon for the
purpose of assessing the viability of the Group is
consistent with the period of the Group’s
business plan as well as the visibility the Group
has over the future opportunities in its
investment pipeline, including the opportunities
we disclose from our preferred bidder and
short-listed positions.

Overview

•

The Group’s operations and investment
portfolio remain robust to the effects of
COVID-19 and are not significantly adversely
impacted by an ongoing COVID-19
pandemic.

In assessing our viability, the Directors are not
placing any reliance on a significant increase
over the assessment period in the level of
investment opportunities from the fundamental
drivers of the infrastructure market that we have
identified when assessing the Group’s future
prospects as set out above.
We have agreed with the John Laing Pension
Fund trustee a four-year deficit repayment plan,
under which a final payment of £25.4 million is
due to be made on 31 March 2023.
The Directors have also carried out a robust
assessment of the principal risks facing the
Group and how the Group manages these risks
(as set out on pages 54 to 61), including those
that would threaten its strategy, business model,
future operational and financial performance,
solvency and liquidity.
The Group has considered the potential impact
of these risks on the viability of the business. The
projections and the underlying assumptions
have been subjected to robust sensitivity
analysis to stress test the resilience of the
Group’s forecasts to severe but plausible
scenarios, together with the likely effectiveness
of mitigating actions that would be expected by
the Directors. The particular focus of the stress
testing was on the available headroom under the
banking facilities and to compliance with the key
covenants under these facilities, including the
adjusted asset cover ratio (‘AACR’).
Similar stress testing is performed regularly
throughout the year and reported to the Audit &
Risk Committee.
For the viability assessment, the most severe
scenarios tested are described below. This
includes a description of the relevant principal
risks from which an adverse impact is assumed
under the scenario.
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Scenario 1

Scenario 2

Scenario – the Group is unable to make any
further divestments over the assessment
period, other than those already agreed, and
accordingly materially reduces bidding
activity for new investments.

Scenario – this plausible extreme downside
scenario assumes the Group experiences the
following combination of factors through the
assessment period: a six-month delay in
forecast investment realisations, other than
those already agreed; a 10% write down in
value of all existing investments other than
those held at agreed sale price; a 20%
reduction in all cash yields from existing
projects; 20% adverse movement in foreign
exchange rates; a reduction in IRRs on all new
investments of approximately 0.5% in the
forecast; a £60 million adverse movement in
the IAS 19 pension.

Principal risks tested – a weakness in the
secondary market (risk – ‘market risk’), both
in terms of liquidity and appetite for
particular infrastructure investments;
shortfall in financial resources (risk –
‘financial resilience risk’).
Mitigation – given the cyclical nature of the
Group’s disposal and reinvestment activity,
there is an intrinsic mitigation to a scenario
of reduced realisation levels, by reducing
new investment activity, and to a scenario of
reduced future investment activity, by
reducing disposal activity. In a scenario of
being unable to make any further investment
realisation, the Group can reduce its new
investment activity which would also reduce
its costs. The Group would also expect to
receive a higher level of cash yield from its
investment portfolio as it is maintaining a
larger operational and yielding portfolio.
Result – under this scenario, with the likely
mitigating actions available to the Directors,
the projections show that the Group would
be able to continue its operations and meet
its liabilities as they fall due over the next
three years to 31 December 2023 and to
comply with the covenants in its banking
facilities over this period.

Principal risks tested – delay in divestments
reflects the potential impact from a change
in the appetite and return expectations of
potential future investors (risk – ‘market
risk’); write down in value of investments and
reduction in cash yields reflect potential
impact from execution risk, market risk and
merchant revenue risk and from adverse
changes in macro-economic factors.
Mitigation – this scenario assumes no
mitigating action. The primary mitigating
action available would be a reduction in
investment activity, which the Group has the
ability to manage and control.
Result – under this combined downside
scenario, whilst there is a significant impact
on the Group’s NAV, there is no forecast
breach of covenants in the assessment
period and there remains headroom under
the banking facilities. Given the severity of
the downside and the fact that available
mitigating actions would likely be effective,
the Directors believe this scenario proves
there is a satisfactory level of robustness.
Based on the above assessment, the
Directors have formed a reasonable
expectation that the Group will be able to
continue its operations and meet its liabilities
as they fall due over the next three years to
31 December 2023.
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Principal risks and risk management

We bear risks that we
understand and that are
within our risk appetite and
we actively manage these
risks in achieving our
strategic objectives.

Key successes this year

• New four-stage investment review process
to enhance oversight
• Deeper integration of ESG factors at each
stage of our investment review process
• Enhanced monitoring of existing
investments including tracking of KPIs
to provide early warnings.
Key priorities for the forthcoming year

Our approach
Our risk management processes are embedded
across the Group’s activities and, combined
with our active approach to the development,
delivery and operation of infrastructure assets,
ensures that we only bear risks we understand
and that are within our defined risk appetite.
We manage these risks in the successful delivery
of our strategic objectives.
During the year, our risk management system
has allowed us to understand and successfully
respond to rapid changes in the external
environment. The pandemic and resulting
economic impacts will be felt well into the
future and create a very dynamic risk
environment. The need for an equally robust
and responsive risk management system has
never been more important and we have
initiated a risk management development
plan for 2021 to reinforce our existing risk
management processes and procedures,
ensuring they are further integrated and
consistently applied across the Group.
This year we strengthened our processes
for reviewing new investments, introducing
a four-stage review process with ESG factors
to be considered at each stage of this process.
We also enhanced our monitoring of existing
investments through more frequent monitoring
of risks and KPIs to provide an early warning
of potential issues.

• Deploy reinforced risk management
processes as part of our risk management
development plan
• Integrate revised risk governance
arrangements including a new Portfolio
Review and Valuation Committee
• Implement monthly portfolio reviews
focused on a ‘watch list’ of investments
requiring enhanced monitoring.

Risk governance
The Board is responsible for ensuring that
risks are identified and appropriately managed
across the Group and has delegated to the Audit
& Risk Committee (the ‘ARC’) responsibility for
reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal controls systems,
including the systems established to identify,
assess, manage and monitor risks. The
Management Risk Committee (‘MRC’) assists
the Board and the ARC in overseeing and
managing the internal control and risk
management systems.

The Group’s approach to risk governance is
consistent with the ‘three lines of defence’
model and this ensures clarity over
responsibilities for risk management between
those who manage risks (first line), those who
provide oversight and assurance (second line)
and those who provide independent assurance
(third line).
Internal Audit is an independent, objective
assurance function reporting to the ARC.
It aims to protect the assets, reputation
and sustainability of the Group and helps the
Group accomplish its objectives by bringing
a systematic and disciplined approach to
evaluating and improving the effectiveness
of risk management, control and governance
processes. The Group Head of Internal Audit
reports directly to the ARC and has access
to both the Company Chair and the ARC Chair
at any time.
Following a regular external quality assessment
of the Internal Audit function, the Group has
further clarified the assurance activities which
will be performed by the Risk Management
function (led by the Chief Risk Officer) in relation
to individual investment companies. Internal
Audit will continue to conduct risk-based,
thematic reviews spanning the first and
second line activities.
Following a review of the Group’s Governance
Framework, the Group has restructured its
management committees and reporting lines.
These changes clarify the oversight role of
management committees in relation to key risks.

Three lines of defence model of risk management
Board/Audit & Risk Committee

John Laing Group plc

First Line of Defence

Second Line of Defence

Third Line of Defence

Product line management
Group support functions

Risk Management
function

Internal Audit

Executive

Non-independent
assurance

Independent assurance

External assurance

Management committees: Executive Committee, Operations
Committee, Management Risk Committee, Portfolio Review & Valuation
Committee, and Investment Committee

Overview
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The revised roles and responsibilities, within the three lines of defence model, for risk management are:

Board oversight

Delegated oversight/
governance functions
(management
committees)

Board

•

Responsible for ensuring that risks are identified and appropriately managed across the Group

Audit & Risk
Committee

•

Monitors the Group’s risk management and internal control systems and undertakes a review
of their effectiveness

•

Advises the Board on the Group’s overall risk appetite and tolerance and reviews regular
assurance reports from management related to risk and control

Executive
Committee

•

Ensures a long-term strategy is in place and is being delivered to plan

•

Monitors the performance of the Group against its objectives, including risk management

Management Risk
Committee (‘MRC’)

•

Embeds and enhances a clear risk management framework and fosters a strong risk culture
across the Group

•

Identifies and assesses emerging and principal risks and key controls. Approves amendments
to key controls and remedial action

•

R ecommends and actively monitors risk tolerance levels and key risk indicators (‘KRIs’) as part
of the Risk Appetite Statement and Risk Dashboard

•

Monitors and reviews risk and loss events, risk-related policies and processes and risk culture
within the Group

•

Makes screening, investment and realisation decisions/recommendations to the
Board based on risk identification and assessment prepared by investment teams

•

Allocates capital and monitors balance of risk across the portfolio to ensure
within agreed Portfolio Risk Limits

Investment
Committee (‘IC’)

First line
(Executive)

•

Review Portfolio Risk Limits and recommend new/amended limits to the MRC

Operations
Committee

•

Day-to-day operational management of the Group, including Human Resources
Talent Management, Internal Communications, Health & Safety, Information Technology,
Knowledge Management, and Corporate ESG

Portfolio Review
& Valuations
Committee (‘PRVC’)

•

Conducts monthly performance review, including ‘watchlist’ assets requiring focus,
reporting on key issues and risks, and deciding on intervention/remedies

•

Assesses and recommends portfolio asset valuations on a quarterly basis

Product Lines:
•
Asset management
and investment teams
•
Group supporting
functions

Second line
(Non-independent
assurance)

Third line
(Independent
assurance)

Risk Management
function

Internal Audit

Managing assets and proposing new investments in accordance with Group policies
and procedures
Applying Group risk management processes to identify and assess risks and propose controls

•

Reporting risk events and changes in risk status

•

Managing key business functions in accordance with Group policies and procedures

•

Applying Group risk management processes to identify and assess risks and propose controls

•

Reporting risk events and changes in risk status

•

Responsible for the Group’s overall Risk Management Framework and proposing amendments
/developments to the MRC, including updates to the Risk Appetite Statement (and Dashboard
of KRIs), Risk & Incident Log and Group Risk Register

•

Undertakes reviews of emerging risks and recommends to the MRC additional
controls and KRIs in relation to these

•

Completes regular reviews of portfolio project companies to test effectiveness
of controls (per the Group’s Project Company Control Requirements)

•

Undertakes risk-focused audits and reviews risk prevention and mitigation from a control
design adequacy and operating effectiveness perspective

•

Provides independent assurance over business-as-usual processes and provides programme
assurance during periods of change

•

Engages with key stakeholders across the Group, and provides constructive
challenge to management
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Principal risks and risk management continued

Culture

Risk appetite

Risk assessment

The Board, Chief Executive Officer and Executive
Committee recognise that organisational culture
and the attitudes and behaviours of staff are vital
to effective risk management. A number of
measures have been put in place to ensure
robust risk management is embedded in the
culture of the organisation.

The Group determines its risk appetite through
assessing principal risks, defining key controls
and where appropriate specifying tolerance
levels. These tolerance levels are particularly
relevant in considering investment and
divestment decisions and are updated as our
assessment of risks change.

Identification of the emerging and principal
risks, associated with the pursuit of the Group’s
strategic objectives, is a continuous process
which takes place through both ‘top-down’
and ‘bottom-up’ processes.

Tone at the top

Our risk appetite to each of our principal risks
has been reflected using risk appetite bands
of low, medium and high which are used to
outline our willingness to accept and retain
certain risk categories.

The most senior executives participate directly
in the management committees governing risk.
This clearly communicates to the organisation
that risk management is a key priority.

Lo

Low
•

Remuneration
Remuneration of senior employees is aligned
with the Group’s long-term business plan and
is imminently being reviewed to further
strengthen this alignment.

Me Medium

Training and support
Employees are trained in the risk
management systems and the Risk function
is available to provide ongoing support.

Hi

Continuous improvement
Employees are encouraged to report risks
and incidents in a ‘no blame’ culture which
prioritises continuous improvement.

John Laing Group plc

The Group has a low appetite for
the type of risks that are likely to
have adverse consequences and
aims to eliminate or substantially
reduce such risks.

•

The appetite for the type of risks
is limited within the Group and
is balanced.

•

Appetite for risk-taking is limited
to those instances where there
is little chance of significant
downside impact.

High
•

We are eager to pursue options
that offer potentially higher
rewards despite their greater
inherent risk, but with the
appropriate controls to
minimise our exposure.

The MRC completes a ‘top-down’ review of
the principal risks at each meeting focused
particularly on any changes in the external
environment which could impact the
Group’s activities.
The ‘bottom-up’ process comprises the
review of risks from across the Group’s
activities; business units, supporting functions
and investments. These individual risk
assessments are reviewed on a regular basis
and those risks with the potential to impact
the Group achieving its strategic objectives
are included as principal risks.
The principal risks are included in a Group Risk
Register and key controls which either reduce
the likelihood or mitigate the impact of the risks
are established and responsibilities for those
controls are allocated within the Group.
The Group Risk Register is reviewed by the MRC
at each meeting and regularly by the ARC.

Overview

Our principal risks
COVID-19 and emerging risks
COVID-19 has caused a severe
disruption across the global
economy and the full impact of
the global pandemic is yet to be
seen. The duration of lockdowns, roll-out of
vaccinations and the shape of the recovery
remains unknown. The risks to the Group are
being closely monitored. The impact to date
has been seen across a number of the Group’s
principal risks and has required a coordinated
response including introducing new ways of
working, substantive analysis of key assumptions
in the valuation of the portfolio and the various
sensitivities to external market factors, and
ensuring processes and controls are evolved
as needed to meet the challenges of the crisis.
The investment portfolio has been very resilient
during the crisis. Projects in construction
have not incurred significant delays. While the
lockdowns have had an impact on the revenues
of two road projects (I-77 in the US and A130
in the UK), the majority of the portfolio have
‘availability-based’ revenues and are therefore
protected against volume or price risk. The
pandemic did delay some public procurement
processes, as clients focused on managing the
crisis, however we expect strong impetus in
2021 as governments look to deliver new
infrastructure projects.
While the UK voted to leave the EU in 2016, the
full medium- to long-term impact of Brexit and
the official exit of the UK from the EU in January
2021 is yet to be seen. However, the Group does
not foresee this as a material risk to the Group’s
operations.

Strategic Report
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Climate change is an acute risk facing society.
It has been an increasingly important emerging
risk for John Laing over the last several years
due to the Company’s business in financing and
developing new infrastructure assets with long
economic lives. The impacts of climate change
are difficult to predict given the wide variety of
emission pathways and the interconnectedness
of outcomes. The risks of climate change
result from both the acute and chronic
physical impacts as well as the transition to
a low carbon economy. This presents a unique
challenge and opportunity for the Group in
both the choice of sectors and projects to invest
in and the management of those investments
during the delivery and operational phases.
A mapping exercise of sectors with respect to
the transition and physical impacts of climate
change has been undertaken and the Group
has strengthened its investment review process
and portfolio monitoring of climate-related
risks. Additionally, the Group has enhanced its
climate related disclosures (please see pages 76
to 79 for further information).
The Group considers its principal risks across
four categories:

1. Investment risks
The risk of our investments performing
in line with the Group’s expectations.

2. Financial risks
Risks related to corporate financing and
the adverse impact on the Group due to
foreign exchange fluctuations, financial
counterparty failure or having insufficient
resources to meet financial obligations.

3. Strategic risks
Long-term and emerging risks impacting
John Laing‘s business objectives, resulting
in a negative impact to Group profitability.

4. Operational risks
Risk of loss to the Group resulting from
inadequate or failed internal processes,
people and systems or from external events.
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Investment risks

Execution risk
The delivery or operation of an infrastructure
project or investment may not be executed
as planned resulting in a loss or decrease
in valuation.

Hi

Potential impacts
• While typically investments are structured
with experienced sub-contractors who are
responsible for delivery and operation of the
infrastructure, some cost risk may be retained
and construction delays, including those
caused by natural disasters such as the
COVID-19 pandemic, may not be fully
compensated and may impact valuations
by delaying project yields
• Contractors’ performance may be below
expectations and may lead to acceptance
issues and/or impair asset performance and/
or availability
• Failure of contract counterparties may affect
the Group’s ability to deliver projects
• Government counterparties may seek to
terminate or renegotiate existing contracts
or introduce new laws which impact the value
of the investment.

Mitigation and key controls
• Technical due diligence prior to investment
with oversight from the Investment Committee
• Asset directors actively monitor the
performance of investments through project
company board reports and meetings
• Monthly Portfolio Reviews ensure the
performance of investments is closely
monitored (with tracking of key KPIs) and
that corrective action is taken to address
construction or operational issues
• Counterparty credit risk is reviewed prior
to investment and monitored on a regular basis
across the portfolio
• Contractual protections are sought
to compensate for changes of law which
are specific to the investment
• The Group monitors concentration risk
to achieve diversification by individual asset
size, asset class/sector, geography and
counterparty exposure.

Trend/outlook for 2021
Strategic objectives

Risk appetite

Change in risk assessment

Growth

Lo

Low

Risk heightened

Optimise

Me

Medium

Risk consistent

Enhance

Hi

High

Risk reduced

• COVID-19 and associated lockdowns
could lead to construction delays on
some projects, however the experience
in 2020 was that most construction
projects have continued on schedule.
Operational projects have adjusted
to the changing requirements
successfully.
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Principal risks and risk management continued

Investment risks continued

Financial risks

Market risk

Merchant revenue risk

Changes in external market factors may impact
the valuation of investments.

Changes in sector specific market dynamics (in
the power, road traffic, waste management or
broadband sectors), may result in a loss or
impact the Group’s valuations.

Me

Me

Financial reporting
and tax risk
Inaccurate reporting of financial information,
tax-related issues, and an inability to accurately
value the portfolio may lead to financial and
reputational damage.
Lo

Potential impacts

Potential impacts

Potential impacts

• Increases in interest rates may result in reduced
valuation for some of the Group’s projects
(e.g. through margins on future refinancings)
• Sustained interest rate increases or uncertainty
in the regulatory, geopolitical or macroenvironment, may result in changes in the
appetite and the return expectations of
potential future investors in our assets and
impact asset valuations through changes
in assumed discount rates
• Changes in inflation forecasts will affect the
valuation of many of our assets which are
typically neutral or positively correlated
with inflation
• Geopolitical factors can result in regulatory
changes and imposts which could impact
the cost of goods and resources.

• Variance of power price forecasts, expected
generation (solar and wind resources),
transmission losses and levels of power
network curtailment may affect asset values
in the Renewable Energy sector
• Road investments which take traffic demand
and/or price risk can be impacted if the
forecast usage or toll rates are less than
anticipated
• Investments in the waste sector may take
risk on the volume and processing fee for
additional uncontracted waste volumes.

• Increased rates of tax, new taxes or revised
taxation rules in a jurisdiction of the Group’s
presence may lead to potential increase in tax
payable and resultant loss of value at Group
or project level, as well as possible delayed
divestments
• Some politicians have announced plans to
address increased budget deficits (following
COVID-19) with increased taxation
• Inaccurate portfolio valuations may lead to
a loss of investor confidence in the Group’s
performance and potential decline in share
price
• Merchant power price forecasts may prove to
be inaccurate and/or may change significantly
in response to changing external factors.

Mitigation and key controls

Mitigation and key controls

Mitigation and key controls

• Investment Committee reviews sensitivities
to market risk during investment appraisal
• Investment Committee reviews the potential
impact of geopolitical factors during
investment appraisal
• Macro-economic assumptions and discount
rates are reviewed as part of the regular
valuation process and benchmarked against
the independent valuation adviser’s view
• Maintain relationships with existing lenders
to encourage their continued support and
proactive engagement with a wide range
of finance providers to maintain refinancing
flexibility.

• Continue to reduce the Group’s exposure
to standalone Renewable Energy generation
projects through divestment as projects
achieve steady performance
• Use leading advisers for merchant forecasts
in the market and regularly review the key
assumptions made as part of the valuation
process
• Due diligence of merchant assumptions during
the appraisal of new investments, utilising
experienced external advisers, with oversight
from Investment Committee
• Offtake agreements are utilised where
appropriate to achieve a degree of guaranteed
volume and/or price.

• Tax positions taken by the Group based on
industry practice and/or external tax advice
• Continued monitoring of tax developments
both within the UK and other jurisdictions
in which we operate
• The UK has an extensive range of double
taxation agreements and the majority of
these put the Group in the same position
as previously under EU directives
• Robust valuation methodology is applied
to provide a quarterly portfolio valuation
• An independent portfolio valuation is prepared
for the interim and full-year results and this is
compared for consistency with the internal
valuation
• Merchant forecasts are obtained from
recognised and experienced advisers
and updated on a regular basis.

Trend/outlook for 2021

Trend/outlook for 2021

Trend/outlook for 2021

• Expected to remain at an elevated
level due to COVID-19 although in a low
interest rate environment which is
supportive of valuations

John Laing Group plc

• Reduced exposure to merchant power
prices (through ongoing realisations).
COVID-19 and associated lockdowns will
continue to impact the two operational
road investments with traffic risk

• Increased as governments may seek
to increase corporate tax rates due
to COVID-19 funding shortfall and
increased deficits

Overview
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Pension risk

Macro-economic factors

Financial resilience risk

Changes in market conditions may lead to a loss
of value to the defined benefit scheme.

Volatility of macro-economic factors (e.g.
foreign exchange rates and interest rates), may
result in losses in the Group’s valuations.

Inability to meet corporate financial obligations
or shortfalls in financial resources and maximise
value creation.

Me

Me

Lo

Potential impacts

Potential impacts

Potential impacts

• The amount of the surplus/deficit on the
Group’s main defined benefit pension schemes
can vary significantly due to gains or losses
on scheme investments and movements in the
assumptions used to value scheme liabilities
(in particular life expectancy, discount rate
and inflation rate). Consequently, the Group
is exposed to the risk of increases in cash
contributions payable, volatility in the surplus/
deficit reported in the Group Balance Sheet,
and gains/losses recorded in the Group
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

• Strengthening of Sterling relative to the local
currencies of our investments results in
a valuation reduction
• While the Group does not foresee risk in
the current and near-term interest rate
environment, increased interest rates
would increase the cost of borrowing
at the Group level.

• Failure to comply with the Group’s corporate
debt covenants may potentially result in
a forced decision to sell assets or withdraw
from bids to meet covenant test
• Inability to refinance the existing Group’s
facility may result in restricted growth due
to inability to fund new investments
• Shortfalls in financial resources may result in
the Group having to divest its assets earlier
than desired and at reduced values
• Inability to develop new third-party fund
would limit the Group’s flexibility to hold assets
optimally, manage our balance sheet exposure
and maximise value creation.

Mitigation and key controls

Mitigation and key controls

Mitigation and key controls

• The Group’s two defined benefit pension
schemes are overseen by corporate trustees,
the directors of which include independent
and professionally qualified individuals
• The Group works closely with the trustees
on hedging, investment strategies and other
liability mitigation strategies
• Both schemes are closed to future accrual
and accordingly have no active members,
only deferred members and pensioners
• c.18% of the liabilities of JLPF is matched
by a bulk annuity buy-in with Aviva. As of
31 December 2020, hedging in place amounted
to approximately 93% of JLPF’s assets in respect
of both interest rates and inflation.

• Macro-economic factors are reviewed and
updated regularly as part of the portfolio
valuation process
• Sensitivity analysis is run on the portfolio to
inform the Group’s exposure to macro factors
• Diversification of the Group’s portfolio by
geography creates a more diversified ‘basket’
of exposures which helps to mitigate risk
• Specific foreign exchange hedges are utilised
on a case-by-case basis to hedge known
short-term transactional exposures or in
emerging markets to partially hedge our
investment position.

• Detailed monitoring of financial covenant
and facility utilisation is regularly undertaken
including under a range of stress tests and
downside scenarios
• Of our £650 million bank facility, £500 million
matures in June 2023 and in January 2021 the
maturity of the £150 million tranche was
extended to January 2023
• Counterparties for cash deposits at Group level
and interest rate swap providers or deposit
holders at portfolio investment level, are
required to have a suitable credit rating
• The credit quality of key financial institutions
are monitored by Group Treasury
• The Group will focus on priority sectors,
that might otherwise approach balance sheet
restrictions, in developing third-party funding
solutions
• Divestments are strategically planned in
advance and the Group maintains strong
relationships with secondary investors in
each of our markets.

Trend/outlook for 2021

Trend/outlook for 2021

Trend/outlook for 2021

• Expected to remain elevated as
COVID-19 has increased the volatility
in asset pricing and discount rates

• Expected to remain at an elevated level
due to COVID-19

• No change expected

Annual Report and Accounts 2020

60
Principal risks and risk management continued

Strategic risks

ESG integration risk

Talent risk

Investment allocation risk

Incomplete integration of ESG into our
investment strategy, and operations run
contrary to the Group’s sustainable growth
objective.

Inability to attract new talent in line with the
Group’s new strategy and business
restructuring as well as retaining and
developing existing talent with effective
incentives.

Poor investment choices resulting in inability to
achieve stated objectives.

Lo

Lo

Me

Potential impacts

Potential impacts

Potential impacts

• Failure to invest in sustainable infrastructure
could restrict growth and value creation
• Failure to consider the impact of climate
change and energy transition could lead to
economic losses and poor asset performance
• Failure to manage our investments in a socially
and environmentally responsible way could
damage our reputation
• Lack of diversity of our workforce will reduce
the engagement and innovation of our teams
and may have an adverse effect on the Group’s
reputation.

• Failure to recruit the expertise in areas such
as Core-plus and adjacent could limit the ability
to execute the Group’s strategic plan and
restrict growth
• Failure to retain, train, and develop key senior
management and skilled personnel may result
in loss of expertise and market position
• Failure to further enhance initiatives to create
a diverse and talented organisation could limit
our growth opportunities.

• Changes to legislation or public policy,
especially with regard to the use of PPP
programmes in the jurisdictions in which
the Group operates could negatively impact
potential opportunities and returns from
existing investments
• Public procurements may be delayed particularly
as a result of changes in public administration or
following crises (such as COVID-19) which impact
priorities and public finances
• Increased competition may lead to periods
when investments are not priced appropriately,
resulting in reduced primary returns in some
markets, which could have an adverse impact on
the Group’s investment levels or secured returns
• New markets and sectors present risks which
the Group may not be familiar with and failure
to understand these could lead to loss
• Geopolitical factors could be detrimental to a
particular investment opportunity and impact
the competitiveness or our proposal or ability
to transact.

Mitigation and key controls

Mitigation and key controls

Mitigation and key controls

• Executive Committee member responsible
for ESG with a dedicated specialist resource to
integrate ESG into all aspects of the business
• New investments are screened against ESG
criteria and detailed ESG due diligence is
embedded into the investment approval
process
• ESG activities and metrics are tracked for all
investments on a monthly basis and issues
addressed
• Membership and engagement with key
industry bodies (PRI, CDP, TCFD, 30% Club)
ensure we are aware of and addressing evolving
expectations
• Diversity and inclusion strategy and roadmap
to ensure evolving approach to wider diversity
agenda with key metrics tracked.

• The Group is committed to recruiting
experienced investment professionals in
Core-plus and key adjacent sectors such as
broadband, energy transition and specialised
accommodation to grow the capabilities in
line with the Group’s strategic objectives
• The Group regularly reviews pay and benefits
to ensure they remain competitive and the
Group’s senior managers participate in
long-term incentive plans designed to align
remuneration with the long-term objectives
of the business
• Targeted medium-term ‘Retention Bonuses’
delivered to senior leaders, individuals in
critical roles and/or with critical skills, and
‘top-talent’ to enhance incentives
• Targeted funding issued to high-potential
talent identified across the business, to invest
in their professional development
• Regular review of resourcing and succession
planning for future staff requirements.

• The reorganisation of the Group integrates
the global PPP and greenfield project activities
and should result in a more flexible model,
allowing our approach to opportunities across
our diverse geographic markets to respond
more rapidly to changes in public policy
• The development of an investment pipeline
which does not solely rely on public
procurement processes (such as the Core-plus
investments and acquisition of early-stage
projects or private infrastructure
developments) provide increased resilience
• Enhanced due diligence is undertaken in
approving new markets and sectors including
engaging advisers and senior personnel with
direct relevant experience
• Bidding strategies are reviewed during the
approval process and potential risks as a result
of geopolitical considerations are carefully
considered.

Trend/outlook for 2021

Trend/outlook for 2021

Trend/outlook for 2021

• The risk is evolving rapidly with changing
community standards and expectations

• The risk is expected to remain heightened as
the business moves into adjacent sectors such
as Core-plus and looks to alternative funding
models.

• Neutral – the risk of further delays in public
procurement following the initial stages of
COVID-19 processes will recede and be offset
by the need to stimulate economies through
accelerated infrastructure deployment

John Laing Group plc
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Operational risks

People and employment
practices risk
Inadequate resourcing and losses arising from acts
inconsistent with employment, health or safety
laws and agreements, or from diversity/
discrimination events.
Lo

Business interruption risk
Loss or damage to physical assets (e.g.
buildings or technological hardware) and to
critical data and IT infrastructure.

Lo

Regulatory and
compliance risk
Potential breach of laws or regulatory
requirements.

Lo

Potential impacts

Potential impacts

Potential impacts

• Failure to resource bids and projects with the
required skills and expertise may lead to inability
to achieve key objectives
• Failure to adequately address occupational health
and safety requirements may expose employees
and exposes the Group’s Directors and
management to liability
• COVID-19 presents an acute risk to the well-being
of employees
• Failure to adhere to industry standards of
workplace diversity and anti-discrimination
practices may create an environment inconsistent
with achieving the Company’s objectives.

• A major incident, terrorist attack or natural
disaster at any of the Group’s locations or
project sites can result in disruption and lead
to the loss or damage to physical assets
• Chronic events such as pandemic or war
can lead to an interruption of the businesses
activities and inability to achieve key
objectives
• Failure to maintain secure IT systems and
to combat cyber and other security risks
to information and to physical sites could
adversely affect the Group.

• Failure to comply with existing regulatory
requirements, such as UK Listing Authority’s
and Companies Act requirements for a listed
company, or Market Abuse Regulations may
result in the loss of investor confidence in
John Laing’s performance and potentially
may lead to a decline in share price
• Accidental loss or malicious theft or
destruction of personal or commercially
sensitive data can lead to penalties under
Global Data Protection Regulation (‘GDPR’)
• Fraudulent actions of an employee or partner
could have an adverse reputational impact and
may result in a decrease of the Group’s value
• Breach of anti-bribery and corruption or
anti-money laundering legislation by an
employee or project partner (contractor,
shareholder) may lead to potential
termination of a concession, inability to
bid for future public procurements and
reputational impact.

Mitigation and key controls

Mitigation and key controls

Mitigation and key controls

• Resources for bids and the management of assets
are carefully planned and reviewed
• The Group and each individual investment
company has a Health & Safety Policy and incidents
are appropriately recorded, escalated and
corrective actions monitored
• In response to COVID-19, risk assessments were
completed on all offices and changes to facilities
and additional controls were put in place to protect
employees and facilitate remote working. Office
openings are guided by local government
restrictions across our locations while employees
are encouraged to continue to work from home
• Well-being initiatives are underway to equip HR
Business Partners and line managers in supporting
employee resilience
• Employee training programmes include diversity
and inclusion training programmes include
mandatory unconscious bias training for all
employees.

• Business continuity plans at the Group level
and for each individual investment company
are tested and updated frequently
• The Group has appropriate policies and
procedures in relation to IT security and
these are reviewed regularly with the support
of external advisers
• The Group has outsourced IT arrangements
covering IT infrastructure controls (such
as firewalls)
• Specific insurance arrangements are put
in place for each individual investment
company and the Group maintains
additional insurances.

• Ensure Company meets all regulatory
requirements (including the United Kingdom
Listing Authority, Companies Act and Market
Abuse Regulation) in respect of financial
results, other stock exchange
announcements, ongoing listing obligations
and dividend payments
• GDPR training for relevant employees and
data protection measures in place
• Anti-bribery and corruption and anti-money
laundering training completed by all
employees every two years. Project partners
vetted as part of investment approval
• Robust financial controls implemented by
project companies with oversight from asset
directors.

Trend/outlook for 2021

Trend/outlook for 2021

Trend/outlook for 2021

• Expected to decrease as risk was heightened
in the initial stages of COVID-19; however,
IT systems have been proved to be stable
during sustained periods of remote working

• No expected change

• COVID-19 workplace restrictions and
remote working expected to continue
throughout 2021
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Sustainability
Introduction
Recognising the common challenge to climate,
environmental and social issues in all of our
markets, we are committed to the Net Zero
transition for our business. For our direct
operations we need to do this ahead of the
collective 2050 target and during 2021 we
will be adding further detail to this, with clear
implications for both our direct operations, our
current portfolio and the choices we make in
respect of our future growth. We cannot do this
alone, and we will continue to collaborate with
industry colleagues to make a difference, such
as through our support of the creation in
November 2020 of the Women’s Infrastructure
Network in Colombia.
As we have been reminded throughout the
pandemic, our employees are critical to our
success and with an inability to meet in person
and reliance on remote and virtual working, we
have increased our support for employees with
particular focus on their well-being. As we come
out of the pandemic, we will need to build on the
lessons from lockdown, as well as capitalise on
the efficiencies we have been able to achieve.

Ben Loomes
Chief Executive Officer
The impact of the COVID pandemic on our
sector has been to accelerate a number of
sustainability trends. Our ways of working were
tested and the importance of our staff and the
resilience of our partners and stakeholders
became even more critical with a greater
reliance on digital capabilities and a focus on
health and well-being. The global challenge
to address our collective impact on the climate
gained further momentum as the preparations
for COP26 showed how governments, regulators
and financial institutions are increasingly
putting financial metrics against social capital.
Infrastructure and the role of private capital
to support a ‘build back better’ approach is a
consistent theme in all of our key markets such
as in the EU Green Deal and with the new Biden
administration putting climate change as a
national priority.

At John Laing, we have been following through
on the findings from our strategic review and
as described in our Capital Markets and Strategy
day in November, we now have a clear strategy
for growth, a plan to optimise our portfolio
and we will be focusing on where to enhance
our business to the benefit of all stakeholders.
A core aspect of this will be a greater integration
of ESG principles in our management decisions
and processes. We have added further resource
and capability to our team and through the
coming year we will continue to engage with our
partners and stakeholders in this area. This will
include incorporating forward-looking scenarios
aligned to established frameworks such as the
UN Sustainable Development Goals and Paris
Agreement targets, amongst others. Where
possible, we will increase the pace of transition
with greater clarity on metrics and reporting.

During the pandemic we have also been working
with our partners and projects with a dedicated
COVID fund to support people and projects
around the world. Further details can be found
in the Community section on pages 80 to 81.
We are integrating sustainability into how we
manage our people, portfolio and operations
and delivering to the values of the John Laing
business in supporting others. We see the move
to a sustainable economy as key to managing
the long-term risks to our business and society,
as well as a key theme for new investment
opportunities.
For John Laing, the value of this investment
in sustainability results in a stronger licence to
operate with improved access to capital, more
resilient assets and a more attractive place
to work.

Our purpose and values
Our purpose is to create value for all our stakeholders by investing in, developing and managing infrastructure projects which respond to public
needs, foster sustainable growth and improve the lives of communities around the world.

Ownership

Empowerment

Growth mindset

Shared prosperity

We take personal and collective
responsibility for our contributions
to the business, reflecting the
ethics, inclusivity and integrity
of our purpose.

We trust our colleagues to do
their best work for our business,
wherever they are, giving them
the tools, skills and support they
need in order to do their best and
reach their full potential.

We are open minded and alive
to learning new things and
spotting new opportunities.
We’re continually looking for
ways to improve, so that we
develop as individuals and
contribute to the growth of our
business and communities in
which we work.

We believe that our success
can only come from collective
results, where outcomes are
aligned and benefits are realised
for all stakeholders.

John Laing Group plc
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Building better communities through sustainable infrastructure
We believe that responsible investment is key
to fulfilling our purpose to foster sustainable
development of new infrastructure. By
managing sustainability risks and
considerations throughout the investment
cycle, we can create shared value for our
stakeholders. We approach these risks to both
minimise the downside as well as maximise
the opportunities associated with these
investments, with our ambition to improve the
lives of communities around the world as we
invest in infrastructure projects which respond
to public needs. As the global economy
recovers from the pandemic, we see a key role
for private capital to support the collective
ambition to ‘build back better’.

Our alignment to the United Nations
Sustainable Development Goals
In developing the SDGs, the United Nations
recognised that networked and nonnetworked infrastructure systems are central
to the delivery of the broader objectives of
society. We recognise that the impact of
infrastructure should not be viewed as
individual assets, but as a part of a system to
support the economy, environment and
society. While our projects have overlaps
across many of the UN SDGs, we have
highlighted here five SDGs which our
investments most directly contribute to. We
have also looked at how our own business and
corporate culture aligns with the SDGs.

E nsure healthy lives
and promote well-being
for all, at all ages
The COVID pandemic has highlighted the critical
importance of resilient healthcare systems. Our
investments in hospitals enables improved health
outcomes. The Alder Hey Children’s Hospital
cares for over 330,000 children, young people
and their families, every year. The 800-bed Royal
Adelaide Hospital provides a comprehensive
range of the most complex clinical care to an
estimated 85,000 inpatients and 400,000
outpatients each year.

E nsure access to affordable,
reliable, sustainable and modern
energy for all
The energy transition and ability of society to access
affordable, reliable and sustainable energy presents
many opportunities as well as challenges of scale
and capability in an increasingly competitive market.
We have approached this both through investments
in renewable energy generation and through better
integration of sustainable energy solutions in our
operations, projects and developments. For
instance, last year, our operational assets in North
America generated more than 1,382m KWh of
energy. We also encourage all of our asset managers
to explore the potential for greater use of renewable
energy sources including solar panels on roads and
tunnels and green energy for transport. Whilst we
have decided to exit our current investments in
wind and solar generation, we believe that John
Laing can play an active part in many of the
emerging infrastructure opportunities driven
by the global energy transition.

B
 uild resilient infrastructure,
promote inclusive and sustainable
industrialisation and foster
innovation

M
 ake cities and human
settlements inclusive, safe,
resilient and sustainable
With more than half the world’s population living
in cities, we recognise that the projects in which
we invest contribute to safe and sustainable
cities; for John Laing this has included affordable,
accessible and sustainable transport systems for
all. Our investments in road and rail projects
across the world increase connectivity between
towns and cities and help to support economic
development. Also, our recent investment in
the East Rockingham waste-to-energy project
supports sustainable and affordable solutions
for both electricity generation and waste
management. We also encourage our projects
to contribute to the local communities via both
stakeholder engagement and charitable projects.
Further details on this can be found on pages 26
to 29, 68 to 75 and 80 to 81.

P romote just, peaceful
and inclusive societies for
sustainable development
In recognising that elimination of violence and
armed conflict requires strong institutional
development, our investment in supporting
the correctional sector aligns with our values to
invest in projects that leave communities more
engaged and better served than when we found
them. The Auckland South Corrections Facility in
New Zealand provided an important opportunity
for investors such as John Laing to participate
in a new way of approaching a PPP project.
This project required private partners to bring
creativity and innovation to the project in order
to achieve positive social outcomes and reduced
recidivism. This is replicated in our investment
and ambition for the Clarence Correctional
Centre in Australia ( for more details, see case
study on page 74).

Ensuring strong infrastructure is key to the
achievement of all 17 SDGs. We invest in, develop
and manage quality, reliable, sustainable and
resilient infrastructure which responds to national
ambition and global trends such as urbanisation,
climate change and population growth. John Laing
brings the international experience, commitment
and innovation required to deliver solutions that
drive society forward.
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Sustainability
Responsible employer
Our employees are key stakeholders and are
fundamental to the success of our business in
driving our strategy and purpose.

COVID-19
The well-being and safety of our
employees is of utmost importance
to us, and we are committed to
supporting them at all times. This
has been a priority during this
period of uncertainty and change.
Throughout the COVID-19 crisis, the Board and
management team have maintained a strong
engagement programme with all employees.
In the initial stages of January and February, the
Board were kept up to date with the developing
situation and actions taken by management,
which included an end, firstly of travel to China,
then a worldwide travel ban. This progressed
to the closure of all global offices in mid-March.
During this stage of lockdown, the engagement
programme continued with both Company-wide
and regional communications reflecting local
advice, and the establishment, at the end
of March, of a regular ‘All-Employee Call’. The
All-Employee Call has continued throughout the
year, and included updates from the Chairman,
Executive Directors and members of the
management team on issues such as the
strategic review, the Group’s performance,
key project milestones, the setting up of a
charitable COVID-19 fund (see page 80 for
more information), and health and well-being
initiatives. Several local pulse surveys were
conducted to help understand how employees
were adapting to the new working environment,
to measure appetite and concerns relating
to the return to the office, and to provide
management with guidance as to what
employees required in order to feel safe
to return to the office. Some of our offices
have reopened during the year, with some
subsequently closing again, in line with the
local situation, but at all times employees
were encouraged to work from home where
they could.

John Laing Group plc

In addition to the engagement programme, our
Employee Assistance Programme was enhanced,
offering employees the opportunity to discuss
any issues they may have with qualified
independent counsellors and specialist advisers.
Line managers have been supported in their
effort to maintain proactive and regular
one-to-one contact with employees to support
their well-being. We have also rolled out access
to digital learning platforms to help employees
in both professional and personal development,
including mental well-being, resilience and
new learning skills. We have not made any
redundancies relating to the COVID-19 crisis. We
were able to maintain full operational continuity
whilst all our employees moved to a working
from home environment.

•

Career workshop for women hosted by
Women on Boards;

•

Partnering with Moving Ahead on an
external mentoring scheme for women
in the business;

•

Line manager training on how to have
inclusive and meaningful conversations with
colleagues and adopt positive behaviours;

•

Mandatory unconscious bias training for all
employees; and

•

Regular reporting to both the Executive
Committee and Board in relation to diversity
and gender pay gap statistics.

The COVID-19 crisis is not yet over, and we will
continue to monitor the situation, and its impact
on our colleagues. A COVID-19 Focus Group was
established to gather learnings on maintaining
the positives relating to the way we work and
also to consider the longer-term changes to
our working practices. Most recently, we have
begun to pilot some of those recommendations
in Australia where restrictions have been lifted.
The lessons and best practices captured will
subsequently inform the redesign of policies
where necessary, in consultation with
employees.

Whilst diversity is broader than gender balance,
this continues to be a key area of focus. We have
continued to make progress in this area against
the constraints of a small workforce.

Diversity and inclusion
We strive to attract and retain a diverse mix
of highly skilled and experienced individuals
who will strengthen our Company, embrace our
values, and help deliver our strategic priorities.
We continue to focus on how to increase
diversity and inclusion engagement across
the business.
During the year, we have launched a number
of initiatives to promote diversity and inclusion
within the workplace. This has included the
following:
•

Development of a Diversity and Inclusion
strategy and roadmap;

•

Diversity and Inclusion Summit to celebrate
National Inclusion Week – employees were
able to access a series of virtual events
covering a variety of topics including
visibility, mental health, managing parent
and carer responsibilities and the impact
of race in the workplace;

Gender diversity

2020

2019

Female

Male

Female

Male

Overall gender
balance

39%

61%

34%

66%

Board level
gender balance

44%

56%

38%

62%

The table below provides details of the gender
diversity in the senior leadership team, in line
with the Hampton-Alexander Report.
As at 31 December 2020

Exco

Female

Male

Total

2

4

6

Direct reports to Exco

10

26

36

Total
Total %

12
29

30
71

42
100

Further information on the Board’s diversity
policy can be found in the Nomination
Committee Report on pages 104 to 107.
Mentors and mentees across the Group
continue to participate in the 30% Club
Mentoring Programme. The programme helps
develop a diverse pool of talent for all businesses
through the efforts of their Chair and CEO
members who are committed to better gender
balance at all levels of their organisations.
We are continually looking to improve our
gender balance. During the year, our
recruitment of male/female employees globally
was 51% female and 49% male.

Overview

Gender pay gap
We are committed to being an inclusive
organisation committed to making an impact
on gender equality over the long term.
The gender pay gap is the difference between
the average amount that women and men are
paid across the workforce. With less than 250
employees, of whom approximately 72 are
located in the UK, the Company is not required
to report on its gender pay gap. However,
we are committed to transparency and have
voluntarily disclosed our gender pay gap since
2018 for our UK employees and since 2019 for
both our UK and global employees as this is
how we monitor and track the gender pay gap.
These figures are reviewed and discussed at
each scheduled Board meeting.

All our employees are entitled to participate
in our annual bonus plan. The bonus pay gap is
driven by the diversity levels within the business
and the fact that senior roles have higher bonus
opportunities; more men are in senior roles
than women. In addition, the bonus pay gap
calculations as required under the relevant
legislation do not take into account the fact that
we pro-rate bonuses for employees who work
on a part-time basis, the majority of whom are
female. Furthermore, the bonus pay gap
calculated for any given year is based on the
amount of bonuses paid in that year in relation
to the prior year’s bonus (e.g. the 2020 bonus
pay gap is based on the bonus paid in March
2020 relating to the 2019 bonus).
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UK gender pay gap
Percentage that women earn less than men
%
100
90

80.9

80

86.6

81.5

70

85.3

83.8

64.7

60
50

49.4

46.3
39.3

40
28.4

30

29.9

27.9

20
10
0

Whilst we made significant progress in
reducing the gender pay gap last year, we are
disappointed that we have seen a small increase
in some of the gender pay gap measures in 2020.
As reported here, our recruitment was 51%
female/49% male. However, we still have further
to go to increase the number of women in senior
roles. We have launched a number of initiatives
during the year to promote gender diversity
and will continue to evolve these to ensure
a sustainable and longer-term impact.
We have seen some of the results of our
increased diversity in the reduction in our bonus
pay gap. However, this gap remains higher than
we would like to see and we will continue to
focus on addressing this to close the gap on
a year-on-year basis.

Strategic Report

2018 2019 2020

2018 2019 2020

2018 2019 2020

2018 2019 2020

Average mean gender
hourly pay gap

Median mean gender
hourly pay gap

Average mean gender
bonus pay gap

Median mean gender
bonus pay gap

Increase of

Decrease of

Decrease of

Decrease of

1.5%1

11.4%1

16.8%1 1.5%1

1 Movement since 2019.

These figures are irrespective of employee roles or levels in the organisation, expressed
as a percentage of male average pay.

Global gender pay gap
Percentage that women earn less than men
%
100
88.5

90

82.5

80
70

40

86.7

80.7

65.5

60
50

80.1

52.5

48.8
36.4 38.0

41.0

43.8

30
20
10
0
2018 2019 2020

2018 2019 2020

2018 2019 2020

2018 2019 2020

Average mean gender
hourly pay gap

Median mean gender
hourly pay gap

Average mean gender
bonus pay gap

Median mean gender
bonus pay gap

Increase of

Increase of

Decrease of

Decrease of

1.6%1

2.8%1

14.6%1 6.0%1

1 Movement since 2019.
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Sustainability
Responsible employer continued

Proportion of UK employees
receiving a bonus
As at
31 December 2020

Proportion of female UK
employees receiving a bonus

Total

Male

Number
2020

2019

100% 96.8%

Proportion of male UK employees
receiving a bonus
96.8%

100%

Number

Female
% of total

Number

% of total

2020

2019

2020

2019

2020

2019

2020

2019

2020

2019

Total Group

156

153

95

101

60.9

66

61

52

39.1

34

Employees earning above
£70,000 per annum

114

116

82

90

71.9

78

32

26

28.1

22

Executive Directors

1

2

1

1

100

50

0

1

0

50

Board Directors

9

8

5

5

55.6

62.5

4

3

44.4

37.5

Proportion of all John Laing employees
receiving a bonus
As at
31 December 2020

Equal opportunities
2020

2019

Proportion of female employees
receiving a bonus

97.9%

97.6%

Proportion of male employees
receiving a bonus

94.2%

99.1%

All our employees participate in our annual
bonus plan. The employees who did not receive
a bonus during 2020 were new joiners who were
not eligible to a receive a bonus for the year
ended 31 December 2020 as they were not
employees of the Group prior to 1 October 2020.

Pay quartiles
Based on all John Laing employees in the UK at
31 December 2020
Female

Upper quartile

Male

29.4% 70.6%

Upper middle quartile

47.1%

52.9%

Lower middle quartile

64.7%

35.3%

Lower quartile

66.7%

33.3%

The table above shows the gender distribution
across four equally divided hourly pay quartiles,
each containing approximately 17 UK employees.

Pay quartiles
Based on all John Laing employees across all
entities at 31 December 2020
Female

Male

Upper quartile

12.8%

87.2%

Upper middle quartile

25.6%

74.4%

Lower middle quartile

43.6% 56.4%

Lower quartile

74.4%

25.6%

The table above shows the gender distribution
across four equally divided hourly pay quartiles,
each containing approximately 39 employees.
Our employee numbers as at 31 December 2020,
broken down by remuneration and gender
criteria, were:
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We are committed to an inclusive working
environment which is free from discrimination,
harassment or unfair treatment, providing all
employees with equal opportunities to develop
within the Group and we have the appropriate
policies and practices in place to support this.
We recognise the value that differences bring,
including but not limited to gender, race,
nationality, socio-economic background,
professional and personal experiences and
preferences. We make recruitment and
promotion decisions based solely on the ability
to perform each role. No individual colleague or
potential colleague will receive less favourable
treatment on the grounds of age, marital status,
gender, gender identity, gender reassignment,
sexual orientation, race, colour, nationality,
ethnic or national origin, religion or disability.
Where any employee’s circumstances change,
it is the Company’s policy to do everything
reasonably possible to ensure that a successful
return to work in the same job or a change
of role (if appropriate) is facilitated.

Employee engagement
Promoting a culture of open and transparent
communication is important to us. We benefit
from having a small workforce with a relatively
flat structure and few hierarchies. Our
programme of employee engagement enables
the majority of employees to gain access to
Board members during the course of the year
as well as regular interaction with the members
of the Executive Committee.
The regular All-Employee Calls as described
above, have been positively received, and
will continue as an important method of
communication and engagement. Members
of the Board have attended some of these calls
as our programme of face-to-face meetings with
Non-executive Directors was postponed due
to COVID-19. Despite this, in February, Jeremy
Beeton visited the Latin America team and our
Ruta del Cacao project. More information can
be found on this on page 29.

In addition to the COVID-19 related pulse
surveys described earlier, as part of the strategic
review, an externally facilitated survey of
employees was undertaken examining the
following key areas:
•

the Company’s purpose, values and
strategy;

•

structure and accountabilities;

•

leadership and ways of working; and

•

technology, data and business processes.

In light of the above, we did not conduct a full
employee engagement survey in 2020 but we
will undertake one in 2021.

Employee experience
Recruitment and selection
We recruit a small number of employees each
year and our employee turnover rate is 8%.
As a result of our recent strategic review, there
will be a number of new employees in 2021
to help build our capabilities in the Core-plus
sector. We apply a fair, transparent and
consistent approach to recruitment, seeking
to attract and select high-calibre candidates
who will contribute to and enhance our business
performance. In addition, we ensure that our
long and short-lists of candidates are diverse.
We have a small number of internships available
each year in a number of the geographies in
which we operate. These internships are for
school leavers or graduates with little or no
work experience.

Overview

Learning and development
As part of our ambition to retain talented
employees, we recognise the importance
of nurturing that talent, and providing
development opportunities to grow their
knowledge, skills and capabilities. We do this by
making external courses and seminars available,
including the roll out of access to the LinkedIn
learning platform during the year under review.
Sponsorship and support of professional
qualifications, secondments, attendance at
networking events, development assessments
and coaching and mentoring programmes are
also in place.

•

•

We manage the development of our employees
through a bi-annual performance development
review which is conducted by line managers
and applies to all employees, including senior
managers. This encourages a two-way
discussion on performance and objectives
between individuals and their line managers. We
have introduced 360⁰ feedback into the process
this year to enhance the quality and objectivity
of the feedback. The discussion also allows
individuals to share their career aspirations
and identify development opportunities.

We recognise the importance of a working
environment which enables employees to
achieve a balance between their work and
personal life to the mutual benefit of the
individual, the business and society.
This has been especially difficult this year with
employees having to balance working from
home with caring responsibilities and the mental
health challenges of isolation during lockdowns.
Given that, we continue to invest in wellness
initiatives to support employee resilience and
well-being.

Acting with honesty and integrity
The Company is committed to conducting its
business with honesty and integrity and expects
all individuals who work for the Group to
maintain high standards in accordance with
our policies and procedures. These include the
following areas:

Governance

Financial crime, including anti-bribery and
corruption, anti-money laundering and gift
and hospitality policies and procedures.
We provide face-to-face training to all
employees on joining the Group on these
policies, which also includes information
on how to prevent the facilitation of tax
evasion. We also monitor compliance
against our policies and procedures on
a regular basis. Our policies can be found
at www.laing.com.
Human rights – we recognise the business
imperative and the moral obligation to carry
out our activities in a socially responsible
and environmentally sustainable manner,
with due consideration to human rights.
We have a suite of formal policies, including
policies on equal opportunities and fair
treatment, corporate responsibility and
human rights which underpin this aim,
and can be found at www.laing.com.
We comply fully with applicable human
rights legislation in the countries in which
we operate, for example legislation covering
the right to collective bargaining, equal
remuneration and protection against
discrimination.

Recognition, reward and retention
We review our pay and benefits structure
on an annual basis to ensure that we remain
competitive in the market, are attractive to new
employees, and provide the right link between
performance and reward. As well as having a
competitive pay and benefits structure, we
recognise and reward employee performance
through bonuses and long-term incentive plans.
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Whistleblowing
The Board is responsible for the approving and
overseeing of the Group’s whistleblowing policy
and ensuring that adequate procedures are in
place. The Company encourages all individuals
to raise any concerns that they may have about
the conduct of others in the business or the way
in which the business is run. Our whistleblowing
policy enables individuals to report concerns
about any suspected wrongdoing or unethical
behaviour occurring within the business, or
about the behaviour of individuals without fear
of recrimination.
The Group Company Secretary is the Group’s
Whistleblowing Champion, and training has
been given to all existing and new employees to
highlight the policy and methods of reporting.
The Company offers an independent
whistleblowing helpline administered by a
third-party provider, where calls can be made on
a confidential and anonymous basis, if preferred
by the whistleblower.
Any matters are initially reviewed by the Group
Company Secretary, and where necessary are
reported to the Chief Financial Officer or
Chairman, with reports of any instances of
whistleblowing being reported to the Board.

Modern slavery – the Group, including
the projects in which it invests, has a large
number of suppliers across jurisdictions
in which it operates. We believe the risk of
modern slavery or human trafficking in our
supply chains and procurement processes
to be low given our activities do not directly
involve operations where modern slavery
or human trafficking are known to occur.
All new suppliers, however, are asked to
confirm that their organisation complies
(and takes all possible steps to ensure that
all their suppliers and subcontractors also
comply) with all applicable laws, statutes
and regulations. We are committed, where
we have sufficient influence, to ensuring
that the projects we invest in follow our
practices and policies, including those on
modern slavery and human trafficking. We
publish our Statement on Modern Slavery
for the financial year ended 31 December
2020 on our website. It sets out the steps
the Group has taken to ensure slavery and
human trafficking are not taking place in any
part of our business or supply chains.

Annual Report and Accounts 2020

68

Sustainability
Responsible investor
With society placing a greater value on resilience
and sustainability, we believe a responsible
investment strategy to foster sustainable
growth is not only the right thing to do for all
our stakeholders, but makes commercial sense.

Sustainable infrastructure: fundamental benefits to society
Rail

Roads

We have seen in the last 12 months a significant
shift in the financial markets to put greater
attention on the financial implications of
social and environmental issues. Whilst the
reporting metrics and standards are in many
cases still developing, we are engaging
with our stakeholders to ensure our actions
support a sustainable future economy.
Broader mega trends are also creating
opportunities for John Laing, particularly
the need for significant investment in fibre
networks and broadband capacity to support
a digital economy; there are also likely to be
investment opportunities linked to the energy
transition and decarbonisation of industry,
including the electrification of transport.
As a business developing and managing
a number of greenfield assets in
partnership with government through
public private partnerships, we are aware
of the long-term implications of the
decisions we take in the creation of those
assets for the secondary market.
We recognise that the context specific nature
of a number of the social and environmental
issues facing our projects means that we
continually need to balance the tensions
between socio-economic development against,
and find ways to mitigate, the environmental
and ecosystem impacts of its development
and operational lifecycle.
Together with a cautious and responsible
approach to environmental management we are
equally looking at project efficiencies that come
from resource efficiency and improved asset
resilience through effective forward planning
and consideration of environmental issues.
Whether this is through the use of hard-to-abate
commodities such as cement, to incorporating
biodiversity considerations into early project
design, we know we do not yet have all the
answers and will continue to collaborate with
others to deliver better project outcomes.
In 2020, as well as the attention on climate, the
COVID pandemic has focused attention on the
social dimension of work. We realise that our
business relies on its people and we have had
to refresh our ways of working and engagement
with our own employees to manage what has
been for many a personally challenging year.
We are committed to fair and safe working
conditions and through our influence and
control, we work with our project partners
and stakeholders to ensure this is consistent
across our portfolio and geographies.
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•

Provision of safe,
affordable,accessible and
sustainable transport

•

Investing in road projects focused
on improved mobility, road safety
and reduced environmental impact

•

Increasing connectivity and
supporting economic development

•

•

Enabling decarbonisation of
transport networks

Innovative solutions such as
managed lanes reduce urban
congestion and pollution, with
potential to halve journey times

Social

•

Positive social outcomes and job
creation for communities

•

Reducing reoffending rates through
safe and thoughtful corrections,
facility design

•

Waste-to-energy

•

Carbon friendly and affordable
solutions for electricity generation
waste management

•

Provision of sustainable base-load
electricity as part of a pathway
to circular economy

Investments in hospitals and
healthcare enable improved health
outcomes

Digital infrastructure

•

Investing in resource efficient
infrastructure for the long term

•

Facilitating reliable connectivity for
individuals and businesses

UN SDGs supported

Energy transition

•

Decarbonisation of energy use, the
fundamental shift needed to reduce
emissions

•

Improving accessibility of
sustainable power generation and
efficiency consumption

Overview

Supporting and guiding this are our
principles for business integrity and good
governance, which work to ensure a strong
licence to operate for our business and in
demonstrating to new partners that we are
a responsible partner for future projects.

Approach to COVID-19
Since the outbreak of COVID-19 in early 2020, we
have placed increased focus on the implications
for our portfolio. Our asset management teams
have worked with our project companies to
manage a range of operational issues that have
arisen as a result of COVID-19. This includes
ensuring the health and safety of onsite
employees and that they are able to comply
with the evolving regulations in this area and
in all of the regions where the Group operates.

Integrating ESG into our responsible
investment approach

As the UN Principles for Responsible Investment
(‘UNPRI’) defines it, “Significant new infrastructure
investment is fundamental to the achievement
of the Sustainable Development Goals (‘SDGs’),
but the sector remains underfunded compared
to global sustainable development and economic
growth needs”.
For much of our work in delivering public private
partnerships, the link to the SDGs has been key
to discussions on how to deliver shared value
and where to help government unlock socioeconomic development whilst considering our
impact on the environment and ecosystem.
Following the COVID pandemic we recognise
that for many governments the challenge to
‘build back better’ requires a greater role for
private capital to enable this development.
In alignment with our purpose to foster
sustainable growth and improve the lives of
communities around the world, we continue
to work to enhance our alignment with the
achievement of the SDGs. We have identified
five priority SDGs which our investments
most directly contribute to (see above)
and the case studies on pages 70 to 75
provide more insight into how our project
companies contribute at the asset level.
As an investor in the development and
management of real assets and enabling
further value in the secondary market, we
have signed up to the UNPRI where we join
like-minded investors in a commitment to
integrating the principles of ESG into decisionmaking and business process and will be
reporting against the UNPRI framework.
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We analyse ESG issues at every stage of the investment process from screening, through to due
diligence, financial close, active asset management and monitoring through to divestment.

Screening

Asset management

Exclusions

Active asset management

Our exclusion list ensures we do not make
investments which are not compatible with
our purpose and our values. This includes:
• production, use of products or activities
which are deemed illegal under applicable
laws or banned through global conventions
and agreements e.g. slavery, human
trafficking, forced labour and child labour;

The asset management teams seek to engage
with key stakeholders to ensure the delivery
of high levels of corporate responsibility.
Where appropriate we will exercise our
influence at the board level of a project
company to engage with key stakeholders
on strategy, risk, performance and
governance matters

•

projects where the partners or projects
are on a sanctions list; and

Monitoring

•

projects that do not meet minimum
governance thresholds.

Screening checklist
Our ESG screening checklist is used to help
identify if there are any material ESG issues
associated with the project pre-investment.
The checklist identifies potential ESG risk
including environmental concerns and
impact, social impact (e.g. community,
human resources and health and safetyrelated issues) and governance concerns

ESG metrics are monitored at the
construction and operational phases of
projects and following the change in our
management committee structure will be
monitored by the Portfolio Review and
Valuations Committee

Governance
We hold board membership on a significant
number of our projects and issues raised
with project boards
Also see the Climate section on pages 76 to
79 for further information on the review of
climate change risk and resilience for our
project companies

Investing

Divestment

Due diligence

Preparation for exit and visibility of long-term
risk mitigation and monitoring for potential
buyers

•

ESG due diligence findings included
in all investment proposals to be reviewed
by the Investment Committee

•

Climate risk screening

•

Third-party diligence where significant
risk is identified

Sell-side ESG due diligence prior to exit

Alongside our own ESG diligence and metrics, we are seeking greater engagement with all our
project partners to ensure that we are receiving the additional data required to meet our portfolio
ambitions.
During the coming year, we will also be reviewing our procurement process to assess the
effectiveness of environmental and social considerations. This will be done to support discussions at
every stage of the investment process through management and in discussion with key stakeholders
in the market as to implications for value generation in the secondary market. Additionally, we will
look further and offer our expertise in mobilising green, social and sustainable financial instruments
in our investments.

Next steps
Developing and implementing an ESG roadmap will be a key area of focus for 2021. This will inform
our Responsible Investment Policy, encompass Core-plus and will communicate our investment
and portfolio management processes in further detail. This will include those businesses or projects
in which John Laing will not invest but also the minimum standards in relation to ESG matters which
we expect new investments to meet or commit to meeting over a reasonable period of time.
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Sustainability
Responsible investor continued

Ruta del Cacao
ESG metrics
ESG metrics are monitored and
audited in accordance with
project permits and licences,
with quarterly reporting to
monitor progress, identify
good practices and suggest
improvement actions.
Environmental
Forestry impact, mitigation and offset

Key facts

25 years
Design/build/finance/maintain/
operate with option to extend
for a further four years

68.5%
Amount of projects close to
completion (1 February 2021)

30%
Amount John Laing acquired
for £62 million in October 2019

SPV partners
Cintra/Ferrovial, Colpatria
and Ashmore

John Laing Group plc

The Ruta del Cacao project involves the
development of 236 km of highway, providing
a valuable connection between the cities of
Bucaramanga, Barrancabermeja and Yond in
the Santander Department of North-Eastern
Colombia.
Colombia has historically lacked a
comprehensive road structure and the Fourth
Generation road infrastructure programme
forms a central part of the government’s
strategy to integrate the transport
infrastructure, link industrial centres to
major ports and encourage inter-regional
trade and development.
Alongside the challenges of complex
engineering, the project requires a sensitive
approach to working alongside local
communities, many of whom depend on the
existing road network for their livelihoods.
Together with the potential environmental
implications of the development, the project
has required careful planning and regular
discussions with the local community.
The project has a team of 42 environmental
and social experts leading the daily engagement
with local communities. John Laing has
appointed a dedicated ESG Manager to this
team to work with the SPV management
to support best ESG practices.

Colombia requires construction projects
to offset forestry impact and this project
tackles it in two ways; around the project
site and replanting in a dedicated area of
protected land.
Site level – to date, many direct project
impacts around the project footprint have
been managed with the replanting of 8,199
trees, using native species that have been
rescued and stored in nurseries managed
by the project.
Additional protected land – at the end of
2020, the project proposed as environmental
offset, the purchase of 1,400 hectares of land
for planting additional trees to be managed
and protected by the department of
Santander.

Greenhouse gases
•

Construction greenhouse gases: 145,000
Tonnes of CO2

•

Operations & Maintenance: 911.73 Tn CO2
in 2020 (2019: 2,137 Tn CO2)

•

The project has an overall goal of
reducing emissions, including reducing
construction vehicle fuel consumption
by 5%.

•

During construction, teams have been
given training on efficient and safe
driving, all fuel was monitored on
payment cards and vehicle speeds
tracked with GPS and additional bus
services provided to support workforce
commuting.

Overview

Strategic Report

Governance

Financial Statements

71

Reusing of excavation material
•

84% of material excavated has been reused
in construction – any remaining material is
managed for disposal in Zones of Disposal
as approved by the Environment Agency.

Groundwater recycling
•

The project has made use of 70% of the
groundwater during tunnelling to both
mitigate dust in construction as well as
reduction in the reliance on surface water.
Surplus water is then treated and purified
before release into surrounding water
supplies.

•

As of 31 December 2020, the project utilised
only 25% of the surface water, authorised by
the Environmental Authority in construction
activities.

Health and safety

Governance

The 2020 goal was to keep the serious injury rate
below 0.5 for the full year; the rate was 0.06.

Board membership

The project established a seed capital fund
for impacted livelihoods, which in 2020,
benefitted 26 families. This has included support
for street sellers to establish formal businesses
from their houses, grocery stores, chicken
production, small restaurants and local delivery
services.

COVID–19

John Laing has two seats on the board of this
project.

COVID-19 donations

As a significant new road in the region, the
project was required to deliver a regional road
safety programme to increase awareness for all
road users.

Social
Economic development

Four pillars were selected by the John Laing
Group to support local community projects
during the COVID-19 crisis; further details can
be found on pages 80 and 81.

Education
This project impacted the local school of Los
Ángeles and with the consultation of the local
communities it was relocated 12 km from its
original location. The new school is substantially
larger and now caters for five communities
rather than one. It has expanded from solely
elementary to including high school and
offering improved ventilation and study
areas and the inclusion of recreation and
sports facilities.

Diversity
In 2020, 2,481 employees were hired, of which
11% are female, 7% are professional female, c.1%
hold managerial positions and 4% are women
who carry out largely non-technical labour.

The project carried out daily monitoring of the
verification of symptoms of workers. Of the
2,481 workers, only 5% tested positive, of which
over 97% recovered.

Road safety

In 2020, this reached 20 educational institutions
(c. 1,600 students), and 10,579 road users
(communities, transport companies, drivers,
pedestrians, etc.) all with the support of the
region’s traffic and transport police.

Training
In 2020, 6,899 additional training courses were
delivered along the project route, covering
topics such as the use of protective and safety
clothing, biosafety protocols, mental health,
Strategic Road Safety Plan, healthy lifestyles,
hazard identification, health and safety at work,
personal well-being, risk and emergency
management planning, safe movement of loads,
bio-mechanical risk, safety policies, safe work at
heights, use of fire extinguishers and correct use
of face masks.

Policies
Through the board role the team has helped
strengthen government policies, including
ethics, anti-bribery and corruption and human
rights.

Controls
This project has undertaken a public
campaign to emphasise the strong role of
ethics and governance with all stakeholders
and established a whistleblower programme
which is monitored each quarter with
independent external audits carried
out. This includes a public statement
of ethical standards with details of how
complaints grievances can be made.
The project maintains and monitors details of
third-party contractors and an exclusion list,
throughout the contract cycle. Monitoring
includes alerts generated for high-risk
accounts according to the activity, the amount
of the contract and the specific area being
worked on. This exclusion list is updated
semi-annually with annual verification of all
providers.

Of the 273 women hired, 91% are from the
surrounding area.
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Sustainability
Responsible investor continued

I-75 modernisation – Michigan
The I-75 project, which reached financial
close in November 2018, is for segment 3
of the I-75 modernisation project, a segment
which covers a stretch of 5.5 miles in total.
This crucial corridor had not received any
comprehensive improvements since its
construction in the 1960s. Recent instances
of flooding have also illustrated the need for
greater incorporation of environmental risk
factors into the project. Existing flooding
will be eliminated with the construction
of a storage and drainage tunnel along the
corridor (see further detail below under
‘Water management’).
The state of Michigan has also needed to
increase capacity on this stretch of the
highway in order to ease congestion – this
part of the I-75 carries up to 174,000 vehicles
every day. Also, as part of the project there
are dedicated car-pooling lanes to further
ease congestion and encourage more
efficient vehicle use.

Key facts
•

30-year contract

•

John Laing investment: US$19.6m

•

Equity stake: 40%

•

Equity partners: AECOM Capital, Dan’s
Excavating, Ajax Paving Industries, Jay
Dee Constructors

•

Reconstruction of 5.5 miles of I-75
corridor

•

Replacement of 24 bridges; one new
bridge to separate weaving traffic
resulting in improved safety and
increased capacity

•

Safety upgrades to freeway

•

Construction of new four-mile storage
and drainage tunnel

•

Long-term operations, maintenance
and rehabilitation

The following initiatives have been undertaken
by the project team above and beyond the
contractual requirements to minimise the use
of non-renewable natural resources, reduce
emissions and eliminate the need for
landfill disposal:
•

•

100% of the existing cement concrete
pavement (280,000 cubic metres) will be
used as a road base for new road
construction

•

100% of the existing hot mix asphalt
(335,000 square metres) will be recycled and
used to construct tunnel site or other works

•

100% of the reinforced steel used in the
original construction is being recycled to
help the state of Michigan with reduced
energy costs or emissions from new steel
production and production of new materials

•

ESG metrics construction phase
Environmental
Recycling of construction materials
By using portable concrete production
plants the project has both sought to reduce
the miles used in bringing construction
material as well as unlocking some
efficiencies in the use of resources
in construction.

John Laing Group plc

100% of existing base and sub-base road
material (175,000 cubic metres) will be
salvaged and recycled to be used as backfill
material for drainage structures and
embankments. This will also reduce truck
journey time for soil movement around
and off the project

Steel from existing bridge beams, signs,
guardrail and fencing is being salvaged
for recycling

The following initiatives to recycle waste
products in order to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions, energy and water consumption have
been implemented:
•

Integration of recycled blast furnace slag,
silica fume and fly ash in structural concrete
and road concrete pavement as cementitious
material reducing the amount of cement use
on the project by 18 million kilogrammes
and the carbon intensity of the cement used

•

Recycled glass will be used to improve road
lane marking reflectivity

•

Recycled mix plastic materials will be used
for guardrail posts, replacing woodblock
posts

Protection of wildlife
•

•

Measures have been put in place to mitigate
impact to the natural environment with the
support of qualified biologists:
–

Installation of fences to minimise
vehicle-wildlife interaction

–

Planting of native trees and landscaping
to support plant and wildlife habitats

Controlling invasive species by removing
existing invasive species along the project’s
right-of-way and selecting locally
appropriate, non-invasive plants for
landscaping along the project corridor
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Health and safety

Water management
•

•

Construction of an underground drainage
tunnel to mitigate flooding risk by providing
storage volume and extra capacity
Separation of stormwater from sanitary
sewer in local Oakland County collection
facilities to mitigate combined sewer
overflows and reduce amount of combined
flows/stormwater needing treatment

•

Spill management controls implemented to
prevent hazardous material from entering
the drainage system

•

Catch basins and screening at pump station
designed to capture sediment/debris prior
to release into the drainage basin

Social

•

Maintenance and vegetation clearing is
timed to avoid the breeding season for
migratory and non-migratory birds
The project team is also remediating
contaminated land within the project’s
right-of-way to support reduced future
contamination

Dedicated project safety manager
(at contractor level)

•

Project-to-date total recordable incident
rate is over 20% less than industry
average

•

On average, site safety audits are
completed every two days

•

Monthly project health and safety audit

•

The project company is tracking
accident data. Current statistics show
over 30% reduction in traffic accidents
post-initial construction completion
(adjusted for reduction in traffic due to
effects of the pandemic)

Governance
•

John Laing is closely involved in the
responsible delivery of this project with
management positions of CEO, CFO
and Chief Technology Officer in the
project company

•

The team holds bi-monthly meetings
with status update calls held in alternate
months

•

Governance framework ensures a
structured approach to decision-making
and plan monitoring

Community engagement			
Proactive engagement strategy with local
community including:
•

•

direct line of communication including
public meetings with community and other
local stakeholders to address concerns
community hotline staffed by the project
company during working hours to answer
questions and listen to concerns from the
public

•

regular construction updates to local
stakeholders

•

project company employees supporting
volunteer efforts to support local non-profit
organisations and schools

Environmental management
•

•

Addressing community concerns
•

Noise pollution mitigation measures
implemented including restricted working
hours, noise wall construction and
monitoring of noise levels

•

Dust suppression techniques implemented

•

Mud tracking on public roadways minimised
through construction of gravel pads or use
of construction mats

•

Existing pedestrian bridges and sidewalk
facilities upgraded to accommodate usage
by persons with disabilities
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Sustainability
Responsible investor continued

Clarence Correctional Centre

Green finance initiatives
The Hurontario Light Rail Transit (‘LRT’)
Project is a design, build, finance,
operate, maintain and rehabilitate PPP for
an 18 km double track LRT system with
a 35-year concession located in Canada,
in the Province of Ontario. The project
also supports a Leadership in Energy and
Environmental Design Silver certified
operations, maintenance and service
facility building as well as separated and
raised bicycle paths alongside the rail.
Powered by the comparatively low carbon
intensity electricity grid of greater
Toronto, it is expected that the LRT
system will contribute to an estimated
annual greenhouse gas emission
reduction of 4,000 CO 2 tonnes starting
in 2031 by replacing diesel buses and
reducing congestion in the corridor.

John Laing is a part of the NorthernPathways
consortium, along with operator Serco, and
partners John Holland and Macquarie Capital
to finance, design and develop the Clarence
Correctional Centre on behalf of the New
South Wales (‘NSW’) Government to address
a critical shortfall of correctional beds and
facilities in NSW.
The facility, the largest in Australia, was
opened, on time, under COVID restrictions
with Anthony Robert, Minister for Counter
Terrorism and Correction officially opening it
on 25 June 2020. The project itself will inject
over $560 million into the local economy
with over 1,200 jobs created during
construction and about 600 permanent
jobs in operation.
From the outset the project was designed to
support the prisoners with the opportunity
to rehabilitate, learn new skills, achieve
qualifications and build relationships and
behaviours that will allow them to give back
to society at the end of their sentence. The
layout and style of the prison has been a shift
away from traditional models with no bars on
the windows and a campus style layout with
tablet computers provided for inmates to use
for training and personal tasks.

John Laing Group plc

Since opening, three new inmate textile
industries have been established, specific
aboriginal programmes have been
developed and several presentations on
mental health and initiatives implemented
to support inmates.
The project has taken into account a
number of the concerns from surrounding
communities and through a Community
Consultative Committee has been able to
discuss concerns on the impact, for example,
on local food procurement. The team are
looking to initiate a social impact study and
how to manage this under COVID conditions.
The project was shortlisted for the Australian
Construction Awards 2019 for health and
safety solution of the year and throughout
development the project has undergone
regular environmental audits to manage its
impact. The audits have concluded there
were no significant environmental impacts.
In addition, resource efficiency is monitored.
The project is using precast concrete panels
to add to the efficiency and time for delivery
as well as volume of materials used in
construction.

Green financial instruments are key
for developing a sustainable future.
Together with our Mobilinx partners and
the Province of Ontario, John Laing was
able to raise funds for the project through
the issuance of green bonds and achieve
a Green Evaluation by S&P of 87 of 100
(with 93 out of 100 for LRTs mitigation
of climate change).
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The Melbourne Metro Tunnel Project
COVID-19
Construction has continued through the
pandemic with comprehensive health and safety
measures in place to protect workers and the
community.
The project continues to focus on retraining,
upskilling and promoting career advancements,
with a focus on people from a disadvantaged
background, youth, gender equality and
priority jobseekers. While COVID impacted
many initiatives in this area, the project
is committed to achieving its targets.

Environmental
Climate resilience

Project overview
Melbourne is the fastest growing city in
Australia and John Laing has a 30% stake in
the Cross Yarra Partnership, a public private
partnership established to deliver the tunnels
and stations as a part of Melbourne’s Metro
Tunnel Project. The new end-to-end line
from Melbourne’s north west to south east,
including five new underground stations, is
due to go live in 2025 and will greatly improve
the capacity of rail lines across the city’s
network (in many instances by over 45%)
and reduce travel times for passengers.
The project is one of the largest transport
infrastructure projects ever undertaken in
Australia and has been underpinned by a
number of integrated environmental, social
and economic commitments. A key to this
has been a long-term mindset to consider
the risks and opportunities in delivering a
positive legacy to the city.
The team has a dedicated sustainability team
and a sustainability management plan that is
managed and reported against on a quarterly
basis. Details can be found on the project
website: https://metrotunnel.vic.gov.au/
planning/design-strategies-and-plans/
sustainability-strategy.

The project’s design includes measures for all
high and extreme climate change risks to ensure
the infrastructure, stations and precincts are
resilient to the projected impacts of a changing
climate over the relevant asset’s design life. This
is in accordance with the adopted climate change
projections and scenarios within the Melbourne
Metro Rail Authority Climate Change Risk
Assessment and Climate Change Adaptation Plan.

Sustainability
The project must ensure that sustainability
principles are embedded into the design
of the tunnel, stations and portals. It has
adopted green building practices and is
on track to achieve a minimum:
•

Five star certified rating under the Green
Business of Australia (‘GBCA’) Green Star
Rating Tool for all stations (in 2020, the
GBCA awarded a six-star green star design
review rating for all five stations);

•

Infrastructure sustainability (‘IS’) score
of 84 (‘Leading’) under the IS Rating Tools
(v1.2) for the works; and

•

A minimum of three points under the
Infrastructure Sustainability Council of
Australia’s Innovation Credit.

Nature and ecology
Equally, the project has been committed to
broader environmental objectives across a
number of themes, where the project team has
engaged a number of independent assessors,
to assist with managing:
•

Air quality

•

Construction noise and vibration

•

Trees and the natural environment

•

Soil

•

Property condition surveys

Social
Health and safety
The project team is committed to the
safety of the project and has an external
Independent Safety Auditor (‘ISA’) process
established which provides for the auditing
of the project’s Occupational Health & Safety
Management Plans. The ISA provides a report
which identifies any non-conformances. The
project develops an audit action plan to close
out non-conformances and the ISA report
and associated action plan are provided to
the project company and the State, where
progress to close out actions is monitored.
Any Class 1 (actual or potential) health and
safety incidents are immediately notified
to the project company (and by the project
company to its partner representatives) and
are followed up with investigation reports
and joint meetings held with the state
to outline the cause and the associated
preventative actions. As of December 2020,
the total recorded injury frequency rate had
decreased from 6.37 to 5.71 (injuries/hours).

Respite, relocation and noise
management for residents during
construction
The project has an active number of
community reference groups along the
project route to provide a forum for
engagement throughout the construction.
The project has assured residents’ protection
with a number of standards governing noise,
dust and disruption and with the facility for
alternative accommodation at times of
unavoidable works. The project also uses
acoustic sheds to enclose construction sites
and minimise noise and dust. Compliance is
monitored by Rail Projects Victoria and an
independent auditor.

Governance
John Laing is closely involved in the
responsible delivery of this project. There are
quarterly partnership meetings and monthly
CEO updates that are held. A governance
framework ensures a structured approach
to decision making and plan monitoring.
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Sustainability
Climate

A focus on climate change
Climate change is a key risk to every business
and presents both a challenge to, and an
opportunity for, John Laing in ensuring we are
developing and managing projects that support
a more sustainable future. With our capability
in developing greenfield infrastructure, we
are keenly aware of the role that we play in
supporting the development of a sustainable
asset class. Equally, through our growing
Core-plus investment business we are
responding to digital transformation and
the energy transition in recognising that the
greater electrification of our economy brings
opportunity for responsible investment.
We are committed to enhancing our
reporting on our environmental performance
to our investors and stakeholders.
We have again participated in the CDP (formerly
the Carbon Disclosure Project) Climate Change
Programme during the year and are pleased
to report that we received a ‘B’ score for our
performance in 2020 (2019: B).

Our physical footprint from core operations
has also been reduced during the year, from ten
to eight offices as a result of the closure of the
Spanish and Israel offices in line with our new
strategic plan.

We have adopted a materiality threshold
of 5-10% for GHG reporting purposes.
The GHG sources that constituted our
operational boundary for the year are:

Greenhouse gas emissions
As a listed company, we have a regulatory
obligation to report greenhouse gas emissions
(‘GHG’) pursuant to the Companies (Directors’
Report) and Limited Liability Partnerships
(Energy and Carbon Report) Regulations
2018 which implement the government’s
policy on Streamlined Energy and Carbon
Reporting (‘SECR’).

•

Scope 1: Natural gas and any liquid fuels

•

Scope 2: Electricity

•

Scope 3: Business travel (air, land and hotel
stay), water consumption (supply and
treatment) and all Fuel and Energy Related
Activities (‘FERA’)

In some cases, where data is missing, values
have been estimated using either extrapolation
of available data or data from the previous year
as a proxy.

Methodology

The Scope 2 Guidance requires that we quantify
and report Scope 2 emissions according to two
different methodologies (‘dual reporting’):
(i) the location-based method, using average
emissions factors for the country in which the
reported operations take place; and (ii) the
market-based method, which uses the actual
emissions factors of the energy procured.

We quantify and report our organisational GHG
emissions in alignment with the World Resources
Institute’s Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standard and in
alignment with the Scope 2 Guidance. We
consolidate our organisational boundary
according to the operational control approach,
which includes all our sources of environmental
impact over which we have operational control.

Performance
Looking to the future and how climate change
could impact our business model, we continue
to support the work of the Taskforce on
Climate-related Financial Disclosures (‘TCFD’)
and are actively developing our roadmap to
support its recommendations. We are pleased to
present our disclosure on pages 77 to 79.

Sustainability in direct operations
We are committed to improving the
sustainability of all our direct operations,
defined as activities that support our core
business. This is predominantly relating to
resources we consume in our offices, air travel
and procurement activity. As a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic, our employees have been
unable to access our offices for the majority
of the year, and business travel has decreased
dramatically. The pandemic has also accelerated
the digital capability of our business showing
us areas where we can consider sustained
reductions through changes in ways of working,
project delivery, stakeholder collaboration
and business travel in the future. We have
embraced new technology and Group-wide
communication platforms to ensure that lack
of face-to-face communication has not been
detrimental to either employees or our projects.

John Laing Group plc

During 2020, our measured Scope 1 and 2 emissions (location-based) totalled 58.3tCO2e. This comprised:
FY2020

FY2019

UK
(tCO2e)

Rest of
world
(tCO2e)

Total
(tCO2e)

UK
(tCO2e)

Rest of
world
(tCO2e)

Total
(tCO2e)

1

0

9.55

9.55

0

32.2

32.2

Natural gas

0

2.5

2.5

0

0.1

0.1

Other fuels (liquid fuels – petrol and diesel)

0

7.05

7.05

0

32.1

32.1

2 – location-based

10.17

38.58

48.75

25.6

53.3

78.9

Total Scope 1 & 2 – location-based

10.17

48.13

58.3

26.6

85.5

111.1

Scope

Scope 1 & 2 intensity per FTE – location-based
Scope 3

0.16

0.72

0.45

0.41

1.34

0.72

165.71

31.73

197.44

703.3

1,022.8

1,726.1

In total, our UK operations accounted for 68.8% of all Scope 1 and 2 (location-based) and Scope 3
emissions in 2020, largely because of the Scope 3 emissions from UK operations. In addition to the
above, a breakdown of our global emissions between 2018, 2019 and 2020 is displayed below.
FY2020
Total

FY2019
Total

1

9.55

32.2

32.7

2 – location-based

48.8

78.9

110.9

2 – market-based

24.6

58.8

80.2

Scope (tCO 2 e)

FY2018
Total

Total Scope 1 & 2 (location-based)

58.3

111.1

143.6

Total Scope 1 & 2 (market-based)

34.2

91.0

112.9

Scope 1 & 2 intensity per FTE – location-based

0.45

0.72

0.85

Scope 3

197.4

1,726.1

1,831.9
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Between 2019 and 2020 reporting years, our Scope 1 and 2 emissions (location-based) have
decreased by 48%. This was partly due to a reduction in occupied office space following office
relocations and partly driven by the implications of COVID-19 (homeworking). Renewable energy
consumption and reduced fuel consumption at our Amsterdam office further contributed to the
overall year-on-year reduction in Scope 1 and 2 emissions. More generally, across the business we
undertake energy and carbon efficiency projects at our offices to drive energy savings and engage
the business in contributing to more sustainable operations.
Within our reporting boundary, we have included our Scope 3 emissions resulting from business
travel (air, land and hotel stay), water consumption (supply and treatment) and all FERA. Our
measured Scope 3 emissions totalled 197.4tCO 2e which represents a decrease of 89% against 2019,
largely owing to the implications of COVID-19 (reduced business travel).
During the year, our total fuel and electricity consumption totalled 147.62kWh, of which 30% was
consumed in the UK. The split between fuel and electricity consumption is displayed below.
FY2020
Energy consumption (kWh)

FY2019

UK Rest of world

Electricity

Total

UK Rest of world

Total

43,610

87,295

130,905

99,946

133,777

233,723

0

16,718

16,718

0

14,930

14,930

Fuels1
1 Natural gas and liquid fuels (petrol and diesel).

Our emissions have been verified to a reasonable level of assurance by an external third party
according to the ISO 14064-3 standard.
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Taskforce on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures
As an investor, developer and manager
of infrastructure projects, the impact
of climate change is strategically
important to our business.
We are committed to implementing the
recommendations and best practices of the
TCFD. We feel this helps provide all stakeholders,
including investors, with decision-useful
information on the climate-related risks and
opportunities that impact our business. We are
proud to be amongst the 1,500+ organisations
that support this initiative, and continue to
build upon our prior year disclosure. This
forms part of our wider approach to ESG.
Alongside our TCFD work we also provide
further disclosures and detail of climate and
carbon impacts in our 2020 CDP response:
https://www.cdp.net/en/responses

1. Governance
a) Board’s oversight

Scope 2 emissions by methodology
2020
2019
2018

During 2020, we have enhanced our governance
and management of the business through
a strategic review, including bringing greater
oversight and transparency to enable
management to better consider environmental
risks into decision-making and business process.

110.9

80.2

78.9

At Board level, our Chief Executive has
overall responsibility for climate-related
risks and opportunities, and for the
Group’s response to climate change.

58.8
48.75
24.6

The Board monitors progress against
mitigating climate change risks along with
other risks when it meets during the year. It
considers specific reports, reviews business
and financial performance, as well as strategy,
key initiatives, risks and governance. This
includes climate-related issues where relevant.
In 2020 this included a number of climate
change presentations and discussions which
also enhanced the Board’s understanding of
the TCFD recommendations and climate-risk
information as the UK (and other markets)
moves to mandatory disclosure. Board
training on climate-related risk to ensure
effective ongoing oversight and management
of risks is an ongoing consideration.

Scope 2 –
market-based
(tCO2e)

Scope 2 –
location-based
(tCO2e)

Total emissions 2018 – 2020
1,831.9

2020
2019
2018

32.7

32.2
Scope 1

9.55

110.9

1,726.1

197.4
78.9

48.75

Scope 2 –
location-based
(tCO2e)

Scope 3
emissions

Climate considerations are included at
various Board and management committees,
such as during the investment process
by the Investment Committee (‘IC’), and
as part of the Group Risk Register, by the
Management Risk Committee (‘MRC’), Audit
& Risk Committee (‘ARC’) and the Board. For
further information regarding the Governance
Framework of the Group, please see page 91.
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Sustainability
Climate continued

b) Management’s role
At the Executive Committee level, the Chief
Operating Officer has responsibility for ESG
including climate-related risks and opportunities
including the Group’s response to climate change.
Ongoing oversight by management of
sustainability risks, including climate-related
issues, is performed by the MRC.
The MRC reports to the ARC. Among its
responsibilities, it is responsible for reviewing
the Group Risk Register as well as advising the
Board on current and future risk exposures
and strategies. The register lists ESG
integration as a principal risk. The physical and
regulatory risks presented by climate change
are considered through this process and
appropriate mitigation measures identified.
During 2020, we also updated our investment
screening and due diligence to provide greater
weight and consideration for a range of
environmental and social issues (including
climate change) as we look to grow and better
manage our portfolio in a responsible manner.
The IC is responsible for assessing actual
climate-related risks and opportunities in
relation to investment opportunities, with
enhanced due diligence as required.
The IC responds to climate-related opportunities
(such as decarbonisation infrastructure as part
of energy transitions towards net zero carbon)
and has responsibility for climate-related risks:
transition (policy, legal and technology) and
physical (acute damage to assets, for example
from floods or hurricanes or long-term chronic
impact of rising sea levels). It is also responsible
for approving investment proposals.
Once an investment enters into the portfolio,
the Portfolio Review and Valuations Committee
(‘PRVC’) is responsible for assessing ESG risks.
The PRVC sets KPIs and monitors the balance
of risk across the portfolio.

infrastructure which contributes to climate
mitigation and is resilient to changing climate
over the long term.
Given our key role in developing public
infrastructure for social development objectives,
we are also considering the opportunities of the
transition to a more sustainable economy through
new demand for different types of infrastructure,
such as supporting the energy transition and
broader electrification of the economy, and
a theme that has gained particular focus in a
pandemic year, the access to digital infrastructure.

2. Strategy
Climate-related risks and opportunities cover
all aspects of our business, from origination
and investment through to construction and
management of infrastructure projects.

a) Climate risks and opportunities identified
over the short, medium and long term
Our activities are focused on transport,
environmental infrastructure and social
infrastructure sectors. This includes investment
in projects that are designed to deliver
John Laing Group plc

Specific risks we have identified include the
following (please refer to pages 57 to 61 for full
details of the Group’s Principal Risks):

Type

Time

Impact

Market

Short term

Future changes in energy prices, driven by energy demand and supply
impacting asset income and valuations.
Increasing requirements from our public private partnership clients for
climate stress testing of designs to certain specifications during bidding
phases.
Impacts to revenue from new environmental taxes and potential introduction
of carbon pricing.

Acute
physical

Medium term

Damage from extreme weather events. This can lead to loss of energy
production due to shut-down, write-downs to asset book values and
increases in insurance premiums or unavailability if the probability of
extreme weather increases.

Reputation

Medium term

Increased stakeholder concern or negative stakeholder feedback for failing
to comply with ESG requirements.
Ongoing requirement for compliance, such as adherence to the newest
Equator Principles 4 for project finance debt.

Chronic
physical

Long term

The resilience of our assets and reduced asset performance due to changing
long-term weather patterns and climate-induced environmental change.

Specific opportunities identified include:
Type

Time

Impact

Market

Short term

Continued growth in demand for new types of infrastructure driven by the
global energy transition, for example energy from waste, where we made
our first investment in Australia in 2019.

Products
Short term
and services

Investments in the renewable energy market, driven by the Paris Agreement
(2015) and signatories’ own Nationally Determined Contributions.

Further information regarding the
responsibilities and structure of the IC, MRC,
PRVC and ARC can be found on pages 55 and 91.
At the project level, the Boards of the individual
projects are responsible for assessing climaterelated risks and opportunities.

We define time horizons as short (current
financial year), medium (one to five years) and
long (risks over the asset lifetime of 30+ years
at the point of investment) term. Assessments to
determine risks and opportunities cover current
regulation, emerging regulation, technology,
legal, market, reputational, products and
services, acute physical and chronic physical.

Access to new and emerging markets, as the demand for low carbon
infrastructure grows and customers switch to electricity generated with
lower greenhouse gas intensity.
Reputation

Short term

As a responsible investor, by evidencing the positive ESG impacts delivered
through our infrastructure investments we see an opportunity to differentiate
ourselves and be a preferred partner in infrastructure opportunities.



b) Impacts of climate risks and opportunities
on businesses, strategy and financial
planning
Our strategy as a Group has been influenced
in the following ways:
•

Products and services: New opportunities
to invest and derive financial returns mean
we expect to see continued growth in
demand for investment in the
decarbonisation of infrastructure and the
wider energy transition market. Our view

of the climate challenge and importance
of energy transition also means we exclude
fossil fuel related infrastructure in portfolio
and future investments.
•

Operations: As ESG requirements and
stakeholder expectations continue to grow
in the short to medium term, as an investor
we are exposed to increasing compliance
burden and reputational risks through
failure to respond.

Overview

•

Supply chain: In the medium to long term,
we have identified risks and opportunities
within our investment value chain in relation
to climate change through our investment
in Renewable Energy projects and sustainable
and resilient public infrastructure.

Our financial planning has been influenced
in the following way:
•

Capital budgeting: Climate-related risks
and opportunities are considered through
our investment appraisal processes. They
are factored into decision-making regarding
new acquisitions and divestments, capital
allocation and capital expenditure in the
short to medium term.

c) R
 esilience of strategy, taking into
consideration different climate-related
scenarios
Our portfolios are subject to ongoing material
changes given our business model to progress
assets to the secondary markets. In line with
TCFD recommendations we are currently
reviewing options for climate scenarios, building
upon the screening currently undertaken for
certain projects pre Investment Committee.
The Board plans for an initial climate-related
scenario analysis to be developed by 2022,
including extreme weather risk, temperature
scoring, stress-testing assets’ ability to
withstand the carbon emissions of the
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change’s
Representative Concentration Pathways
(detailed further in the following section)
and different environmental and social factors
specific to our business. We are aware the
physical risks and transition risks addressed in
such scenarios will be impactful to our business.
Given the context specific nature of many
environmental and social risks, we approach
risks on an asset-by-asset basis as well as with
a geographical focus and engage with multiple
third-party consultants in understanding risks
such as long-term energy prices and weather
patterns. We will be working with our partners
and using our influence to ensure forwardlooking consideration of climate issues is
included in decision-making.

3. Risk management
As a developer and operator of infrastructure
assets, our business is exposed to both risk
and opportunity from climate change. Our risk
management framework enables us to ensure
the identification, assessment, response and
control, and monitoring and review of all
associated risks include climate-related risks.

Strategic Report

Governance

a) Processes for identifying and assessing
climate related risks
b) P rocesses for managing climaterelated risks
c) Integration into overall risk management
John Laing maintains a ‘bottom-up’ and
‘top-down’ approach to risk with a
comprehensive review of risks at the project,
business unit, supporting functions and Group
level. Relevant climate-related risks will be
recorded on the appropriate risk register.
Climate-related risks are included within our
principal risks, including the transition and
physical impact; for further information please
see page 57. These cover both the transition
(policy and legal, technology, market and
reputational) and physical risks (chronic and
acute) of climate change, as identified by TCFD.
Risk registers are reviewed regularly to ensure
that all relevant risks have been captured.
Climate-related risks reported on the Group
Risk Register are required to have identified
mitigation measures implemented, which are
defined through discussion at the MRC. The
Group Risk Register is reviewed regularly by the
ARC, and mitigants will be reviewed for their
continuing appropriateness.
Please see the Principal Risks and Risk
Management section on pages 54 to 61 for further
information regarding our approach to risk.

Financial Statements

Our portfolio contains investment in a wide
range of projects to support socio-economic
development and a more sustainable economy.
As outlined in our Capital Markets and Strategy
Day update we have committed to integrating
ESG principles into the business and will assess
a range of environmental and social impacts
together with specific carbon impact in line with
market frameworks, including the UN SDGs and
Paris Agreement targets.
For our direct operations we have seen a
reduction in emissions as a result of the
pandemic and expect to see a further decrease
in emissions across Scope 1, 2 and 3 categories
over the next five years. COVID-19 has shown
the success of remote working and we are
looking at how to lock-in these efficiencies
on how we can work differently going forward.
For instance, John Laing is an international
business, and one of the main ways in which we
generate carbon emissions is through air travel.
Several further initiatives are in progress to
manage climate-related risks and opportunities,
and also to improve future performance against
targets under the SECR.
•

Within the year, we had emissions reduction
initiatives, saving over four tonnes CO 2e:
company fleet vehicle replacement (Scope 1
benefit) and energy efficiency in buildings
through lighting (Scope 2)

•

We undertake energy and carbon efficiency
projects at our offices in order to drive cost
reductions and to engage the wider
business in contributing to sustainable
operations

•

Engaging with our value chain on climaterelated issues: with our PPP clients for the
decarbonisation of transport; with clients
(government departments, public sector,
or local authorities) during the bid process
to ensure that new projects meet national
sustainability targets and socio-economic
development criteria

•

Direct engagement with policymakers and
trade associations: we engage with C40
Cities, a network of the world’s megacities
on the topic of decarbonising infrastructure

•

We engage regularly with communities
affected by our projects to understand their
needs and concerns. This can address a
number of different ESG aspects, including:
water, air pollution, GHG emissions and
biodiversity.

4. Metrics and targets
a) Disclose the metrics used by the
organisation to assess climate-related
risks and opportunities in line with its
strategy and risk management process
We report our GHG emissions on our Scope 1,
2 and 3 emissions for our direct operations
annually. Calculations and reporting are
performed by an independent, external
sustainability consultant, Carbon Intelligence.
Please see pages 76 and 77 for further
information.

b) S cope 1, Scope 2 and appropriate Scope 3
greenhouse gas emissions
Please see above for full details of the Group’s
emissions during the year, along with
year-on-year progress.
c) T
 argets to manage climate-related risks
and opportunities, and performance
against targets

79

John Laing does not yet currently set a GHG
emissions reduction target. We currently report
our Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions for direct
operations and are in the process of establishing
our pathway to Net Zero including implications
for our portfolio and growth plans with further
details to be announced in the coming year.

Annual Report and Accounts 2020

80

Sustainability
Community
At John Laing, aligned to our purpose of
delivering value to all stakeholders, we support
charitable initiatives targeting the communities
in which we live and work. Throughout 2020,
the COVID-19 pandemic was at the forefront
of our charitable giving. We identified key
organisations to support, concentrating our
efforts on the consequences of lockdown.
The well-being of our employees and their
families was also, and remains, a key priority.

Food poverty
“Your offer of support could not come at a more appropriate time,
as the latest figures from food banks in the Trussell Trust network
show that during April 2020, there was an 89% increase in need
for emergency food parcels compared to last year.”
The Trussell Trust, UK

In April 2020, we established the John Laing
COVID Communities Response Fund (the ‘Fund’)
to target organisations based on four pillars of
need (see below) and experiencing increased
demand as a result of lockdown as well as a
reduced ability to fundraise. Alongside the Fund,
we continued to fundraise for other important
causes and were fortunate to partner with the
John Laing Charitable Trust (the ‘Trust’) on a
number of initiatives. We also offered additional
volunteering leave and encouraged employee
engagement.

Action Against Hunger delivered over 2,150 nutritional food
packages to those vulnerable to food poverty with the help of
John Laing’s donation. Our donation supported over 3,000 people
across 50 communities the Ruta del Cacao region of Colombia.
“The need for food assistance is incredibly high at this moment,
as the state unemployment rate has surged over 20%. Thank you
so much for your support of Food Forward. Your generosity has
made a huge impact!”
Food Forward, Los Angeles

COVID Communities Response Fund
The Fund’s donation strategy was focused on
four pillars: (i) food poverty, (ii) homelessness,
(iii) mental health and (iv) supporting others
in need. Under these pillars, John Laing
employees selected charities that offered
services to groups and communities affected
by the far reaching impact of the pandemic.
We are delighted to have had the support of
the Trust, who donated an additional £210,000
to a number of organisations in receipt of
John Laing’s COVID donations. We would like
to thank the Trust for their contribution.

Other
organisations

Homelessness

In response to the pandemic, John Laing
pledged £500,000 to a number of organisations,
a few of which have been highlighted below.

“The generous donation from John Laing will ensure that Rosie’s
is able to get back out onto the streets with vans packed with
supplies to assist people who are at their most vulnerable.
COVID-19 has reinforced social isolation and loneliness for many.”
Rosie’s Friends on the Street

“Your funds will help us to build a new refuge in the west of
Melbourne, giving 15-24 year-olds the chance to grow into
adult independence.”
Melbourne City Mission
Other
organisations

John Laing Group plc
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Mental well-being
Our donation was used by Mind to help provide services
during the year such as its Coronavirus Information Hub which
offered guidance on maintaining mental well-being during
the pandemic.

Financial Statements
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Supporting local initiatives
John Laing is committed to supporting
employee engagement with charitable
initiatives, and during the year our employees
participated in additional activities including:
Staying active
In February, seven teams from across our
regions took part in the Future Steps Challenge
to walk at least 10,000 steps-a-day to raise
money for the Prince’s Trust.
Improving opportunities for the youth

Others in need
“It was amazing to see how fast you acted and donated laptops
for our children… Because of your help we are in more frequent
contact with our children and also their regular school education
got a boost because they are in the possession of a laptop now.”
Barnardo’s estimated an increase of approximately 30%
in the registration of young carers to their services in 2020.
John Laing’s donation enabled Barnardo’s to recruit a new
case worker for their Young Carers group in Lancaster.
We are an investor in Alder Hey Children’s Hospital, one of the
largest children’s hospitals in Europe. We participated in their
COVID-19 appeal to fund a 24-hour counselling and support
service for all Alder Hey staff throughout the pandemic.
Other
organisations

We continued to support the Clontarf
Foundation in Australia which improves
the education, life skills, self-esteem and
employment prospects of young Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander men. In August,
our team were invited to visit Clontarf
Academy in South Grafton High School to see
Clontarf’s work since the Academy began.
Our employees also took part in personal
fundraising initiatives to support Muscular
Dystrophy, Movember and the KidsOut Giving
Tree which provided Christmas presents
to children in refuge.

Working with our partners
We are pleased to have worked closely with
our partners and clients to keep critical
infrastructure providing essential public
services running throughout the year.

Commuter rail
The Sydney Light Rail and Denver Eagle
Commuter Rail lines continued to operate
during the lockdown allowing essential workers
to use these services to travel to work. The rail
operations introduced heightened COVID-19
healthy and safety protocols to protect both
passengers and staff.

Hospitals
The Royal Adelaide Hospital provides clinical
care for approximately 485,000 patients
every year. The 800 single-room facility
treated COVID-19 patients and provided
rooms for those in isolation. Their dedicated
clinic and in-house pathology service also
processed state-wide diagnostic tests.
During the peak of the pandemic their
clinic saw on average 200 patients a day.

I am proud that John Laing has invested in projects that have
provided frontline services, particularly Alder Hey Children’s
Hospital and the Royal Adelaide Hospital. We are pleased
to have played our role in supporting organisations that are
providing services to those in need within our communities.”

Alder Hey Children’s Hospital cares for more
than 330,000 children and their families every
year. As a result of the influx of patients, the
hospital also treated adult COVID-19 patients.
The hospital educated families on virus prevention
through comprehensive guidelines and support
hotlines.

Ben Loomes
Chief Executive Officer
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Our Board of Directors
and Company Secretary
The Board has the appropriate
balance of skills and
experience to deliver the
Group’s strategy

Key
Executive Directors

Will Samuel BSC, BA, FCA

Ben Loomes

Non-executive Chairman

Chief Executive Officer

Non-executive Directors
N

Group Company Secretary
N

Nomination Committee

A&R Audit & Risk Committee
R

Remuneration Committee
Committee Chair

Appointed

Appointed

December 2017 and became Chairman in May 2018

May 2020

Relevant skills, experience and contribution

Relevant skills, experience and contribution

Will is an experienced chairman having previously
been chairman of TSB Bank plc, which he took
through IPO after its demerger from Lloyds Bank
plc. He also has extensive commercial, capital
markets, investments and regulatory expertise,
along with broad business and governance
experience from executive and non-executive
positions previously held. He exhibits strong
leadership qualities.

Ben has over 20 years of experience in
the infrastructure sector across principal investing,
fund management and corporate finance. Ben has
extensive financial, strategic and operational
experience at senior management and board
levels. He has experience in leading international
investment and fund management businesses,
including across PPP, Renewable Energy projects,
Core and Core-plus economic infrastructure
businesses. Ben has invested and managed
infrastructure portfolios across a range of sectors,
including transport, energy, utilities,
telecommunications, leasing, healthcare and
social infrastructure.

Current external appointments
• Chairman of Tilney Group Limited.
Previous external appointments
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

John Laing Group plc

Chairman of TSB Bank plc
Chairman of Howdens Joinery Group
Chairman of Ecclesiastical Insurance Group plc
Chairman of H P Bulmer plc
Deputy chairman of Inchcape plc
Senior adviser to Lazard & Co Ltd
Senior adviser to the Prudential Regulation
Authority (formerly the Financial Services
Authority)
Director of Schroders plc
Co-chief executive officer at Schroder Salomon
Smith Barney (a division of Citigroup Inc)
Non-executive director of the Edinburgh
Investment Trust plc
Trustee and Honorary Treasurer
of International Alert.

Current external appointments
• Non-executive director of Ambac Assurance
UK Limited.
Previous external appointments
• Global head of infrastructure and managing
partner at InfraRed Capital Partners, managing
an infrastructure business with over US$9 billion
of assets under management, and responsibility
for managing teams in Europe, North America,
Latin America and Australia
• Managing partner of 3i Group plc’s Infrastructure
business. Responsible for leading origination and
strategic development. Member of the board of
3i Infrastructure plc
• Member of 3i Group plc’s Executive Committee
and its Investment Committees for Infrastructure,
Private Equity and Debt Management
• Group strategy director for 3i Group plc
• Corporate finance at Goldman Sachs, Greenhill
and Morgan Stanley.
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Rob Memmott

Andrea Abt MBA

Dr Jeremy Beeton CB, BSc, CEng, FICE

Chief Financial Officer

Independent Non-executive Director,
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

Independent Non-executive Director

1

N

R

N

A&R

R

Appointed

Appointed

Appointed

January 2021

May 2018

December 2014

Relevant skills, experience and contribution

Relevant skills, experience and contribution

Relevant skills, experience and contribution

Rob is a qualified chartered accountant, with over
20 years’ experience in senior financial leadership
roles and has significant experience as a listed
company finance director, having led Arrow Global
Group Plc through its successful IPO. He has also
been instrumental in strategic restructuring, has
led multi-million pound transactions, and
managed several finance teams.

Andrea has an extensive background arising
from a variety of roles, including sales, finance,
procurement and logistics with specialised
knowledge of the European market. She also
has significant experience of a broader range
of industries through non-executive roles.

Jeremy has extensive international experience
in project and programme management over
complex multi-site, multiple project operations
portfolios for and within government, public
companies and private companies. He also has
significant non-executive experience across a
range of sectors. Jeremy has lived and worked
extensively in the Middle East and Asia Pacific.

Current external appointments
• Non-executive director of Praetura Group Ltd,
and Praetura Debt Services Ltd, a regulated
intermediary holding company.
Previous external appointments
• Chief financial officer of Praetura Group Limited
between April 2019 and December 2020
• Group chief financial officer of Arrow Global
Group Plc between September 2011 and
January 2018
• Finance director and company secretary of
Leeds Bradford Airport between 2008 and 2011
• Finance director of Alfred McAlpine
Infrastructure Services between 2005 and 2007
• Chief financial officer of Servisair-Globeground,
Manchester between 2002 and 2005.

Current external appointments
• Non-executive director of Petrofac Ltd and
a member of the Nomination, Remuneration,
and Compliance & Ethics Committees
• Non-executive director and a member of the
Audit Committee of Polymetal International plc
• Member of the Supervisory Board of
Gerresheimer AG, and a member of the
Audit Committee.
Previous external appointments
• Various leadership roles, including head of
supply chain and chief procurement officer
for Infrastructure & Cities for Siemens
• Non-executive director of Brammer plc
• Non-executive director of SIG plc.

Current external appointments
• Non-executive director of Pensana plc
• Member of the governing Court of Strathclyde
University.
Previous external appointments
• Advisory board member of
PricewaterhouseCoopers
• Advisory board member of Macquarie Assets
• Non-executive director of Arqiva
• Non-executive director of GSR Energy
• Non-executive director of OPG Power
Ventures Plc
• Non-executive director of SSE plc
• Director General of the London 2012 Olympic
and Paralympic Games
• Chairman of WYG plc
• Chairman of Merseylink Limited
• Principal vice president with Bechtel.

1 Andrea succeeded Anne Wade as Chair of the
Remuneration Committee on 1 February 2021 and stepped
down as a member of the Audit & Risk Committee on
31 December 2020.
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Our Board of Directors
and Company Secretary continued

Leanne Bell

Philip Keller

David Rough

Independent Non-executive Director

Independent Non-executive Director,
Chair of the Audit & Risk Committee

Senior Independent Director,
Chair of the Nomination Committee

N

A&R

R

A&R

N

R

N

A&R

R

Appointed

Appointed

Appointed

December 2020

January 2020

December 2014

Relevant skills, experience and contribution

Relevant skills, experience and contribution

Relevant skills, experience and contribution

Leanne is a global infrastructure and power
generation expert, with a wide range of investment
experience across sectors, stages of development,
products, markets and regulatory regimes. She also
has a strong background in people development.

Philip has extensive financial and operational
experience at senior management level, with
a deep understanding of investment businesses
and global organisations. He also has a strong focus
on stakeholder communications. Philip trained as a
chartered accountant with Arthur Andersen & Co.

David has extensive knowledge of the financial
services sector, predominantly in the investment
management business. He also has significant
experience of a broader range of industries
through non-executive roles.
Current external appointments

Current external appointments
• Non-executive director of Southwestern
Generation Operating Company
• Non-executive director of Ventient Energy
Services Limited
• Non-executive director of Nassau Companies
of New York.
Previous external appointments
• Chief financial officer of Synergy Renewables LLC
• Managing director of Tiger Infrastructure
Partners (formerly Lehman Brothers Global
Infrastructure Partners)
• Managing director of GE Energy Financial
Services
• Senior management roles with Louis Dreyfus
Energy Services, Prudential Power Funding
Associates and Salomon Brothers, Inc.

John Laing Group plc

Current external appointments
• Executive Fellow at King’s Business School
• Member of the Finance Committee of King’s
College, London
• Director of Royal Philharmonic Orchestra
• Director of the Northern Ballet
• Vice-chair of the trustees of London Music
Masters.
Previous external appointments
• Chief finance and operating officer of
Intermediate Capital Group plc
• Finance director of ERM Holdings Limited
• Senior management roles with Johnson &
Johnson Pharmaceutical Group and Glaxo
Smithkline.

• None
Previous external appointments
• Group director (Investments) and prior to
that head of securities at Legal and General
• Chairman of Brown Shipley & Co Ltd
• Chairman of the Association of British Insurers’
Investment Committee
• Non-executive director of Hansteen Holdings plc
• Non-executive director of Land Securities
• Non-executive director of London Metal
Exchange
• Non-executive director of Friends Provident
• Non-executive director of Xstrata.
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Lisa Stone

Clare Underwood BSc, ACA

Independent Non-executive Director

Chief Operating Officer & Group
Company Secretary

N

A&R
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R

Appointed

Appointed

December 2020

September 2018

Relevant skills, experience and contribution

Relevant skills, experience and contribution

Lisa has extensive investment experience across
a range of industries with a strong strategic and
people development background. Lisa also has
a strong background in social investment.

Clare has extensive governance and listed company
experience. Previously, she was Head of London
and Group Company Secretary for Cable & Wireless
Communications plc, having been appointed as
Company Secretary post the demerger of Cable
& Wireless plc in 2010. Prior to that she was the
Company Secretary of the Cable & Wireless
Communications Operating Board and Project
Director for the Cable & Wireless demerger.
She was also the Head of Tax for Energis.

Current external appointments
•
•
•
•
•

Financial Statements

Non-executive director of The Key
Non-executive director of Ticketer
Non-executive director of SAM Labs
Non-executive director of Smoothwall
Trustee and Chair of the Audit Committee of
Impetus and Chair of YEF Investment Committee.

Previous external appointments
• Founding partner of HgCapital
• Director, Strategy and Business Planning
at LucasVarity
• Senior roles at management consulting firms
between 1984 and 1996
• A number of non-executive positions across
a range of industries, including SHL, Iris, Disabled
People’s Employment Corporation Limited (aka
Remploy), Visma AS and Team Systems SA.
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Chairman’s introduction to governance

The Board has maintained
its focus on its commitment
to the highest standards
of corporate governance to
support the creation of longterm sustainable value for the
benefit of our stakeholders.

UK Corporate Governance Code Compliance
During 2020, the Company applied the Principles and complied with
all Provisions of the Code in full. A copy of the Code is available on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk. This report,
together with the other statutory disclosures and reports from the Audit
& Risk, Nomination and Remuneration Committees provides details of how
the Company has applied the principles of good corporate governance set
out in the Code during the year under review. Further information can be
found on page 97.

Workforce engagement
In addition to the workforce engagement programme that took place
during 2020, details of which can be found on pages 64 and 66, in January
2021, the Board approved an enhanced engagement plan to be
implemented in early 2021.
At an executive level, Ben Loomes has initiated virtual ‘coffee mornings’
each week with small groups across the business, designed to be more
informal catch-ups and generate a two-way dialogue.
The full Board attended an All-Employee Call in February 2021. Each Board
member gave an overview of who they are, along with their background
and experience, and the Chairman provided a summary of how the Board
functions and the Governance Framework. It was also an opportunity for
employees to ask questions of the Board members.
Taking into account travel restrictions and social distancing which will
continue into much of 2021, the engagement programme will include
the implementation of virtual focus groups held on a quarterly basis.
The structure of these will be a group of up to eight individuals meeting
with the Chairman, as the designated Director in respect of workforce
engagement. Discussion topics will include updates from Board and
Committee meetings, feedback from the representatives regarding
their business areas, and deep dives into certain topics such as employee
well-being, diversity and inclusion, Company results, purpose and values.
Feedback from these meetings will be shared with the Board at the next
scheduled meeting to help inform decisions, and actions and outcomes
will be shared with the wider workforce via the representatives and
through the regular All-Employee Calls.

John Laing Group plc

COVID-19 has created
unprecedented challenges for the
Group during the year, both from
an operational and governance
perspective. Despite changes to the way the
Group functions on a day-to-day basis as a
result of COVID-19, the Board has continued
to be highly engaged both directly, and
indirectly through the management team,
with our shareholders, employees, partners,
governments and communities in which we live
and work. We have also received an increased
number of updates in respect of both our
employees, to ensure we are keeping their
health and well-being at the forefront of
everything we have done during the year, and
the operational and financial resilience of the
Group as a whole. The Board is satisfied that
the steps taken under our business continuity
planning were effective and appropriate, and
as the situation continues to evolve, the Board
will continue to adapt its approach and guidance
for the Group’s operations and employees.
This report illustrates how we have conducted
business in line with our governance standards.

A new executive
Ben Loomes joined the Company as the new
CEO in May 2020, following the resignation
of Olivier Brousse in January 2020. The Board
conducted a thorough search process to find
the best candidate and we are delighted to have
attracted someone of Ben’s calibre to lead the
Company. Ben brings strong leadership and
business development capabilities, as well as
a solid investment track record and extensive
experience in the infrastructure sector.
Luciana Germinario stood down from her
position as Chief Financial Officer on 3 August
2020. The Company valued Luciana’s
contribution to the business, but Luciana
concluded, in agreement with the Board, that it
was the right time for her to stand down.

Overview

As announced on 5 January 2021, Rob Memmott
joined the Board as Chief Financial Officer with
effect from 6 January 2021. Rob has over 20
years’ experience in senior financial leadership
roles and has significant experience as a listed
company finance director. Rob’s leadership of
the finance team will enable it to support
John Laing’s strategy and future growth.
Further details regarding both Ben and Rob’s
recruitment are provided in the Nomination
Committee Report.
I would like to thank Stuart Colvin, Head of
Finance, who has been with the business for
17 years, and who undertook a key role in leading
the finance function during the year. In addition,
the Company engaged Patrick O’D Bourke,
previously Group Finance Director of John
Laing, to work with the finance team and the
Board to provide advisory services during this
interim period.

Non-executive changes
As announced last year, Toby Hiscock retired as
Non-executive Director and Chair of the Audit
& Risk Committee in May 2020. Philip Keller
was appointed to the Board as a Non-executive
Director and became a member of the Audit
& Risk, Nomination and Remuneration
Committees with effect from 1 January 2020,
and succeeded Toby as the Chair of the Audit
& Risk Committee following Toby’s retirement.
In addition to this, Anne Wade retired as
a Non-executive Director and Chair of the
Remuneration Committee with effect from
31 January 2021. As part of the succession
planning for the Board, Leanne Bell and
Lisa Stone were appointed to the Board on
1 December 2020. They each bring with them
considerable international investment and
infrastructure experience which will no doubt
make a significant contribution to the future
growth of John Laing and will strengthen the
diversity of background and experience of our
Board. Both Leanne and Lisa have become
members of the Audit & Risk, Nomination
and Remuneration Committees. Details of their
recruitment and full biographies can be found
on pages 106 and 82 to 85; respectively.
Andrea Abt succeeded Anne Wade as Chair of
the Remuneration Committee with effect from
1 February 2021. Andrea has served as a member
of the Remuneration Committee since her
appointment to the Board in May 2018. Andrea
stepped down as a member of the Audit & Risk
Committee with effect from 31 December 2020.
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Corporate Governance Framework

Stakeholder engagement

As described earlier in this Annual Report,
we have conducted a complete review of our
governance structure during the year. This
has involved a redesign of the management
committees, along with their delegated
authorities and responsibilities. The proposed
new structure was presented to the Board in
October, and supports and complements the
strategic review and vision. Full details of our
new Corporate Governance Framework can be
found on page 91 and details of the new strategy
can be found on pages 9 to 13.

We have been especially aware during this year
of the importance of communication within
the Group. Regular communication has been
fundamental especially during early the stages
of the COVID-19 crisis between both members
of the Board, and the Group as a whole, to
maintain business continuity and create a safe
working environment for all our employees,
contractors and project teams. In late March,
we launched our ‘All-Employee Calls’, initially
on a fortnightly basis, then moving to a
three-weekly basis later in the year. These calls
are held virtually, and provide all employees with
an opportunity to hear updates from the Board
and senior management, and catch up on latest
developments across the Group. Other topics
for discussion have included the charitable
giving set up in respect of COVID-19, mental
health and well-being initiatives and an
opportunity for all employees to ask questions.
These regular meetings have been very well
received, and will be continued. As described on
page 86, we are planning to build on this in early
2021 with the roll out of employee focus groups
and a structured virtual feedback loop through
which the Board can undertake a two-way
dialogue with employees, and use this in
its decision-making process where applicable.

COVID-19 response
Like the rest of the Company, along
with society as a whole, the Board
has adapted its way of working as a result of
COVID-19. The Board has held meetings by
phone or video conference on a regular basis,
and has worked hand in hand with the
management team to monitor the safeguarding
of our employees. More details on this are
provided in our stakeholder engagement
section. From a business perspective, the Board
has also received regular updates regarding
operating performance and risk to help ensure
any adverse impacts from COVID-19 were
identified and dealt with appropriately. In
addition to this, the Board considered and
approved the establishment of a COVID
Communities Response Fund in April; further
information on this can be found on page 80.
The Audit & Risk Committee has been closely
monitoring the robustness of our internal
controls, with special consideration to the
evolving ways in which we work and manage
our projects. More information can be found
on pages 98 to 103.

Dividend
On 2 March 2020, we recommended a final
dividend to be paid by the Group in May 2020
for the year ended 31 December 2019. As a result
of COVID-19, this decision was revisited in late
March to ensure it remained the right decision
for the Group given the evolving pandemic.
After considering all aspects, including cash
flow and shareholders, it was agreed to continue
with the payment of the dividend which was duly
approved by shareholders at our AGM in May
2020. An interim dividend for 2020 was announced
in August 2020, and paid in October 2020.

Through both market announcements and
meetings with our shareholders, we have
ensured that investors are informed of the
impact the virus is having on our business. Our
AGM was adapted to allow for the government
guidelines which were in place at the time, and
although it was a closed meeting, shareholders
had the opportunity to ask questions via email
ahead of the meeting.
Details of our engagement with stakeholders
and our full response to section 172 of the
Companies Act 2006 can be found on pages 26
to 29.

Will Samuel
Chairman
3 March 2021
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Board attendance, diversity and skills

Board member

Independent?

Board meeting
attendance

Chairman
Will Samuel

On appointment

6/6

Chief Executive Officer
Ben Loomes1
Olivier Brousse2

No
No

5/5
2/2

Chief Financial Officer
Luciana Germinario3
Rob Memmott4

No
No

3/3
0/0

Senior Independent
Non-executive Director
David Rough

Yes

6/6

Non-executive
Directors
Andrea Abt
Jeremy Beeton
Leanne Bell⁵
Toby Hiscock6
Philip Keller
Lisa Stone5
Anne Wade7

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

COO and Group
Company Secretary
Clare Underwood
1
2
3
4
5
6
7

6/6
6/6
1/1
2/2
6/6
1/1
6/6

Remuneration
linked to
performance?

Responsibilities
Overall leadership, operation, performance and
governance of Board and its meetings, and shareholder
engagement.
Strategy and Group performance, leading the Executive
Management team, implementing Board decisions.

Yes

Group financial performance.

Yes

Designated point of contact for shareholders to raise
concerns, leading appointment of Directors and
conducting the Chairman’s performance appraisal.
Assess, challenge and monitor the Executive Directors’
delivery of strategy within the risk and governance
structure agreed by the Board.
As Board Committee members they also review the
integrity of the Company’s financial information, oversee
succession planning and appointment of Directors, monitor
Board diversity and set the Directors’ remuneration.

Ensuring good quality corporate governance is embedded
within the Company, ensuring compliance with
developments in legislation, regulation and governance.

Appointed with effect from 8 May 2020.
Resigned with effect from 7 May 2020.
Resigned with effect from 3 August 2020.
Appointed with effect from 6 January 2021.
Appointed with effect from 1 December 2020.
Retired with effect from 7 May 2020.
Retired with effect from 31 January 2021.

Composition, skills and diversity
Biographies of the current Board of Directors can be found on pages 82
to 85. The Chairman is committed to ensuring the Board comprises of
a majority of independent Non-executive Directors from a diverse
background who objectively challenge management, balanced against
the need to ensure continuity of the Board. The Nomination Committee
oversees the Board composition, evaluation and succession planning.
Further information can be found on page 94 in respect of the Board
evaluation, and in the Nomination Committee report on pages 104 to 107.
Collectively, the Non-executive Directors contribute to an effective
Board with a strong mix of skills and business experience, including recent
financial, strategic, investment and infrastructure experience gained in a
variety of geographic areas and sectors. As each Non-executive Director
occupies or has occupied senior positions, each contributes significant
weight to Board discussions and decisions. There is a strong culture within
the Board and the Committees, of debate and challenge during meetings
regarding aspects such as the robustness of business cases, assumptions
and associated risk. The Board believes it has an appropriate balance
of skills and experience, but keeps the composition of the Board under
review to ensure any skills gaps are taken into consideration as part
of ongoing succession planning.

John Laing Group plc

Board composition (as at 31 December 2020)
Tenure (measured from IPO in February 2015):
0-2 years

4

2-4 years

2

4-6 years

3

Over 6 years 0

Male/Female Diversity

Age
40-45 years 1
46-50 years 1
51-55 years

1

56-60 years 3
61-65 years

1

66-70 years 2

Male

5

Female

4
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How the Board works

The Board
ff Responsible for overseeing the strategy and management of the Company and its businesses, including long-term objectives, business plan,
viability and the Group’s corporate governance system to help achieve long-term sustainable success and deliver shareholder value.
ff Helps to form and influence the Group’s culture, development of its values and identification of appropriate behaviours to reinforce
the values.

Audit & Risk Committee

Nomination Committee

Remuneration Committee

Responsible for:

Responsible for:

Responsible for:

ff Financial reporting and financial
integrity

ff Board and Committee composition

ff Setting of Director and senior
management remuneration

ff Assessing the Group risk
management framework
ff Forming the Group’s risk appetite,
and monitoring of the Group’s risks
ff Internal financial and operational
controls
ff Internal audit

ff Succession planning
ff Overseeing the Group’s policy and
strategy regarding workforce
diversity and inclusion
ff Overseeing induction process,
monitoring conflicts, time
commitments, training and
evaluation of Board members

ff Agreeing the Remuneration Policy
and practices of the Executive
Directors
ff Promoting long-term shareholdings
by Executive Directors and members
of the Executive Committee
ff Incentive design and setting
of targets

ff External auditor relationship
ff Stress testing of the Group’s financial
exposures

Philip Keller

David Rough

Andrea Abt MBA

Independent Non-executive
Director, Chair of the Audit & Risk
Committee

Senior Independent Director,
Chair of the Nomination Committee

Independent Non-executive
Director, Chair of the Remuneration
Committee

see pages 98 to 103, 104 to 107 and
> P108lease
to 112 for full details of the Audit & Risk
Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee respectively.
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How the Board works continued

Board and
Committee meetings
During the year there were six scheduled and
11 unscheduled Board meetings. Details of
attendance can be found on page 88. Unscheduled
meetings are called where necessary to consider
matters of a time-sensitive nature, which in
2020 included such issues as divestments,
changes of Directors, the impact of COVID-19
and business continuity arrangements.
Sufficient time is provided at each meeting for
the Chairman to meet privately with the Senior
Independent Director and the Non-executive
Directors to discuss matters as necessary. The
Chairman and Chairs of each Committee ensure
Board and Committee meetings are structured to
facilitate open discussion, debate and challenge.
To enable the Board to function effectively, full
and timely access to all relevant information is
given to the Board, and each meeting is formally
minuted by the Group Company Secretary.
As a result of COVID-19, all meetings during 2020,
except those held in January and February, have

been held virtually, in line with government
guidelines on both travel restrictions and
social distancing measures. In general, these
arrangements have worked well, and have not
hampered the Board’s ability to discuss matters
in detail, or receive required information and
presentations from the management team.
The principal Committees are the Audit & Risk
Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration Committee (together the
‘Committees’). The Board is supported by its
Committees which make recommendations on
matters delegated to them under their Terms of
Reference, full details of which can be found at
www.laing.com. These recommendations include
matters such as internal and external audit,
internal controls and risk management processes,
financial reporting, Board appointments,
succession planning and remuneration issues.
Each of the Committee Chairs has reported
on how each Committee has discharged its
responsibilities during the year along with the
material matters which were considered. Please
see pages 98 to 112 for full details. Following
each Committee meeting, the Chair of the
Committee reports its activities to the Board.

Members of the Executive Committee
attend and report at every scheduled Board
meeting, and other members of the senior
management team and advisers attend Board
meetings by invitation throughout the year.
In the rare event of a Director being unable to
attend a meeting, the Chair of the respective
meetings discuss the matters proposed with
the Director concerned wherever possible,
seeking their support and feedback accordingly.
The views of the absentee Director are then
represented by the Chair at the meeting.
In addition to formal meetings, the Non-executive
Directors also attended a number of other
Company meetings to increase their understanding
of the principal risks in the business and the
strength and depth of the management team. As a
result of COVID-19, these opportunities have been
limited during the year, however there have been
a number of All-Employee Calls which members
of the Board have attended. Further details of
stakeholder and workforce engagement can be
found on pages 26 to 29 and 66; respectively.

Management committees
In addition to the Board and its Committees, there are a number of management committees which report into either the Board or one of its
Committees. During the year under review, the following management committees were in place.
Committee

Composition

Purpose and structure

Executive
Committee

Executive Directors, the COO
and Group Company Secretary,
the Chief Risk Officer, the
Regional Managing Directors,
and the Group MD Strategy &
Partnerships.

ff
ff
ff
ff
ff
ff
ff

Investment
Committee

Executive Directors, the Chief
Risk Officer, the Group Head of
Legal (or the Group Legal Advisor
as alternate), and up to five other
persons as the Chief Executive
Officer shall nominate from time
to time.

ff Make recommendations to the Board, or to approve proposals within its delegated authority,
regarding the Group’s potential investment in infrastructure projects
ff Review of the Group’s portfolio valuation and monitoring the balance of risk across the portfolio
ff Activities, recommendations and approvals are reported to the Board
ff The Committee’s delegated authority is reviewed annually by the Board
ff Chaired by the Chief Executive Officer
ff Usually meets fortnightly and on request

Divestment
Committee

The Chief Financial Officer, the
Chief Risk Officer and other
senior managers.

ff Review divestments programme to meet funding and portfolio mix
ff Approve budgets and review of strategy
ff Chaired by the Chief Financial Officer; in the absence of a Chief Financial Officer for part of 2020,
the Chief Executive Officer chaired the meetings of this committee
ff Meets monthly, or as required

Management
Risk Committee

Chief Risk Officer, Chief Financial
Officer, Group Head of Legal, the
Group Head of Internal Audit, the
Head of Finance and a senior
manager from each of the
regional teams.

ff Monitors adequacy/effectiveness of internal controls (including financial) and risk
management systems
ff Review of internal audit reports, and project reviews
ff Review of Group risk register
ff Advises the Audit & Risk Committee on current and future risk appetite/tolerance, exposures
and strategy
ff Chaired by the Chief Risk Officer
ff Meets circa six times a year

John Laing Group plc

Day-to-day business of the Group and also considers Group-wide initiatives and priorities
Review of implementation of strategy
Discusses development of new investments and progress on existing investments
Review of realisations and other proposals before presentation to the Board
Monitors progress against the annual budget
Chaired by the Chief Executive Officer
Meets fortnightly
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Restructuring of the Corporate Governance Framework
During the year there has been a thorough
review of the structure and responsibilities
of the Group’s management committees. The
Governance Framework of the Group has been
updated to reflect the new strategic priorities
and business structure, to ensure approval
processes are more streamlined, and business
decisions are being made by the appropriate
people. This structure will allow the Board
to focus on ensuring that the investment

processes are being followed, through
reporting and monitoring. Investments and
divestments will now both be considered by
the Investment Committee. A new Portfolio
Review and Valuations Committee as well as an
Operational Committee have been established.
The Board approved the following new
structure which has been implemented in
January 2021, and will be reported in full in next
year’s Annual Report. In addition to the new

committee structure, the Group Delegation
of Authority Matrix, and the Terms of Reference
for each management committee have been
revised to ensure authority and responsibilities
are clearly defined across the Group, as well
as reporting lines.

Committee structure
Under the revised Corporate Governance Framework, the below management committees will be in operation from early 2021, replacing the
structure shown on the previous page:
Committee

Membership¹

Reporting structure

Description/remit

Executive
Committee

CEO (Chair), CFO, COO, CRO,
Co-Heads of PPP & Greenfield
Projects, Group HR Director

To the Board

ff Reviews and implements Group strategy
ff Monitors Group performance
ff Forum for sharing information across the organisation

Investment
Committee

CEO (Chair), CFO, Co-Heads
of PPP & Greenfield Projects,
CRO (acting as Secretary)

To the Board

ff Investment screening, bid, and divestment decisions (within
delegated authority) with responsibility for maintaining high ESG/
responsible investment standards
ff Responsible for capital allocation and monitoring balance of risk
across the portfolio

Two Senior Adviser(s) are
attendees rather than
members

ff Separate Investment Committees for PPP and Core-plus in due
course

Operations
Committee

COO (Chair), CFO, HR
Director, Communications
Director

To the Executive Committee

ff Day-to-day operational management of the Group, including HR,
Talent Management, Internal Communications, Health and Safety, IT,
Knowledge Management, and Corporate ESG

Portfolio Review
& Valuations
Committee

Group Asset Director (Chair) 2 ,
CEO, CFO, CRO, Co-Heads
of PPP & Greenfield Projects,
Group Head of Finance

To the Audit & Risk Committee

Portfolio review meeting
ff Monthly performance review, including ‘watchlist’ assets requiring
focus, reporting on key issues and risks and deciding on
intervention/remedies
ff Approve any additional investment (or other financial support) in a
project, of up to an amount which in aggregate shall not exceed the
lower of £10 million or 20% of the original investment commitment
Valuation review meeting

CFO (Chair), CEO, CRO, Group
Head of Finance

Management
Risk Committee

CRO (Chair), CFO, COO, Head
of Internal Audit, Co-Heads
of PPP & Greenfield Projects,
Group Head of Finance and
the Group Head of Legal

ff Assess and recommend asset valuations on a quarterly basis
To the Audit & Risk Committee

ff Strengthen and embed clear risk management framework
ff Foster a strong risk culture across the Group

1 This list represents the Committees’ permanent members and invites will be extended by the Committee to any employee relevant for the discussion.
2 The CRO will assume the Chair responsibility of the Monthly Portfolio Review & Valuations Committee until the Group Asset Director is appointed.
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Board activities during the year

Board’s activities
The Board considered COVID, its impact and implications, across a range of aspects of the business during the year.
Below are the key focus areas discussed by the Board during the year under review.
Strategic review

ff A comprehensive strategic review was undertaken following the appointment of Ben Loomes, our new CEO. The review
comprised an analysis of the business, and its overall outcomes were the approval of a new strategy, defining of a future
vision, and a review of capabilities and processes within the business. Further information can be found on pages 9 to 13
ff Review of new sectors, geographies and growth markets

Strategy

ff Consideration and approval of ESG strategy and priorities to complement and support the strategic review

Investment pipeline
and realisations

ff Approval of the decision to cease new investment in wind and solar generation at the beginning of the year
ff The Board considered a number of investment realisations during the year, including IEP East, and the Australian wind
farm assets
ff Regular reviews of the pipeline of investment opportunities, including implications of COVID-19 were undertaken

Bidding activity

ff The Board reviewed several investment proposals during the year, including the additional stakes in the I-77 and
Clarence Correctional Centre projects

Financial performance

ff Continuous monitoring of various KPIs (including NAV, total dividend per share and new investment committed) and
portfolio valuation throughout the year

Budget

ff Discussions were held regarding the setting of the annual budget, and performance against the budget during the year

Financial

ff Consideration given to COVID-19 related impacts

Dividend

ff Approval of both the final and interim dividends paid during the year. Also, re-evaluation of the proposal to pay a final
dividend in May 2020 taking into account the evolving COVID-19 situation in March

Reporting

ff Review and approval of the year-end and half-year accounts, presentations and market guidance released during
the year as well as the pre-close announcement in June, and the Q3 trading update in October

Cash flow

ff Review of the Group’s banking facilities and treasury management in light of COVID-19 to provide greater flexibility
and optionality for cash flow
ff The liquidity position of Group

Pension funding

ff Monitoring of the impact of COVID-19 on the accounting of the pension schemes under IAS 19

Risk and control

ff Consideration of the actuarial valuation of the pension fund as at 31 March 2019 finalised in April 2020

COVID-19

ff Review of risk factors impacted by COVID-19, such as government policy, liquidity, investment performance, personnel,
IT security and macro-economic factors such as interest rates, inflation, and wholesale power prices. Kept under review
throughout the evolving situation during the year. Please see pages 54 to 61 and 98 to 99 for further information

Controls

ff Regular updates from Internal Audit and the Chief Risk Officer in respect of key controls and impact of COVID-19.
These included management accounting, procurement, payment and payroll processes
ff Risk Management Framework
ff Risks associated with the individual assets
ff Overview and direction of Internal Audit

John Laing Group plc
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ff Regular updates on workforce matters throughout the COVID-19 crisis
ff Feedback from pulse surveys during the year

Governance

Stakeholders

Culture

ff Approval of a support framework for all employees

Strategic restructuring

ff Approval of new strategic restructuring programme, and communication plan to the business

Diversity, inclusion and
gender pay gap

ff Development of a diversity and inclusion strategy and roadmap

COVID-19 charitable
contributions

ff Approving the establishment of a COVID Communities Response Fund. Please see page 80 for further information

Employees

ff Ongoing assessment of working from home arrangements and the support structure provided to employees, along
with a safe return to work plan during the COVID-19 crisis, which was implemented to different degrees based on local
government advice for each location

ff Regular updates on gender pay gap and gender diversity statistics

ff Regular reports on safety and well-being initiatives implemented across the business
ff For further information regarding employees please see pages 64 to 67

Succession planning

ff There have been a number of changes during the year, with both the Executive and Non-executive Directors.
With recommendations from the Nomination Committee, the Board has considered and approved both Executive
and Non-executive appointments to the Board. Please see page 29 for further information regarding stakeholder
engagement on this subject

Corporate Governance
Framework

ff The Governance Framework has been reviewed during the year, and received Board approval in December 2020.
The new structure has been implemented in early 2021. For full details please see page 91
ff Management committees – As part of the strategic review, a full review of the structure and operation of the
management committees was undertaken. The Board approved the new structure and the terms of references
for each of these committees

AGM

ff Approved and recommended the resolutions put to shareholders at the 2020 AGM
ff Agreed a COVID-safe arrangement in order for the AGM to be held safely and in line with government guidelines
whilst allowing shareholders to raise questions

Policies and
procedures

ff A number of policies have been considered by both the Audit & Risk Committee and the Board during the year,
including the Treasury Policy, Data Protection Policy, Signing Authorities Policy and procedures regarding use
of e-signatures as a result of remote working arrangements
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Board evaluation

Board evaluation

Highlights from the 2020 Board effectiveness review

In accordance with the principles of the Code,
an external evaluation of the Board takes place
every three years with an internal evaluation
performed in the intervening years. Following
an externally facilitated effectiveness review
undertaken in 2019, the 2020 Board evaluation
was conducted internally. It is anticipated that
another internal evaluation will take place during
2021. Below is an overview of how the 2020
evaluation was conducted:

2020 was a period of significant change for the Board both in terms of changes in its composition
at the Executive and Non-executive Director level, but also in responding to a remote way of
working in a challenging external environment. The demands on the Board member’s time has
been significant as a result of both these factors but also given the strategic and operating model
review which was completed within six months of the arrival of the new CEO.

1

2

3

4

The Chairman and Group Company
Secretary agreed the structure of the
internal evaluation. This took the form
of a questionnaire to all Directors, and
enabled a rigorous review of the Board
as a whole, its Committees and individual
Directors’ contributions to the Board
and Board discussions. There were also
specific questions regarding Board
arrangements in respect of travel
restrictions and COVID, content and
structure of Board papers, appropriateness
of the amount of time dedicated to
strategic themes, succession planning
and training and development.
The questionnaire was circulated to all
Directors for completion, and submitted
back to the Group Company Secretary.
In addition to this, Directors were given
the opportunities to raise any specific
issues with either the Chairman or
the Group Company Secretary. The
questionnaires were also sent to the
members of the Executive Committee,
external remuneration advisers and
Internal Audit. A report was prepared
by the Group Company Secretary based
on the findings of the questionnaires.
The draft report was shared with the
Senior Independent Director for initial
consideration, and then shared with the
wider Board at the February 2021 Board
meeting. Actions are recommended and
agreed with the Board for the year ahead.
An update on the agreed actions will be
tabled at the August 2021 meeting of the
Board to ensure progress is made during
the year.

John Laing Group plc

On balance, the feedback was positive, and it was considered that the governance of the Board
and its Committees is effective and appropriate. The Board is considered to be well constituted
to meet the key strategic decisions ahead and drive the success of the business. Specific actions
were as follows:
Findings

Key considerations

Board composition

In-depth externally facilitated review of the
Board’s skillset against the Group’s new strategy
to be undertaken by the Nomination Committee
to agree gaps and profiles for future new
Non-executive Directors.

The current mix of skills, experience, knowledge and
diversity of the Board is considered appropriate,
however a review of the skillset of Non-executive
Directors will be undertaken to ensure it aligns with
the new strategy.
Board support
The shift to virtual meetings had worked well,
and the Board continued to operate effectively.
However, it was acknowledged that work was
required to refine the level of information in the
Board papers.

Structure of Board papers to be reviewed, with
CEO and CFO reports setting out key discussion
points and decisions required.
In-person meetings to be held where possible,
pending relaxation of lockdown and travel
restrictions.
Regular and informal ‘touchpoints’ to be
implemented between Executive and
Non-executive Directors.

Evolution of succession planning
Work had progressed well during 2020 in respect of
succession planning, particularly at the Executive
Committee level. This momentum would be
maintained with further work to build on senior/
middle management performance and
development.

Two dedicated sessions to be incorporated in the
Nomination Committee’s annual meeting
calendar and to be aligned with the talent
management programme and performance
cycle.
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Progress against the 2019 Board effectiveness evaluation
A summary of the Board’s progress against the actions from the 2019 evaluation are set out below.
Findings

Key considerations

Actions taken to date

Strategy

Consider Board agenda and in
particular, whether more time
can be devoted to broader
strategic issues and themes.

Following the appointment
of Ben Loomes as CEO,
a comprehensive strategic
review has been undertaken.
A significant amount of time has
been dedicated to key strategic
business in H2 2020.

The dedicated strategy sessions
including the away day were well
received; need to ensure that
sufficient time continues to
be dedicated to the strategic
agenda.
Board papers and
presentations
The quality of the Board papers
had improved during the year
but there was concern over the
length of the Board papers.
Succession planning
Nomination Committee
to maintain attention on
succession discussions including
ongoing assessment of future
capability and capacity of
the pipeline.

Board papers to be shorter in
length and the amount of time
spent presenting Board papers
and presentations to be reduced
to allow more time for open
discussion and debate.

The quality of Board papers has
improved during the year which
has enabled increased time for
quality discussions.

Continue to evaluate the
executive talent pipeline,
together with the executive
succession planning aimed
at supporting the development
of executives.

Considerable amount of work
conducted during the year
on succession planning for
the Non-executive Directors
of the Board, leading to the
appointment of two new
Non-executive Directors
in December 2020 and the
retirement of one Nonexecutive Director in
January 2021.
The succession planning and
development of existing senior
management has continued
during the year, supported by
the Nomination Committee.
Please see pages 104 to 107 for
further information.
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Independence and time commitments
Having reviewed the position of each Director
individually, the Board considers all Nonexecutive Directors to be independent in both
character and judgement.
There were no changes during the year to the
Chairman’s external commitments. All Directors
will stand for re-election (or election in the case
of Ben Loomes, Rob Memmott, Leanne Bell and
Lisa Stone) at the Company’s AGM in May 2021
with the exception of Anne Wade, who stepped
down from the Board from 31 January 2021.
The Non-executive Directors (not including the
Chairman) are initially appointed for a three-year
term with an expectation that they will continue
for a further three-year term (subject to annual
re-election by shareholders at the AGM).
Non-executive Directors are advised of their
expected time commitments prior to their
appointment and they are required to devote
such time as necessary to discharge their duties
effectively.
The time commitments of Directors are
considered on appointment and annually, and
the Board is satisfied that there are no Directors
whose time commitments are considered to be
a matter of concern. External appointments,
which may affect existing time commitments for
the Board’s business, must be agreed with the
Chairman, and prior Board approval must be
obtained before taking on any new external
appointments. No Executive Director has either
taken up more than one non-executive director
role at a FTSE 100 company, or the chairmanship
of such a company.
The service contracts for the Executive Directors
and the letters of appointment for the Nonexecutive Directors are available for inspection
by shareholders at our registered office during
normal business hours and at our AGM.

Contribution and performance

Conflicts of interest

The contribution and performance of each Director is evaluated each year, and as a result of
individual experience and diverse skills and background, the Board is satisfied that each Director
contributes to the long-term sustainable success of the Company.

The Company maintains a register of Directors’
conflicts. At the end of the year, all Directors
make a declaration concerning any new conflicts
they or their connected persons may have.
In addition, at the start of each Board meeting,
as a routine item, Directors are asked to declare
any interests that might conflict with the agenda
items under discussion. Directors may also notify
the Company, via the Group Company Secretary,
at any time, of any potential or future direct
or indirect conflicts that may arise, or that
may possibly conflict with the interests of the
Company. Any such notifications are reviewed
at the next Board meeting and, if considered
appropriate, authorised. Directors do not
participate in any discussions or vote regarding
their own conflicts. If authorised, any conflicts are
entered in the register of Directors’ interests.

A review of the Chairman was also carried out during the year by the Non-executive Directors,
led by the Senior Independent Director and taking into account views of the Executive Directors.
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Training and development
The Board is provided with a programme
of training and development opportunities
throughout the year. These include deep
dives into aspects such as new sectors or
technologies, meetings with stakeholders
and training modules such as unconscious
bias training and anti-bribery and corruption
internal training. The Board is also provided
with technical updates from the Group
Company Secretary, the external auditor and
remuneration consultants throughout the year
in respect of any new regulations or guidance to
ensure ongoing compliance. All Board members
have access to the Deloitte Academy and
LinkedIn Learning for additional personal
development opportunities.

Induction
Upon appointment to the Board, all Directors
undertake a comprehensive induction process
to familiarise themselves with the Group’s
activities, policies and key issues, and also in
respect of their responsibilities of being a
Director of a UK listed company under both the
Listing Rules and Corporate Governance Code.
The programme is tailored to the individual
Director, based on their experience and
background and requirements of the role.
Ben Loomes undertook a thorough induction
programme on joining the Company in May
2020. This included meetings with Olivier
Brousse, the outgoing CEO, meetings with
senior management and the regional teams.
Additional meetings were held a couple of
months after appointment where Ben had
the opportunity to meet with all Group and
regional teams, thereby all employees had
an opportunity to introduce themselves
and give a description of the role they played.
As a result of COVID-19 and social distancing
requirements, face-to-face meetings have not
been possible for overseas teams, but virtual
meetings have been held instead. In addition
to internal stakeholders, Ben also met with
a number of shareholders, partners and key
advisers, including the Group’s brokers, legal
adviser and External Auditor.
Philip Keller’s induction programme was held in
January 2020 upon his appointment. In addition
to this, Leanne Bell and Lisa Stone began their
induction process ahead of joining the Company
in November 2020, and included one-to-one
video calls with all Board members, the senior
management team, and key advisers.

John Laing Group plc

Philip Keller Q&A
Q:

What did you think of the appointment and induction process?

A:

The appointment and induction process was extremely thorough.
I met a huge range of John Laing employees who were open,
enthusiastic and very knowledgeable as well as advisers and some key
stakeholders. Over the course of six weeks I received a detailed
background to both the Group, its operations, and culture. I enjoyed
meeting new colleagues, and getting to know them, their backgrounds
and what they bring to the Group. I was very impressed by the quality
and experience of the team, and enjoyed getting to know the Company
culture in more detail. This engagement has continued to develop
throughout the year, and I look forward to meeting more of the John
Laing team in person in the near future.

Q:

What has been the greatest challenge since becoming the Audit & Risk
Committee Chair?

A:

The valuation of the larger assets bears the biggest influence on the
Group’s results. Therefore, getting to know the larger assets within
the business along with the existing valuation process has been a major
area of focus in my first year. This has led to a review of the valuation
process, including the quality of information flowing up from the
assets at project level, through the management team and up to the
Audit & Risk Committee and the Board. This efficient information flow
is critical to ensuring good decisions are based on the appropriate
information received in a timely fashion.

Q:

What are the biggest risk factors in our industry, and what steps
are we taking to address them?

A:

I come from an investing background and therefore believe that the
quality of investment decision-making is fundamental to the success
of our business. This arises from the ability to understand assets at
every stage of their lifecycle. As a Board, we are therefore constantly
looking at the right mix of skills and ensuring a depth and breadth
of experience within the Group to ensure the Company is in the best
position to realise a fair reward for the risks we are taking on our
shareholders’ behalf.
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UK Corporate Governance Code 2018

For further information regarding how the Company applied the Principles and Provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018 please refer to the
following page:

Code sections
Board Leadership and Company Purpose
A. A successful company is led by an effective
and entrepreneurial board, whose role is to
promote the long-term sustainable success
of the company, generating value for
shareholders and contributing to wider
society.
B. The board should establish the company’s
purpose, values and strategy, and satisfy
itself that these and its culture are aligned.
All directors must act with integrity, lead by
example and promote the desired culture.
C. The board should ensure that the necessary
resources are in place for the company to
meet its objectives and measure performance
against them. The board should also establish
a framework of prudent and effective
controls, which enable risk to be assessed
and managed.
D.	In order for the company to meet its
responsibilities to shareholders and
stakeholders, the board should ensure
effective engagement with, and encourage
participation from, these parties.
E. The board should ensure that workforce
policies and practices are consistent with the
company’s values and support its long-term
sustainable success. The workforce should
be able to raise any matters of concern.
The Board is composed of Directors with a
diverse and skilled mix of experience and
backgrounds (pages 82 to 85). During the year
the Board has overseen a review of the Group’s
strategy and Corporate Governance Framework,
and considered how this is supported by its
purpose, values and culture (pages 9 to 13, 62
and 90 to 91). There is a programme of
stakeholder engagement, and channels for
employees to raise concerns (pages 64 to 67
and 86) and conflicts of interest are monitored.

Division of responsibilities
F. The chair leads the board and is responsible
for its overall effectiveness in directing
the company. They should demonstrate
objective judgement throughout their
tenure and promote a culture of openness
and debate. In addition, the chair facilitates
constructive board relations and the
effective contribution of all non-executive
directors, and ensures that directors receive
accurate, timely and clear information.

G. The board should include an appropriate
combination of executive and non-executive
(and, in particular, independent nonexecutive) directors, such that no one
individual or small group of individuals
dominates the board’s decision-making.
There should be a clear division of
responsibilities between the leadership
of the board and the executive leadership
of the company’s business.
H. Non-executive directors should have sufficient
time to meet their board responsibilities.
They should provide constructive challenge,
strategic guidance, offer specialist advice
and hold management to account.
I. The Board, supported by the company
secretary, should ensure that it has the
policies, processes, information, time and
resources it needs in order to function
effectively and efficiently.
The Board is formed of both Executive and
Non-executive Directors (including an
independent Chairman and a Senior Independent
Director), with clearly defined responsibilities
(page 88). The Nomination Committee oversees
the appointment of new Directors (pages 104
to 107), and the Remuneration Committee sets
and monitors progress of Executive Directors’
objectives (page 114). Time commitments of
Directors are considered on appointment, and
monitored on an annual basis by the Nomination
Committee (pages 94 and 104). Accurate and
clear information is circulated to all Directors
in a timely manner (page 90), and all Directors
have access to the advice of the Group
Company Secretary.

Composition, Succession and Evaluation
J. Appointments to the board should be
subject to a formal, rigorous and transparent
procedure, and an effective succession plan
should be maintained for board and senior
management. Both appointments and
succession plans should be based on merit
and objective criteria and, within this
context, should promote diversity of gender,
social and ethnic backgrounds, cognitive
and personal strengths.
K. The board and its committees should have
a combination of skills, experience and
knowledge. Consideration should be given
to the length of service of the board as a
whole and membership regularly refreshed.
L. Annual evaluation of the board should
consider its composition, diversity and
how effectively members work together
to achieve objectives. Individual evaluation
should demonstrate whether each director
continues to contribute effectively.

Please refer to the Nomination Committee
report on pages 104 to 107 which details the
process for appointment of Directors during
the year, and approach to succession planning.
The Board evaluation conducted during the
year is described on pages 94 and 95, along
with progress against the actions arising
from the 2019 review.

Audit, risk and internal control
M. The board should establish formal and
transparent policies and procedures to
ensure the independence and effectiveness
of internal and external audit functions
and satisfy itself on the integrity of
financial and narrative statements.
N. The board should present a fair, balanced
and understandable assessment of the
company’s position and prospects.
O. The board should establish procedures to
manage risk, oversee the internal control
framework, and determine the nature and
extent of the principal risks the company
is willing to take in order to achieve its
long-term strategic objectives.
Please refer to the Audit & Risk Committee
report on pages 98 to 103 along with the Principal
Risks and Risk Management section on pages 54
to 61.

Remuneration
P. Remuneration policies and practices
should be designed to support strategy
and promote long-term sustainable success.
Executive remuneration should be aligned to
company purpose and values, and be clearly
linked to the successful delivery of the
company’s long-term strategy.
Q. A formal and transparent procedure
for developing policy on executive
remuneration and determining director
and senior management remuneration
should be established. No director should
be involved in deciding their own
remuneration outcome.
R. Directors should exercise independent
judgement and discretion when authorising
remuneration outcomes, taking account of
company and individual performance, and
wider circumstances.
Please refer to the Remuneration Committee
report on pages 108 to 122 for details of how
the Remuneration Policy was applied during
the year. A review of the Remuneration Policy
will be conducted during 2021, and put to
shareholders in 2022. No Director is involved
in deciding the outcome of their own
remuneration.
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Audit & Risk Committee report

The Audit & Risk Committee
plays a vital role in the scrutiny
and governance of the Group’s
internal control and risk
management systems and
financial reporting including
the fair value of its investment
portfolio.
Philip Keller
Chair of the Audit & Risk Committee
3 March 2021
Membership and attendance
Committee member

Attended⁴

Philip Keller (Chair)

5/5

Andrea Abt1

5/5

Jeremy Beeton

5/5

Leanne Bell 2

0/0

Toby Hiscock 3

2/2

David Rough

5/5

Lisa Stone

0/0

1
2
3
4

2

Retired from the Committee with effect from 31 December 2020.
Appointed to the Committee with effect from 1 December 2020.
Retired from the Committee with effect from 7 May 2020.
In addition to the five scheduled meetings, additional unscheduled meetings were held during
the year.

I am pleased to present my first report to you
as Chair of the Audit & Risk Committee (the
‘Committee’) for the year ended 31 December
2020. These pages outline how the Committee
operated during the year, its key activities
and its role in assessing the risk management
framework and ensuring the integrity of the
Group’s financial systems and controls.
COVID-19 presented new challenges and
required the Group to look at new ways of
working. The Committee considered a review
which had been undertaken by the management
team in respect of the Group Risk Register and
the risk management framework. This work led
to the implementation of increased controls
across the Group, focusing on aspects such as
accounting processes and financial systems,
procurement, payment and payroll processes,
and the execution of documents.
The valuation process was another significant
area of work in which the Committee worked
with the Executive, KPMG (external independent
valuer) and Deloitte to ensure greater visibility
of issues and redefined our approach to
at-risk assets.
The Committee has reinforced the importance
of the three lines of defence, ensuring clarity
of each line. This work is well past its design
phase and will be fully implemented by the
end of the first quarter of the 2021 financial year.
The Committee challenged management to
ensure that emerging risks were identified and
additional controls put in place to manage these
risks in the changing environment. In 2019, the
Internal Audit function underwent an External
Quality Assessment (‘EQA’). In 2020, the
Committee has redefined the Internal Audit
strategy and implemented recommended
improvements. During the year, Luciana
Germinario stood down from her position as
Chief Financial Officer. I would like to thank
Stuart Colvin (Group Head of Finance) who
undertook a key role in leading the finance
function during the year, and Patrick O’D Bourke
(previously Group Finance Director) who worked
with the finance team and Board to provide
advisory services during the interim period.
I worked with the Nomination Committee in
respect of identifying a suitable candidate
to take on the CFO role, and further to the
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announcement on 5 January 2021 am pleased
to welcome Rob Memmott to the Group. Rob
brings strong financial and listed company
experience. His leadership of the Finance team
will enable it to support John Laing’s strategy
and future growth.

Committee structure and meetings
The Committee is comprised entirely of
independent members. I succeeded Toby
Hiscock as Chair of the Committee with effect
from 7 May, having joined the Committee as a
member on 1 January 2020. Andrea Abt stepped
down from the Committee on 31 December
2020. Leanne Bell and Lisa Stone were appointed
to the Board with effect from 1 December 2020
and each became a member of the Committee
from the date of appointment.
The Committee met formally five times during
the year ended 31 December 2020, and had two
unscheduled meetings. The attendance of each
Committee member is shown on page 98 of the
Corporate Governance Report.
In addition to the members, the Chief Financial
Officer and senior members of the finance team
including the Head of Finance, the Chief Risk
Officer, and other management representatives
attended Committee meetings along with the
Head of Internal Audit and the external auditor.
There is also a standing invitation to all
Non-executive Directors; the Company Chair
attended each of our meetings during 2020.
In addition, both the Head of Internal Audit
and external auditor met privately with the
Committee during the year, without management
present. Representatives of the Group’s
independent valuer also attend meetings at least
twice a year when the Committee considers the
portfolio valuation. The Committee Chair also
meets with the audit engagement partner
throughout the year outside of the formal
Committee process.
The Committee Chair is deemed to have
up-to-date relevant financial experience
and competence in accounting matters. The
Committee as a whole has extensive experience
of investment in international infrastructure, the
Company’s main activity. Further information on
the credentials and experience of Committee
members can be found on pages 82 to 85.
The Committee Chair attends the Company’s
AGM and is happy to answer any questions from
shareholders on matters falling within the
Committee’s responsibilities.
Meetings of the Committee normally take place
shortly before Board meetings, and activities of
the Committee are reported by the Committee
Chair to the Board as a separate agenda item.
All Committee meetings are formally minuted,
copies of which are circulated to all Directors
and the external auditor.
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Responsibilities of the Committee
The Committee’s chief responsibilities have
not changed since last year’s report. The
Committee’s Terms of Reference set out its
principal duties in full, including its authority
to carry out its duties, and are available at
www.laing.com.

rates, merchant power prices, marginal loss
factors and interest rates. The Committee
has considered the actions taken by
management to mitigate these risks, and
is satisfied that these are appropriate
•

consideration of the Group’s tax risks with
regular updates received from the Head of
Tax. The Committee reviewed the Group’s
tax strategy and recommended it to the
Board for formal approval; and

•

overseeing of the implementation of
recommendations arising from the 2019
EQA of the Internal Audit function (see
below for further information).

Committee effectiveness
In order to ensure that the Committee remains
effective, an evaluation is undertaken each year.
An externally facilitated evaluation was conducted
in 2019 and therefore, in line with the Corporate
Governance Code, an internal evaluation was
carried out for 2020. Feedback on the Committee,
its members and performance was positive.
For further information regarding the Board
effectiveness review, please see pages 94 to 95.

Areas of focus during the year
The Committee undertook the following key
activities during the year:
•

review of the robustness and effectiveness
of key processes, controls and the risk
management framework across the Group,
including the impact from the COVID-19
pandemic (please see below for more
information);

•

review of the valuation process to ensure
greater visibility of at-risk assets;

•

in February 2020 and August 2020, the full
year and interim financial statements were
considered respectively, along with the
formal announcements and shareholder
presentations;

•

•

review of the proposed investment portfolio
valuations, taking into account portfolio
valuation reports prepared by the
independent valuer, ensuring an
appropriate methodology had been applied
and sufficient evidence and challenge has
been undertaken;
consideration of the viability and going
concern of the Group, and recommendation
to the Board of the statement on prospects
and viability;

•

review of the Group’s risk register, ensuring
the principal risks facing the business and
associated key controls were identified and
being monitored and that emerging risks
were actively under review;

•

review of management’s assessment of the
financial exposures of the Group on a global
basis, taking into account the macroeconomic background in which the Group
operates. There are a number of financial
variables to which the Group is exposed, and
which are managed and mitigated against,
including foreign exchange rates, inflation
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Impact of COVID-19
The Group’s business continuity
plan was deployed at the onset of
the COVID-19 crisis in March, and
generally worked well, with some lessons learned.
In April, a review was carried out by management
of the Group’s risk register and the internal risk
management framework which identified a
number of controls which required strengthening
as a result of the virtual working environment.
At this time, Internal Audit started performing
regular reviews of key procedures and controls
at a Group and regional level and considered
whether any changes were required following
the transition to a virtual control environment
as a result of most employees working from
home. Controls related to the following were
specifically reviewed:
•

Management accounting process and
financial reporting to the Board

•

Procurement and payment process

•

Payroll and pension process.

The findings of these reviews have shown that
there were no material deficiencies in the risk
management and internal control framework.
The reviews identified some limited control
weaknesses which were immediately rectified in
the payroll management and treasury processes.
Other ways in which Internal Audit has
supported the business during the crisis include
a review of the Group’s risk register and fraud
risk register for heightened risks, and assisting
the Chief Risk Officer in monitoring completion
of resulting actions to strengthen internal
control processes. Regular updates regarding
the impact of COVID-19 on internal control
measures have been shared with the Committee
during the year and the Committee was satisfied
that the actions taken were appropriate and
satisfactory.
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Internal Audit
Internal Audit is an independent, objective
assurance function, that reports to the
Committee. It aims to protect the assets,
reputation and sustainability of the Group.
It helps the Group accomplish its objectives
by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach
to evaluating and improving the effectiveness
of risk management, control and governance
processes.

This has required investment by the Group to
enable the second line of defence to take on a
more prominent role in the Group’s management
of risk and allow Internal Audit to become a
more independent function that is able to focus
on the key risks facing the Group as a pure third
line activity. The updated scope of Internal
Audit is:
•

The Group Head of Internal Audit reports
directly to the Committee and has access to the
Company and Committee Chairs at any time.

New Internal Audit strategy
In 2019, the Internal Audit function was subject to
an EQA, conducted by PricewaterhouseCoopers
(‘PwC’). This considered changes in the
organisation, external environment and risk
landscape which may influence the objectives
of the organisation and how Internal Audit
would need to support the successful delivery
of the business strategy. In addition to this, as
a result of the new Internal Audit strategy, it
was recognised that additional resource was
required, which has resulted in an Internal Audit
Manager being recruited during the year.
Although the Group has a small core, the size
of balance sheet, geographic spread, the
nature of the industry and the varying control
of project companies we invest in mean that
the risks managed by the Group can be large.
The Internal Audit function is relied upon to
provide assurance to the Committee over our
projects and corporate functions. However,
it has also had a significant role to play in risk
management, which has placed a strain on its
resources. A key recommendation of the EQA
was to further develop the Group’s ‘three lines
of defence’ model (details of which can be
found on page 54).
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To undertake third line activities:
–

Risk-focused audits

–

To move away from being the first team
to review controls for design and
effectiveness

–

Provide assurance over business-asusual processes and provide
programme assurance during periods
of change

•

Deliver internal audits from the perspective
and the benefit of John Laing, not the
project company SPVs

•

To engage with key stakeholders across the
organisation, and to receive relevant Board
level information and participate in
discussions with senior management

•

To provide constructive challenge to
management

2020 Internal Audit activities
As in previous years, in 2020 the Committee
monitored the efficacy of Internal Audit by:
i)

reviewing its terms of reference and
resourcing – both internal and co-sourced
arrangements;

ii) examining its risk-based programme
of work; and
iii) scrutinising its reports and the adequacy
of management’s responses to them.

Audit ratings have generally improved since
2019 with a larger proportion of the audits
rated as ‘Good’. At the year end, 16 audits had
been completed. The total number of audits
completed during the year was less than in 2019,
as some audits were deferred to 2021 and 2022
in line with the new Internal Audit strategy
and revised internal audit plan. As well as
implementing the new Internal Audit strategy,
the main areas of focus during the year were
corporate audits on the valuations and portfolio
performance processes, the bid process, the
Group Treasury function and staff travel
expenses, as well as a number of project
company (SPV) audits.
Audit actions are agreed with the responsible
division/team for all audit issues raised. Internal
Audit follows up on the completion of audit
actions and the Committee receives regular
updates detailing progress against such actions.
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Significant matters considered by the Committee
in the 2020 Group and Company financial statements
Area of focus

Review and conclusion

Investment portfolio – The valuation of the Group’s investment
portfolio lies at the core of its financial reporting and the Committee
has a particular duty to ensure it is reported comprehensively in a fair,
balanced and understandable manner. A full valuation of the Group’s
investments is prepared every six months, at 30 June and 31 December
each year, with a review at 31 March and 30 September each year, using
a discounted cash flow methodology. A further review of valuations was
conducted in October 2020 in respect of the Q3 Trading Statement.

During the year the Committee scrutinised the valuations and
disclosures prepared by management, as well as the work performed
by the Group’s independent valuer, a professionally qualified third
party, and the external auditor.

The valuation is undertaken on a fair value basis, assuming forecast
cash flows from investments are received until maturity. Changes
in the fair value of investments are recognised in the Group Income
Statement in net gains/(losses) on investments at fair value through
profit or loss. Further details of the valuation process, methodology
and management assumptions can be found on pages 46 to 51.

The portfolio value was £1,542 million at 31 December 2020 (£1,768 million
at 31 December 2019). During the year the Group invested cash into
existing projects and also acquired additional interests in two of
these projects.
The Group completed the divestment of its entire interests in five
projects during the year broadly in line with book value. The Group
reached an agreement in September 2020 to sell all of its interest in
the IEP East project at a strong uplift to book value. The sale of half of
our interest completed in October 2020 and the sale of the remaining
interest, which was held in the portfolio at 31 December 2020, at the
agreed sale price, will complete before the end of October 2021.
The Group also entered into an agreement in October 2020 to sell its
portfolio of six Australian wind farms. The sale is expected to complete
in March 2021 and at 31 December 2020 these assets were held in the
portfolio at agreed sale prices.
As a result of COVID-19 there has been some direct impact on the
assets such as construction delays and reduced traffic revenue on
two operational roads. There have also been indirect impacts such as
reduced demand for energy which negatively impacted power prices.
The pandemic (and related responses of governments and central
banks) has had a significant impact on the macro-economic environment
across all regions with significant reductions observed in short-term
inflation and interest rates. The Committee has satisfied itself that
these matters have been appropriately taken into account in the
valuation of the portfolio at 31 December 2020.
In conclusion, the Committee is satisfied that the Group’s investment
portfolio valuation taken as a whole at 31 December 2020 represents
fair value at that date.
Further information on the portfolio valuation can be found on
pages 46 to 51.

Valuations process – Given the importance of the portfolio valuation,
particular focus was given to reviewing the valuation process as part
of the Group’s overall review of its Governance Framework. This review
incorporated the recommendations of an external adviser and the
findings of an internal audit review and resulted in a number of changes
designed to improve the robustness of the valuation process.

A separate management committee (Portfolio Review and Valuation
Committee) was established with responsibility for management
oversight of the valuation process and for making recommendations
to the Committee.
The management of the internal valuation function was centralised
at Group level to ensure single point responsibility for the valuation
process. The process of reporting was clarified to ensure the
Committee has earlier and improved visibility of potential issues.
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Area of focus

Review and conclusion

Retirement benefit obligations – The net surplus in the Group’s
defined benefit pension schemes is reflected in the Group Balance
Sheet as at 31 December 2020 in accordance with IAS 19.

Having taken advice from the Group’s actuarial adviser, assessed
the procedures undertaken by the External Auditor and challenged
the underlying assumptions and related disclosures in the financial
statements, the Committee is satisfied that the surplus as at
31 December 2020 reflects fairly the Group’s defined pension
obligations at that date as prescribed by IAS 19. Furthermore, the
Committee continues to be satisfied that, based on legal advice,
there is no minimum funding requirement arising under IFRIC 14.

The triennial actuarial valuation of the larger scheme, the John Laing
Pension Fund (‘JLPF’), as at 31 March 2019 was finalised and agreed
in April 2020. For details, see the Financial Review section.
The surplus under IAS 19 in these financial statements reflects the latest
inflation, interest rate and mortality factors. The surplus is sensitive
to changes in each of these factors and, to assist shareholders, key
sensitivities have been included in note 19 to the Group financial
statements.
Principal risks and uncertainties – These are set out on pages 57 to 61
of the Annual Report.
The Chief Risk Officer provided a regular report to the Committee
outlining the activities of the Management Risk Committee. Updates
to the Group’s risk register were reviewed by the Committee with
a focus on changes to principal risks, key controls and actions to
address emerging risks or incidents. Particular areas of concern for
the Committee were to ensure areas of heightened risk were being
managed effectively including: counterparty risk, cyber security risk,
business continuity risks and risks in relation to Brexit. The Committee
reviewed progress in embedding a consideration of environmental and
social risks (including risks associated with climate change) within the
Group’s processes.

The Committee continues to believe that the Group’s internal control,
including the control and compliance culture within the business, is
sound overall and provides a reasonable level of assurance that the
financial statements are free from material error and misstatement.

During the year, the Group’s Governance Framework has also
been reviewed, leading to a proposed restructuring of management
committees, and reporting lines. These changes will be implemented
at the start of 2021. Further information on this can be found on
page 91.
Viability statement – The Directors are required to confirm whether
they have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group
will be able to continue to operate and meet their liabilities as they fall
due for a specified period. The viability statement must also disclosure
the basis for the Directors’ conclusions and explain why the period
chosen is appropriate.
During the year the Committee reviewed financial stress tests
completed by Group Treasury to confirm the Group’s financial
capacity to absorb the impact from a range of downside stress tests.
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The Committee assessed the viability of the Company and the Group
with input from management. The viability assessment was based on
the latest cash flow projections, capital and funding plans, and takes
into account emerging risks which could impact the performance of
the Group, and the liquidity and capital projections over the period.
The Committee was satisfied that the viability statement could be
provided and advised the Board that three years was a suitable period
of review. The viability statement can be found on pages 52 and 53.
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Other matters
Other matters considered by the Committee
in 2020 included:
i)

The Group’s policies and procedures for
prevention and detection of fraud;

ii) Consideration of the Internal Audit report
detailing the review of the Group Treasury
function, and monitoring of actions against
the recommendations in the report;
iii) A review of the Committee’s Terms of
Reference and the Charter of External
Auditor Independence in compliance
with the 2018 Code; and
iv) Consideration of the process and format
of the Company’s Q3 Trading update,
resulting in a recommendation to the Board
for approval and release in October 2020.
After detailed consideration and enquiry,
including testing of evidence provided by
management, each of these matters was
deemed satisfactory by the Committee.

External audit
The Committee oversees the relationship with
the External Auditor (Deloitte), including its
terms of engagement and remuneration, and
monitors its independence, objectivity and
performance. Claire Faulkner has been Deloitte’s
senior statutory audit partner for the Group
and the Company since 2016 and attends all
meetings of the Committee. 2020 is the final
year Claire will be acting as audit partner, and
it has been agreed that Jacqui Holden will take
over from Claire. Jacqui shadowed Claire
through the 2020 year end audit process,
and will succeed Claire in March 2021.
During 2020, the Committee scrutinised:
i)

Deloitte’s planned approach to the review
and audit of the interim and Annual Report
and Accounts, respectively, including the
impact of remote wording on the audit plan
and execution;

ii) Deloitte’s execution of this approach, which
is designed to focus on the significant audit
risks to the Group. Whilst these have been
identified consistently with those in 2019,
the procedures in relation to those risks
have been reassessed in light of COVID-19,
along with the implementation of ISA 540
Auditing Accounting Estimates and Related
Disclosures and ISA (UK) 570 Going Concern
for the first time this year. The Group audit
materiality has been set at 1% (2019: 1%) of
net assets. Valuation specialists in Australia,
US and Europe were engaged during the
year to assist Deloitte in the auditing of a
sample of assets, totalling seven assets in
each region. The level of transactional
evidence has increased this year compared
to previous years, and this was used as
evidence as part of Deloitte’s work;
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iii) Deloitte’s arrangements to ensure there
were no conflicts of interest arising from
their work and its safeguards over their
audit independence and objectivity;
iv) The extent and quality of any audit-related
and non-audit services provided by Deloitte
during the year; and
v) The day-to-day management of the audit
relationship by the Chief Financial Officer,
the Head of Finance and the finance team.
The Committee challenged the quality of
Deloitte’s audit in line with UK FRC latest
guidance. In addition to the increased audit
assurance referred to above, we satisfied
ourselves on a range of factors such as the
engagement partner and wider firm’s
professional standing, their independent
partner and technical review arrangements, the
hours and areas worked by senior staff on the
audit and their deployment of data analytical
techniques to test our underlying books of
account. The Committee also requested that
the recommended threshold for bringing issues
to the Committee’s attention be reduced from
£1 million to £750,000, which was agreed and
adopted by Deloitte.
As a result, the Committee is satisfied with the
effectiveness and independence of the External
Auditor in respect of 2020.
The Group has complied with the provisions
of the Statutory Audit Services for Large
Companies Market Investigation (Mandatory
Use of Competitive Tender Processes and Audit
Committee Responsibilities) Order 2014.
Deloitte was first appointed as External Auditor
of the Group in 2007. The external audit is
subject to an open market tender no more than
every ten years and was last tendered in 2016.
The Company has published an External Auditor
Independence and Non-Audit Services Policy
(the ‘Policy’) on its website which summarises
the arrangements that ensure the External
Auditor remains independent and objective
throughout its term. The Policy was updated
recently to confirm the Group's policy on
non-audit services performed by the External
Auditor, in light of the Financial Reporting
Council’s new Audit and Assurance standard
‘Revised Ethical Standard 2019 (December 2019)’,
which became effective on 15 March 2020.
The External Auditor is required to rotate its
engagement partner at least every five years,
and as confirmed above, the audit partner will
change in 2021 in line with these requirements.
No work by the External Auditor is permitted in
the following areas: tax services; secondments
to management; bookkeeping services; systems
design and implementation; valuation and
actuarial services; human resources and
Internal Audit support; and any other activities
that could create an actual or perceived conflict
of interest.
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Any potential non-audit work by the External
Auditor is considered case-by-case by the
Committee and generally awarded on a
competitive basis. The Committee’s specific
approval is needed for non-audit services
performed by the External Auditor which would
result in cumulative fees of more than £20,000
per annum.
During the year, the Committee reviewed and
approved on behalf of the Board the External
Auditor’s terms of engagement and remuneration.
Fees for audit services to the Company and
its recourse subsidiaries in 2020 amounted
to £422,296 (2019: £344,037). Fees for audit
services to non-recourse subsidiaries in 2020
amounted to £21,598 (2019: £52,695). The increase
in fees for audit services to the Company and
its recourse subsidiaries was due to (i) scope
changes impacting work on the valuation of
investments including additional assets within
the scope of the US valuation team; (ii) the
impact of COVID-19 and the additional work and
reviews the External Auditor needed to perform,
and (iii) the additional assessments needed for
the first time this year around new auditing
standards in relation to management estimates
(ISA 540) and going concern (ISA 570).
Audit-related assurance services performed by
the External Auditor in 2020 comprised a review
of the Group’s interim financial statements in
accordance with IAS 34. The fees for this work
amounted to £56,123 (2019: £53,200). In 2019,
fees of £6,700 were also paid to the External
Auditor for other assurance services during
the year.
Total fees for non-audit services rendered by the
External Auditor in 2020 amounted to £56,123
(2019: £59,900), well below the cap* in EU Audit
Legislation effective from 2020 (*no more than
70% of the Group’s average statutory audit fee
over the last three years).
A recommendation to reappoint Deloitte as
External Auditor is supported unanimously by
the Board and will be put to shareholders for
approval at the Company’s next AGM.

Philip Keller
Chair of the Audit & Risk Committee
3 March 2021
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Nomination Committee report

The Board recognises the
importance of a diverse Board
and senior leadership team,
and that different perspectives
enhance the quality of debate
and decision making for the
benefit of all stakeholders.
Dear Shareholders,

David Rough
Chair of the Nomination Committee
3 March 2021
Membership and attendance
Committee member

Attended⁵

David Rough (Chair)

3/3

Andrea Abt

3/3

Jeremy Beeton

3/3

Leanne Bell¹

0/0

Toby Hiscock²

2/2

Philip Keller³

3/3

Will Samuel

3/3

Lisa Stone¹

0/0

Anne Wade⁴

3/3

1
2
3
4
5

Appointed to the Committee with effect from 1 December 2020.
Retired from the Committee with effect from 7 May 2020.
Appointed to the Committee with effect from 1 January 2020.
Retired from the Committee with effect from 31 January 2021.
In addition to the three scheduled meetings, additional unscheduled meetings were held
during the year.

I am pleased to present the Nomination
Committee’s (the ‘Committee’) report for the
year ended 31 December 2020. This section of
the Annual Report details how the Committee
discharged its duties during the year, along with
its key activities. In addition to the challenges
posed as a result of the COVID-19 crisis, the
Board has undergone fundamental changes
during the year, and therefore the Committee
has focused its attention on recruitment of
new Directors, along with reviewing ongoing
succession planning and skills development
for both the Board and senior management.
The recruitment process for all new Directors
considered the existing Board, and sought
to strengthen and enhance the Board’s skills,
diversity, experience and background whilst
complementing the existing Directors. Full
details of the Board changes during the year
are provided below, along with the process
the Committee oversaw for recruitment.
We continue to take into consideration the
targets set out in the Parker and HamptonAlexander reviews. I can report that as at the
year end we had four female Board members
out of nine (44.4%), reducing to three out of
nine (33.3%) after the appointment of the new
Chief Financial Officer, and Anne Wade’s
retirement from the Board in early 2021.
I also take this opportunity to welcome
Leanne Bell and Lisa Stone as members of the
Committee. Their considerable international
investment and infrastructure experience will
bring valuable insight to the Committee and
its decision-making in the future.

Committee structure and meetings
The Committee is comprised fully of independent
members. Philip Keller became a member of the
Committee from 1 January 2020, and Leanne Bell
and Lisa Stone joined the Committee with effect
from 1 December 2020. Toby Hiscock and
Anne Wade stepped down as members in
May 2020 and January 2021, respectively.
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The Committee met formally three times during
the year, and held a further nine unscheduled
meetings to consider the recruitment of new
Board members which took place during the
year. In addition to the members, the Chief
Executive Officer is invited to attend where
appropriate.
In normal circumstances the Committee Chair
attends the Company’s AGM and is happy to
answer any questions from shareholders on
matters falling within the Committee’s
responsibilities.
Meetings of the Committee generally take place
shortly before Board meetings, and activities of
the Committee are reported by the Chair to the
Board as a separate agenda item. All Committee
meetings are formally minuted, copies of which
are circulated to all Directors.

Responsibilities of the Committee
The Committee’s chief responsibilities have
not changed during the year. The Committee’s
Terms of Reference are formally reviewed and
approved annually and set out its principal
duties in full, including its authority to carry out
its duties, and are available at www.laing.com.
The key areas of focus during the year were
as follows:

Board changes
There have been a number of changes to the
Board during the year, with the Committee
overseeing the recruitment of both Executive
and Non-executive Directors.
Following Olivier Brousse’s resignation in
January 2020, the Committee undertook
a thorough process to identify and assess
candidates for the role of Chief Executive
Officer. This resulted in the appointment of
Ben Loomes on 8 May 2020. Ben has c.20 years
of experience in the infrastructure sector,
and brings with him a strong management
background. His full biographical details can
be found on page 82.
On 3 August 2020, we announced that Luciana
Germinario would be stepping down as Chief
Financial Officer with immediate effect.
Recruitment to identify a suitable successor
was successfully concluded in late 2020, and as
announced on 5 January 2021, Rob Memmott
was appointed as Chief Financial Officer with
effect from 6 January 2021. Rob has over 20
years’ experience in senior financial leadership
roles and has significant experience as a listed
company finance director.
Toby Hiscock, Chair of the Audit & Risk
Committee retired from the Board on 7 May
2020. Philip Keller succeeded Toby as Chair
of the Audit & Risk Committee. Anne Wade,

Strategic Report

Governance

Financial Statements

105

Chair of the Remuneration Committee retired
from the Board on 31 January 2021, and Andrea
Abt succeeded her as Chair of the Remuneration
Committee.

Succession planning
The importance of having a diverse skillset and
capabilities at both Board and executive level are
fundamental to driving our strategic priorities.
During the year, the Committee has continued
to build a robust succession process for both the
Board and senior management. At the Board
level, this has been evident by the recruitment
of both Leanne and Lisa following Anne’s
announcement of intention to step down.
In addition to this, Andrea Abt was identified as
a strong candidate to replace Anne as the Chair
of the Remuneration Committee, having served
on that committee since 2018.
In the context of the broader strategic review,
we have undertaken a detailed review of
talent and capabilities to ensure that the right
resources are in place to support and deliver
the strategy.
Specific to the Executive Committee, an external
assessment of their skillsets and capabilities was
undertaken, with full development plans and
scorecards established for the team. As a
result of the review, a new management team
structure was put in place during the year.
In addition, our performance appraisals process
has been enhanced in order to facilitate the
assessment of our employees, manage
performance and develop talent. We have also
evolved our succession planning for key roles,
including identification of key-man risk cover
for short- and medium-term scenarios. A final
objective of this work was to ensure that the
review and our processes (including recruitment,
development and succession planning)
incorporate our approach to, and goals for
diversity and inclusion.
In addition to this, there have been the following
learning and development initiatives
implemented during the year:
•

Support provided to Executive Committee
members to strengthen development plans
for direct reports;

•

Line manager training across the Group;

•

Partnering with Moving Ahead and the 30%
Club for participation in external mentoring
programmes; and

•

LinkedIn Learning and Mind Gym learning
and training modules available for all
employees.
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Recruitment process for new Directors
During the year, the Committee led search processes for a new CEO and CFO and Non-executive Director roles, which resulted in the appointment
of Ben Loomes as CEO, Rob Memmott, as CFO, and Leanne Bell and Lisa Stone as Non-executive Directors.
Executive Director recruitment

Non-executive Director recruitment

Key considerations

The Committee agreed the core skills and experience required for each role based on the requirements of the role for the
CEO and CFO position, and the overall skillset and experience of the Board for the Non-executive positions. Diversity, in
its widest sense and the Code requirements were also taken into consideration.

Selection of
executive search
company

As a result of a competitive tender, Spencer Stuart¹ was identified as
the executive search firm to assist with the CEO recruitment process,
and subsequently the CFO recruitment process.

Long list and
short list

Each search firm was requested to produce as diverse a selection of candidates as possible. The Committee was provided
with a such a list of potential candidates for each search for consideration, from which a short list was identified.

Interviews and
assessments

A thorough interview process was undertaken including a series of
interviews with all the members of the Board and the Group Company
Secretary. The shortlisted candidates were subject to an external
assessment by ghSmart, with reports on the candidates considered
by the Committee. This included external referencing.

Recommendation
and approval

After taking into account interview feedback, references and skills and experience, the Committee recommended to the
Board the appointment of the preferred candidates.

A competitive tender was conducted,
resulting in Russell Reynolds¹ being engaged
to assist with the Non-executive Director
selection process.

A series of interviews was held with all the
Board members and the Group Company
Secretary.

The Board formally approved the appointments of the preferred candidates. Each Director will be subject to election by
shareholders at the 2021 AGM.

1 Both Spencer Stuart and Russell Reynolds provided additional executive search services to the Company. They do not have any other connection with the Company or individual Directors.
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Board effectiveness review
During the year the Committee has overseen the
completion of the Board effectiveness review,
which was carried out internally in line with
the three-year cycle under the Corporate
Governance Code. As part of this review,
the performance of the Committee was also
considered, and it was confirmed that the
Committee continues to operate effectively.
Full details of the Board effectiveness review
can be found on pages 94 and 95.

Diversity and inclusion
During the year, the Committee has taken
diversity into consideration in all the recruitment
it has overseen. The Board’s ambition is for a
Company recognised for having a progressive
culture of inclusivity, where people are
recognised for what they deliver and their
actions, who are not afraid to challenge the
norms, and a culture which supports diversity
and inclusion both internally and externally.
Significant work has been undertaken during
the year to further develop the Group’s diversity
and inclusion strategy and approach. This has
included the following initiatives:
•

The COO has become the diversity and
inclusion sponsor;

•

Line manager training on inclusive and
meaningful conversations with colleagues
and adopt positive behaviours;

•

Mandatory unconscious bias training;

•

Participation in the Moving Ahead diversity
and inclusion summit;

•

Partnering with Moving Ahead and the 30%
Club for participation in external mentoring
programmes; and

•

Ensuring all recruitment across the business
has diverse long and short lists.

Please see the Responsible Employer section
on pages 64 to 67 for more information.
As reported above, the Board’s commitment
to support the Lord Davies report and HamptonAlexander review targets of 33% female
representation on boards has been met.
The Board is mindful of the recommendations
of the Parker Review Report for FTSE 250
companies to have at least one director to
provide ethnic diversity by 2024. This has been
and will continue to be an important consideration
for the Committee when recruiting in the future.
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The Board’s diversity policy does not currently
include any targets for the senior management
team, but the gender split across the organisation
is reviewed at every Board meeting, along with
gender pay gap information.
The Board Diversity Policy is shown below.
For further information in respect of what the
Group is doing as a whole in respect of diversity
and inclusion, please see pages 64 to 67.

The Board Diversity Policy
The Board of John Laing Group plc recognises
the importance of Board diversity and has
developed a Board Diversity Policy (as set out
below) to facilitate this.
The overall composition of our Board is
fundamental to its effectiveness; we expect
all members of the Board to demonstrate the
skills, experience and knowledge required to
contribute to this effectiveness. The Board is
committed to ensuring that its membership
reflects diversity in the broadest sense. We
believe that the right mix of demographics,
skills, experience, race, gender, age, ethnicity,
educational and professional backgrounds,
along with cognitive and personal strengths,
can enhance our perspective and approach
to support good decision-making. Therefore,
the overall Board balance and diversity is
considered when appointing new Directors.
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Independence and time commitments
Directors’ independence and time
commitments are kept under review by
the Committee. As part of Andrea Abt’s
appointment as Chair of the Remuneration
Committee during the year, the Committee
considered the additional time commitment
required for the role, along with Andrea’s
external appointments, and concluded that
there was no concern regarding inability to meet
the requirements of the role. There were no
other changes which impacted Directors’ time
commitments during the year, and all Nonexecutive Directors were considered to be
independent in both character and judgement,
and no Directors had any other appointments
which adversely affected the amount of time
they could commit to the Company.

David Rough
Chair of the Nomination Committee
3 March 2021

The Board is supportive of the Lord Davies
report and Hampton-Alexander review target
for women to represent 33% of boards by 2020;
the Board also support the 30% Club. The Board
is also mindful of the Parker Review Report,
and its drive for FTSE 250 companies to have
at least one director from an ethnic minority
background by 2024. The Board remains of the
opinion that appointments to the Board should
be made on merit and relevant experience,
against the criteria identified by the Nomination
Committee.
The Board is also committed to ensuring
development of diversity in the senior
management team and supports and
encourages management action to broaden
the diversity of our workforce.
Where possible, the Company uses search firms
who are signatories to the Voluntary Code of
Conduct for Executive Search Firms which seeks
to address gender diversity on boards and best
practice for the related search processes.
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Directors’ remuneration report

Dear Shareholder,
On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present
my first Directors’ Remuneration Report for the
year ended 31 December 2020. I became Chair of
the Remuneration Committee (the ‘Committee’)
with effect from 1 February 2021 after Anne
Wade stepped down on 31 January 2021. As a
member of this Committee since May 2018,
I would like to take this opportunity to thank
Anne for her leadership as Chair of the
Committee and especially for passing on her
expertise to me over the course of the last six
months. I wish her all the best for the future.

Andrea Abt MBA
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
3 March 2021
Membership and attendance
Committee member

Attended⁶

Andrea Abt (Chair)¹

4/4

Jeremy Beeton

4/4

Leanne Bell²

1/1

Toby Hiscock³

1/1

Philip Keller⁴

4/4

David Rough

4/4

Lisa Stone² ⁵

0/0

Anne Wade¹

4/4

1
2
3
4
5
6

Andrea Abt succeeded Anne Wade as Chair of the Committee with effect from 1 February 2021.
Appointed to the Committee with effect from 1 December 2020.
Retired from the Committee with effect from 7 May 2020.
Appointed to the Committee with effect from 1 January 2020.
Unable to attend the December meeting due to a previous engagement.
In addition to the four scheduled meetings, one additional unscheduled meeting was held
during the year.

This report is divided into two sections: The
Annual Report on Remuneration and the
Directors’ Remuneration Policy (the ‘Policy’). Our
Policy was last approved by shareholders at our
2019 AGM. No changes are proposed to the Policy
this year, but the Policy table is reproduced in full
over pages 123 to 130 for ease of reference and in
order to provide context to the decisions taken
by the Committee during the year. As part of
our regular three-year cycle we will be asking
shareholders to approve an updated Policy at
the 2022 AGM.
2020 has seen a change in leadership with Ben
Loomes’ appointment as Chief Executive Officer
in May 2020. We have also seen a change in Chief
Financial Officer. Luciana Germinario stepped
down from the Board in August 2020 and we
announced the appointment of Rob Memmott
in January 2021.
Although the Company has not been dramatically
impacted by COVID-19 or Brexit, the year has
certainly not been without its challenges. From
a performance perspective, our PPP portfolio
demonstrated its resilience, but the pandemic
did serve to compound the challenges in our
Renewable Energy portfolio, particularly in the
first half. We saw improved performance in the
second half and are now reporting a NAV per
share of 310p.
Since joining, Ben has undertaken a strategic
review of the business to position the Group for
future sustainable growth. Alongside this, he has
launched a range of other business improvement
initiatives and made a very positive impact during
his first eight months as Chief Executive. Our new
strategy and the actions taken during the last six
months provide a solid foundation for the next
phase of the Group’s evolution and growth.
The well-being of our employees is of utmost
importance to us; we are committed to
supporting them at all times, and this has been a
priority in this period of uncertainty and change.
We have not furloughed any of our employees
nor have we made any redundancies relating to
the COVID-19 crisis.
The Committee has closely monitored the impact
of COVID-19 on performance and incentive
outcomes.
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Board changes

2020 incentives

As announced in April 2020, Ben Loomes joined
the Board as Chief Executive Officer with effect
from 8 May 2020, succeeding Olivier Brousse
who resigned with effect from 7 May 2020.

I am pleased with the improvement in our
performance during the second half of the year.
After a difficult first half, the Group achieved
a robust growth in NAV per share in the last
six months of the year driven by a continued
positive performance from our PPP portfolio
and an improved outcome for Renewable
Energy. We had an exceptionally strong second
half for realisations, including the sale of our
investment in IEP East and our Australian wind
farm portfolio. Despite the challenges faced
during the year, we are reporting a NAV as at
31 December 2020 of £1,529 million.

Rob Memmott joined the Board as Chief
Financial Officer on 6 January 2021, succeeding
Luciana Germinario who stood down from her
role on 3 August 2020. Full details of their
remuneration arrangements are detailed within
this report, and are in accordance with the
Remuneration Policy.
Details of Olivier Brousse’s remuneration
arrangements in connection with his resignation
are set out on page 118. Olivier received salary,
benefits and pension up to the date of cessation
of employment on 7 May 2020. He also received
a payment of £26,790 in lieu of unused annual
leave entitlement up to the date of cessation
of employment. As Olivier resigned from the
Board, his outstanding awards under the
Company’s incentive plans lapsed in full with
effect from 7 May 2020, and under the terms
of the Remuneration Policy he did not receive
any bonus in respect of 2020.
Details of Luciana Germinario’s remuneration
arrangements in connection with her stepping
down from the Board are set out on page 118.
Luciana received her salary and contractual
benefits until the end of her handover period on
21 August 2020. From 22 August 2020 to 31 July
2021, payments will be made in accordance with
the payment in lieu of notice provisions of her
employment contract. Luciana received a
payment of £18,647 in lieu of unused annual
leave entitlement up to the date of cessation
of employment. She also received £10,000 in
respect of legal fees and is eligible to receive
a payment for outplacement fees up to a
maximum of £50,000 plus VAT. Luciana will
not receive any payment in respect of an
annual bonus for 2020 and her LTIP awards have
lapsed in full. In recognition of her high level of
commitment to the Company, the Committee
exercised its discretion in granting Luciana good
leaver status in respect of three (comprising
a total of 24,020 shares) out of four of her
outstanding unvested tranches of the buy-out
award made to her on joining the Company
up to September 2021 to compensate her for
foregone remuneration with her prior employer.

The Chief Executive Officer was eligible for an
annual bonus of up to 150% of salary for 2020
(pro-rated for his period of service). Noting
the timing of his appointment in relation to the
annual target-setting process, and taking into
account the Board’s input on what the Chief
Executive’s focus should be for the next 18
months, the Committee determined that it
would be appropriate to set a meaningful
proportion of his annual bonus on specific
objectives relating to the strategic review. As
such, and using the flexibility provided under
the recruitment section of the Policy, 40% of the
bonus was based on individual objectives linked
to the review and realignment of the strategy.
The remaining 60% of Ben’s annual bonus for
FY20 was subject to the original corporate
objectives and targets set at the start of the year.
Based on performance against financial targets
and the overall performance of the business
over the year, 15% of the maximum corporate
element was awarded. This reflects that despite
the challenges faced, the team still managed to
deliver a strong performance against the cash
distribution target, reflecting the resilience of
the portfolio. Based on performance against
the individual objectives a bonus of 100% was
awarded. This resulted in an overall bonus for
2020 of 49% of maximum bonus potential
(73.5% of salary pro-rated from the date of
appointment in May 2020). The Committee is
satisfied that the overall outcome is appropriate
in the context of Ben’s significant contribution
since appointment, the positive momentum in
the second half of the year and the experience
of stakeholders. Full details are provided on
page 114.
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The 2018 awards granted under the John Laing
Group plc Long Term Incentive Plan (‘LTIP’) are
due to vest in April 2021. The awards were based
half on compound annual growth in NAV per
share (including dividends) and half on relative
total shareholder return (‘TSR’), measured over
three financial years to 31 December 2020. NAV
per share grew by 6.4% per annum over this
period, resulting in no shares becoming eligible
for this part of the award. However, John Laing’s
resilient TSR performance over the period
(29.4)% resulted in a top quartile ranking and full
vesting for this part of the award, giving rise to
an overall vesting outcome of 50% of maximum.
No current Executive Directors hold any awards
under the 2018 LTIP grant.

The Directors’ Remuneration Policy
The Committee spent some time towards the
end of 2020 discussing the timing of the next
Policy review and ensuring that we can continue
to support the new strategy. On balance, we
decided to retain the existing Policy for the 2021
financial year and that I, in my new role as Chair
of the Committee, will take the lead on conducting
an in-depth review of the Policy over the course
of 2021 to ensure that the overall structure
of pay arrangements, and the measures and
targets used, continue to support the delivery of
the Group’s short and long-term goals including
its ESG strategy and approach. The new Policy
will be put to shareholders for approval at the AGM
in 2022 and we will be engaging with shareholders
about our proposals for the new Policy later
this year.
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2021 incentives
2021 bonuses for the Executive Directors will
be based on 80% corporate and 20% individual
objectives. Consistent with prior years, corporate
performance will be assessed by the Committee
based on a scorecard of key performance
indicators with individual objectives linked to
the continued development and implementation
of the new strategy.
The 2021 LTIP awards will continue to be based
50% on TSR relative to the constituents of the
FTSE 250 Index and 50% on NAV per share
growth targets. The Committee has approved
a range of 7-11% for the NAV performance
condition for the 2021 LTIP award. Full details
of the vesting schedule are set out on page 122.
In setting the targets for the NAV element of
the 2021 award, the Committee has taken into
account the medium-term guidance outlined at
the Capital Markets Day, as well as internal and
external forecasts for the next three years, as
we go through this period of strategic transition.
The proposed growth range reflects a stretching
ambition at the top end for this next three-year
period, whilst being cognisant of the likely more
modest growth in the short term as we develop
new business activities, invest in new teams and
divest underperforming assets. The Committee
strongly believes that this revised range will
support the delivery of the new strategy and act
as a motivational incentive for LTIP recipients to
drive the Company’s growth over the next three
years, whilst being appropriately challenging
to achieve. Delivery against these stretching
targets will indicate strong performance in
driving the strategy over the next three years.
We believe the range continues to align our
senior management with the long-term interests
of our shareholders beyond the annual objectives
and bonuses and it is essential to the sustainability
of our growth model.
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In order to incentivise management to deliver
on the underlying performance of the business,
NAV for both the 2021 annual bonus and 2021
LTIP awards will be calculated on a constant
currency basis and will exclude the impact of
IAS 19.
The Committee sought feedback from the
Company’s major shareholders prior to finalising
the LTIP targets.
In determining the award levels for the 2021 LTIP
grants, the Committee intends to grant awards
at 175% of salary for the Chief Executive Officer
and 168% of salary for the Chief Financial Officer.
However, in determining the final award levels
the Committee will take into account the
prevailing share price at the time of grant.

Wider workforce remuneration
With a small workforce and relatively flat
structure, the Committee is able to have
oversight of remuneration policies and
practices across the Group. All permanent
employees participate in the annual bonus plan,
and share the same corporate performance
metrics to ensure cultural alignment across
the business. In addition, all participants in
the Long Term Incentive Plan share the same
metrics. We believe that aligning remuneration
across the business is a key element of
aligning our culture, fulfilling our values and
a strong driver of business performance.
We aim to attract and retain, develop
and reward highly talented employees
and to create an engaging, inclusive
and motivating work environment.
Diversity is a key area of focus for the Board
and details on our gender pay gap reporting
are set out in the Sustainability Report on
pages 64 to 66. We also voluntarily report on
our CEO pay ratio and have done since 2018.

Our programme of employee engagement
enables employees to gain access to Board
members during the year, further providing
Committee members with a unique insight to
the wider workforce perspective. Our Policy
review to be undertaken during the year will
include specific engagement with the workforce
to ensure a two-way dialogue in respect of
remuneration. On behalf of the Committee I
would like to thank all our employees for their
continued dedication and commitment.

Shareholder engagement
The Committee welcomes open engagement
with shareholders. We reached out to shareholders
recently to advise them on our proposed
approach for 2021 remuneration and I look
forward to engaging with shareholders more
fully during the course of 2021 as we review the
Remuneration Policy ahead of the 2022 AGM.

Summary
The aim of this report is to communicate
details of Executive Director remuneration
and how this is clearly linked to performance.
We are committed to maintaining an open
and transparent dialogue with shareholders
and I welcome any comments you may have.
I very much hope that you will support the
resolutions to approve the Annual Report
on Remuneration at the forthcoming AGM.

Andrea Abt MBA
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
3 March 2021
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Remuneration at a glance

How the Remuneration Policy supports our business strategy

Strategy

Our Remuneration Policy is designed to support the Group’s strategy and promote the long-term sustainable success of the Group, as summarised below:

Remuneration
Policy

Our strategic ambition is to be a leading international investor and manager of balance sheet and
third-party capital across a range of infrastructure sectors

Focus on performance-related
pay, with the emphasis on
long-term performance

Use of share-based incentives and
share ownership guidelines for
executives

Performance targets which support
sustainable long-term value creation

In addition to setting the remuneration for the Executive Directors, the Remuneration Committee also has oversight of remuneration for all
members of the senior management team (approximately 19 individuals), as well as the remuneration structure for the wider workforce, ensuring
a cohesive approach to reward is operated throughout the Group.

Variable

Fixed

Summary of the current remuneration arrangements for Executive Directors
Element

Description

Opportunity for 2021

Base pay

The salaries for the Executive Directors were set on appointment taking into
account their relevant experience and following an assessment of market pay levels
in comparable companies. The salaries are considered to be fair but not excessive:
whilst being higher than the salaries paid to former Executive Directors, they
remain at or below comparable benchmarks.

Ben Loomes, Chief Executive Officer
(‘CEO’): £531,000
Rob Memmott, Chief Financial Officer
(‘CFO’): £390,000.

Benefits

Private medical and dental insurance, life insurance and permanent health insurance.¹

Market competitive.

Pension

Cash allowance in lieu of pension.

8% of salary for CEO and CFO, in line with
other UK employees.

Bonus

Annual bonus is determined by reference to corporate and individual
performance 2 . Any bonus above target (60% of salary or where higher 60% of
maximum bonus potential) is deferred into shares vesting in equal tranches over
one, two and three years subject to continued employment.

Up to 150% of salary for the CEO and 100%
of salary for the CFO. 3

LTIP

Shares vest after three years subject to continued employment and the achievement
of NAV per share and TSR targets (with 50% of the award on each measure²).
Executive Directors are required to retain the net of tax number of any shares vesting
under the LTIP for a further two years post-vesting.

The CEO will receive an award of 175%
of salary for 2021. The CFO will receive
an award of 168% of salary for 2021.
(Within the policy maximum of 200%
of salary per annum).

1 Under the terms of his appointment, Rob Memmott will receive travel and accommodation support for the first 12 months of his appointment.
2 The performance measures for the 2021 annual bonus and 2021 LTIP awards are set out in the Annual Report on Remuneration on page 122.
3 Pro-rated from the date of appointment.

Remuneration received by the Executive Directors for 2020
£’000

Ben Loomes

2

Olivier Brousse 3
Luciana Germinario

4

Pension

Bonus1

Long-term
incentives

2

24

252

1

22

–

3

49

–

Salary

Benefits

342
171
218

1 Bonuses were based on an assessment of corporate and individual performance objectives
(see page 114 for further details).
2 Appointed to the Board on 8 May 2020.
3 Resigned from the Board on 7 May 2020.
4 Resigned from the Board on 3 August 2020.

Other

Total

–

–

620

–

27⁵

221

-

161⁶

431

5 Olivier Brousse received payment in May 2020 in lieu of holiday not taken.
6 This relates to payment in respect of accrued annual leave and payment in lieu of
notice, and including the treatment of the final tranche of the buy-out award which
lapsed in August 2020 (valued at £13,279).
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Annual Report on Remuneration
This part of the report has been prepared in accordance with Part 3 of the revised Schedule 8 set out in The Large and Medium-sized Companies and
Groups (Accounts and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013, and Listing Rule 9.8.6R. The Annual Report on Remuneration will be put to an advisory
shareholder vote at the forthcoming AGM.

Committee structure and meetings
Details of members of the Committee are detailed on page 108. All members of the Committee are independent Non-executive Directors. Anne Wade
stepped down as Chair of the Committee on 31 January 2021, and was succeeded by Andrea Abt, who has been a member of this Committee since May
2018. Philip Keller joined the Committee with effect from 1 January 2020 and Leanne Bell and Lisa Stone joined the Committee as members with effect
from 1 December 2020.
The Committee met formally four times during the year, and held one additional unscheduled meeting. Details of attendees at these meetings are shown
on page 108.
Meetings of the Committee normally take place shortly before Board meetings, and the activities of the Committee are reported by the Chair to the
Board as a separate agenda item. All Committee meetings are formally minuted, copies of which are circulated to the members.

Responsibilities of the Committee
The Committee recommends the Group’s policy on executive remuneration, determines the levels of remuneration for the Executive Directors, the
Chairman and other senior executives, determines the remuneration structure for the wider workforce and prepares an Annual Report on Remuneration
for approval by shareholders at the AGM.
The Committee reviews, but does not limit itself to, the following key areas and makes recommendations to the Board accordingly:
•

Total remuneration (including base pay, bonus and other incentive arrangements);

•

Method of remuneration;

•

Service contracts;

•

Terms and conditions and any material changes to the standard terms of employment; and approval of financial arrangements relating to the
termination of Executive Directors’ service contracts.

The activities, recommendations and approvals of the Committee are reported at the next routinely scheduled Board meeting.
The Committee’s terms of reference, which have been reviewed during the year, can be viewed on our website at www.laing.com.

Committee effectiveness
As part of the annual Board effectiveness review undertaken during the year, a review of the Committee,its members and its performance was
conducted. It was confirmed that the Committee continues to operate effectively. Full details of the Board effectiveness review can be found on pages 94
and 95.

Advisers
The Committee receives information and takes advice from inside and outside the Group. Internal support is provided by the Group Company Secretary
and the Group HR Director. The Chairman and CEO are invited to attend meetings where appropriate. No individual is present when matters relating to
his or her own remuneration are discussed.
Following a thorough tender process, Mercer Kepler (‘Mercer’) was appointed in August 2020 by the Committee to act as an independent adviser to it.
The Committee is satisfied that Mercer provided independent remuneration advice to the Committee. Fees charged by Mercer or advice provided to the
Committee between its appointment in August 2020 and the year-end amounted to £39,431 (excluding VAT). Mercer did not provide any other services
to the Group during the year under review.
Following the lead adviser at Mercer moving to Ellason LLP (‘Ellason’), the Committee decided to appoint Ellason as the independent remuneration
adviser to the Committee effective 1 January 2021 replacing Mercer. Both Mercer and Ellason are members and signatories of the Code of Conduct for
Remuneration Consultants, details of which can be found at www.remunerationconsultantsgroup.com. None of the individual Directors have a personal
connection with either Mercer or Ellason which would impair independence.
Prior to August 2020, Aon provided independent advice to the Committee, having been appointed in 2015. During 2020, insurance broking services were
also provided to the Group by other subsidiaries of Aon and Aon also provided support to management on implementation of its share-based incentive
plans. The Committee is satisfied that these additional services did not prejudice Aon’s position as the Committee‘s independent adviser.
Fees charged by Aon up to August 2020 amounted to £37,765.
Total fees paid to Aon and Mercer during the year were £77,196 (2019: £72,955). Fees from both Aon and Mercer were charged on a time and materials
basis.
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Directors’ single total figure of remuneration for 2020 (audited)
The table below provides a breakdown of the various elements of Directors’ pay for the year ended 31 December 2020 and for the prior year. This
comprises the total remuneration earned in respect of the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020, and the prior period from 1 January 2019
to 31 December 2019.
Salary/Fees

Benefits¹

Pension²

Bonus³

LTIP⁴

Other

Total

Total Fixed

Total Variable

£’000

2020

2019

2020

2019

2020

2019

2020

2019

2020

2019

2020

2019

2020

2019

2020

2019

2020

2019

Ben Loomes5

342

–

2

–

24

–

252

–

–

–

–

–

620

–

368

–

252

–

171

484

1

2

22

63

–

305

–

847

27⁷

–

221 1,701

221

549

– 1,152

Luciana Germinario 8

218

222

3

2

49

27

–

102

–

–

161⁹

245

431

598

431

496

–

102

Will Samuel

195

195

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

195

195

195

195

–

–

David Rough

67

65

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

67

65

67

65

–

–

Andrea Abt

52

50

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

52

50

52

50

–

–

Leanne Bell10

4

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

4

–

4

–

–

–

52

50

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

52

50

52

50

–

–

23

65

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

23

65

23

65

–

–

63

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

63

–

63

–

–

–

Olivier Brousse

Jeremy Beeton
Toby Hiscock
Philip Keller12

11

6

10

4

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

4

–

4

–

–

–

Anne Wade

67

65

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

67

65

67

65

–

–

Lisa Stone

1 This relates to benefits such as private medical and dental insurance, life insurance and permanent health insurance.
2 Cash allowance in lieu of pension is paid net of employer’s national insurance.
3 In accordance with the Deferred Share Bonus Plan (‘DSBP’), any amount over 60% of salary, or where higher, 60% of maximum bonus potential, is deferred in shares. Awards under the DSBP vest
in equal tranches on the first, second and third anniversary of grant, subject to continued employment.
4 The 2019 figures relate to the 2017 LTIP award which vested in April 2020. The figures have been adjusted to reflect the actual share price on vesting of 321.41p per share. These are the final award
values based on the share price at the time of vesting and include the dividend equivalents which were payable upon vesting. c.£150,000 of the value of final award value is attributable to share
price growth over the period. The buy-out award granted to Luciana Germinario under the LTIP plan in May 2019 has been restated to show the total value of the awards granted in 2019, being
65,044 shares at a price of 376.4p per share. Under the terms of Luciana’s departure, Award F has lapsed in full. Further details are provided on page 117.
5 Appointed to the Board on 8 May 2020.
6 Resigned from the Board on 7 May 2020.
7 Olivier Brousse received payment in May 2020 in lieu of holiday not taken.
8 Resigned from the Board on 3 August 2020.
9 The 2020 figure relates to the payment in respect of accrued annual leave (£18,647) and payment in lieu of notice (£154,145), less the final tranche of the buy-out award, valued at the grant date
share price (£13,279), which lapsed on cessation of employment. The 2019 figure has been restated to show the aggregate value of the original buy-out award (65,044 shares, as disclosed in last
year’s Annual Report) at the grant date share price of £3.764.
10 Appointed to the Board on 1 December 2020.
11 Retired from the Board on 7 May 2020.
12 Appointed to the Board on 1 January 2020 and as Chair of the Audit & Risk Committee on 7 May 2020.
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Details of variable pay earned in the year (audited)
Annual bonus
The bonus payable for 2020 was assessed by the Committee taking into account performance against corporate and individual performance.
Corporate performance was assessed using the following scorecard of metrics and targets. As noted on page 125 there is no fixed weighting between
metrics.
£ million

Threshold

Target

Stretch

1,842

1,861

1,899

1,529 Below threshold

Value enhancements

89

94

103

34 Below threshold

Cash yield from investments

51

54

59

Realisations

760

800

880

292 Below threshold

New investments

349

367

404

43 Below threshold

Profit before tax

172

191

229

-65 Below threshold

NAV

Actual

58

Outcome

Between target
and stretch

Based on performance against targets and the overall performance of the business over the year, 15% of the maximum corporate element was awarded,
reflecting the strong performance against the distribution target (cash yield from investments). This achievement on distributions is reflective of the
team’s resilient performance in the current environment and the robustness of the underlying portfolio. As noted on page 39, NAV was impacted by
challenges faced in the Renewable Energy portfolio during the first half of the year as well as broader macro-economic factors. Whilst growth was
achieved in the second half of the year, NAV at the year-end was below the stretching targets originally set. New investments in the period were minimal,
with COVID-19 delaying public procurement processes, as well as decisions taken earlier this year to cease new investments in wind and solar generation.
However, a number of projects are in the pipeline and are expected to complete in 2021. Cognisant of the external environment, a cautious approach was
taken on realisations to ensure that values are maximised for shareholders. Notwithstanding performance against the original scorecard targets (which
were set prior to the outset of the pandemic and the strategic review), the Group remains well positioned to capitalise on future opportunities.
As noted in the Chair’s statement and as permitted under the recruitment policy, 40% of the bonus for the Chief Executive Officer was based on specific
individual objectives linked to the strategic review. The individual objectives for 2020 and a summary of the Committee’s assessment of the Chief
Executive Officers’ performance against these objectives are set out below:

Chief Executive Officer, Ben Loomes
In addition to oversight of all Group objectives, the Chief Executive Officer was individually tasked with:
•

Providing the Board with an assessment of the business and, in light of this assessment, setting out a plan for reviewing the strategy, operating model
and capabilities;

•

Developing the strategy for the Group and making a recommendation to the Board;

•

Reviewing the principal management committees and key processes, and proposing the future structure;

•

Reviewing the composition and capabilities of the Executive team and undertaking a talent review of the wider senior team; and

•

Reviewing the diversity and inclusion strategy and preparing a plan for gender diversity and gender pay gap with objectives.

When setting these objectives, the Board was mindful that accomplishing them in less than eight months in the midst of the pandemic would be
extremely challenging. The Committee is, therefore, pleased with the exceptional progress achieved since Ben joined the Company in May 2020.
Ben presented an assessment of the business together with a plan and detailed roadmap which formed the basis of the strategic review in June 2020.
The strategic review was completed, endorsed by the Board and presented to the market in November 2020. This was well received by the market,
and positive feedback was also obtained from shareholders and analysts. A thorough review of the management committees and processes was also
undertaken, and the new structure was implemented effective January 2021. Further details can be found on page 91.
A comprehensive review and reshaping of the Executive team led to the successful recruitment of a new Chief Financial Officer and a new Group HR
Director. A talent review of the wider senior team was completed as part of the talent management strategy.
Positive progress has been made in respect of the diversity and inclusion strategy and roadmap. Further details on this can be found on page 64.
Since joining in May 2020, without a Chief Financial Officer in post for five months of the year and against a background of an extremely challenging
environment, Ben has fulfilled all of the objectives that were set and reshaped John Laing with the full support of the Board.
In recognising this extraordinary performance, the Committee is pleased to award the Chief Executive Officer 100% of the maximum potential for
performance against his individual objectives.
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Overall, bonus for 2020 for the Chief Executive Officer was as follows:
% salary

Ben Loomes1

Corporate
(60% of maximum, up to 90% of salary)

13.5%

Individual
(40% of maximum, up to 60% of salary)

60%

Total (maximum 150% salary)

73.5%

Total to be paid in cash (£’000)

252

1 Bonus to be paid to Ben Loomes pro rated from 8 May 2020.

Neither Olivier Brousse nor Luciana Germinario were eligible to receive an annual bonus in respect of 2020. Rob Memmott joined the Board after
31 December 2020, and therefore did not qualify for a 2020 bonus.

Vesting of the 2018 Long-Term Incentive Plan award (audited)
The awards granted on 18 April 2018 under the John Laing Group plc LTIP are due to vest in April 2021. The awards are subject to the following
performance targets:

Measure

Weighting

Performance
period

Threshold target
(25% vesting)

Stretch target
(100% vesting)1

Actual
performance

Vesting %
(max. 50% for
each element)3

6.4% p.a.2

0%

Compound annual growth in NAV per Share

50%

01/01/18 to
31/12/20

10% p.a.

16% p.a.

TSR relative to the constituents of the FTSE 250 Index

50%

01/01/18 to
31/12/20

Median
ranking

Upper
quartile
ranking
or above

29.5
(upper
quartile
ranking)

50%

1 For performance between threshold and stretch, awards vest on a straight-line basis.
2 NAV is based on the figures reported in the Company’s annual financial statements adjusted to include the value of any dividends paid to or approved by shareholders during the three-year
performance period. NAV per share as at 31 December 2020, the end of the performance period, adjusted to include the value of dividends, was 338.09 pence (per share).
3 Total vesting outcome is 50%.

The awards granted to Olivier Brousse in the 2018 LTIP award lapsed in full on his departure from the Group on 7 May 2020. Patrick O’D Bourke (a former
Director) retained an entitlement to his 2018 LTIP, pro-rated for his period of service and 30,743 shares will vest to him in April 2021 (not including dividend
equivalent shares). No other Executive Directors hold awards under this cycle.

Annual Report and Accounts 2020

116
Annual report on remuneration continued

Details of share awards granted in the year (audited)
Long-term incentives
The following LTIP awards were granted to the Executive Directors during the financial year:
Face value

Number
of shares

Grant date

175% salary

£929,2501

267,795

15 May 2020

150% salary

£582,7682

169,4093

3 April 2020

Type of award

Award size

Ben Loomes

LTIP (nil
cost option)

Luciana Germinario

LTIP (nil
cost option)

Performance
period

Performance
targets

1 January
2020 to
31 December
2022

50% based
on relative
TSR and 50%
based on
NAV per share

1 Calculated using the closing middle market share price on the day preceding the date of grant of 347.0 pence.
2 Calculated using the average closing middle market share price for the five days following the release of the 2019 financial results which was 344.0 pence.
3 Awards lapsed in full on Luciana’s resignation from the Group in August 2020.

The Committee considered various options in respect of the share price to apply when calculating the grant in order that it reflected an appropriate level
given the stock exchange volatility as a result of the developing COVID-19 situation. The Committee agreed that a five-day average share price following
the release of the 2019 financial results be applied to the 2020 LTIP grant made in April 2020. As a result of share price fluctuations reducing at the time of
Ben Loomes’ grant in May 2020, the Committee agreed that the closing middle market price the day preceding the date of grant was appropriate in that
case.
As disclosed in last year’s report, the performance conditions attached to the 2020 awards are:
•

50% is based on TSR performance against a comparator group comprising the members of the FTSE 250 Index. 25% of the shares in this tranche will
vest for median performance with full vesting for upper quartile performance or above (straight-line vesting between these points).

•

50% is based on the compound annual growth in the Group’s NAV per share. NAV per share growth will be based on the NAV per share reported
in the Group’s 2022 annual financial statements but adjusted to include the value of any dividends paid to or approved by shareholders during the
three-year performance period. The base NAV per share figure for the 2020 award is 337p per share. 25% of the shares in this tranche will vest for 9%
per annum compound growth, with full vesting for 15% per annum compound growth or above (straight-line vesting between these points).

The awards are structured as nil cost options and will normally vest on the later of the third anniversary of grant and the determination of the
performance conditions, and will then normally remain exercisable until the day before the tenth anniversary of the date of grant provided the individual
remains an employee or officer of the Group. The Executive Directors may not sell shares vesting under the LTIP (other than to settle related tax liabilities)
within two years of vesting.

Deferred Share Bonus Plan
No awards were made to Executive Directors under the DSBP during the financial year.
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Buy-out awards
In compensation for cash-based long-term incentive awards that Luciana Germinario forfeited on leaving her previous employer, Eight Roads, it was
agreed by the Committee that she would receive buy-out awards on commencement of service. The buy-out awards, which were designed to mirror
the time horizon and expected value of the remuneration forfeited, were primarily delivered in shares. The grant value of the buy-out awards was
US$320,288. On 16 May 2019, the following awards were granted, as conditional share awards over ordinary shares of 10p each in the Company:
Number
of shares

Value of award

Vesting date

A

24,314

US$119,731

15 September 2019

B

13,182

US$64,911

10 March 2020

Award

C

3,528

US$17,370

15 September 2020

D

16,964

US$83,535

10 March 2021

E

3,528

US$17,370

15 September 2021

F

3,528

US$17,371

15 September 2022

65,044

US$320,288

Total

The awards were granted under and subject to the terms of a one-off award agreement entered into upon reliance of FCA Listing Rule 9.4.2(2) to facilitate
Luciana’s recruitment. The share-based awards may only be satisfied using existing shares.
During the year, the following awards vested:
Award

Date

No. of shares¹

Award B

10 March 2020

13,249

Award C

15 September 2020

3,620

1 Number of shares vested includes dividend equivalent shares accrued on the awards.

Under the terms of Luciana’s departure Awards D and E will vest as planned in 2021, and Award F has lapsed in full.

Directors’ shareholdings (audited)
The following table sets out a summary of the Directors’ interests in shares (including any interests held by connected persons).

Ben Loomes1
Olivier Brousse

Other interests in shares
as at 31 December 2020⁴

No. of shares
owned on
31 December
2019

No. of shares
owned on
31 December
2020

Outstanding
LTIP awards

Outstanding
DSBP awards

Total interest
in shares as at
31 December
2020

–

386,992

267,795

–

654,787

427,748

578,073

–

–

578,073

Luciana Germinario 3

12,863

54,056

20,492

–

74,548

Will Samuel

50,000

50,000

n/a

n/a

50,000

David Rough

47,007

47,007

n/a

n/a

47,007

–

10,000

n/a

n/a

10,000

21,674

21,674

n/a

n/a

21,674

Andrea Abt
Jeremy Beeton
Leanne Bell

2

–

–

n/a

n/a

–

27,245

27,205

n/a

n/a

27,245

Philip Keller

–

30,000

n/a

n/a

30,000

Lisa Stone 5

–

–

n/a

n/a

–

Anne Wade

27,007

27,007

n/a

n/a

27,007

5

Toby Hiscock6

1 Appointed to the Board on 8 May 2020.
2 Resigned from the Board on 7 May 2020. Interests in shares are shown as at 7 May 2020.
3 Resigned from the Board on 3 August 2020. Interests in shares are shown as at 3 August 2020. Outstanding LTIP awards figure includes buy-out awards which were granted under the LTIP
scheme rules.
4 The closing share price on 31 December 2020 was 322 pence.
5 Appointed to the Board on 1 December 2020.
6 Resigned from the Board on 7 May 2020. Interests in shares are shown as at 7 May 2020.
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Between 31 December 2020 and the date of this report there have been no changes in the Directors’ shareholdings.
The guideline shareholding for Executive Directors for 2020 was 200% of salary. At 31 December 2020, Ben Loomes held shares worth 232% of salary.
Shares counting towards achievement of this guideline include beneficially owned shares.
Of the total interests in shares held at 31 December 2020, the following shares are subject to a post-vesting holding requirement:

Ben Loomes
Olivier Brousse
Luciana Germinario

Vested LTIP
awards1

Outstanding LTIP
awards2

–

267,795

331,895

–

–

–

1 Shares vesting from the 2016 and 2017 LTIP awards (which are subject to a two-year post-vesting holding requirement). These shares are included in the number of shares owned on 31 December
2020 in the table above.
2 All unvested awards granted to Olivier Brousse and Luciana Germinario lapsed under the rules of the share schemes.

Payments to past Directors (audited)
Luciana Germinario
Luciana Germinario stepped down as a Director of the Company and as Chief Financial Officer on 3 August 2020. She received the payments set out below
(which were paid less any required deductions for tax and employee National Insurance contributions). These payments are consistent with the terms
of her employment contract and the Company’s shareholder approved Directors’ Remuneration Policy.
Luciana had a 12-month notice period under her employment contract. She continued to receive her salary and contractual benefits until her handover
period ended on 21 August 2020, at which point her employment was terminated. She was then paid in accordance with the payment in lieu of notice
provisions of her employment contract in respect of the period between the termination date and 31 July 2021. Payments are made in monthly
instalments of £30,829 and will be subject to deductions for any income from any alternative employment or engagement.
The Committee exercised its discretion in granting Luciana good leaver status in respect of three out of four of her outstanding unvested tranches of
the buy-out award made to her on joining the Company that will vest up to September 2021 (being an award over 3,528 Company shares which vested
in September 2020, an award over 16,964 Company shares vesting in March 2021 and an award over 3,528 Company shares vesting in September 2021)
to compensate her for foregone remuneration with her prior employer. The tranche that would have vested in September 2022 lapsed.
Luciana was not eligible to receive any payment in respect of an annual bonus for 2020 and her LTIP awards lapsed in full.
She was eligible to receive an amount in respect of any accrued but unpaid holiday as at her termination date (but was not paid any payment in lieu
of holiday in respect of her notice period). The Company will pay her legal fees up to a maximum of £10,000 plus VAT and will pay for outplacement up
to a maximum of £50,000 plus VAT with a provider agreed with the Company. This can be claimed up to 31 July 2021.
No other remuneration payment or payment for loss of office has been made.

Olivier Brousse
Olivier Brousse ceased to be an Executive Director with effect from 7 May 2020. Following his departure, Olivier received salary, benefits and pension
up to the date of cessation of employment on 7 May. He also received a payment of £26,790 in lieu of unused annual leave entitlement up to the date
of cessation of employment.
Olivier resigned from the Board, therefore his outstanding awards under the Company’s incentive plans lapsed in full with effect from 7 May 2020.
In accordance with the Remuneration Policy, he was not eligible to receive a bonus in respect of 2020.
Olivier Brousse has not received and will not receive any payment for loss of office.
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Payments for loss of office (audited)
No payments have been made for loss of office in the year.

Relative importance of the expenditure on pay
The table below shows the Group’s expenditure on pay compared with distributions to shareholders.
£ million

2020

2019

Remuneration paid to or receivable by all employees

33¹

31

Distributions to shareholders by way of dividends

47

47

Distributions to shareholders by way of share buy-backs

Nil

Nil

1 Remuneration paid to or receivable by all employees comprises salary costs including cash bonuses, termination payments, associated social security costs and pension contributions but excludes
the cost of share-based incentives and pension-related costs under IAS 19.

Year-on-year change for Directors compared to global average for employees
The table below shows the percentage change in salary, benefits and bonus earned between 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020 for the Directors
compared to the average for other employees. In accordance with the Companies (Directors’ Remuneration Policy and Directors’ Remuneration Report)
Regulations 2019 (applying to financial years commencing on or after 10 June 2019), this analysis has been expanded to cover each Executive and Nonexecutive Director, and the table will be built up over time to display a five-year history.
Ben Loomes
Olivier Brousse²

Executive
Directors

Salary/Fees¹ ⁴

Benefits¹ ³

Bonus¹

n/a

n/a

n/a

0%

n/a

n/a

6.6%

n/a

n/a

Will Samuel

0%

n/a

n/a

David Rough

6%

n/a

n/a

Andrea Abt

6%

n/a

n/a

Luciana Germinario²

Jeremy Beeton

6%

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Toby Hiscock²

6%

n/a

n/a

Philip Keller¹

n/a

n/a

n/a

Lisa Stone¹

n/a

n/a

n/a

Leanne Bell¹

Anne Wade
Average for other employees5

Non-executive
Directors

6%

n/a

n/a

0.46%

-0.25%

0.32%⁶

1 There is no comparative data to show for Directors appointed during the 2020 financial year.
2 For Directors who left during the year, salary figures are shown on a full-year equivalent comparisons. Neither Olivier Brousse not Luciana Germinario received a bonus in respect of the 2020
financial year. Therefore there is no comparative data for these Directors.
3 For Executive Directors, taxable benefits consist of private health care insurance. Given the small numbers involved, any changes in taxable benefits can produce sizeable percentage changes from
year to year. Non-executive Directors do not receive any taxable benefits.
4 A salary is paid to Executive Directors and fees are paid to Non-executive Directors.
5 The basis of the preparation of the “average for other employees” has been prepared in line with that as detailed for the CEO pay ratio, using constant exchange rates as of 31 December 2020.
6 The bonus figures include one-off awards to employees below Executive Director level to mitigate flight risks and incentivise delivery of specific key projects.
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The Committee considers internal and external relativities when making pay decisions.
With less than 250 UK employees, we are not required to disclose Chief Executive Officer to employee pay ratios. However, in order to provide
transparency in our reporting, we are reporting on this for the third year. The ratios compare the total remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer,
as set out in this report, against the total remuneration of the median UK and Group employees as well as UK and Group employees in the lower and
upper quartiles. This disclosure will build up over time to cover a rolling ten-year period.
A significant proportion of the Chief Executive Officer’s ongoing pay is delivered in LTIP awards which are in part linked to the Company’s share price
movements over the longer term. Therefore, the ratios will depend significantly on the outcomes of the LTIP and may fluctuate from one year to the next.
The ratio has declined year-on-year due to the reduction in the reportable remuneration for the role of Chief Executive Officer in 2020; the figure
reflecting the part-year earnings for Olivier Brousse and Ben Loomes.
The tables also include ratios covering salary to enable a further comparison. The process to ensure that employees are paid fairly is set out on pages 65
to 67 of this report.
Group:
Salary ratios
P25
(Lower
Quartile)

P50
(Median)

Total remuneration ratios
P75
(Upper
Quartile)

P25
(Lower
Quartile)

P50
(Median)

P75
(Upper
Quartile)

Year

Methodology

2020

A

7:1

4:1

3:1

9:1

5:1

4:1

2019

A

7:1

3:1

2:1

18:1

10:1

6:1

2018

A

7:1

6:1

3:1

22:1

14:1

8:1

The salary figures at P25, P50 and P75 are £69,450, £117,572 and £154,810 respectively (aggregate CEO salary, £513,000). The total remuneration figures at
P25, P50 and P75 are £86,241, £158,048 and £231,794 respectively (aggregate total remuneration for the role of CEO, £816,486).
UK:
Salary ratios

Total remuneration ratio

P25
(Lower
Quartile)

P50
(Median)

P75
(Upper
Quartile)

P25
(Lower
Quartile)

P50
(Median)

P75
(Upper
Quartile)

Year

Methodology

2020

A

11:1

6:1

4:1

15:1

7:1

5:1

2019

A

11:1

7:1

4:1

34:1

16:1

9:1

2018

A

9:1

5:1

4:1

28:1

17:1

9:1

The salary figures at P25, P50 and P75 are £45,531, £89,833 and £139,877 respectively (aggregate CEO salary, £513,000). The total remuneration figures
at P25, P50 and P75 are £55,651, £117,702 and £172,318 respectively (aggregate total remuneration for the role of CEO, £816,486).
‘Option A’ methodology, as set out in the Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018, was selected in 2018 as this is considered the most
statistically accurate under the reporting regulations.
The employees at the 25th, 50th and 75th percentiles (lower, median and upper quartile) were determined as at 31 December 2020 based on full-time
equivalent remuneration for all employees other than for variable pay where the actual amount to be paid has been used.
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Performance graph and total remuneration history for Chief Executive Officer
The graph below shows the Company’s performance, measured by TSR, compared with the performance of the FTSE 250 Index for the period from
the Company’s IPO in February 2015 to 31 December 2020. This comparator has been chosen as it is a broad equity index of which the Company
is a constituent and it is also the one used in assessing relative TSR performance under the LTIP.

Total shareholder return
(£) (rebased)
350
300
250
200
150
100
50
0
17/02/2015

31/12/2015

John Laing Group plc

31/12/2017

31/12/2016

31/12/2018

31/12/2019

31/12/2020

FTSE 250 Index

Source: Bloomberg

The graph shows the value (as at 31 December 2020) of £100 invested in John Laing Group plc on the date of admission to the Official List (17 February
2015) compared to £100 invested in the FTSE 250. The other points plotted are the values at intervening financial year-ends.
The total remuneration figures for the Chief Executive Officer for 2015 to 2020 are shown in the table below. The annual bonus and long-term incentive
award vesting level as a percentage of the maximum opportunity are also disclosed.

2020

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

Olivier Brousse

Olivier Brousse

Olivier Brousse

Olivier Brousse

Olivier Brousse

Olivier Brousse

1,535

759

1,702

2,358

1,701¹

221

620

70%

63%

79%

82%

42%

n/a

49%

Nil

Nil

78%

96%

86%

n/a²

N/A

Total remuneration (£’000)
Annual bonus (% of maximum)
LTIP (% of maximum)

Ben Loomes

1 Total remuneration for 2019 has been restated from £1,827,000 as disclosed in the 2019 Annual Report and Accounts to reflect the change between estimated and final value of the 2017 LTIP award
which vested in April 2020.
2 Olivier Brousse’s 2018 LTIP award lapsed on cessation of employment. For other participants the award will vest at 50%.

Voting outcome on remuneration
The table below shows the most recent voting outcomes on the remuneration-related resolutions:
AGM

Votes For

Votes Against

Votes Withheld

Resolution to approve the Annual Report on Remuneration

7 May 2020

400,679,215
(96.09%¹)

16,310,575
(3.91%¹)

8,682

Resolution to approve the Directors’ Remuneration Policy

9 May 2019

372,132,031
(95.31%¹)

18,296,521
(4.69%¹)

8,604,080

1 Percentage of votes cast.
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Application of the Remuneration Policy for 2021
A summary of how the Remuneration Policy will be applied during the forthcoming year is set out below:
Salaries for
Executive Directors

No changes are proposed for 2021. Salaries for the Executive Directors will remain as set on appointment:
Ben Loomes – £531,000
Rob Memmott – £390,000

Pension

8% of salary (aligned with the majority of the UK workforce).

2021 bonus

Consistent with the Policy, the 2021 bonuses will be based on 80% corporate and 20% individual objectives. Corporate performance
will be assessed taking into account NAV (including dividends), cash yield from investments, realisations, new investments, value
enhancements and profit before tax. The performance targets for 2021 are deemed to be commercially sensitive and will be disclosed
in next year’s Annual Report on Remuneration.
In accordance with the Remuneration Policy, the maximum bonus opportunity for Ben Loomes will be 150% of salary. Rob Memmott
will have a maximum opportunity of 100% of salary.

2021 LTIP

LTIP awards granted to Ben Loomes and Rob Memmott will be over shares worth 175% and 168% of salary respectively.
The 2021 LTIP awards will be measured over three years and subject to the following conditions (with an equal weighting on each measure):
Compound Annual Growth in NAV per share

% vesting (for this part of the award)

7% Threshold (25% vesting)

25%

8%

60%

9%

75%

10%

87.5%

11% maximum

100%

Performance condition

Threshold (25% vesting)

Maximum (100% vesting)

TSR relative to the constituents of the FTSE 250 Index

Median
performance

Upper quartile
performance

For both performance conditions there will be straight-line vesting between the disclosed targets.
Executive Directors may not sell shares vesting under the LTIP (other than to settle related tax liabilities) within two years of vesting.
Chairman and Nonexecutive Director fees

The fees for the Chairman and Non-executive Directors were reviewed during 2020. The revised fees are as follows:
Chairman

£195,000

Non-executive Directors:
Base fee

£53,0001

Additional fees for:
Chairing the Audit & Risk Committee

£15,000

Chairing the Remuneration Committee

£15,000

Senior Independent Director and Chairing the Nomination Committee

£15,000

1 Increased from £50,000 from 1 April 2020.

By order of the Board

Andrea Abt MBA
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
3 March 2021
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Directors’ Remuneration Policy
The 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code sets out principles against which the Committee should determine the Policy for executives. A summary of the
principles and how the John Laing Remuneration Policy reflects these is set out below:
Principle

Approach

Clarity – Remuneration arrangements should be transparent and promote
effective engagement with shareholders and the workforce.

The Committee operates a consistent remuneration approach that is well
understood internally and externally. Major shareholders were consulted
on the design of the current Policy.

Simplicity – Remuneration structures should avoid complexity, and their
rationale and operation should be easy to understand.

The Group operates a market-standard remuneration structure consisting fixed
pay, an annual bonus and a single long-term incentive.

Risk – Remuneration arrangements should ensure reputational and other risks
from excessive rewards, and behavioural risks that can arise from target-based
incentive plans, are identified and mitigated.

Each year, incentive targets will be set which the Committee believes are
stretching and achievable within the risk appetite set by the Board. The
Committee retains discretion to override formulaic incentive outcomes in
the event that this would produce a result inconsistent with the Company’s
remuneration principles.
All variable incentives incorporate recovery provisions (malus and clawback)
that allow the Committee to reduce the outcomes, potentially down to zero, in
specified cases. The Committee believes that these triggers are appropriately
wide-ranging and has worked to ensure they are enforceable.

Predictability – The range of possible values of rewards to individual Directors
and any other limits or discretions should be identified and explained at the
time of approving the Policy.

The Committee maintains clear caps on incentive opportunities and will use
its available discretion if necessary.

Proportionality – The link between individual awards, the delivery of strategy
and the long-term performance of the Company should be clear. Outcomes
should not reward poor performance.

The Committee ensures performance metrics are clearly aligned with the
Group’s strategy each year, maintaining an appropriate balance between fixed
pay, short- and long-term incentive opportunities. Targets are set to be
stretching but achievable, within the Board’s risk appetite.

Alignment to culture – Incentive schemes should drive behaviours consistent
with Company purpose, values and strategy.

All permanent employees participate in the annual bonus, and share the
same corporate performance metrics to ensure cultural alignment across the
business. We believe that aligning remuneration across the business is a key
element of aligning our culture, fulfilling our values and a strong driver of
business performance.

The remainder of this section of the report sets out the Policy which the Company asked shareholders to approve at the 2019 AGM and which came
into effect from that date. While no formal changes are being proposed this year, the Committee has adopted a post-cessation shareholding requirement
(as set out on page 126).
The Policy promotes the delivery of sustainable long-term performance through the long-term nature of the incentive plans (bonus deferral and LTIP),
the variety of performance measures used (aligning with the business strategy and supporting a rounded assessment of performance), and the balanced
approach to target setting and performance assessment.
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Remuneration Policy Table
The table below sets out the Remuneration Policy for the Executive Directors.
Salary

Purpose and link to strategy

To provide a core reward for the role at a sufficient level to recruit and retain individuals of the necessary calibre to execute
the Company’s business strategy.

Operation

Normally reviewed annually by the Committee or, if appropriate, following a change in an individual’s position or
responsibilities.
Benchmarked periodically against relevant market comparators, including companies of a similar size and complexity and
other broadly comparable companies.

Link to performance

Base salary levels are set at a level to reflect the experience, skills and responsibilities of the individual as well as the scope
and scale of their role.
Increases to base salary will reflect individual performance and contribution as well as the pay and conditions for other
employees of the Group.

Maximum opportunity

While there is no maximum salary, increases will normally be in line with the typical level of increase awarded to other
employees of the Group.
However, increases above this level may be offered in certain circumstances such as where an Executive Director has been
promoted, has had a change in responsibilities, to reflect increased experience in the role, or where there has been
a significant change in the size and/or scope of the business.
For details of salary levels from 1 January 2021 see the Annual Report on Remuneration on page 122.

Benefits

Purpose and link to strategy

To operate a competitive benefits structure for Executive Directors that aids in their recruitment and retention.

Operation

Provision of benefits such as private medical and dental insurance, life insurance, permanent health insurance and Company
sick pay.
Executive Directors are also eligible to participate in any all-employee share plans operated by the Company on the same
basis as other eligible employees.
Additional benefits may be provided from time to time if the Committee decides the payment of such benefits is appropriate
or, where required, to facilitate the relocation of an Executive Director.
Executive Directors are entitled to reimbursement of reasonable expenses incurred by them in the performance of their
duties (including any tax payable thereon).

Link to performance

Not applicable.

Maximum opportunity

The cost of the benefit provision varies from year-to-year and there is no prescribed maximum limit. The Committee
monitors annually the overall cost of the benefits provided to ensure that it remains appropriate.

Pension

Purpose and link to strategy

To offer market competitive levels of pension and to recognise long-term commitment to the Group.

Operation

The Company may provide a cash allowance in lieu of a contribution to a pension scheme, contribute an amount to a money
purchase pension scheme or provide for a combination of the two depending on the circumstances of the individual.

Link to performance

Not applicable.

Maximum opportunity

Executive Directors up to 8% of salary. Pension provision for future appointments to be aligned with the majority of the UK
workforce. The UK workforce is considered to be the appropriate comparator since it aligns with the local market and the
Executive Directors are based in the UK.
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Annual bonus

Purpose and link to strategy

To recognise and reward the delivery of short-term strategic and financial objectives which contribute towards long-term
sustainable growth.

Operation

The Executive Directors participate in the same overall bonus structure as other Group employees.
To the extent any bonus exceeds 60% of salary or where higher 60% of maximum bonus potential, the full amount of any
excess will be deferred in shares under the Deferred Share Bonus Plan (‘DSBP’). Awards under the DSBP vest in equal tranches
on the first, second and third anniversary of grant, normally subject to continued employment. Dividend equivalents that
accrue on the DSBP shares during the vesting period may be paid in cash and/or shares at the time of vesting.
Clawback and, in the case of deferred share awards, malus provisions apply.

Link to performance

The size of the bonus is assessed by the Committee taking into account performance against a scorecard of corporate
metrics. The choice of metrics is reviewed by the Committee each financial year, with threshold, target and stretch levels
of performance set for each measure. There is no fixed weighting between metrics.
Details of the metrics used to determine the 2020 bonus are set out in the Annual Report on Remuneration on page 114 and
the metrics to be used for the 2021 bonus are set out in the Annual Report on Remuneration on page 122.
The Committee uses the scorecard as a guide to help it consider the overall performance of the business and the
appropriate size of the bonus. The Committee will, in its absolute discretion, take into account all relevant circumstances
when determining the size of the bonus, recognising that, given the long-term nature of the business, metrics relating
to projects invested in may move from one year to another outside management’s control. The Committee also has the
discretion to reduce the size of the bonus if it feels that the level of bonus is not supported by the underlying financial
and operational performance of the business.
Once performance against the corporate metrics has been determined, the calculation of an individual’s allocation will be
subject to an assessment by the Committee of both Group performance and individual performance. The amount allocated
based on individual performance cannot exceed 20% of the maximum.
The Committee may reduce a participant’s bonus (including to zero) to reflect adverse events, e.g. health and safety
breaches or poor individual performance.

Maximum opportunity

Up to 150% of salary (60% of maximum for target performance). For 2021, the maximum bonus will be limited to 100% of
salary for the Chief Financial Officer.
No more than 25% of maximum will be payable for threshold performance.

Long Term Incentive Plan (‘LTIP’)

Purpose and link to strategy

To incentivise and reward the creation of long-term shareholder value.

Operation

At the discretion of the Committee, Executive Directors will normally receive annual awards of shares in the form of nil
(or nominal) cost options or conditional awards which will usually vest on the third anniversary of grant (or, if later, when
the Committee determines that the performance conditions have been satisfied).
The awards are subject to the achievement of performance and service conditions.
Executive Directors are required to retain any shares vesting under an LTIP award (net of tax) for a further two years
post-vesting.
Dividend equivalents that accrue on award shares during the vesting period may be paid at the time of vesting.
Clawback and malus provisions apply.

Link to performance

Awards are subject to the achievement of performance targets linked to the long-term success of the Company.
These targets are currently based 50% on growth in NAV per share and 50% on TSR. However, different performance
metrics/weightings may be set for future awards to ensure that the LTIP remains aligned to the Company’s strategy.
A sliding scale of targets is applied for each performance metric, with no more than 25% of that part of the award vesting
for achievement of the threshold target.

Maximum opportunity

Up to 200% of salary.
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Shareholding guidelines
The Executive Directors are required to build and maintain a shareholding in the Company equivalent to 200% of salary and are expected to retain
all shares vesting under the DSBP and LTIP (net of tax) until such time as the guideline shareholding has been achieved.
The Committee requires that leavers have a requirement to hold the shareholding guideline or, if lower, 100% of their pre-cessation shareholding
guideline including shares vesting from the DSBP and LTIP for two years from leaving office with a phase down of up to 50% permitted in the second year
post cessation. Shares purchased by the Executive Directors are not included in the post-employment shareholding requirement. The shareholding
requirement ceases to apply in cases of death. Remuneration Committee discretion can be applied in implementing the post-cessation shareholding
requirement. Enforcement of the shareholding requirement will be supported by a formal policy. This requirement will be formalised as part of the next
Policy review in 2021.
Having reviewed the Executive Directors’ existing shareholdings, the Committee is satisfied that the above Policy provides sufficient exposure for the
executives to the long-term share price movement of the Company. Details on the Executive Directors’ current interests in shares and the proportion
to which a post-employment retention requirement applies are set out on page 117.

Annual bonus performance metrics
The size of the overall bonus is assessed by the Committee taking into account performance against a scorecard of corporate metrics which reflect the
growth of the business. The choice of metrics may change for future award cycles, but was the following for 2020:
Metric

Link to strategy

NAV (including dividends)

This measures growth in the value of the Group’s net asset value.

Cash yield from investments

This reflects the Group’s ability to realise cash distributions from its investments.

Realisations

Realisations of existing investments provide additional funding for new investments. Special dividends payable to
shareholders are based on realisation proceeds.

New investments

New investments are designed to contribute to future NAV growth.

Value enhancements

Value enhancements increase the investment portfolio valuation and therefore contribute to future NAV growth.

Profit before tax

This is linked to growth in NAV in any given year and in addition provides an appropriate focus on cost control.

The majority of the bonus (currently 80% of salary or maximum bonus potential if higher at an Executive Director level) is based on the above assessment
of corporate performance. The remainder of the bonus (currently 20% at an Executive Director level) is assessed on individual performance.

LTIP metrics
Awards under the LTIP vest subject to delivering against metrics which are aligned to long-term shareholder value creation. The choice of metric may
change for future award cycles, but is currently the following:
Metric

Link to strategy

TSR

This measures the total return to shareholders provided through share price appreciation and dividends. TSR is
measured relative to performance against a comparator group consisting of the members of the FTSE 250 Index.
TSR provides a clear alignment between the value created for shareholders and the reward earned by executives.

NAV per share

This measures the overall value of the Group’s net assets (adjusted for dividends paid or approved) divided by the
number of shares in issue and provides an assessment of the growth of the business over time.
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Incentive plan operation
The Committee operates the Company’s incentive plans according to their respective rules and consistent with normal market practice, the Listing
Rules and HMRC rules where relevant, including flexibility in a number of regards. This includes dealing with leavers and making adjustments to awards
following acquisitions, realisations, changes in share capital and other merger and acquisition activity.
For awards granted in 2020, in respect of performance periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020, the Committee retains the ability to scale back the
extent to which any LTIP award vests, or to impose any additional conditions on vesting, where it considers it is appropriate to do so (for example, where
the vesting outcome does not reflect wider Company or individual performance).
The Committee also retains the ability to adjust the metrics, weighting and targets for the annual bonus plan and outstanding LTIP awards if events occur
which cause it to determine that the conditions are no longer appropriate and the amendment is required so that the conditions achieve their original
purpose and are not materially less difficult to satisfy.
Any use of the above discretions would, where relevant, be explained in the Annual Report on Remuneration and may, as appropriate, be the subject
of consultation with the Company’s major shareholders.

Clawback and malus
The Company has the right to reduce the number of shares over which an award was granted under the DSBP or LTIP where it is discovered that the
award was granted over too many shares as a result of a material misstatement in the Company’s accounts, where there has been an error or reliance
on misleading information when assessing the size of the award that was granted, and/or it is discovered that the participant could reasonably have been
dismissed as a result of his/her misconduct. In addition, for awards granted in respect of performance periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, the
Company may also apply malus or clawback to an award where the Company suffers a material downturn in its operational or financial performance which
is at least partly attributable to management failure and to which the relevant participant has made a material contribution; where the Company has
suffered an instance of corporate failure resulting in the appointment of a liquidator or administrator; and/or where there is a failure of risk management
and/or regulatory non-compliance resulting in material damage to the Company’s business or reputation.
The Company may also clawback cash bonus awards or previously vested DSBP and LTIP awards in the circumstances set out above to ensure that the full
value of any overpayment is recouped. In these circumstances the Committee may apply clawback within three years of the payment of the cash bonus,
date of grant of a DSBP award or the vesting of an LTIP award.

Shareholder views
The Remuneration Committee values the views of the Company’s shareholders and guidance from shareholder representative bodies. Shareholder
feedback received in relation to the AGM, as well as any additional feedback received during the year, is considered as part of the Company’s annual
remuneration review. The Committee undertook a substantial consultation of its shareholders prior to the 2019 policy review, and as a matter of policy
consults with major shareholders in advance of making any significant changes to remuneration arrangements.

Link to the Remuneration Policy for all employees
A consistent approach to remuneration is applied across the Group – with the same overarching principle that reward should be sufficient to attract and
retain high calibre talent and that reward should support the delivery of the business strategy.
The same approach to salary reviews is applied to all employees and the Executive Directors participate in the same overall bonus structure as other
Group employees. However, only the most senior employees are subject to deferral arrangements and some other employees may have a higher
weighting on individual performance. Other senior employees also participate in the same LTIP as the Executive Directors.
There are some differences in the structure of the Remuneration Policy for the Executive Directors compared to other employees, which the Committee
believes are necessary to reflect the different levels of responsibility. The two main differences are the increased emphasis on performance-related pay
for Executive Directors (through a higher variable pay opportunity) and a greater focus on long-term alignment (through bonus deferral, additional
holding periods for LTIP awards and minimum shareholding guidelines).
The Committee did not formally consult with employees in respect of the design of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy in 2019. The employee
engagement programme has since been refreshed, also recently to adapt to the remote working environment. Our Policy review to be undertaken
during 2021 will include specific engagement with the workforce to ensure a two-way dialogue in respect of remuneration.
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Remuneration reward scenarios
The total remuneration for the Executive Directors that could result from the Remuneration Policy in 2021 is shown below:

CEO
Maximum +50% growth

21%

29%

Maximum

25%

35%

On-target

38%

Minimum

100%

32%

50%
40%
30%

£2,764

£2,229

£1,516

£573

CFO
Maximum +50% growth

23%

22%

Maximum

29%

27%

On-target

43%

Minimum

100%
Fixed pay

24%

55%
44%
33%

£1,794

£1,466

£983

£421
Annual bonus

Long-term incentives

1 Fixed pay consists of salary, benefits and pension. Salary is the amount to be paid in 2021 and benefits are based on the estimated value for 2020. Pension is shown as 8% of salary for both Executive
Directors. For the Chief Financial Officer, full-year equivalent values have been shown.
2 The maximum bonus opportunity for 2021 is 150% of salary for the Chief Executive and 100% of salary for the Chief Financial Officer. 60% of maximum is earned at target performance. The amount
of any bonus in excess of 60% of salary (or maximum bonus potential if higher) is deferred in shares, which vest subject to continued employment over one, two and three years.
3 The LTIP award for 2021 is 175% of salary for the Chief Executive and 168% of salary for the Chief Financial Officer. 50% of the award face value is assumed for target performance. LTIP awards are
subject to a three-year performance period and the number of shares that vest (net of tax) must be held for a further two years post vesting.
4 The minimum, target and maximum scenarios exclude the impact of possible share price appreciation. A further scenario has been included to illustrate the impact of a 50% increase in the share
price on the value of LTIP awards in the maximum scenario. The basis of the calculation of the share price appreciation is that the share price used in the calculation for the further scenario is
assumed to increase by 50% across the performance period. No assumptions have been made as to the value of dividend equivalents on share awards in any scenario.

Executive Director recruitment and promotions
Remuneration arrangements for a new appointment will be set in accordance with the policy for the existing Executive Directors, except as noted below:
•

If it is considered appropriate to set the salary for a new Executive Director at a level which is below market, his or her salary may be increased in
future periods to achieve the desired market positioning by way of an above inflation increase or increases, subject to his or her continued
development in the role.

•

Pension arrangements for new appointments to the Board will be aligned with the rate applying to the majority of the employees in the country
in which the Executive Director is to be based.

•

Any bonus payment for the year of joining will normally be pro-rated to reflect the proportion of the period worked and the Committee may set
different performance measures and targets, depending on the timing and nature of the appointment.

•

In the case of an Executive Director being recruited overseas, being recruited by the Company to relocate overseas, or an existing Executive Director
being asked to relocate overseas, expatriate benefits may be provided for a specified period. The Committee may also approve the payment of
one-off relocation-related expenses and legal fees.

•

Maximum variable pay is limited under the policy to 350% of salary. However, the Committee may offer additional cash and/or share-based elements
to compensate an individual for remuneration forfeited on leaving a former employer, if it considers these to be in the best interests of the Company
(and therefore its shareholders). Such payments would take account of remuneration relinquished and would mirror (as far as possible) the delivery
mechanism, time horizons and performance requirement attached to that remuneration. Where possible any such payments would be facilitated
through the Company’s existing share plans, but, if not, the awards may be granted outside these plans as permitted under the Listing Rules which
allow for the grant of awards to facilitate the recruitment of an Executive Director.

•

In the case of an internal appointment, any variable pay element awarded in respect of the prior role will be allowed to pay out according to its
original terms or adjusted as considered appropriate to reflect the new role.

Executive Directors’ service agreements
Olivier Brousse entered into a service agreement with the Company on 16 January 2015, and gave notice on 22 January 2020. Luciana Germinario entered
into a service agreement with the Company on 22 January 2019 and gave notice on 31 July 2020. Ben Loomes entered into a service contract with the
Company on 29 April 2020. Rob Memmott entered into a service contract with the Company on 4 January 2021. There is no fixed term and the contracts
continue until terminated by either party giving 12 months’ notice.
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Policy on payment for departure from office
The Company is entitled to terminate the Executive Directors’ employment by payment of a cash sum in lieu of notice equal to salary and the cost to
the Company of providing contractual benefits (including pension but excluding bonus) during what would otherwise have been the notice period.
A payment in lieu of notice can, at the Company’s discretion, be paid as a lump sum or in equal monthly instalments over the notice period. There
is a mechanism in the service agreement to reduce the instalments where the Executive Director commences alternative employment during the
notice period.
The Company may also terminate the Executive Directors’ employment with immediate effect and with no liability to make any further payments
in certain prescribed circumstances (e.g. in the case of a serious or repeated breach of the Executive Directors’ obligations). Outplacement services
and reimbursement of legal costs may also be provided. Where appropriate, medical coverage may continue for a period post cessation.
The Committee may pay any statutory entitlements or settle or compromise claims in connection with a termination of employment, where considered
in the best interest of the Company.
The table below sets out the general position in respect of incentive arrangements for departing Executive Directors. In accordance with the terms of the
relevant incentive plan rules, and based on the circumstances of any departure, the Committee has discretion to determine how an Executive Director
should be categorised for each element and determine the relevant vesting levels:

Voluntary resignation or termination for cause
Annual bonus

No entitlement.

DSBP

Unvested awards will lapse upon cessation of employment.

LTIP

Unvested awards will lapse upon cessation of employment.

Death, ill health, disability, redundancy or retirement agreed with the Board or for any other reason determined by the Committee
Annual bonus

Bonus may be payable subject to performance. Awards normally pro-rated based on the period worked during the
financial year. If the executive has left employment by the payment date, the bonus will be paid wholly in cash.

DSBP

Unvested awards granted prior to 9 May 2019 will vest on the date of cessation with no pro-rata reduction. Awards
granted after 9 May 2019 will continue to vest on the normal vesting date, unless the Committee determines that
early vesting should apply.

LTIP

Awards will vest on the normal vesting date, subject to performance and a time pro-rata reduction.
The Committee may, in its absolute discretion, determine that awards can vest, subject to performance, earlier
than the normal vesting date and, if a participant dies, the award will ordinarily vest, subject to performance,
on the date of death unless the Committee decides it should vest on the normal vesting date.
In any of the circumstances described above, the Committee may determine that the pro-rata reduction should
not apply at all or should apply to a lesser extent if it considers that exceptional circumstances justify such
treatment.
The post-vesting holding requirement and post-employment shareholding policy continues to apply.

Departure on agreed terms
This will normally fall between the two treatments described above, subject to the discretion of the Committee and the terms of any termination agreement.

Any outstanding awards under an all-employee share plan or separate buy-out arrangements entered into on the recruitment of an Executive Director
will be treated in accordance with the terms of the relevant plan/award.
In the event of a change of control or voluntary winding-up, unvested LTIP awards will vest at the time of the relevant event subject to performance and
a time-based pro-rata reduction (although the Committee may determine that the pro-rata reduction should not apply at all or should apply to a lesser
extent if it considers that exceptional circumstances justify such a treatment). Unvested DSBP awards will vest early and in full. The Committee may
require LTIP and DSBP awards to be exchanged for equivalent awards over shares in a new holding company if the change of control is part of an internal
reorganisation.
In the event that a demerger, special dividend or other similar event is proposed which, in the opinion of the Committee, would affect the price of a share
to a material extent, the Committee may decide that unvested LTIP and DSBP awards will vest on the same basis as described above or that such awards
should be adjusted in such manner as the Committee may determine.

Annual Report and Accounts 2020

130
Directors’ Remuneration Policy continued

External Board appointments
The Committee recognises that Executive Directors may be invited to become non-executive directors in other companies and that these appointments
can enhance their knowledge and experience to the benefit of the Company. It is the Company’s policy that Board approval is required before any
external appointment may be accepted by an Executive Director. The Executive Director is permitted to retain any fees paid for such services1.
1 Ben Loomes is a non-executive director of Ambac Assurance UK Limited, and received £54,000 in fees during 2020 in respect of this appointment.

Remuneration for the Chairman and Non-executive Directors
Fee policy

The Chairman is paid an all-inclusive fee for all Board responsibilities.
The other Non-executive Directors receive a basic Board fee, with supplementary fees payable for additional Board responsibilities
(e.g. for Chair of a Board Committee, the role of Senior Independent Director or other Board appointed role).
The Non-executive Directors do not participate in any of the Company’s incentive arrangements.
The maximum aggregate fee is set at £750,000 in the Company’s Articles of Association. Current fee levels are set out in the Annual
Report on Remuneration on page 122. Fee levels are reviewed on a periodic basis, and may be increased taking into account factors
such as the scope and time commitment of the role and market levels in companies of comparable size and complexity and other
broadly comparable companies. Additional fees may be paid as appropriate.

Expenses

The Chairman and the Non-executive Directors are entitled to reimbursement of reasonable expenses (and any tax payable thereon).

Letters of
appointment
and policy on
termination

The letter of appointment for the Chairman states that his appointment will be subject to annual re-election at the AGM. The
appointment is terminable by either party giving to the other six months’ written notice or at any time in accordance with the Articles
of Association of the Company (without prejudice to the Chairman’s right to receive six months’ payment in lieu of notice unless the
removal is as a result of a serious default on his part).
The appointments of the other Non-executive Directors are for initial terms of three years. The Non-executive Directors are subject
to annual re-election by the Company’s shareholders. Their appointments may be terminated at any time upon written notice or in
accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company or upon their resignation. The Non-executive Directors are not entitled
to receive any compensation on termination of their appointment.
Director

Date of letter of appointment

Will Samuel

7 December 2017

Andrea Abt

10 May 2018

Jeremy Beeton

18 December 2014 1, 2

Leanne Bell

5 November 2020

Toby Hiscock 3

16 January 2015 1, 2

Philip Keller

1 January 2020

David Rough

17 December 2014 1, 2

Lisa Stone

5 November 2020

Anne Wade⁴

17 December 2014 1, 2

1 The agreements were conditional on and did not become effective until the Company’s admission to the Official List on 17 February 2015.
2 Amendments to the letters of appointment were signed in January 2018, extending the terms by a further three years to 16 February 2021. Further amendments to
the letters of appointment were signed in March 2021, extending the terms by a further three years to 16 February 2024.
3 Toby Hiscock retired from the Board with effect from 7 May 2020.
4 Anne Wade retired from the Board with effect from 31 January 2021.

Recruitment policy

John Laing Group plc

For the appointment of a new Chairman or Non-executive Director, the fee arrangement would be set in accordance with the
approved Remuneration Policy in force at that time.
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Directors’ report

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statement of John Laing Group plc (the ‘Company’) together with its subsidiary undertakings
(the ‘Group’) for the year ended 31 December 2020. The Directors’ Report and the Strategic Report, which includes the trends and factors likely to affect
the future development, performance and position of the business and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties of the Group (which can be
found on pages 8 to 81 and is incorporated by reference), collectively comprise the management report as required under the Disclosure and
Transparency Rules (the ‘DTR’) (DTR4.1.5R).

Additional disclosures
In accordance with the UK Financial Conduct Authority’s Listing Rules, the information to be included in the 2020 Annual Report and Accounts, where
applicable, under Listing Rule 9.8.4, is set out in this Directors’ Report.
The information required by Listing Rule 9.8.4R is disclosed in the following pages:
Disclosure

Page

Long-term incentive schemes

108 to 130

Unaudited financial information

192 to 194

Contracts of significance

134

Shareholder waiver of dividends

131

Shareholder waiver of future dividends

131

Disclosures relating to capitalised interest, waiver of emoluments or of future emoluments by a Director, non-pro-rata allotments for cash (issuer or
major subsidiaries), parent participation in placing by a listed company, provision of services by a controlling shareholder or agreements with controlling
shareholders do not apply to the Company.

Principal activities
John Laing is an originator, active investor and manager of infrastructure projects internationally. John Laing Group plc is a public company incorporated
in England and Wales with company number 05975300.
A list of the Company’s investments and subsidiaries at 31 December 2020 can be found in note 10 to the Company financial statements on pages 184 to
191 of this Annual Report.
The principal activity of the Company is to act as the holding company of the Group.
The Directors are not aware, at the date of this report, of any major changes in the Group’s activities in the coming year.

Results and dividends
The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in the Group Income Statement on page 143. The Group loss before tax for the year
ended 31 December 2020 was £65 million (2019: profit £100 million).
The Company-only profit after tax for the year was £95 million (see page 178) (2019: £124 million).
The Board proposes, subject to the approval of shareholders at the AGM to be held on 6 May 2021, that a base dividend of 3.76 pence per ordinary share,
plus a special dividend of 4.06 pence per ordinary share, totalling a final dividend of 7.82 pence per ordinary share be paid on 14 May 2021 to shareholders
whose names are on the register of members at the close of business on 30 April 2021. Further information on the final dividend can be found on page
145. This payment, together with the interim dividend of 1.88 pence per ordinary share paid on 23 October 2020, makes a total for the year of 9.70 pence
per share.
During the year under review Equiniti Trust (Jersey) Limited, trustee of the John Laing Group Employee Benefit Trust, has waived its entitlement to
dividends.
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Performance monitoring
The delivery of the Group’s strategic objectives is monitored by the Board through Key Performance Indicators (‘KPIs’), set out in the Summary Financial
Information section, and regular periodic review of various aspects of the Group’s operations. The Group considers that the KPIs listed on pages 24 and 25
are appropriate measures to assess the delivery of the Group’s strategy.

Changes to the Board during the year
Changes to the composition of the Board since 1 January 2020 up to the date of this report are shown on the table below.
Joined the Board

Olivier Brousse
Ben Loomes

7 May 2020
8 May 2020

Luciana Germinario

3 August 2020

Leanne Bell

1 December 2020

Lisa Stone

1 December 2020

Anne Wade
Rob Memmott

Left the Board

31 January 2021
6 January 2021

Appointment and retirement of Directors
The appointment and retirement of Directors is governed by the Company’s Articles of Association, the UK Corporate Governance Code and the
Companies Act 2006. The Company’s Articles may only be amended by a special resolution of the shareholders in a general meeting.
The Company does not have any agreements with any Director or employee that would provide compensation for loss of office or employment resulting
from a takeover, except that provisions of the Company’s Long Term Incentive Plan and Deferred Share Bonus Plan may cause unvested awards granted
to Directors and employees to vest on a takeover.
In the interests of good governance and in accordance with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code, all Directors will retire, and those
wishing to serve again will submit themselves for re-election at the 2021 AGM.
Biographies of current Directors can be found on pages 82 to 85. Details of the Directors seeking election or re-election at the AGM are set out in the
Notice of Meeting.

Powers of the Directors
Subject to the Articles, the Companies Act 2006 (the ‘Act’) and any directions given by the Company by special resolution and any relevant statutes and
regulations, the business of the Company will be managed by the Board who may exercise all the powers of the Company. Specific powers relating to the
allotment and issuance of ordinary shares and the ability of the Company to purchase its own securities are also included within the Articles, and such
authorities are submitted for approval by shareholders at the AGM each year.
The Company has not utilised its authority to make market purchases of shares granted at the 2020 AGM but, in line with market practice, will be seeking
to renew such authority at this year’s AGM.

Directors’ interests
The Directors’ interests in, and options over, ordinary shares in the Company are shown in the Directors’ Remuneration Report. Since the year end, there
have been no changes to such interests.
In line with the requirements of the Act, Directors have a statutory duty to avoid situations in which they have, or may have, interests that conflict with
those of the Company unless that conflict is first authorised by the Board.
The Company has in place procedures for reviewing and managing conflicts of interest as noted in the Corporate Governance Report on page 95.
Directors have a duty to notify the Chairman and Group Company Secretary as soon as they become aware of actual or potential conflict situations.
The Company’s Articles contain provisions to allow the Directors to authorise potential conflicts of interest, so that if approved, Directors will not be
in breach of their duty under company law.
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Directors’ and Officers’ indemnities
The Company has purchased and maintains appropriate insurance cover in respect of Directors’ and Officers’ liabilities. The Directors and Group
Company Secretary of the Company and the directors of the Company’s subsidiaries have the benefit of a third-party indemnity provision, as defined
by section 236 of the Act, pursuant to the Company’s Articles.
The Directors of the Company have entered into individual deeds of indemnity with the Company which constituted ‘qualifying third-party indemnity
provisions’ for the purposes of the Companies Act 2006. The deeds indemnify the Directors to the maximum extent permitted by law and remain in
force. The deeds were in force during the whole of the financial year or from the date of appointment in respect of the Directors appointed in 2020.
Deeds for current Directors are available for inspection at the Company’s registered office.
The Company has also granted deeds of indemnity by deed poll which constitute ‘qualifying third-party indemnity provisions’ to the directors of the
Group’s subsidiary companies, including to former directors who retired during the year and since the year ends, and to remain in force as at the date
of this report.

Share capital and shareholder voting rights
Details of the Company’s issued share capital and the rights attached to the shares, together with details of movements in the issued share capital
during the year, are showing in note 20 to the Group financial statements on page 174 of this Annual Report. All ordinary shares, including those acquired
through the Company share schemes, rank equally with no special rights. There are no known arrangements that may restrict the transfer of shares or
voting rights.
All shareholders are entitled to attend and speak at general meetings of the Company, appoint proxies, receive any dividends, exercise voting rights and
transfer shares without restriction. On a show of hands at a general meeting every member present in person shall have one vote, and on a poll, every
member present in person or by proxy shall have one vote for every ordinary share held.

Significant shareholders
Information provided to the Company by significant shareholders pursuant to the DTR is published via a Regulatory Information Service.
As at 31 December 2020 and 3 March 2021, being the last practicable date, the Company had been notified by its significant shareholders under Rule 5
of the DTR of the following interests in the Company’s shares:
Notification received by

31 December
20201

% of issued
share capital1

3 March
2021

% of issued
share capital

Standard Life Aberdeen plc

73,797,856

14.96

73,669,035

14.94

BlackRock, Inc

21,976,570

5.04

26,324,740

5.63

Baille Gifford & Co

24,734,900

5.04

SFM UK Management LLP

24,693,676

5.00

Aegon Asset Management UK plc (previously Kames Capital plc)

14,979,178

3.03

14,749,899

2.99

1 Number of shares and percentage provided was correct at the date of notification.

The processes by which the Company seeks to understand the views of its major shareholders are described on page 26.

Articles of Association
In accordance with the Act, the Articles may only be amended by special resolution of the Company’s shareholders in a general meeting.

Transactions with related parties
During the period, the Company did not enter into any material transactions with any related parties, other than those disclosed in note 24 of the
financial statements.

Political donations
The Group made no political donations during 2020 (2019: nil). It remains the Company’s policy not to make political donations. However, the application
of the relevant provisions of the Act is potentially very broad in nature and, as it did last year, the Board will be seeking shareholder authority to make
political donations up to a defined limit to ensure that the Group does not inadvertently breach these provisions as a result of the breadth of its business
activities, although the Board has no intention of using this authority.

Greenhouse gas emissions
Greenhouse gas emissions are detailed in the Strategic Report on pages 76 and 77.

Branches
The Company and its subsidiaries have established branches in certain of the countries in which the Group operates.
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Auditor
The Company’s auditor is Deloitte LLP (the ‘External Auditor’). A resolution proposing reappointment of Deloitte LLP as auditor and authorising the
Directors to set its remuneration are included in the Notice of Meeting and will be put to shareholders at the 2021 AGM.

Statement of Disclosure of Information to the External Auditor
In accordance with Section 418(2) of the Act, each Director in office at the date the Directors’ Report is approved confirms that:
•

So far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s External Auditor is unaware; and

•

The Director has taken all steps that he/she ought to have taken as a Director in order to make himself/herself aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the Company’s External Auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the Companies Act 2006.

Key events and future developments
The key events during the year and the development of the business of the John Laing group of companies are set out in the Strategic Report on pages 8
to 81. The Strategic Report includes the Financial Review on pages 38 to 45, the viability statement on page 52 and the principal risks facing the Group on
pages 54 to 61.

Research and development
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries undertake any research or development activities.

Financial instruments
The Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies and its exposure to the following risks – market, credit, price, liquidity and capital
– are detailed in note 18 to the Group financial statements.

Post balance sheet events
Post balance sheet events are detailed in note 25 to the Group financial statements.

Material contracts
The Group’s £650 million committed corporate banking facilities dated 25 July 2018, currently comprise £500 million committed until 25 July 2023 and
£150 million until 25 January 2023 and include a change of control clause. In the event of a change of control occurring, it would be expected that new
financing arrangements to fund outstanding utilisations would need to be made by the incoming owners.

Employees
The Group seeks to ensure employee commitment to its objectives in a number of ways. Strategic changes are communicated directly to all employees
and resultant queries are handled by the relevant business heads or Executive Committee members as appropriate. Regular team briefings at local level
provide employees with information about the performance of, and initiatives in, their part of the business. A wide range of information is also
communicated across the Group’s intranet.
The framework within which decisions about people are made is set out in the Group’s personnel policies which are available to all employees. It is part of
those policies to employ and train disabled people whenever their skills and qualifications allow and when suitable vacancies arise. If existing employees
become disabled, every effort is made to find them appropriate work and training as provided if necessary.
Further details relating to employees of the Group (including details of certain of the Group’s employment policies) can be found on pages 64 to 67 of the
Responsible Employer section of the Annual Report. Details regarding workforce engagement can been found on pages 66 and 86.
The Directors’ Report, the Strategic Report, the Corporate Governance Report and the Directors’ Remuneration Report were approved by the Board
on 3 March 2021.

Governance arrangements
Information regarding the Company’s governance arrangements is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 86 to 97. These pages are
incorporated by reference into the Directors’ Report.
On behalf of the Board

Clare Underwood
Group Company Secretary
3 March 2021

John Laing Group plc

Overview

Strategic Report

Governance

Financial Statements

135

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors are required to prepare the
Group and Parent Company financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) as adopted by the European
Union (EU) and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation and have also chosen to prepare the Parent Company financial statements under IFRS as adopted by the EU.
Under company law the Directors must not approve the accounts unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company and Group for that period. In preparing these financial statements, International
Accounting Standard 1 requires that the Directors:
•

Properly select and apply accounting policies;

•

Present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable information;

•

Provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS is insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of
particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance; and

•

Make an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s transactions and disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements and
the Directors’ Remuneration Report comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.
A copy of the financial statements is placed on our website at www.laing.com. The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the
Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation
in other jurisdictions.
Each of the current Directors who are in office as at the date of this report, and whose names and functions are listed on page 82 to 85 of this Annual
Report, confirm that to the best of his or her knowledge:
•

The financial statements, prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position
and profit or loss of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole;

•

The management report contained in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report includes a fair review of the development and performance
of the business and the position of the Company and Group, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face; and

The Directors consider that the Annual Report and financial statements, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provide the
information necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s position and performance, business model and strategy. The Directors have also
separately reviewed and approved the Strategic Report.
This responsibility statement was approved by the Board of Directors on 3 March 2021 and is signed on its behalf by:

Ben Loomes			
Chief Executive Officer		

Rob Memmott
Chief Financial Officer

3 March 2021			

3 March 2021
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of John Laing Group plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements
1. Opinion
In our opinion:
•

the financial statements of John Laing Group plc (the ‘Company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s
and of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2020 and of the Group’s loss for the year then ended;

•

the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as adopted by the European Union as adopted by
the European Union;

•

the Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice,
including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”; and

•

the Company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:
•

the Group Income Statement;

•

the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income;

•

the Group and Company Balance Sheets;

•

the Group and Company Statements of Changes in Equity;

•

the Group Cash Flow Statement; and

•

the related notes 1 to 25 to the Group financial statements and the related notes 1 to 10 to the Company financial statements.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements is applicable law, and international
accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and IFRSs as adopted by the European Union. The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting
Standards, including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”.

2. Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (‘ISAs (UK)’) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group and the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements
in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard as applied to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We confirm that the non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard
were not provided to the Group or the Company.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

3. Summary of our audit approach
Key audit matters

The key audit matters that we identified in the current year were:
•

Fair value of investments; and

•

Valuation of pension scheme liabilities.

Materiality

The materiality that we used for the Group financial statements was £15 million which was determined on the basis of
shareholders’ equity.

Scoping

Our Group audit scope comprises the audit of John Laing Group plc as well as the Group’s subsidiaries. Our audit scope
primarily focused on the fair value of those investments which are significant to the Group.
In addition, the Group team performs full scope audits for the subsidiaries, which are subject to statutory audit requirements.
Those entities not subject to an underlying statutory audit are audited based on 90% of Group materiality. 100% of Group
revenue, loss before tax and net assets are covered by auditing these entities.

Significant changes
in our approach

John Laing Group plc

There has been no significant change in our audit approach in the current year.
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4. Conclusions relating to going concern
Our evaluation of the Directors’ assessment of the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:
•

Testing of the mechanical accuracy of the model used to prepare the going concern forecasts;

•

Evaluating the consistency of management’s forecasts with other areas of the audit;

•

Challenging the key assumptions within the going concern assessment including in relation to investment commitments including the
appropriateness of COVID-19 and Brexit assumptions;

•

Obtaining an understanding of the base and plausible downside case scenarios together with financing facilities available to the Group, including the
associated financial covenants;

•

Assessing the impact of reverse stress testing on the Group’s covenant calculations;

•

Evaluated the mitigating actions available to Management, should these be required to offset the impact of the forecast performance not being achieved;

•

Assessed the level of headroom in the forecasts (for both cash and covenants); and

•

Challenged the sufficiency of the disclosures over going concern basis of preparation by reference to FRC guidance and the requirements of IAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively,
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least 12 months from when the financial
statements are authorised for issue.
In relation to the reporting on how the Group has applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing material to add or draw attention to in
relation to the Directors’ statement in the financial statements about whether the Directors considered it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis
of accounting.
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.

5. Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current
period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included
those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

5.1. Fair value of investments
Key audit matter
description

Background
The Group holds a range of investments in infrastructure assets. The total value of these assets at 31 December 2020 was
£1,542 million (31 December 2019: £1,768 million) as disclosed in note 13 to the Group financial statements.
The Group measures the value of its investments at each reporting date at fair value. All investments are valued using a
discounted cash flow methodology or fixed to the offer price where a binding offer has been received from a third party.
The investments are held across a range of different PPP sectors and Renewable Energy assets across Europe, North America,
Asia-Pacific, and Latin America.
The portfolio valuation was determined by Management at 31 December 2020. In addition, an independent valuation range was
obtained from a third party in respect of the fair market value of the portfolio as a whole.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The valuation of investments is a key source of estimation uncertainty underpinned by a number of key assumptions and
estimates. The key estimate is the discount rates used in the portfolio valuation. Management is required to assess, both from
observations of the market and of their own transactions, as to whether there has been a change in discount rates. Given the
level of estimation involved in determining the discount rates, we consider this to be a potential fraud risk. There continues to
be a high level of transactional evidence from the Group’s own disposals due to the number of divestments being undertaken.
Other sources of estimation uncertainty include forecast project cash flows, in particular future power prices, macro-economic
assumptions, marginal loss factors and energy yields which impact the value of the Group’s investments in their Renewable
Energy projects, and value enhancements.
More information on the valuation and valuation methodology (including the discount rates adopted, the relevant sensitivity of
the valuation of investments to a change in those rates and the relevant sensitivity of the valuation to a change in future power
prices, marginal loss factors and energy yields) can be found in the Portfolio Valuation section of the Strategic Report on page
46, in the Audit & Risk Committee report on page 101 and in note 4 to the Group financial statements.
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5.1. Fair value of investments continued
How the scope of our
audit responded to
the key audit matter

Key observations

•

We obtained an understanding of the relevant controls in the valuation process.

•

We met with the regional directors to enhance our knowledge of the portfolio and to assist in our ability to identify specific
key assumptions or risks for certain assets.

•

We assessed the impact of COVID-19 on the different assumptions being made within the valuations.

•

We involved our local valuation specialists in the US, Australia, and Europe to provide us with their views on the local market
and assess the reasonableness of Management’s discount rates on a sample of assets.

•

We met with the Group’s independent valuer to understand and challenge the work they have undertaken in relation to the
discount rates adopted. Our valuation specialists also met with the local teams of the independent valuer and the Group’s
local valuation teams.

•

We assessed the competence and independence of the independent valuer.

•

We benchmarked Management’s discount rates against external market data, as well as retrospectively reviewing the
discount rate used to the Group’s disposals in the current and previous periods. We also compared the discount rates on
key assets to each other to ensure that we understood why the discount rates applied to projects differ.

•

We agreed a sample of project models to lender-approved models, reviewing and assessing key changes in cash flows since
the prior year. We identified the key drivers in value and the cash flows and agreed these to supporting evidence.

•

We obtained an update on energy yield assessments, agreeing the latest forecasts to appropriate external evidence.

•

We assessed the macro-economic assumptions adopted (including inflation and foreign exchange rates) and forward
power prices.

•

We updated our understanding of the progress on key construction projects including how project-specific issues have
been factored into the valuation.

•

We obtained evidence to substantiate the inclusion of any significant value enhancements, including re-valuing a sample of
these enhancements and assessing the level of evidence to support the inclusion of this sample in the investment value.

•

We met with the Group legal team to understand any significant legal issues which have impacted projects.

•

We assessed the investment valuation disclosures within the financial statements.

•

We consider the judgements adopted in valuing the Group’s investments as a whole to be appropriate and within an
acceptable range.

•

We consider the disclosures in respect of the valuation of investments to be appropriate.

5.2. Valuation of pension scheme liabilities
Key audit matter
description

Background
The Group has two defined benefit pension schemes, being the John Laing Pension Fund (the ‘Fund’) and the John Laing
Pension Plan (the ‘Plan’), both accounted for in accordance with IAS 19 Employee Benefits (‘IAS 19’). The combined IAS 19 surplus
at 31 December 2019 was £19 million (31 December 2019 surplus: £13 million). Total retirement benefit obligations liabilities at
31 December 2020 were £1,336 million (31 December 2019: £1,217 million).
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The valuation of the pension fund liabilities within the surplus of the Fund is underpinned by the determination of the discount,
inflation and mortality rates all of which require estimation. The results of the March 2019 triennial valuation of the Fund, which
was completed in the year, have been built into the 31 December 2020 IAS 19 valuation.
We consider this to be a potential fraud risk due to the sensitivity of the valuation to changes in its underlying assumptions due
to the quantum of the defined benefit obligation liability, and due to the management judgement involved in deciding on the
underlying assumptions.
For further information, see note 19 to the Group financial statements and the Audit & Risk Committee report on page 102 and
the Group’s disclosures around critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty in note 4 to the Group
financial statements.
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5.2. Valuation of pension scheme liabilities Continued
How the scope of our
audit responded to
the key audit matter

Key observations

•

We obtained an understanding of the relevant controls in the valuation of the pension scheme liabilities.

•

In conjunction with our internal actuarial specialists, we assessed and challenged the reasonableness of the discount,
inflation and mortality rates adopted through comparison to our internal benchmarks and the assumptions adopted by
other companies.

•

We assessed whether all the disclosure requirements of IAS 19 and IAS 1 have been included in the financial statements.

•

We consider the estimates adopted by the Group in valuing the pension scheme liabilities (including the discount, inflation
and mortality rates) to be appropriate and consistent with our own internal benchmarks.

•

We also consider the disclosures around the valuation of the pension scheme liabilities to be appropriate.

6. Our application of materiality
6.1. Materiality
We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably
knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use materiality both in planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of
our work.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:
Group financial statements

Company financial statements

Materiality

£15.0 million (31 December 2019: £17.0 million)

£13.5 million (31 December 2019: £15.3 million)

Basis for determining
materiality

1% of Group shareholders’ equity (31 December 2019: 1%)

1% of Company shareholders’ equity capped at 90% of Group
materiality (31 December 2019: 1% capped at 90%)

Rationale for the
benchmark applied

Shareholders’ equity was selected as net asset value and is a
key performance indicator for the Group. This is consistent
with the prior year.

Shareholders’ equity was selected as net asset value is a key
performance indicator for the Company. This is consistent with
the prior year.

Shareholders’ equity

£1,529m

Group materiality £15m
Audit and Risk Committee Reporting £750k

Shareholders’ equity
Group materiality

6.2. Performance materiality
We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate, uncorrected and undetected misstatements
exceed the materiality for the financial statements as a whole.
Group financial statements

Company financial statements

Performance
materiality

65% (31 December 2019: 70%) of Group materiality

65% (31 December 2019: 70%) of Company materiality

Basis and rationale
for determining
performance
materiality

In determining performance materiality, we considered our risk assessment, including our assessment of the Group’s overall
control environment. Our past experience of the audit has indicated a low number of corrected and uncorrected
misstatements in prior periods. However, we consider the transition of all staff to remote working during COVID-19 to be
significant and have therefore decreased our performance materiality factor by 5% versus the prior year.

6.3. Error reporting threshold
We agreed with the Audit & Risk Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of £750,000 (2019: £750,000), as well as
differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. We also report to the Audit & Risk Committee on
disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements.
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7. An overview of the scope of our audit
7.1. Identification and scoping of components
Our Group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment, including Group-wide controls, and assessing
the risks of material misstatement at the Group level. Our audit scope primarily focused on the fair value of those investments which are
significant to the Group.
A full scope audit is performed on 21 (2019: 26) entities comprising a mix of those entities in the fair value group and those entities which provide
investment-related services and which are consolidated into the Group financial statements. Materialities range from £8k to £13.5 million (2019: £10k to
£15.3 million). 100% of Group revenue, loss before tax and net assets are covered by auditing these entities. All audit work is performed by the Group audit
team.
At the Group level we also tested the consolidation process and carried out analytical procedures to confirm our conclusion that there were no
significant risks of material misstatement on the aggregated financial information of the remaining subsidiaries not subject to audit or audit of specified
account balances.
The Group audit team were not able to visit the Group’s operational sites nor a sample of the Group’s investments during FY20 due to the travel
restrictions relating to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. Over the past three years, the Group audit team has visited 11 of the Group’s investments which
covered 37% of the investment portfolio by value at 31 December 2020.

7.2. Our consideration of the control environment
We have obtained an understanding of the control environment and the relevant controls to address our significant risks and other key account balances
including valuation of the investment portfolio, pension liabilities, financial reporting and consolidation, expenditure and payroll.

8. Other information
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
The Directors are responsible for the other information contained within the Annual Report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material
misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

9. Responsibilities of Directors
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and
for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate
the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

10. Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

11. Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined
above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.
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11.1. Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities
In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations, we
considered the following:
•

the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance including the design of the Group’s remuneration policies, key
drivers for Directors’ remuneration, bonus levels and performance targets;

•

the Group’s own assessment of the risks that irregularities may occur either as a result of fraud or error that was approved by the Audit & Risk
Committee on behalf of the Board on 28 January 2021;

•

results of our enquiries of management, internal audit and the Audit & Risk Committee about their own identification and assessment of the risks of
irregularities;

•

any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the Group’s documentation of their policies and procedures relating to:

•

–

identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any instances of non-compliance;

–

detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;

–

the internal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations;

the matters discussed among the audit engagement team and involving relevant internal specialists, including tax, valuations, pensions and industry
specialists regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements and any potential indicators of fraud.

As a result of these procedures, we considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and identified the
greatest potential for fraud in the following areas: fair value of investments, and the valuation of pension scheme liabilities. In common with all audits
under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of management override.
We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the Group operates in, focusing on provisions of those laws and
regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The key laws and regulations we
considered in this context included the UK Companies Act, Listing Rules, pensions legislation and tax legislation.

11.2.

Audit response to risks identified

As a result of performing the above, we identified the fair value of investments and the valuation of pension scheme liabilities as key audit matters related
to the potential risk of fraud. The key audit matters section of our report explains the matters in more detail and also describes the specific procedures
we performed in response to those key audit matters.
In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to risks identified included the following:
•

reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions of relevant laws and
regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;

•

enquiring of management, the Audit & Risk Committee and in-house legal counsel concerning actual and potential litigation and claims;

•

performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material misstatement due to fraud;

•

reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance and reviewing internal audit reports; and

•

in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments;
assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluating the business rationale of
any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team members including internal specialists,
and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
12. Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
•

the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is
consistent with the financial statements; and

•

the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not
identified any material misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Directors’ Report.
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13. Corporate Governance Statement
The Listing Rules require us to review the Directors’ statement in relation to going concern, longer-term viability and that part of the Corporate
Governance Statement relating to the Group’s compliance with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code specified for our review.
Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the following elements of the Corporate Governance Statement is
materially consistent with the financial statements and our knowledge obtained during the audit:
•

the Directors’ statement with regard to the appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis of accounting and any material uncertainties
identified set out on page 45;

•

the Directors’ explanation as to its assessment of the Group’s prospects, the period this assessment covers and why the period is appropriate set out
on page 52;

•

the Directors’ statement on fair, balanced and understandable set out on page 135;

•

the Board’s confirmation that it has carried out a robust assessment of the emerging and principal risks set out on page 53;

•

the section of the Annual Report that describes the review of effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems set out on page 54; and

•

the section describing the work of the Audit & Risk Committee set out on page 98.

14. Matters on which we are required to report by exception
14.1. Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
•

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

•

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not
visited by us; or

•

the Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

14.2. Directors’ remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our opinion certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration have not been made or the
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited is not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

15. Other matters which we are required to address
15.1. Auditor tenure
Following the recommendation of the Audit & Risk Committee, we were appointed by the Board of John Laing Group plc at the Annual General Meeting
on 7 May 2020 to audit the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2020 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total
uninterrupted engagement including previous renewals and reappointments of the firm is 13 years, covering the years ending 31 December 2008 to
31 December 2020.

15.2. Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the Audit & Risk Committee
Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Audit & Risk Committee we are required to provide in accordance with ISAs (UK).

16. Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has
been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Claire Faulkner FCA (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor
London, United Kingdom
3 March 2021
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Group Income Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Net gain on investments at fair value through profit or loss

Notes

Year ended
31 December
2020
£ million

Year ended
31 December
2019
£ million

13

16

147

Other income

8

9

32

Operating income

5

25

179

Administrative expenses
(Loss)/profit from operations
Finance costs
(Loss)/profit before tax
Tax (charge)/credit

9

(78)

(68)

(53)

111

11

(12)

5

(65)

12

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to the shareholders of the Company

(11)
100

(1)

–

(66)

100

(Loss)/earnings per share (pence)
Basic

6

(13.3)

20.4

Diluted

6

(13.2)

20.2

All results are from continuing operations and are attributable to ordinary equity holders.
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Group Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Note

(Loss)/profit for the year

Year ended
31 December
2020
£ million

Year ended
31 December
2019
£ million

(66)

100

(17)

19

Other comprehensive (expense)/income for the year

(17)

19

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year

(83)

119

Remeasurement (loss)/gain on retirement benefit obligations

19

The remeasurement (loss)/gain on retirement benefit obligations will not be subsequently reclassified to the Group Income Statement.
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Group Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Share capital
£ million

Share
premium
£ million

Other
reserves
£ million

Retained
earnings
£ million

Total equity
£ million

49

416

2

1,191

1,658

Loss for the year

–

–

–

(66)

(66)

Other comprehensive expense for the year

–

–

–

(17)

(17)

Notes

Balance at 1 January 2020

Total comprehensive loss for the year

–

–

–

(83)

(83)

Share-based incentives

7

–

–

1

–

1

Vesting of share-based incentives

7

–

–

(2)

2

–

–

–

–

(47)

(47)

49

416

1

1,063

1,529

Share capital
£ million

Share
premium
£ million

Other
reserves
£ million

Retained
earnings
£ million

Total equity
£ million

49

416

6

1,115

1,586

Profit for the year

–

–

–

100

100

Other comprehensive income for the year

–

–

–

19

19

Dividends paid1
Balance at 31 December 2020

						

for the year ended 31 December 2019

Notes

Balance at 1 January 2019

Total comprehensive income for the year

–

–

–

119

119

Share-based incentives

7

–

–

4

–

4

Vesting of share-based incentives

7

–

–

(4)

4

–

Purchase of own shares related to share-based incentives

–

–

(4)

–

(4)

Dividends paid1

–

–

–

(47)

(47)

49

416

2

Balance at 31 December 2019

1,191

1,658

1 Dividends paid.

Year ended
31 December
2020
pence

Year ended
31 December
2019
pence

Dividends on ordinary shares
Per ordinary share:
– final paid

7.66

7.70

– interim proposed and paid

1.88

1.84

– final proposed

7.82

7.66

The total estimated amount to be paid in May 2021 in respect of the proposed final dividend for 2020 is £39 million based on the number of shares in issue as at 31 December 2020. The final dividend
paid for 2020 will depend on the number of share-based incentives vesting in March 2021 and April 2021 before the final dividend is paid.
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Group Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2020

Notes

31 December
2020
£ million

31 December
2019
£ million

Non-current assets
Right-of-use assets

5

4

Plant and equipment

1

–

Investments at fair value through profit or loss

13

1,663

1,897

Retirement benefit assets

19

19

13

1,688

1,914

7

6

5

2

Current assets
Trade and other receivables

14

Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets

12

8

1,700

1,922

Current liabilities
Borrowings

16

Trade and other payables

15

Net current liabilities

(136)

(236)

(20)

(15)

(156)

(251)

(144)

(243)

(8)

(7)

(5)

(4)

Non-current liabilities
Retirement benefit obligations

19

Finance lease liabilities
Provisions
Total liabilities

(2)

(2)

(15)

(13)

(171)

Net assets

(264)

1,529

1,658

49

49

Share premium

416

416

Other reserves

1

2

Equity
Share capital

20

Retained earnings

1,063

1,191

Equity attributable to the shareholders of the Company

1,529

1,658

The financial statements of John Laing Group plc, registered number 05975300, were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on
3 March 2021. They were signed on its behalf by:

Ben Loomes		
Chief Executive Officer

Rob Memmott
Chief Financial Officer

3 March 2021		

3 March 2021
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Group Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Notes

Net cash outflow from operating activities

Year ended
31 December
2020
£ million

Year ended
31 December
2019
£ million

21

(87)

(61)

13

250

(50)

Investing activities
Net cash transferred from/(to) investments at fair value through profit or loss
Purchase of plant and equipment
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities

(1)

–

249

(50)

–

(4)

Dividends paid

(47)

(47)

Finance costs paid

(11)

(11)

Financing activities
Purchase of own shares related to share-based incentives

Proceeds from borrowings

310

339

Repayment of borrowings

(411)

(170)

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities

(159)

107

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

3

(4)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

2

6

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

5

2
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

1

General information
The results of John Laing Group plc (the ‘Company’ or the ‘Group’) are stated according to the basis of preparation described in note 3 below. The
Company is a public limited company incorporated in England and Wales and the registered office of the Company is 1 Kingsway, London WC2B 6AN.
The principal activity of the Company is the origination, investment in and management of international infrastructure projects.

2 Adoption of new and revised standards
New and amended IFRS that are effective for the current year
In 2020, the Group adopted a number of amendments to IFRS and interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that
are effective for an annual period that begins on or after 1 January 2020 (and have been endorsed for use within the EU):
•

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

•

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards

•

Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business

•

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of Material

These amendments do not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

New and amended IFRS in issue but not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new and revised standards that have been issued
but are not yet effective and in some cases had not yet been adopted by the EU:
•

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (amendments) Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

•

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

•

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

•

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use

•

Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

•

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 Cycle Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting
Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IFRS 16 Leases, and IAS 41 Agriculture

The Directors do not expect that the adoption of the standards or amendments listed above will have a material impact on the financial statements of
the Group in future periods.

3

Significant accounting policies
a) Basis of preparation
The Group financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and are presented in pounds Sterling and are
rounded to the nearest million.
The Group financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the revaluation of the investment portfolio and other
financial instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The Company has concluded that it meets the definition
of an investment entity as set out in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, paragraph 27 on the following basis:
(i) as an entity listed on the London Stock Exchange, the Company is owned by a number of investors;
(ii) the Company holds a substantial portfolio of investments in project companies through its investment in John Laing Holdco Limited and
intermediate holding companies. The underlying projects have a finite life and the Company has an exit strategy for its investments which is either
to hold them to maturity or, if appropriate, to divest them. Investments in project companies take the form of equity and/or subordinated debt;
(iii) the Group’s business model is to originate, invest in, and actively manage infrastructure assets. It invests in infrastructure projects and aims
to deliver predictable returns and consistent growth from its investment portfolio. The underlying project companies have businesses and
activities that the Group is not directly involved in. The Group’s returns from the provision of management services are typically small in
comparison to the Group’s overall investment-based returns; and
(iv) the Group measures its investments on a fair value basis. Information on the fair value of investments forms part of monthly management reports
reviewed by the Group’s Executive Committee, who are considered to be the Group’s key management personnel, and by its Board of Directors.
Although the Group has a net defined benefit pension surplus, IFRS 10 does not exclude companies with non-investment related balances from
qualifying as investment entities.
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Significant accounting policies continued
Investment entities are required to account for all investments in controlled entities, as well as investments in associates and joint ventures, at
fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL’), except for those directly-owned subsidiaries that provide investment-related services or engage in
permitted investment-related activities with investees (Service Companies). Service Companies are consolidated rather than recorded at FVTPL.
Project companies in which the Group invests are described as “non-recourse”, which means that providers of debt to such project companies
do not have recourse to John Laing beyond its investment commitment in the underlying projects. Subsidiaries through which the Company
holds its investments in project companies, which are held at FVTPL, and subsidiaries that are Service Companies, which are consolidated, are
described as “recourse”.
Unconsolidated project company subsidiaries are part of the non-recourse business. Based on arrangements in place with those subsidiaries, the
Group has concluded that there are no:
a) significant restrictions (resulting from borrowing arrangements, regulatory requirements or contractual arrangements) on the ability of an
unconsolidated subsidiary to transfer funds to the Group in the form of cash dividends or to repay loans or advances made to the
unconsolidated subsidiary by the Group; and
b) current commitments or intentions to provide financial or other support to an unconsolidated subsidiary, including commitments or
intentions to assist the subsidiary in obtaining financial support, beyond the Group’s original investment commitment.
Transactions and balances receivable or payable between recourse subsidiary entities held at fair value and those that are consolidated are
eliminated in the Group financial statements. Transactions and balances receivable or payable between non-recourse project companies held at
fair value and recourse entities that are consolidated are not eliminated in the Group financial statements.
For details of the subsidiaries that are consolidated, see note 10 to the Company financial statements.
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these Group financial statements are set out below. These policies have been
applied consistently to each of the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

b) Going concern
The Directors have reviewed the Group’s financial projections and cash flow forecasts and believe, based on those projections and forecasts and
taking into account expected bidding activity and operational performance, that it is appropriate to prepare the Group financial statements on
the going concern basis.
In arriving at their conclusion, the Directors took into account the financial resources available to the Group from its committed banking facilities
comprising £500 million corporate banking facilities committed until July 2023 and an additional £150 million facilities committed until January
2023. At 31 December 2020, there were available financial resources of £466 million, as detailed in the Financial Review section. Utilisation of the
facilities includes letters of credit issued which, together with cash collateral balances held by the Group, back all future investment
commitments which at 31 December 2020 were £163 million. Investments into project companies are made on a non-recourse basis, which
means that providers of debt to such project companies do not have recourse to the Group beyond its investment.
The completion in October 2020 of the first tranche of the sale of our interest in the IEP East project increased the liquidity of the Group at
31 December 2020 and this will be increased further by the proceeds of AUD285 million (c£158 million) from the disposal of the Australian wind
farm portfolio, which is expected to complete later this month. Completion of the sale of the Group’s remaining 15% interest will take place
before 27 October 2021 at John Laing’s election, and will generate additional cash of £192 million plus interest, calculated at a rate of 7% per
annum. All future capital commitments of £163 million are already supported by letters of credit issued under the banking facilities or cash
collateral. Whilst further divestment processes are in progress, the Group is not reliant on divestment proceeds to meet its debts as they fall due,
to operate within its banking facilities and to comply with the financial covenants over the next 18 months. In determining that the Group is a
going concern, certain risks and uncertainties, some of which have heightened as a result of COVID-19 as described in the Principal Risks section,
have been considered. This has been carried out by running various sensitivities on the Group’s cash flow projections including up to a six-month
delay in planned disposals and reductions in the valuation of investments. The Group has also run a reverse stress test with a six-month delay on
planned divestments and the decline in the investment valuation before there is a covenant breach. This reduction of approximately £650 million
is significant and therefore the Group believes the risk of such a decline to be remote. The Directors have also considered various mitigating
actions that could be undertaken to maintain liquidity including a delay in future investments in order to preserve cash and liquidity. After
making this assessment, the Directors believe that the Group is adequately placed to manage these risks.

c) Revenue
The key accounting policies for the Group’s material revenue streams are as follows:

		(i) Dividend income
Dividend income from investments at FVTPL is recognised when the shareholder’s rights to receive payment have been established
(provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably).
Dividend income is recognised gross of withholding tax, if any, and only when approved and paid.

		

(ii) Net gain on investments at FVTPL
Net gain on investments at FVTPL excludes dividend income referred to above. Please refer to accounting policy e)(i) for further detail.

Annual Report and Accounts 2020

150
Notes to the Group Financial Statements continued

3

Significant accounting policies continued

		

(iii) Revenue from contracts with customers

			

Fees from asset management services
Fees from asset management services comprise fees for providing services under management services agreements to certain projects in
which the Group and other parties invest. These fees are earned under contracts that have a single performance obligation which is to
deliver management services to the customer. Revenue is recognised in accordance with the contract to the extent the performance
obligation is met which is considered to be over time as the services are provided.

			

Recovery of bid costs
The recovery of costs incurred in respect of bidding for new primary investments is recognised when a contract to recover costs is entered
into with either the entity procuring the project or the project company, typically at financial close. This is the point at which the
performance obligation has been met.
Revenue from contracts with customers excludes VAT and the value of intra-Group transactions between recourse subsidiaries held at FVTPL
and those that are consolidated.

d) Dividend payments
Dividends on the Company’s ordinary shares are recognised when they have been appropriately authorised and are no longer at the Company’s
discretion. Accordingly, interim dividends are recognised when they are paid and final dividends are recognised when they are declared
following approval by shareholders at the Company’s AGM. Dividends are recognised as an appropriation of shareholders’ funds.

e) Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group Balance Sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

		(i) Financial assets
All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets.

			

Classification of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost:
•

the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows;
and

•

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI):
•

the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling the
financial assets; and

•

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at FVTPL.
The financial assets that the Group holds are classified as follows:
•

Investments at FVTPL are measured subsequently at FVTPL.

Investments at FVTPL comprise the Group’s investment in John Laing Holdco Limited (through which the Group indirectly holds its
investments in projects) which is valued based on the fair value of investments in project companies and other assets and liabilities of
investment entity subsidiaries. Investments in project companies are recognised as financial assets at FVTPL. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investments in project companies are measured on a combined basis at fair value principally using a discounted cash flow
methodology.
The Directors consider that the carrying value of other assets and liabilities held in investment entity subsidiaries approximates to their fair
value, with the exception of derivatives which are measured in accordance with accounting policy e)(v).
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Significant accounting policies continued
Changes in the fair value of the Group’s investment in John Laing Holdco Limited are recognised within operating income in the Group
Income Statement.
•

Trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest income over the
relevant period.
The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the principal
repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the
maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset
before adjusting for any loss allowance.
•

Cash and cash equivalents in the Group Balance Sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with original
maturities of three months or less. For the purposes of the Group Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and
short-term deposits as defined above but exclude bank overdrafts unless there is a right to offset against corresponding cash balances.

Deposits held with original maturities of greater than three months are shown as other financial assets.

		

(ii) Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables. The amount of expected credit losses is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.
The Group’s financial assets classified as trade and other receivables at 31 December 2020 were only £5 million, or 0.3% of the Group’s net
assets, and therefore any credit risk in relation to the impairment of trade and other receivables is considered to be immaterial.

		

(iii) Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

		

(iv) Financial liabilities and equity

			

Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

			Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

			Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.
The Group’s financial liabilities, which comprise interest-bearing loans and borrowings and trade and other payables, are all measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.
Interest-bearing bank loans and borrowings are initially recorded at fair value, being the proceeds received net of direct issue costs, and
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Finance charges, including premiums payable on settlement or
redemption, and direct issue costs are accounted for on an accruals basis in the Group Income Statement and are added to the carrying
amount of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period in which they arise.
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Significant accounting policies continued

		

(v) Derivative financial instruments
The Group treats forward foreign exchange contracts and currency swap deals it enters into as derivative financial instruments at FVTPL. All
the Group’s derivative financial instruments are held by subsidiaries which are recorded at FVTPL and consequently the fair value of
derivatives is incorporated into investments held at FVTPL. The Group does not apply hedge accounting to its derivative financial
instruments.

f) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when:
•

the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;

•

it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and

•

the amount has been reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required on settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole.

g) Finance costs
Finance costs relating to the corporate banking facilities, other than set-up costs, are recognised in the year in which they are incurred. Set-up
costs are recognised on a straight-line basis over the remaining facility term.
Finance costs also include the net interest cost on retirement benefit obligations and the unwinding of discounting of provisions.

h) Taxation
The tax charge or credit represents the sum of tax currently payable and deferred tax.

		Current tax
Current tax payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the Group Income Statement
because it excludes both items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible,
which includes the fair value movement on the investment in John Laing Holdco Limited. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted, or substantively enacted, by the balance sheet date.

		Deferred tax
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised in full for taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profits will arise to allow all or part of the assets to be recovered. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled, or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to the Group Income Statement
except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a
net basis.

i) Foreign currencies
The individual financial statements of each Group subsidiary that is consolidated (i.e. a Service Company) are presented in the currency of the
primary economic environment in which it operates (its functional currency). For the purposes of the financial statements, the results and
financial position of each Group subsidiary that is consolidated are expressed in pounds Sterling, the functional currency of the Company and the
presentation currency of the financial statements.
Monetary assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currency (including investments measured at fair value) are reported at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the balance sheet date or, if appropriate, at the forward contract rate. Any difference arising on the retranslation of these amounts
is taken to the Group Income Statement with foreign exchange movements on investments measured at fair value recognised in operating
income as part of net gain on investments at FVTPL. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period.

j) Retirement benefit costs
The Group operates both defined benefit and defined contribution pension arrangements. Its two defined benefit pension schemes are the
John Laing Pension Fund (‘JLPF’) and the John Laing Pension Plan, which are both closed to future accrual. The Group also provides postretirement medical benefits to certain former employees.
Payments to defined contribution pension arrangements are charged as an expense as they fall due. For the defined benefit pension schemes
and the post-retirement medical benefit scheme, the cost of providing benefits is determined in accordance with IAS 19 Employee Benefits
(revised) using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at least every three years. Actuarial gains and losses
are recognised in full in the year in which they occur and are presented in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income. Curtailment gains
arising from changes to members’ benefits are recognised in full in the Group Income Statement.
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Significant accounting policies continued
The retirement benefit obligations recognised in the Group Balance Sheet represent the present value of:
(i) defined benefit scheme obligations as reduced by the fair value of scheme assets, where any asset resulting from this calculation is limited to
past service costs plus the present value of available refunds; and
(ii) unfunded post-retirement medical benefits.
Net interest expense or income is recognised within finance costs.

k) Leases
The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a
lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets (being those assets with a value less than £5,000). For these leases, the Group
recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by
using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.
The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the Group Balance Sheet.
The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest
method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.
The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:
•

The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the assessment of exercise of a
purchase option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

•

The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease
payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).

•

A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured
based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

The Group did not make any such adjustments during the periods presented.
The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before the
commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.
Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under IAS 37. To the
extent that the costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of
the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use
asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.
The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the Group Balance Sheet.
The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss.

l) Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity instruments on the basis that they evidence a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all its liabilities.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares are recognised in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds
in the period in which the shares are issued.

m) Employee benefit trust
In June 2015, the Group established the John Laing Group Employee Benefit Trust (‘EBT’) as described further in note 7. The Group is deemed to
have control of the EBT and it is therefore treated as a subsidiary and consolidated for the purposes of the accounts. Any investment by the EBT
in the Company’s shares is deducted from equity in the Group Balance Sheet as if such shares were treasury shares as defined by IFRS. Other
assets and liabilities of the EBT are recognised as assets and liabilities of the Group.
Any shares held by the EBT are excluded for the purposes of calculating earnings per share.
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4 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the Directors are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
value of assets and liabilities. The key areas of the financial statements where the Group is required to make critical judgements and material
accounting estimates (which are those estimates where there is a risk of material adjustment in the next financial year) are in respect of the fair value
of investments and accounting for the Group’s defined benefit pension liabilities.

Fair value of investments
Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
The Group has concluded that it meets the definition of an investment entity as set out in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, paragraph 27 on
the basis as described in note 3a). Accordingly, the Group accounts for its investment in John Laing Holdco Limited as an investment at FVTPL.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The Company measures its investment in John Laing Holdco Limited at fair value. The key source of estimation uncertainty is how the investment in
John Laing Holdco Limited is fair valued. Fair value is determined based on the fair value of investments in project companies (the Group’s investment
portfolio) and other assets and liabilities of investment entity subsidiaries. A full valuation of the Group’s investment portfolio is prepared on a
consistent, discounted cash flow basis, at 30 June and 31 December. The key inputs, therefore, to the valuation of each investment are (i) the discount
rate; and (ii) the cash flows forecast to be received from such investment. Under the Group’s valuation methodology, a base case discount rate for an
operational project is derived from secondary market information and other available data points. The base case discount rate is then adjusted to
reflect additional project-specific risks. In addition a risk premium is added to reflect the additional risk during the construction phase. The
construction risk premium reduces over time as the project progresses through its construction programme, reflecting the significant reduction in
risk once the project reaches the operational stage. The valuation assumes that forecast cash flows are received until maturity of the underlying
assets. The cash flows on which the discounted cash flow valuation is based are those forecast to be distributable to the Group at each balance sheet
date, derived from detailed project financial models. These incorporate a number of assumptions with respect to individual assets, including: dates
for construction completion (where relevant); value enhancements; the terms of project debt refinancing (where applicable); the outcome of any
disputes; the level of volume-based revenue; future rates of inflation and, for Renewable Energy projects, energy yield and future energy prices.
Value enhancements are only incorporated when the Group has sufficient evidence that they can be realised.
A key source of estimation uncertainty in valuing the investment portfolio is the discount rate applied to forecast project cash flows. The discount
rates applied to investments at 31 December 2020 were in the range of 6.3% to 11.9% (31 December 2019: 6.4% to 12.4%). Note 18 provides details of
the weighted average discount rate applied to the investment portfolio as a whole and sensitivities to the investment portfolio value from changes in
discount rates.
The key sources of estimation uncertainty present in the forecast cash flows to be received from investments are the forecasts of marginal loss factors
impacting Australian wind and solar generation assets, future energy prices and energy yields impacting all Renewable Energy projects and forecasts for
long-term inflation across the whole portfolio. Note 18 provides details of the sensitivities to the investment portfolio value from changes in forecast
energy prices, marginal loss factors, energy yields and forecast long-term inflation. The Group does not consider the other factors that affect cash flows,
as described in the critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies above, to be key sources of estimation uncertainty. They
are based either on reliable data or the Group’s experience and individually not considered likely to deviate materially year on year.
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the market volatility and uncertainty brought about by COVID-19 has resulted in a significant reduction in
short-term inflation which has reduced the portfolio value by £33 million (2019: £5 million loss) but the Group’s forecasts for long-term inflation have
largely remained unchanged from 31 December 2019. The Group has also reduced its power price forecasts across all regions, partly as a result of the
impact from COVID-19 lockdown measures leading to reduced demand, which has resulted in value reductions of £101 million in the year (2019:
£48 million loss). There has not been a significant impact from COVID-19 on energy yields from our Renewable Energy assets, which have maintained
strong availability during the period, and there has been no significant impact on MLFs.

Pension and other post-retirement liability accounting
Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
The accounting surplus in the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes at 31 December 2020 was £19 million (31 December 2019: £13 million). In
determining the Group’s defined benefit pension surplus, consideration is also given to whether there is a minimum funding requirement under IFRIC
14 The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction, and whether there is a liability not recognised under
IAS 19 Employee Benefits. Under the trust deed and rules of JLPF, the Group has an ultimate unconditional right to any surplus, accordingly the excess
of the minimum funding requirement over the IAS 19 Employee Benefits surplus has not been recognised as a liability.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The value of the pension liabilities is highly dependent on key assumptions including price inflation, discount rate and life expectancy. The discount
rate is based on yields from high-quality corporate bonds. The assumptions applied at 31 December 2020 and the sensitivity of the pension liabilities
to certain changes in these assumptions are illustrated in note 19.
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4 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty continued
The COVID-19 crisis has resulted in significant volatility in the financial markets. Reductions in corporate bond yields have resulted in the discount
rate reducing from 2.1% to 1.3%, which has led to an increase in pension liabilities, and net increases in inflation have led to an increase in pension
liabilities. A large proportion of the assets of the pension scheme provide hedging against movements in liabilities for changes in discount rates and
inflation and, as a result, the impact of COVID-19 on the pension surplus has been insignificant.

Brexit
On 1 January 2021, the post-Brexit trade deal between the UK and the EU came into force. The Directors believe the Group’s business model and
operations are robust and able to weather potential short-term disruption and do not expect there to be any significant adverse impact on the Group
as a result of the new trade deal. The most likely impact would come from any resulting macro-economic changes, including changes in interest
rates, which could impact discount rates in relation to both the Group’s investment portfolio and its retirement benefit obligations, inflation and
Sterling exchange rates. The above sections on key sources of estimation uncertainty provide more details in these areas.

5

Operating segments
Financial information was reported to the Group’s Board (the chief operating decision maker under IFRS 8 Operating Segments) for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of performance on a regional basis during the year ended 31 December 2020. Regional performance targets were
also set for 2020. Accordingly, for the year ended 31 December 2020, the reportable segments under IFRS 8 were based on the following regions: Asia
Pacific, Europe, North America and Latin America. An additional reportable segment is “Central”, which covers the corporate activities at the Group’s
headquarters.
In the last quarter of 2020, the Group undertook a strategic review of the Group and its business. This is described in detail in the Strategic Report. As
a result of the new strategy and an accompanying internal reorganisation that took place at the end of 2020, from 1 January 2021 the information
reported internally, including to the Group’s Board, will be based on the Group’s business lines of ‘PPP & Projects’, ‘Economic Infrastructure’ (also
referred to as Core-plus) and ‘Renewable Energy Projects’. The internal reorganisation included the Regional Managing Directors of Asia Pacific and
North America becoming Co-Heads of ‘PPP & Projects’. Accordingly, the Group’s reportable segments under IFRS 8 will change and this will be
reflected in the June 2021 interim report.
The Board’s primary measure of profitability for each segment is profit before tax (‘PBT’).
The following is an analysis of the Group’s operating income and profit before tax for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019:
Year ended 31 December 2020
Asia Pacific
£ million

Net (loss)/gain on investments at FVTPL
Other income
Operating (expense)/income

Europe
£ million

North
America Latin America
£ million
£ million

Central
£ million

Total
£ million

(10)

30

(10)

6

–

16

3

2

4

–

–

9

(7)

32

(6)

6

–

25

Administrative expenses

(16)

(15)

(13)

(5)

(29)

(78)

(Loss)/profit from operations

(23)

17

(19)

1

(29)

(53)

–

–

–

–

(12)

(12)

(23)

17

(19)

1

(41)

(65)

Finance costs
(Loss)/profit before tax

Year ended 31 December 2019

Net gain on investments at FVTPL
Other income

Asia Pacific
£ million

Europe
£ million

North
America
£ million

12

18

100

2

3

6
106

Operating income

14

21

Administrative expenses

(10)

(12)

(14)

Fund
Management
£ million

Central
£ million

Total
£ million

12

–

5

147

–

20

1

32

12

20

6

179

(3)

(5)

(24)

(68)

Latin America
£ million

Profit/(loss) from operations

4

9

92

9

15

(18)

111

Finance costs

–

–

–

–

–

(11)

(11)

Profit/(loss) before tax

4

9

92

9

15

(29)

100

The information disclosed on the extent of the Group’s reliance on its major customers is made in relation to the Group’s other income, which
represents revenue from contracts with customers under IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers as set out in note 8 to the financial
statements. The other significant part of the Group’s operating income is the net gain on investments at FVTPL, which represents the fair value
movement on the Company’s investment in John Laing Holdco Limited, measured as explained in note 3e)(i) to the Group financial statements.
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5

Operating segments continued
For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group had two contracts from which it earned more than 10% of its other income of £9 million. The
revenue from the two contracts was £1.3 million and £0.9 million, which was reported in the North America and Asia Pacific segments respectively.
For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group had two contracts from which it earned more than 10% of its other income of £32 million. The
revenue from the two contracts was £11.4 million and £7.7 million, which were both reported in the Fund Management segment. One of the contracts
terminated in December 2019 and the other contract was sold in June 2019.
The Group’s investment portfolio valuation is the aggregation of the values of the investment portfolios in each region where the investments are
actively managed. Other assets and liabilities, including cash balances, and borrowings as well as retirement benefit obligations, are managed
centrally.
31 December
2020
£ million

31 December
2019
£ million

Asia Pacific

591

587

Europe

384

599

North America

486

514

Latin America

81

68

1,542

1,768

121

129

1,663

1,897

19

13

Portfolio valuation
Other assets and liabilities
Investments at FVTPL
Retirement benefit assets
Other assets

18

12

Total assets

1,700

1,922

Retirement benefit obligations
Borrowings

(8)

(7)

(136)

(236)

Other liabilities

(27)

(21)

Total liabilities

(171)

(264)

Group net assets

1,529

1,658

Other assets and liabilities within investments at FVTPL above include cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other
payables within recourse investment entity subsidiaries.

6 Earnings per share
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share (‘EPS’) is based on the following information:
Year ended
31 December
2020
£ million

Year ended
31 December
2019
£ million

Earnings
(Loss)/profit for the purpose of basic and diluted EPS

(66)

100

(Loss)/profit for the year

(66)

100

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic EPS
Dilutive effect of ordinary shares potentially issued under share-based incentives
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of diluted EPS

492,682,904 491,491,257
4,435,868

4,825,962

497,118,772 496,317,219

EPS (pence/share)
Basic

(13.3)

20.4

Diluted

(13.2)

20.2

John Laing Group plc

Overview

Strategic Report

Governance

157

Financial Statements

7 Share-based incentives
Long-term incentive plan (‘LTIP’)
The Group operates share-based incentive arrangements for Executive Directors, senior executives and other eligible employees under which
awards are granted over the Company’s ordinary shares. Awards are conditional on the relevant employee completing three years’ service (the
vesting period). The awards vest three years from the grant date, subject to the Group achieving a target share-based performance condition, total
shareholder return (‘TSR’) (50% of the award), and a non-share based performance condition, NAV per share growth (50% of the award). The Group
has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the awards in cash.
The movement in the number of shares awarded was as follows:
Number of share
awards under LTIP
2020

2019

At 1 January

4,262,990

5,216,928

Granted

2,008,433

1,506,698

Lapsed

(1,298,551)

(572,841)

Vested and exercised

(1,127,239)

(1,887,795)

At 31 December

3,845,633

4,262,990

In April 2020, 1,740,638 share awards were granted (2019: 1,380,075). The weighted average fair value of the awards was 241.0p per share (2019: 289.3p
per share) for the share-based performance condition, determined using the Stochastic valuation model, and 293.0p per share (2019: 393.4p per
share) for the non-share based performance condition, determined using the Black Scholes model. The weighted average fair value of these awards
granted during the year from both models was 267.0p per share (2019: 341.4p per share). The significant inputs into the model were the share price of
321.0p (2019: 394.2p) at the grant date, expected volatility of 21.54% (2019: 17.91%), expected dividend yield of 2.96% (2019: 2.41%), an expected award
life of three years and an annual risk-free interest rate of 0.10% (2019: 0.68%). The volatility measured at the standard deviation of continuously
compounded share returns is based on statistical analysis of daily share prices over three years. The weighted average exercise price of the awards
granted during 2020 was £nil (2019: £nil).
In May 2020, 267,795 share awards were granted to the Chief Executive Officer on his appointment. The weighted average fair value of the awards was
266.0p per share for the share-based performance condition, determined using the Stochastic valuation model, and 297.0p per share for the
non-share based performance condition determined using the Black Scholes model. The weighted average fair value of awards granted during the
year from both models is 281.6 per share. The significant inputs into the model were the share price of 363.4p at the grant date, expected volatility of
23.15%, expected dividend yield of 2.83%, an expected award life of 2.88 years and an annual risk-free interest rate of 0.06%. The volatility measured
at the standard deviation of continuously compounded share returns is based on statistical analysis of daily share prices over three years. The
weighted average exercise price of the awards granted during 2020 was £nil.
The 2017 LTIP award vested in April 2020. As detailed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report, vesting was at 85.63% of the maximum, taking into
account the TSR and NAV performance conditions over the performance period, which resulted in 1,127,239 shares vesting and being exercised. In
addition, a further 84,318 shares were issued in lieu of dividends payable since the grant date on the vested shares (see note 20).
During the year ended 31 December 2020, a total of 1,298,551 awards lapsed (2019: 572,841), of which 198,578 awards lapsed on the vesting of the 2017
LTIP award (2019: 86,371) and a further 1,099,973 awards lapsed as a result of leavers in the year (2019: 486,470).
Of the 3,845,633 awards outstanding at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: 4,262,990), 56,087 were exercisable at 31 December 2020
(31 December 2019: nil). 1,090,828 awards were due to vest or lapse in April 2021, 996,415 awards were due to vest or lapse in 2022 and 1,702,303 were
due to vest or lapse in April 2023 subject to the conditions described above. The weighted average exercise price of the awards outstanding at
31 December 2020 was £nil (31 December 2019: £nil).

Deferred Share Bonus Plan
The Group operates a Deferred Share Bonus Plan (‘DSBP’) for Executive Directors and certain senior executives under which the amount of any bonus
above 60% of their base salary (or, for Executive Directors, where higher, 60% of maximum bonus potential) is awarded in deferred shares. Awards
under the DSBP vest in equal tranches on the first, second and third anniversary of grant, normally subject to continued employment. For further
details on this plan, refer to the Directors’ Remuneration Report.
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7 Share-based incentives continued
The movement in the number of shares awarded under DSBP was as follows:
Number of share awards
2020

At 1 January
Granted

2019

158,865

175,141

–

112,554

Lapsed

(29,205)

(13,781)

Vested and exercised

(69,033)

(115,049)

At 31 December

60,627

158,865

No awards under DSBP were granted in the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: 112,554).
During the year ended 31 December 2020, 69,033 shares vested and were exercised under the 2017 DSBP, 2018 DSBP and 2019 DSBP. A further 3,020
shares were awarded in lieu of dividends payable since the grant date on the vested shares (see note 20).
Of the 60,627 awards outstanding at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: 158,865), 3,525 were exercisable at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019:
13,400). 38,777 awards were due to vest in March and April 2021 and 18,325 awards were due to vest in April 2022 subject to the conditions described
above. The weighted average exercise price of the awards outstanding at 31 December 2020 was £nil (31 December 2019: £nil).

Buy-out award
In the year ended 31 December 2020, buy-out awards were granted to two senior executives on joining the Group in the period in compensation for
certain awards that were forfeited on leaving their previous employers. Two awards were granted to each individual with the first award vesting on
the first anniversary of the grant date and the second award vesting on the second anniversary of the grant date. Vesting is subject to continued
employment and the plan rules.
The movement in the number of shares on buy-out awards was as follows:
Number of share awards
2020

2019

At 1 January

40,730

–

Granted

64,633

65,044

Lapsed

(3,528)

Vested and exercised
At 31 December

–

(16,710)

(24,314)

85,125

40,730

During the year ended 31 December 2020, 16,710 shares vested and were exercised (2019: 24,314). A further 159 shares were awarded in lieu of
dividends payable since the grant date on the vested shares (see note 20).
Of the 85,125 awards outstanding at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: 40,730), none were exercisable at 31 December 2020 (2019: nil). 52,809
awards were due to vest in 2021 and 32,316 awards were due to vest in 2022 subject to the conditions described above. The weighted average exercise
price of the awards outstanding at 31 December 2020 was £nil (31 December 2019: £nil).
The total expense recognised in the Group Income Statement for awards granted under share-based incentive arrangements for the year ended
31 December 2020 was £0.9 million (2019: £3.5 million).

Employee Benefit Trust (‘EBT’)
On 19 June 2015, the Company established an EBT to be used as part of the remuneration arrangements for employees. The purpose of the EBT is to
facilitate the ownership of shares by or for the benefit of employees through the acquisition and distribution of shares in the Company. The EBT is
able to acquire shares in the Company to satisfy obligations under the Company’s share-based incentive arrangements.
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8 Other income
Year ended
31 December
2020
£ million

Year ended
31 December
2019
£ million

Fees from asset management services

9

22

Sale of investment advisory agreement

–

5

Recovery of bid costs

–

5

Other income

9

32

Other income represents revenue from contracts with customers under IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
In June 2019, the Group completed the sale of its remaining fund management activities by way of a novation of the investment advisory agreement
with JLEN and transfer of the investment advisory team to Foresight Group.

9 (Loss)/profit from operations
Year ended
31 December
2020
£ million

Year ended
31 December
2019
£ million

(Loss)/profit from operations has been arrived at after charging:
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for:
The audit of the Company and Group financial statements

(0.3)

(0.2)

The audit of the annual accounts of the Company’s subsidiaries

(0.2)

(0.2)

Total audit fees

(0.5)

(0.4)

Audit related assurance services

(0.1)

(0.1)

Total non-audit fees

(0.1)

(0.1)

Depreciation of plant and equipment and right-of-use asset

(1.0)

(1.0)

The fee payable for the audit of the Company and consolidated financial statements was £263,914 (2019: £202,117). The fees payable for the audit of
the annual accounts of the Company’s subsidiaries were £179,980 (2019: £194,615).
Fees for audit related assurance services comprised £56,123 (2019: £53,200) for a review of the Group interim report. Fees for other assurance services
of £nil (2019: £6,700) were paid for agreed upon procedures.
Total non-audit fees for 2020 were £56,123 (2019: £59,900).

10 Employee costs and Directors’ emoluments
Year ended
31 December
2020
£ million

Year ended
31 December
2019
£ million

Employee costs comprise:
(26)

(26)

(3)

(4)

– defined benefit schemes (note 19)

(4)

(2)

– defined contribution

(2)

(1)

Salaries
Social security costs
Pension charge

Termination benefits

(2)

–

Share-based incentives (note 7)

(1)

(4)

(38)

(37)
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10 Employee costs and Directors’ emoluments continued
Annual employee numbers (excluding Non-executive Directors):
31 December 2020
Average
in year

72

31 December 2019

At year end

Average
in year

At year end

70

83

69

Geography
UK
Overseas
Total

92

86

81

84

164

156

164

153

131

122

121

124

33

34

29

29

Activity
Bidding, asset management and central activities
Project management services
Fund management
Total

–

–

14

–

164

156

164

153

Project management services (‘PMS’) are provided to projects in which the Group invests under management services agreements or secondment
agreements for which the Group earns revenue. The number of PMS employees will fluctuate with the number of projects to which project
management services are provided but changes in costs will be broadly offset by changes in revenue.
As detailed in note 8, the Group’s fund management activities ceased in 2019.
Details of Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2020 can be found in the audited sections of the Directors’ Remuneration Report.
Details of the remuneration of key management personnel for the year ended 31 December 2020 can be found in note 24 to the Group financial
statements.

11 Finance costs
Year ended
31 December
2020
£ million

Year ended
31 December
2019
£ million

(12)

(9)

Amortisation of debt issue costs

(1)

(1)

Net interest income/(cost) of retirement obligations (note 19)

1

(1)

(12)

(11)

Finance costs on corporate banking facilities

Finance costs

12 Tax (charge)/credit
The tax (charge)/credit for the year comprises:
Year ended
31 December
2020
£ million

Year ended
31 December
2019
£ million

Current tax:
UK corporation tax charge – current year

–

(1)

UK corporation tax (charge)/credit – prior year

(1)

1

Tax (charge)/credit

(1)

–
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12 Tax (charge)/credit continued
The tax (charge)/credit for the year can be reconciled to the (loss)/profit in the Group Income Statement as follows:
Year ended
31 December
2020
£ million

(Loss)/profit before tax

(65)

Year ended
31 December
2019
£ million

100

Tax at the UK corporation tax rate

12

(19)

Tax effect of expenses and other similar items that are not deductible

(2)

(1)

Non-taxable movement on fair value of investments

3

26

Adjustment for management charges to fair value group

(8)

(6)

Tax losses not recognised for deferred tax purposes

(4)

–

Other movements

(1)

(1)

Prior year – current tax (charge)/credit

(1)

1

Total tax (charge)/credit

(1)

–

For the year ended 31 December 2020, a tax rate of 19% has been applied (2019: 19%).

13 Investments at fair value through profit or loss
31 December 2020

Opening balance
Cash yield
Investment in equity and loans
Realisations from investment portfolio
Fair value movement
Net cash transferred to the Company
Closing balance

Portfolio
valuation
£ million

Other assets
and liabilities
£ million

Total
investments
at FVTPL
£ million

1,768

129

1,897

(58)

58

–

103

(103)

–

(292)

292

–

21

(5)

–

(250)

1,542

16
(250)

121

1,663

31 December 2019

Opening balance
Cash yield

Investments
in project
companies
£ million

Listed
investment
£ million

Portfolio
valuation
sub-total
£ million

Other assets
and liabilities
£ million

Total
investments
at FVTPL
£ million

1,550

10

1,560

(57)

–

140

1,700

(57)

57

–

Investment in equity and loans

267

–

267

(267)

–

Realisations from investment portfolio

(132)

(11)

(143)

143

–

Fair value movement

140

1

141

6

147

–

–

–

50

50

1,768

–

1,768

129

1,897

Net cash transferred from the Company
Closing balance

Of the fair value movement in the year ended 31 December 2020 of £16 million (2019: £147 million), £10 million (2019: £10 million) was received during
the year as a dividend from John Laing Holdco Limited.
Included within other assets and liabilities at 31 December 2020 above is a cash collateral balance of £114 million (31 December 2019: £118 million) in
respect of future investment commitments to the I-66 Managed Lanes project (31 December 2019: I-66 Managed Lanes and I-77 Managed Lanes).
Other assets and liabilities at 31 December 2020 include cash and cash equivalents in recourse subsidiaries held at FVTPL of £6 million (31 December
2019: £5 million) and net positive working capital and other balances of £1 million (31 December 2019: £6 million).
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13 Investments at fair value through profit or loss continued
The investment disposals that have occurred in the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2020
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group disposed of interests in two PPP and four Renewable Energy project companies for £292 million.
Details were as follows:

Auckland South Corrections Facility
Buckthorn Wind Farm

Date of
completion

Original
holding
%

Holding
disposed of
%

Retained
holding
%

5 May 2020

30.0

30.0

–

1 April 2020

90.05

90.05

–

Pasilly Wind Farm

11 June 2020

100.0

100.0

–

Sommette Wind Farm

11 June 2020

100.0

100.0

–

St Martin Wind Farm

11 June 2020

100.0

100.0

–

26 October 2020

30.0

15.0

15.0

IEP East

1

1 The Group agreed the sale of its 30% interest in IEP East in September 2020. The first stage of the transaction for the sale of a 15% interest completed on 26 October 2020. The remaining 15%
interest will complete no later than 12 months after the first stage completion date at the Company’s election and is held in the portfolio at the agreed sale price plus interest accruing at 7%
per annum from 6 October 2020 and less any cash distributions received from the project prior to completion.

The Group also agreed the sale of its portfolio of six Australian wind farm projects in October 2020. This sale was not completed as at 31 December
2020 and is expected to complete in March 2021. At 31 December 2020, these investments were valued at the agreed sale price.

Year ended 31 December 2019
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group disposed of its interests in two PPP and two Renewable Energy project companies for
£132 million as well as its holding of shares in JLEN.
Details were as follows:

Optus Stadium

Date of
completion

Original
holding
%

Holding
disposed of
%

Retained
holding
%

11 March 2019

50.0

50.0

–

Rocksprings Wind Farm

2 May 2019

95.3

95.3

–

Sterling Wind Farm

2 May 2019

92.5

92.5

–

25 November 2019

42.5

42.5

–

31 December
2020
£ million

31 December
2019
£ million

Trade receivables

4

2

Other taxation

1

1

Prepayments and contract assets

2

3

7

6

31 December
2020
£ million

31 December
2019
£ million

Sterling

4

3

Australian dollar

1

1

Other currencies

2

2

7

6

A1 Germany road

14 Trade and other receivables

Current assets

In the opinion of the Directors, the fair value of trade and other receivables is equal to their carrying value.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:
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14 Trade and other receivables continued
Other currencies mainly comprise trade and other receivables in Saudi Arabian riyals (31 December 2019: Canadian dollars).
There were no significant overdue balances in trade receivables at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019. None of the balances overdue were
impaired as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

15 Trade and other payables
31 December
2020
£ million

31 December
2019
£ million

Current liabilities
Trade payables

(1)

(3)

Other taxation and social security

(2)

(1)

Accruals

(17)

(11)

(20)

(15)

16 Borrowings
31 December
2020
£ million

31 December
2019
£ million

Current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings net of unamortised financing costs (note 17c and note 18)

(136)

(236)

(136)

(236)

17 Financial instruments
a) Financial instruments by category
Cash and
cash
equivalents
£ million

Receivables
at amortised
cost
£ million

Assets at
FVTPL
£ million

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
£ million

n/a

n/a

Level 3*

n/a

–

–

1,663

–

1,663

Trade and other receivables

–

5

–

–

5

Cash and cash equivalents

5

–

–

–

5

Total financial assets

5

5

1,663

–

1,673

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

–

–

–

Trade and other payables

–

–

–

(18)

(18)

Total financial liabilities

–

–

–

(154)

(154)

Net financial instruments

5

5

1,663

(154)

31 December 2020

Fair value measurement method

Total
£ million

Non-current assets
Investments at FVTPL*
Current assets

Current liabilities
(136)

(136)

1,519
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17 Financial instruments continued
a) Financial instruments by category continued
Receivables at
Cash and cash
amortised
equivalents
cost
£ million
£ million

31 December 2019

Fair value measurement method

Assets at
FVTPL
£ million

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
£ million

Total
£ million

n/a

n/a

Level 3*

n/a

–

–

1,897

–

1,897

Trade and other receivables

–

4

–

–

4

Cash and cash equivalents

2

–

–

–

2

Total financial assets

2

4

1,897

–

1,903

–

–

–

Non-current assets
Investments at FVTPL*
Current assets

Current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

(236)

(236)

Trade and other payables

–

–

–

(14)

(14)

Total financial liabilities

–

–

–

(250)

(250)

Net financial instruments

2

4

1,897

(250)

1,653

* Investments at FVTPL are fair valued in accordance with the policy and assumptions set out in note 3e) to the Group financial statements. The investments at FVTPL include other assets
and liabilities in investment entity subsidiaries as shown in note 13. Such other assets and liabilities are recorded at amortised cost which the Directors believe approximates to their fair
value. These assets and liabilities are Level 3.

The tables above provide an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to their initial recognition at fair value.
•

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

•

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

•

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs to the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

There have been no transfers of financial instruments between levels of the fair value hierarchy. There are no non-recurring fair value
measurements.

		

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement of financial assets and liabilities
An analysis of the movement between opening and closing balances of assets at FVTPL is given in note 13.
All items in the above table are measured at amortised cost other than the investments at FVTPL. The Directors believe that the amortised cost
of these financial assets and liabilities approximates to their fair value.

b) Foreign currency and interest rate profile of financial assets (excluding investments at FVTPL)
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

Currency

Floating rate
£ million

Non-interest
bearing
£ million

Total
£ million

Floating rate
£ million

Non-interest
bearing
£ million

Total
£ million

Sterling

1

2

3

–

2

2

Euro

–

1

1

–

1

1

Canadian dollar

–

1

1

–

1

1

US dollar

–

2

2

–

1

1

Saudi Arabian riyal

–

1

1

–

–

–

Australian dollar

–

2

2

–

1

1

Total

1

9

10

–

6

6
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17 Financial instruments continued
c) Foreign currency and interest rate profile of financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2020 were £154 million (31 December 2019: £250 million), of which £136 million (31 December 2019:
£236 million) related to short-term cash borrowings of £138 million (31 December 2019: £239 million) net of unamortised finance costs of
£2 million (31 December 2019: £3 million).
31 December 2020

Currency

Fixed rate
£ million

Total
£ million

–

(9)

(145)

Euro

–

–

(1)

(1)

US dollar

–

–

(3)

(3)

Australian dollar

–

–

(5)

(5)

–

(18)

(154)

Sterling

Total

(136)

Floating rate
£ million

31 December 2019

Non-interest
bearing
£ million

(136)

Fixed rate
£ million

(229)

Floating rate
£ million

Non-interest
bearing
£ million

Total
£ million

(7)

(8)

(244)

–

(1)

(1)

–

–

(2)

(2)

–

–

(3)

(3)

(7)

(14)

(250)

–

(229)

18 Financial risk management
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and inflation risk),
credit risk, price or revenue risk (including power price risk, marginal loss factors in Australia and energy yield which impacts the fair value of the
Group’s investments in Renewable Energy projects), liquidity risk and capital risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. The Group uses derivative
financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures.
For the Parent Company and its recourse subsidiaries, financial risks are managed by a central treasury operation which operates within Board
approved policies. The various types of financial risk are managed as follows:

Market risk – foreign currency exchange rate risk
As at 31 December 2020, the Group held investments in 36 overseas projects (31 December 2019: 42 overseas projects) all of which are fair valued
based on the spot exchange rate at 31 December 2020. The Group’s foreign currency exchange rate risk policy is to determine the total Group
exposure to individual currencies; it may then enter into hedges against certain individual investments. The Group’s exposure to exchange rate risk
on its investments is disclosed below.
In addition, the Group’s policy on managing foreign currency exchange rate risk is to cover significant transactional exposures arising from receipts
and payments in foreign currencies, where appropriate and cost effective. There were 15 forward currency contracts open as at 31 December 2020
(31 December 2019: ten). The fair value of these contracts was a net liability of £2 million (31 December 2019: net asset of £1 million), which is included
in investments at FVTPL.
At 31 December 2020, the Group’s most significant currency exposure was to the US dollar (31 December 2019: US dollar).
Foreign currency exposure of investments at FVTPL:
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

Project
companies
£ million

Other assets
and liabilities
£ million

Total
£ million

Project
companies
£ million

Other assets
and liabilities
£ million

Total
£ million

233

2

235

417

–

417

Euro

151

1

152

182

5

187

Australian dollar

591

1

592

568

7

575

US dollar

483

117

600

510

116

626

–

–

–

19

1

20

Colombian peso

81

–

81

68

–

68

Canadian dollar

3

–

3

4

–

4

1,542

121

1,663

1,768

129

1,897

Sterling

New Zealand dollar

Investments in project companies are fair valued based on the spot exchange rate at the balance sheet date. As at 31 December 2020, a 5% movement
of each relevant currency against Sterling would decrease or increase the value of investments in overseas projects by c.£57 million (2019:
c.£64 million). The Group’s profit before tax would be impacted by the same amounts. There would be no additional impact on equity.
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18 Financial risk management continued
Market risk – interest rate risk
The Group’s direct exposure to interest rate risk is from fluctuations in interest rates which impact on the value of returns from floating rate deposits
and expose the Group to variability in interest payment cash flows on variable rate borrowings. The Group has assessed its direct exposure to interest
rate risk and considers that this exposure is low as its variable rate borrowings tend to be short term, its finance costs in relation to letters of credit
issued under the corporate banking facilities are at a fixed rate and the interest earned on its cash and cash equivalents minimal.
The exposure of the Group’s financial assets to interest rate risk is as follows:
31 December 2020
Interestbearing
floating rate
£ million

Non-interest
bearing
£ million

Investments at FVTPL

–

Trade and other receivables

–

Cash and cash equivalents

1

Financial assets exposed to interest rate risk

1

31 December 2019

Total
£ million

Interestbearing
floating rate
£ million

Non-interest
bearing
£ million

Total
£ million

1,663

1,663

–

1,897

1,897

5

5

–

4

4

4

5

–

2

2

1,672

1,673

–

1,903

1,903

Financial assets

The Group has indirect exposure to interest rate risk through the fair value of its investments at FVTPL which is determined on a discounted cash flow
basis. The key inputs under this basis are (i) the discount rate and (ii) the cash flows forecast to be received from project companies. An analysis of
the movement between opening and closing balances of investments at FVTPL is given in note 13.
The forecast cash flows are determined by future project revenue and costs, including interest income and interest costs which can be linked to
interest rates. Project companies take out either fixed-rate borrowings or enter into interest rate swaps to fix interest rates on variable rate
borrowings which mitigates this risk. The level of interest income in project companies is not significant and therefore the Group does not consider
there is a significant risk from a movement in interest rates in this regard.
Movement in market interest rates can also have an impact on discount rates. At 31 December 2020, the weighted average discount rate was 9.1%
(31 December 2019: 8.6%). As at 31 December 2020, a 0.25% increase in the discount rate would reduce the fair value by £35 million (31 December
2019: £57 million) and a 0.25% reduction in the discount rate would increase the fair value by £37 million (31 December 2019: £60 million). The Group’s
profit before tax would be impacted by the same amounts. There would be no additional impact on equity.
The exposure of the Group’s financial liabilities to interest rate risk is as follows:
31 December 2020
Interestbearing fixed
rate
£ million

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Trade and other payables
Total financial liabilities

(136)
–
(136)

Interestbearing
floating rate
£ million

31 December 2019

Non-interest
bearing
£ million

Total
£ million

–

–

(136)

–

(18)

(18)

–

(18)

(154)

Interestbearing fixed
rate
£ million

(229)
–
(229)

Interestbearing
floating rate
£ million

Non-interest
bearing
£ million

Total
£ million

(7)

–

(236)

–

(14)

(14)

(7)

(14)

(250)

Market risk – inflation risk
The Group has limited direct exposure to inflation risk, but the fair value of investments is determined by future project revenue and costs which can
be partly linked to inflation. Sensitivity to inflation can be mitigated by the project company entering into inflation swaps. Where PPP investments are
positively correlated to inflation, an increase in inflation expectations will tend to increase their value. However, all other things being equal, an
increase in inflation expectations would also tend to increase JLPF’s pension liabilities.
At 31 December 2020, a 0.25% increase in inflation across the entire portfolio at 31 December 2020 is estimated to increase the value by c.£36 million
and a 0.25% decrease in inflation is estimated to decrease the value by c.£36 million. Certain of the underlying project companies incorporate some
inflation hedging.
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18 Financial risk management continued
Credit risk
Credit risk is managed on a Group basis and arises from a combination of the value and term to settlement of balances due and payable by
counterparties for both financial and trade transactions.
In order to minimise credit risk, cash investments and derivative transactions are limited to financial institutions of a suitable credit quality and
counterparties are carefully screened. The Group’s cash balances are invested in line with a policy approved by the Board, capped with regard to
counterparty credit ratings.
A significant number of the project companies in which the Group invests receive revenue from government departments, public sector or local
authority clients and/or directly from the public. As a result, these projects tend not to be exposed to significant credit risk.

Price or revenue risk
The Group’s investments in PPP assets have limited direct exposure to price or revenue risk. The fair value of many such project companies is
dependent on the receipt of fixed fee income from government departments, public sector or local authority clients. As a result, these projects tend
not to be exposed to price risk.
The Group also holds investments in Renewable Energy projects whose fair value may vary with forecast energy prices and additionally, for Australia
wind and solar generation projects, forecast marginal loss factors (MLF) to the extent they are not economically hedged through short to mediumterm fixed price purchase agreements with electricity suppliers, or do not benefit from governmental support mechanisms at fixed prices.
At 31 December 2020, a 5% increase in power price forecasts on all investments subject to power and gas prices with a total value of £272 million is
estimated to increase their value by c.£20 million and a 5% decrease in forecasts is estimated to decrease the value by £20 million.
At 31 December 2020, a 5% increase in MLFs on all investments subject to changes in MLFs with a total value at 31 December 2020 of £52 million is
estimated to increase their value by c.£13 million and a 5% decrease is estimated to decrease their value by c.£13 million.
With regard to energy yield risk, our valuation of renewable energy projects assumes a P50 level of electricity output based on reports by technical
consultants. The P50 output is the estimated annual amount of electricity generation (in MWh) that has a 50% probability of being achieved or
exceeded – both in any single year and over the long term – and a 50% probability of being underachieved. Hence the P50 is the expected level of
generation over the long term. A P75 output means a lower forecast with a 75% probability of being achieved or exceeded and a P25 output means a
higher forecast with a 25% probability of being achieved or exceeded. At a P75 level of electricity output, the valuation at 31 December 2020 of all
wind and solar generation assets with a total value of £268 million excluding those held at agreed sale price would reduce by £51 million and a P25
level of electricity output would increase the value by £46 million.
For all of the above sensitivities on the portfolio value as at 31 December 2020, the Group’s profit before tax would be impacted by the same amounts
described above. There would be no additional impact on equity.
For further information on these sensitivities, please refer to the Portfolio valuation section in the Strategic Report.

Liquidity risk
The Group adopts a prudent approach to liquidity management by maintaining sufficient cash and available committed facilities to meet its current
and upcoming obligations.
The Group’s liquidity management policy involves projecting cash flows in major currencies and assessing the level of liquid assets necessary to meet
these.

Maturity of financial assets
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial assets (excluding investments at FVTPL) is as follows:
31 December
2020
Less than one
year
£ million

31 December
2019
Less than one
year
£ million

Trade and other receivables

5

4

Cash and cash equivalents

5

2

10

6

Financial assets (excluding investments at FVTPL)

None of the financial assets is either significantly overdue or impaired.
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18 Financial risk management continued
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows:
31 December
2020
£ million

31 December
2019
£ million

In one year or less, or on demand

(154)

(250)

Total

(154)

(250)

The following table details the remaining contractual maturity of the Group’s financial liabilities. The table reflects undiscounted cash flows relating
to financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group is required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows:
Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
%

In one year or
less
£ million

Total
£ million

31 December 2020
2.03

Fixed interest rate instruments – loans and borrowings

n/a

Non-interest bearing instruments*

(136)

(136)

(18)

(18)

(154)

(154)

(229)

(229)

31 December 2019
Fixed interest rate instruments – loans and borrowings

2.71

Floating interest rate instruments – loans and borrowings

2.78

(7)

(7)

n/a

(14)

(14)

(250)

(250)

Non-interest bearing instruments*

* Non-interest bearing instruments relate to trade payables and accruals.

Capital risk
The Group seeks to adopt efficient financing structures that enable it to manage capital effectively and achieve the Group’s objectives without
putting shareholder value at undue risk. The Group’s capital structure comprises its equity (as set out in the Group Statement of Changes in Equity)
and its net borrowings. The Group monitors its net debt and a reconciliation of net debt can be found in note 22.
At 31 December 2020, the Group had committed corporate banking facilities of £650 million, £500 million expiring in July 2023 and £150 million
expiring in January 2022 (extended in January 2021 to January 2023).
The Group has requirements for both cash borrowings and letters of credit, which at 31 December 2020 were met by its £650 million committed
facilities and related ancillary facilities (31 December 2019: £650 million). Issued at 31 December 2020 were letters of credit of £55 million (31 December
2019: £95 million) and Parent Company guarantees of £nil (31 December 2019: £6 million), related to future investment commitments, and contingent
commitments and performance and bid bonds of £2 million (31 December 2019: £3 million). The committed facilities and amounts drawn therefrom
are summarised below:
31 December 2020

Total
facilities
£ million

Loans drawn
£ million

Letters of
credit in
Bank
issue/other
overdraft commitments
£ million
£ million

Total
undrawn
£ million

Committed corporate banking facilities

650

(138)

–

(57)

455

Total

650

(138)

–

(57)

455

31 December 2019

Total facilities
£ million

Loans drawn
£ million

Letters of
credit in
Bank
issue/other
overdraft commitments Total undrawn
£ million
£ million
£ million

Committed corporate banking facilities

650

(232)

(7)

(104)

307

Total

650

(232)

(7)

(104)

307
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19 Retirement benefit obligations

Pension schemes

31 December
2020
£ million

31 December
2019
£ million

19

13

(8)

(7)

11

6

Retirement benefit assets

19

13

Retirement benefit obligations

(8)

(7)

Post-retirement medical benefits
Classified as:

a) Pension schemes
The Group operates two defined benefit pension schemes in the UK (the Schemes) – The John Laing Pension Fund (‘JLPF’) which commenced on
31 May 1957 and The John Laing Pension Plan (the Plan) which commenced on 6 April 1975. JLPF was closed to future accrual from 1 April 2011 and
the Plan was closed to future accrual from September 2003. Neither Scheme has any active members, only deferred members and pensioners.
The assets of both Schemes are held in separate trustee-administered funds.
UK staff employed since 1 January 2002, who are entitled to retirement benefits, can choose to be members of a defined contribution
stakeholder scheme sponsored by the Group in conjunction with Legal and General Assurance Society Limited. Local defined contribution
arrangements are available to overseas staff.

		JLPF
An actuarial valuation of JLPF was carried out as at 31 March 2019 by a qualified independent actuary, Willis Towers Watson. At that date, JLPF was
92% funded on the technical provision funding basis. This valuation took into account the Continuous Mortality Investigation Bureau (‘CMI
Bureau’) projections of mortality.
The Group agreed to repay the actuarial deficit of £100 million at 31 March 2019 over four years as follows:
By 31 March

£ million

2020

26.4

2021

26.4

2022

26.4

2023

25.4

The next triennial actuarial valuation of JLPF is due as at 31 March 2022.
During the year ended 31 December 2020, John Laing made deficit reduction contributions of £26 million (2019: £29 million) in cash.
The liability at 31 December 2020 allows for indexation of deferred pensions and post 5 April 1988 GMP pension increases based on the Consumer
Price Index (‘CPI’).

		The Plan
No contributions were made to the Plan in the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: none). At its last actuarial valuation as at 31 March 2017, the
Plan had assets of £13.1 million and liabilities of £12.0 million resulting in an actuarial surplus of £1.1 million. The triennial actuarial valuation of the
Plan as at 31 March 2020 is in progress.
An analysis of the members of both Schemes is shown below:
31 December 2020

JLPF
The Plan
31 December 2019

JLPF
The Plan

Deferred

Pensioners

Total

3,794

3,816

7,610

75

255

330

Deferred

Pensioners

Total

3,965

3,790

7,755

78

266

344
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19 Retirement benefit obligations continued
The financial assumptions used in the valuation of JLPF and the Plan under IAS 19 at 31 December were:
31 December
2020
%

31 December
2019
%

Discount rate

1.3

2.1

Rate of increase in non-GMP pensions in payment

2.7

2.9

Rate of increase in non-GMP pensions in deferment

2.1

1.9

Inflation – RPI

2.8

3.0

Inflation – CPI

2.1

1.9

The amount of the JLPF surplus is highly dependent upon the assumptions above and may vary significantly from period to period. The impact of
possible future changes to some of the assumptions is shown below, without taking into account (i) any hedging entered into by JLPF, (ii)
inter-relationship between the assumptions. In practice, there would be inter-relationships between the assumptions. The analysis has been
prepared in conjunction with the Group’s actuarial adviser. The Group considers that the changes below are reasonably possible based on recent
experience.
(Increase)/decrease in
pension liabilities at
31 December 2020
Increase in
assumption
£ million

52

0.25% on discount rate

Decrease in
assumption
£ million

(55)

0.25% on inflation rate

(41)

39

1 year post-retirement longevity

(66)

65

		Mortality
Mortality assumptions were based on the following tables published by the CMI Bureau:

Base tables

Plan members
JLPF staff members
JLPF executive members

Improvements All members

2020

2019

100% S2NA tables
103%/107% (M/F) S3NA tables
83%/109% (M/F) S3NA light tables

100% S2NA tables
103%/107% (M/F) S3NA tables
83%/109% (M/F) S3NA light tables

CMI 2018 projections, 1.25% pa long-term
improvement rate, initial improvement of A=0%
and a smoothing parameter of s=7

CMI 2018 projections, 1.25% pa long-term
improvement rate, initial improvement of A=0% and a
smoothing parameter of s=7

The table below summarises the life expectancy of JLPF members implied by the mortality assumptions used:
31 December
2020
Years

31 December
2019
Years

Males

21.9

21.8

Females

24.0

23.9

Males

23.2

23.1

Females

25.4

25.3

Life expectancy – of member aged 65 in 2020

Life expectancy – of member reaching age 65 in 2040

The weighted average life of JLPF liabilities at 31 December 2020 is 16.4 years (31 December 2019: 15.7 years). The weighted average life of the Plan
liabilities at 31 December 2020 is 9.9 years (31 December 2019: 9.8 years).
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19 Retirement benefit obligations continued
		

Analysis of the major categories of assets held by the Schemes
31 December 2020
£ million

31 December 2019
%

£ million

%

Bond and other debt instruments
UK corporate bonds

105

97

70

97

UK government gilts – index linked

323

213

Liability matching fund

203

UK government gilts

701

183
51.7

590

48.0

Equity instruments
UK listed equities

82

95

47

45

US listed equities

189

163

Other international listed equities

108

97

Option1

(18)

(4)

European listed equities

Aviva bulk annuity buy-in agreement
Cash and equivalents

408

30.1

396

32.2

236

17.4

229

18.6

10

0.8

15

1.2

Total market value of assets

1,355

100.0

1,230

100.0

Present value of Schemes’ liabilities

(1,336)

Net pension asset

19

(1,217)
13

1 During 2019, the JLPF entered a cap and collar option over 25% of its equity assets which limits losses to 10% and caps gains at 13.5%.

Virtually all equity and debt instruments held by JLPF have quoted prices in active markets (Level 1). Equity options can be classified as Level 2
instruments. The JLPF Trustee invests in return-seeking assets, such as assets in the form of equity instruments, whilst balancing the risks of
inflation and interest rate movements through bonds and other debt instruments, including the liability matching fund, and the annuity buy-in
agreement.
A significant proportion of JLPF’s assets are held either as liability-matching holdings (including an Aviva bulk annuity buy-in agreement and
index-linked UK government gilts) or to provide hedges against the impact on liabilities from movements in interest rates and inflation (other
bonds and gilts). The JLPF Trustee has adopted a long-term asset allocation strategy that has been determined as being most appropriate to
meet JLPF’s current and future liabilities. JLPF’s agreed investment strategy is such that, in combination with an agreed recovery plan, it is
expected to reach full funding on a gilts +0.25% p.a. basis between 2023 and 2028 (‘the Journey Plan’). The Trustee has established a de-risking
programme, whereby JLPF’s funding level is monitored regularly, and if it moves ahead of the Journey Plan, the Trustee will lock-in the benefit by
de-risking the portfolio to target a lower expected return.
In late 2008, the JLPF Trustee entered into a bulk annuity buy-in agreement with Aviva to mitigate JLPF’s exposure to changes in liabilities. At
31 December 2020, the underlying insurance policy was valued at £236 million (31 December 2019: £229 million), being substantially equal to the
IAS 19 valuation of the related liabilities.
The pension asset of £19 million at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: £13 million) is a surplus under IAS 19 of £18 million in the Fund
(31 December 2019: £12 million) and a surplus of £1 million in the Plan (31 December 2019: £1 million).
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19 Retirement benefit obligations continued
		

Analysis of amounts charged to operating profit
Year ended
31 December
2020
£ million

(1)

Current service cost*
GMP equalisation charge**

Year ended
31 December
2019
£ million

(2)

(3)

–

(4)

(2)

* The Schemes no longer have any active members. Therefore, under the projected unit method of valuation the current service cost for JLPF will increase as a percentage of pensionable
payroll as members approach retirement. The current service cost has been included within administrative expenses.
** Following a further judgement in the High Court on the Lloyds Banking Group Guaranteed Minimum Pension (‘GMP’) a further £3.0 million non-recurring provision has been made to
cover the costs arising from the judgement.

		

Analysis of amounts charged to finance costs
Year ended
31 December
2020
£ million

Interest on Schemes’ assets

26

30

Interest on Schemes’ liabilities

(25)

(31)

1

(1)

Net income/(charge) to finance costs

		

Year ended
31 December
2019
£ million

Analysis of amounts recognised in Group Statement of Comprehensive Income

Return on Schemes’ assets (excluding amounts included in interest on Schemes’ assets above)

Year ended
31 December
2020
£ million

Year ended
31 December
2019
£ million

128

137

14

6

Experience loss arising on Schemes’ liabilities
Changes in financial assumptions underlying the present value of Schemes’ liabilities

(159)

Changes in demographic assumptions underlying the present value of Schemes’ liabilities

–

Remeasurement (loss)/gain recognised in Group Statement of Comprehensive Income

(17)

(117)
(6)
20

The cumulative gain recognised in the Group Statement of Changes in Equity is £6 million (31 December 2019: £24 million gain).

		

Changes in present value of defined benefit obligations
31 December
2020
£ million

31 December
2019
£ million

(1,217)

(1,121)

Current service cost

(1)

(2)

GMP equalisation reserve

(3)

–

(25)

(31)

14

6

Opening defined benefit obligations

Interest cost
Experience gain arising on Schemes’ liabilities
Changes in financial assumptions underlying the present value of Schemes’ liabilities
Changes in demographic assumptions underlying the present value of Schemes’ liabilities
Benefits paid (including administrative costs paid)
Closing defined benefit obligations

John Laing Group plc

(159)
–
55
(1,336)

(117)
(6)
54
(1,217)
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19 Retirement benefit obligations continued
		

Changes in the fair value of Schemes’ assets

Opening fair value of Schemes’ assets
Interest on Schemes’ assets
Return on Schemes’ assets (excluding amounts included in interest on Schemes’ assets above)

1,230

1,088

26

30

128

137

26

29

Benefits paid (including administrative costs paid)

(55)

(54)

1,355

1,230

31 December
2020
£ million

31 December
2019
£ million

Analysis of the movement in the surplus/(deficit) during the year

13

(33)

Current service cost

(1)

(2)

GMP equalisation reserve

(3)

–

Opening surplus/(deficit)

Finance income/(cost)

1

(1)

Contributions

26

29

Remeasurement (loss)/gain

(17)

20

19

13

Year ended
31 December
2020

Year ended
31 December
2019

Amount (£ million)

128

137

% of Schemes’ assets

9.5

11.0

Pension surplus

		

31 December
2019
£ million

Contributions by employer
Closing fair value of Schemes’ assets

		

31 December
2020
£ million

History of the experience gains and losses

Difference between actual and expected returns on assets:

Experience gain on Schemes’ liabilities:
Amount (£ million)

14

6

% of present value of Schemes’ liabilities

1.1

0.5

Amount (£ million)

(17)

20

% of present value of Schemes’ liabilities

1.2

1.6

Total amount recognised in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income (excluding deferred tax):

b) Post-retirement medical benefits
The Company provides post-retirement medical insurance benefits to 55 former employees. This scheme, which was closed to new members in
1991, is unfunded.
The present value of the future liabilities under this arrangement has been assessed by the Company’s actuarial adviser, Lane Clark & Peacock LLP,
and has been included in the Group Balance Sheet under retirement benefit obligations as follows:
31 December
2020
£ million

31 December
2019
£ million

Post-retirement medical benefits liability – opening

(7)

(7)

Contributions

–

1

Changes in financial assumptions underlying the present value of scheme’s liabilities*

(1)

(1)

Post-retirement medical benefits liability – closing

(8)

(7)

* These amounts are remeasurement gains/(losses) that go through the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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19 Retirement benefit obligations continued
The annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of medical benefits was assumed to be 4.8% in 2020 (2019: 5.0%). It is expected to increase in
2021 and thereafter at RPI plus 2.0% per annum (2019: at RPI plus 2.0% per annum).
The amount of the medical benefit liability is highly dependent upon the assumptions used and may vary significantly from period to period. The
impact of possible future changes to some of the assumptions is shown below. In practice, there would be inter-relationships between the
assumptions. The analysis has been prepared in conjunction with the Company’s actuarial adviser. The Company considers that the changes
below are reasonably possible based on recent experience.
(Increase)/decrease in medical
liabilities at 31 December 2020
before deferred tax
Increase in
assumption
£ million

Decrease in
assumption
£ million

1.0% change on medical cost trend inflation rate

(1)

1

1 year change in life expectancy

(1)

1

20 Share capital
31 December
2020
No.

31 December
2019
No.

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of £0.10 each

493,250,636 493,000,636

Total

493,250,636 493,000,636

31 December 2020
No.

31 December 2019

£ million

No.

£ million

491,800,984

49 490,774,825

49

1,127,239

1,887,795

Issued under LTIP – granted in lieu of dividends payable

84,318

108,968

Issued under DSBP

69,033

115,049

Allotted, called up and fully paid:
At 1 January
Issued under LTIP

Issued under DSBP – granted in lieu of dividends payable
Issued under buy-out awards
Issued under buy-out awards – granted in lieu of dividends payable
Shares acquired by the EBT
Issued under share-based incentive arrangements – total
Shares in issue

3,020

4,030

16,710

24,314

159

–

–
1,300,479
493,101,463

Retained by EBT

149,173

At 31 December

493,250,636

(1,113,997)
–

1,026,159

–

49 491,800,984

49

–

1,199,652

–

49 493,000,636

49

During the year ended 31 December 2020, 250,000 shares were issued to the EBT which together with the 1,199,652 shares held by the EBT at
31 December 2019 were used to satisfy awards vesting under share-based incentive arrangements in the period (see note 7). 1,211,557 (2019: 1,996,763)
shares were used to satisfy awards vested and exercised under the Group’s LTIP, 72,053 (2019: 119,079) shares were used to satisfy awards vested and
exercised under the Group’s DSBP and 16,869 were used to satisfy awards vested and exercised under buy-out awards (2019: 24,314) leaving 149,173
shares held by the EBT.
The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income.
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21 Net cash outflow from operating activities
Year ended
31 December
2020
£ million

(Loss)/profit from operations

Year ended
31 December
2019
£ million

(53)

111

(16)

(147)

Adjustments for:
Unrealised profit arising on changes in fair value of investments (note 13)
Share-based incentives

1

4

IAS 19 service cost

4

2

(27)

(29)

1

–

(90)

(59)

(1)

2

Contribution to JLPF
Depreciation
Operating cash outflow before movements in working capital
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables
Net cash outflow from operating activities

4

(4)

(87)

(61)

22 Reconciliation of net debt

Cash and cash equivalents

At
1 January
2020
£ million

Cash
movements
£ million

Non-cash
movements
£ million

At
31 December
2020
£ million

2

3

–

5

Borrowings

(236)

101

(1)

(136)

Net debt

(234)

104

(1)

(131)

At
1 January
2019
£ million

Cash and cash equivalents

6

Cash
movements
£ million

(4)

Non-cash
movements
£ million

–

At
31 December
2019
£ million

2

Borrowings

(66)

(169)

(1)

(236)

Net debt

(60)

(173)

(1)

(234)

The cash movements from borrowings make up the net amount of proceeds from borrowings and repayment of borrowings in the Group Cash Flow
Statement.

23 Guarantees and other commitments
At 31 December 2020, the Group had future cash investment commitments of £163 million (31 December 2019: £219 million) backed by letters of credit
and guarantees of £55 million (31 December 2019: £101 million) and cash collateral of £108 million (31 December 2019: £118 million). There were also
contingent commitments and performance and bid bonds of £2 million (31 December 2019: £3 million).
Claims arise in the normal course of trading which in some cases involve or may involve litigation. Full provision has been made for all amounts which
the Directors consider are likely to become payable on account of such claims.
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24 Transactions with related parties
Details of transactions between the Group and its related parties are disclosed below.

Transactions with non-recourse entities
The Group entered into the following trading transactions with non-recourse project companies in which the Group holds interests:
31 December
2020
£ million

31 December
2019
£ million

7

11

For the year ended:
Services income*
Balances as at:
Amounts owed by project companies

1

1

Amounts owed to project companies

–

(1)

* Services income is generated from project companies through management services agreements and recoveries of bid costs on financial close.

Transactions with recourse subsidiary entities held at FVTPL
The Group had the following transactions and balances with recourse subsidiary entities held at FVTPL that are eliminated in the Group financial
statements:
31 December
2020
£ million

31 December
2019
£ million

45

31

2

4

For the year ended:
Management charge payable to the Group by recourse subsidiary entities held at FVTPL
Net interest receivable by the Group from recourse subsidiary entities held at FVTPL
Net cash transferred from/(to) investments at FVTPL (note 13)

250

(50)

132

176

Balances as at:
Net amounts owed to the Group by recourse subsidiary entities held at FVTPL

Transactions with other related parties
There were no transactions with other related parties during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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24 Transactions with related parties continued
Remuneration of key management personnel
The remuneration of the Directors of John Laing Group plc together with other members of the Executive Committee, who were the key
management personnel of the Group for the period of the financial statements, is set out below in aggregate for each of the categories specified in
IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures:
Year ended
31 December
2020
£ million

Year ended
31 December
2019
£ million

Cash/vested basis
Short-term employee benefits

3.7

4.1

Post-employment benefits

0.2

0.2

Termination payments

0.1

-

Awards under long-term incentive plans

1.3

3.8

Social security costs

0.6

0.8

5.9

8.9

Short-term employee benefits

3.7

4.0

Post-employment benefits

0.2

0.2

Termination payments

0.1

–

Award basis

Awards under long-term incentive plans

(0.2)

1.1

Social security costs

0.6

0.8

4.4

6.1

The average number of key management personnel during 2020 was 14, a small decrease from 15 during 2019, which was primarily due to the timing
of leavers and the appointment of replacements.
The awards under long-term incentive plans on a cash/vested basis are the awards that vested in April 2020 in relation to the 2017 LTIP. The
remuneration amount is based on the number of shares issued to key management valued at the market price of the shares on the day of vesting and
exercise.
The awards under long-term incentive plans on an award basis are those outstanding during the year ended 31 December 2020 on all LTIPs, including
the 2020 LTIP. The remuneration amount is calculated in accordance with IFRS 2 based on the fair value of the awards at the time of being granted,
with an adjustment to the fair value for the non-share based performance condition depending on the Group’s NAV per share. The amount also
reflects the adjustment to award values when individuals leave the Group and awards either fully or partially lapse. The negative amount for 2020
reflects the awards made to the previous CEO and CFO that lapsed on their resignations.

25 Events after balance sheet date
There were no significant events after the balance sheet date.
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Notes

31 December
2020
£ million

31 December
2019
£ million

4

1,405

1,491

1,405

1,491

295

466

Non-current assets
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Trade and other receivables

5

Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets

2

–

297

466

1,702

1,957

Current liabilities
Borrowings

6

(136)

(236)

Trade and other payables

7

(20)

(34)

Total current liabilities

(156)

(270)

Total liabilities

(156)

(270)

Net assets

1,546

1,687

Equity
Share capital

8

Share premium

49

49

416

416

1

2

Retained earnings

1,080

1,220

Total equity

1,546

1,687

Other reserves

As permitted by Section 408(2) of the Companies Act 2006, the Company’s income statement is not presented in these financial statements. The amount
of loss after tax of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 was £95 million (2019: profit after tax of £124 million).
The financial statements of John Laing Group plc, registered number 05975300, were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on
3 March 2021. They were signed on its behalf by:

Ben Loomes		
Chief Executive Officer

Rob Memmott
Chief Financial Officer

3 March 2021		

3 March 2021
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Share capital
£ million

Share
premium
£ million

Other
reserves
£ million

Retained
earnings
£ million

Total equity
£ million

49

416

2

1,220

1,687

Loss for the year

–

–

–

(95)

(95)

Total comprehensive loss for the year

–

–

–

(95)

(95)

Share-based incentives

–

–

1

–

1

Vesting of share-based incentives

–

–

(2)

2

–

Balance at 1 January 2020

Dividends paid
Balance at 31 December 2020

Balance at 1 January 2019

–

–

–

49

416

1

1,080

(47)

1,546

(47)

Share capital
£ million

Share
premium
£ million

Other
reserves
£ million

Retained
earnings
£ million

Total equity
£ million

49

416

6

1,139

1,610

Profit for the year

–

–

–

124

124

Total comprehensive income for the year

–

–

–

124

124

Share-based incentives

–

–

4

–

4

Vesting of share-based incentives

–

–

(4)

4

–

Purchase of own shares related to share based incentives

–

–

(4)

–

(4)

–

–

–

49

416

2

Dividends paid
Balance at 31 December 2019

(47)
1,220

(47)
1,687

The Company had distributable reserves of £319 million at 31 December 2020 which are sufficient to continue to pay dividends at the current level for the
foreseeable future. It also has the ability to increase its distributable reserves through payment of dividends by its subsidiaries.

Annual Report and Accounts 2020

180

Notes to the Company Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

1

General information
John Laing Group plc (the ‘Company’) is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom and registered in England and
Wales. The Company’s ordinary shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange. The principal activity of the Company is that of a holding company.
The remuneration of the Directors of the Company is shown in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 108 to 130.

2 Accounting policies
a) Basis of accounting
The Company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under Financial Reporting Standard (‘FRS’) 100 ‘Application of Financial Reporting
Requirements’ issued by the Financial Reporting Council (‘FRC’). Accordingly, these financial statements were prepared in accordance with FRS
101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’. The Company transitioned from IFRS to FRS 101 at 1 January 2020 and there were no adjustments required
as a result of the transition.
As permitted by FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under that standard in relation to share-based
payments, financial instruments, presentation of a cash flow statement, standards not yet effective and related party transactions with wholly
owned members of the Group.
Where relevant, equivalent disclosures have been given in the consolidated group accounts into which the Company is consolidated.

		

New and amended IFRS that are effective for the current year
Please see note 2 to the Group financial statements for details of the amendments to IFRS that the Company has adopted in 2020. The adoption
of these amendments did not have an impact on the financial statements of the Company.
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention in accordance with the Companies Act 2006, except for
investments at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL’) which are stated at fair value.
A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted by the Directors, which have been applied consistently throughout the current and
preceding years, is set out below.
Accounting policies for investments, tax, financial instruments and dividend payments are the same as those of the Group and are set out on
pages 148 to 153.

Going concern
For the reasons set out in note 3b) to the Group financial statements, the Company’s financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

3

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key area of the financial statements where the Company is required to make critical judgements and material accounting estimates is in respect
of the fair value of investments held by the Company. The methodology for determining the fair value of investments and the critical accounting
judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty therein are consistent with those for the Group as set out in note 4 to the Group financial
statements.

4 Investments

At 1 January
Fair value movement

31 December
2020
£ million

31 December
2019
£ million

1,491

1,390

(86)

101

At 31 December

1,405

1,491

Investments at FVTPL*

1,390

1,477

Investments at cost less impairment

* Net loss on investments at FVTPL for the year ended 31 December 2020 is £86 million (2019: gain £101 million).
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4 Investments continued
Details of the Company’s direct investments and how they are recognised in the accounts are as follows:
Investments

Treatment

2020

2019

John Laing Holdco Limited

Fair valued

100%

100%

John Laing (USA) Limited

Cost less impairment

100%

100%

John Laing Capital Management Limited

Cost less impairment

100%

100%

John Laing Projects & Developments Limited

Cost less impairment

100%

100%

John Laing Services Limited

Cost less impairment

100%

100%

Laing Investments Management Services (Australia) Limited

Cost less impairment

100%

100%

Laing Investments Management Services (Canada) Limited

Cost less impairment

100%

100%

Laing Investments Management Services (Colombia) Limited

Cost less impairment

100%

100%

Laing Investments Management Services (France) Limited

Cost less impairment

100%

100%

Laing Investments Management Services (Germany) Limited

Cost less impairment

100%

100%

Laing Investments Management Services (Israel) Limited

Cost less impairment

100%

100%

Laing Investments Management Services (Netherlands) Limited

Cost less impairment

100%

100%

Laing Investments Management Services (New Zealand) Limited

Cost less impairment

100%

100%

Laing Investments Management Services (Peru) Limited

Cost less impairment

100%

–

Laing Investments Management Services (Spain) Limited

Cost less impairment

100%

100%

Laing Investments Management Services Limited

Cost less impairment

100%

100%

All entities are incorporated in the United Kingdom.
As set out in note 3a) to the Group financial statements, the Company holds its investments in non-recourse project companies through
intermediate holding company subsidiaries with its investment in its directly-held intermediate holding company subsidiary (John Laing Holdco
Limited) recorded at FVTPL in the Group and Company financial statements.
The Company also has investments in directly-owned subsidiaries that provide investment-related services or engage in permitted investmentrelated activities with investees. These subsidiaries, referred to as “Service Companies”, are consolidated in the Group financial statements rather
than recorded at FVTPL. In the Company accounts, these investments are held at cost less provision for impairment.
Inter-company transactions occur between subsidiaries in which investments are recorded at FVTPL and subsidiaries that are consolidated in the
Group financial statements.
The differences in the amounts of (i) investments at FVTPL and (ii) fair value movements in the year between the Company financial statements
(as stated above) and the Group financial statements occur because in the latter inter-company balances arising from the transactions referred
to above are eliminated under the normal basis of consolidation, whereas in the Company financial statements these inter-company balances are
not eliminated. The differences do not relate to any items that might have an effect on the tax recognised in the Group accounts.

5

Trade and other receivables
31 December
2020
£ million

31 December
2019
£ million

295

466

Due within one year:
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings

The amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are repayable on demand and interest is charged at arm’s length
interest rates.
The Company has made a £nil loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables.
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6 Borrowings
31 December
2020
£ million

(136)

Interest bearing loans and borrowings net of unamortised financing costs

31 December
2019
£ million

(236)

Reconciliation of net debt:

Cash and cash equivalents

At
1 January
2020
£ million

Cash
movements
£ million

Non-cash
movements
£ million

At
31 December
2020
£ million

–

2

–

2

Borrowings

(236)

101

(1)

(136)

Net debt

(236)

103

(1)

(134)

At
1 January
2019
£ million

Cash and cash equivalents

4

Cash
movements
£ million

(4)

Non-cash
movements
£ million

–

At
31 December
2019
£ million

–

Borrowings

(66)

(169)

(1)

(236)

Net debt

(62)

(173)

(1)

(236)

7 Trade and other payables
31 December
2020
£ million

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings

31 December
2019
£ million

(20)

(34)

(20)

(34)

8 Share capital
31 December
2020
No.

31 December
2019
No.

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of £0.10 each

493,250,636 493,000,636
493,250,636 493,000,636
£ million

£ million

49

49

49

49

Allotted, called up and fully paid:
493,250,636 ordinary shares of £0.10 (31 December 2019: 493,000,636 of £0.10) each

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income.
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8 Share capital continued
31 December 2020
No.

31 December 2019

£ million

No.

£ million

491,800,984

49 490,774,825

49

Allotted, called up and fully paid:
At 1 January

1,127,239

1,887,795

Issued under LTIP – granted in lieu of dividends payable

84,318

108,968

Issued under DSBP

69,033

115,049

3,020

4,030

16,710

24,314

159

–

Issued under LTIP

Issued under DSBP – granted in lieu of dividends payable
Issued under buy-out awards
Issued under buy-out awards – granted in lieu of dividends payable
Shares acquired by the EBT
Issued under share-based incentive arrangements – total
Shares in issue

–
1,300,479
493,101,463

Retained by EBT

149,173

At 31 December

493,250,636

(1,113,997)
–

1,026,159

–

49 491,800,984

49

–

1,199,652

–

49 493,000,636

49

See note 20 to the Group financial statements for details of the share issues in the year ended 31 December 2020.

9 Guarantees and other commitments
On 25 July 2018, the Group entered a £650 million syndicated, committed, revolving credit facility. At 31 December 2020, the Company was
a guarantor under the Group’s £650 million facility and associated credit facilities. The total amount utilised under these facilities, and hence
guaranteed by the Company, was £195 million (31 December 2019: £343 million).
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10 Subsidiaries and other investments
Subsidiaries through which the Company holds its investments in project companies, which are held at FVTPL, and subsidiaries that are Service
Companies, which are consolidated, are described as “recourse”. Project companies in which the Group invests are described as “non-recourse”
which means that providers of debt to such project companies do not have recourse beyond John Laing’s investment commitments in the
underlying projects.
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 December 2020 were as follows:
Name

Country of incorporation

Ownership
interest

Registered office

Recourse subsidiaries
Service Companies (consolidated)
John Laing (USA) Limited

*

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

John Laing and Son BV

**

Netherlands

100%

Note 3

John Laing Capital Management Limited

*

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

John Laing Projects & Developments Limited

*

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

John Laing Services Limited

*

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Laing Investments Management Services (Australia) Limited

*

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Laing Investments Management Services (Canada) Limited

*

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Laing Investments Management Services (Colombia) Limited

*

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Laing Investments Management Services (France) Limited

*

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Laing Investments Management Services (Germany) Limited

*

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Laing Investments Management Services (Israel) Limited

*

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Laing Investments Management Services (Netherlands) Limited

*

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Laing Investments Management Services (New Zealand)
Limited

*

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Laing Investments Management Services (Peru) Limited

*

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Laing Investments Management Services (Spain) Limited

*

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Laing Investments Management Services Limited

*

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

RL Design Solutions Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Argon Ventures Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Cleantech JL Holdco SLU

**

Spain

100%

Iberia Mart I, Calle Pedro Texeira 8, 28020
Madrid, Spain

Denver Rail (Eagle) Holdings Inc.

**

United States

100%

Note 8

ESTP JL Holdco Corp

**

United States

100%

Note 8

Hyder Investments Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

John Laing AFC Holdco Corp

**

United States

100%

Note 8

John Laing Buckthorn Wind HoldCo Corp

**

United States

100%

Note 8

John Laing Funding Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

John Laing Holdco Limited

*

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

John Laing Homes Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

John Laing I-4 Holdco Corp

**

United States

100%

Note 8

John Laing I-66 Holdco Corp

**

United States

100%

Note 8

John Laing I-75 Holdco Corp

**

United States

100%

Note 8

John Laing I-77 Holdco Corp

**

United States

100%

Note 8

John Laing INH2 BV

**

Netherlands

100%

Note 3

John Laing Infrastructure Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

John Laing Investments Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

John Laing Investments (Cherry Tree) Pty Ltd

**

Australia

100%

Note 4

Investment entity subsidiaries (measured at fair value)
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Ownership
interest

Registered office
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John Laing Investments (East Rockingham) BV

**

Netherlands

100%

Note 3

John Laing Investments (Grafton) BV

**

Netherlands

100%

Note 3

John Laing Investments (Granville) BV

**

Netherlands

100%

Note 3

John Laing Investments (Hornsdale) Pty Limited

**

Australia

100%

Note 4

John Laing Investments (Hornsdale 2) Pty Limited

**

Australia

100%

Note 4

John Laing Investments (Hornsdale 3) Pty Limited

**

Australia

100%

Note 4

John Laing Investments (Hornsdale HoldCo) Pty Limited

**

Australia

100%

Note 4

John Laing Investments (LBAJQ) BV

**

Netherlands

100%

Note 3

John Laing Investments (Melbourne Metro) BV

**

Netherlands

100%

Note 3

John Laing Investments Netherlands Holdings BV

**

Netherlands

100%

Note 3

John Laing Investments (NGR) BV

**

Netherlands

100%

Note 3

John Laing Investments (NRAH) BV

**

Netherlands

100%

Note 3

John Laing Investments NZ Holdings Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

John Laing Investments Overseas Holdings Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

John Laing Investments (Perth Stadium) BV

**

Netherlands

100%

Note 3

John Laing Investments (SLR) BV

**

Netherlands

100%

Note 3

John Laing Investments Spain SLU

**

Spain

100%

Iberia Mart I, Calle Pedro Texeira 8,
28020 Madrid, Spain

John Laing Investments (Sunraysia) BV

**

Netherlands

100%

Note 3

John Laing Investments (Tel Aviv LRT) BV

**

Netherlands

100%

Note 3

John Laing Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

John Laing Live Oak Wind HoldCo Corp

**

United States

100%

Note 8

John Laing Projects & Developments (Holdings) Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

John Laing Social Infrastructure Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Laing Infrastructure Holdings Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Laing Investment Company Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Laing Investments Greenwich Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Laing Property Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Laing Property Holdings Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Manara JL Holdco BV

**

Netherlands

100%

Note 3

West Valley JL Holdco SLU

**

Spain

100%

Iberia Mart I, Calle Pedro Texeira 8,
28020 Madrid, Spain

ALTRAC Light Rail Holdings 3 Pty Limited

**

Australia

100%

Note 4

ALTRAC Light Rail Holdings Trust 3

**

Australia

100%

Note 4

ALTRAC Light Rail 3 Pty Limited

**

Australia

100%

Note 4

ALTRAC Light Rail Trust 3

**

Australia

100%

Note 4

Boston AFC 2.0 HoldCo LLC

**

United States

90%

Note 8

Boston AFC 2.0 Opco LLC

**

United States

90%

Note 8

Brantley Farm Solar LLC

**

United States

90.1%

176 Mine Lake Court, Suite 100, Raleigh,
NC 27615 USA

Brantley HoldCo LLC

**

United States

90.1%

176 Mine Lake Court, Suite 100, Raleigh,
NC 27615 USA

Buckleberry HoldCo LLC

**

United States

90.1%

Note 9

Buckleberry Solar LLC

**

United States

90.1%

Note 9

Non-recourse subsidiaries
Subsidiary project companies (measured at fair value)
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10 Subsidiaries and other investments continued
Name

Country of incorporation

Ownership
interest

Registered office

CCP-PL Lessor III LLC

**

United States

90.1%

Note 8

CCP-PL Lessor IV LLC

**

United States

90.1%

Note 8

CCP-PL Lessor V LLC

**

United States

90.1%

Note 8

CCP-PL Managing Member III LLC

**

United States

100%

Note 8

CCP-PL Managing Member IV LLC

**

United States

100%

Note 8

CCP-PL Managing Member V LLC

**

United States

100%

Note 8

Cherry Tree Finance Company Pty Ltd

**

Australia

100%

Level 15, 459 Collins Street, Melbourne VIC
3000, Australia

Cherry Tree Hold Co Pty Ltd

**

Australia

100%

Level 15, 459 Collins Street, Melbourne VIC
3000, Australia

Cherry Tree Hold Trust

**

Australia

100%

Level 15, 459 Collins Street, Melbourne VIC
3000, Australia

Cherry Tree Project Trust

**

Australia

100%

Level 15, 459 Collins Street, Melbourne VIC
3000, Australia

Cherry Tree Wind Farm Pty Ltd

**

Australia

100%

Level 15, 459 Collins Street, Melbourne VIC
3000, Australia

Cleantech JL Holdco Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

CountyRoute (A130) Plc

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 2

CountyRoute 2 Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 2

CountyRoute Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 2

CY Holding 3 Pty Limited

**

Australia

100%

Note 4

Cross Yarra Holding Trust 3

**

Australia

100%

Note 4

Cross Yarra 3 Pty Limited

**

Australia

100%

Note 4

Cross Yarra Trust 3

**

Australia

100%

Note 4

Cypress Creek Fund 11 LLC

**

United States

90.1%

176 Mine Lake Court, Suite 100, Raleigh,
NC 27615 USA

Cypress Creek Fund 11 Managing Member LLC

**

United States

100%

176 Mine Lake Court, Suite 100, Raleigh,
NC 27615 USA

Cypress Creek Fund 12 LLC

**

United States

90.1%

176 Mine Lake Court, Suite 100, Raleigh,
NC 27615 USA

Cypress Creek Fund 12 Managing Member LLC

**

United States

100%

176 Mine Lake Court, Suite 100, Raleigh,
NC 27615 USA

Defence Support (St Athan) Holdings Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 2

Defence Support (St Athan) Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 2

Dritte Nordergründe Beteiligungs GmbH

**

Germany

100%

Lise-Meitner-Strasse 5, 28359 Bremen,
Germany

Education Support (Southend) Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Finley Solar Holdings Pty Ltd

**

Australia

100%

Note 4

Finley Solar Farm Pty Ltd

**

Australia

100%

Note 4

Finley Solar Finance Pty Ltd

**

Australia

100%

Note 4

Finley Solar Trust

**

Australia

100%

Note 4

Fox Creek Farm Solar LLC

**

United States

90.1%

176 Mine Lake Court, Suite 100, Raleigh,
NC 27615 USA

Fox Creek HoldCo LLC

**

United States

90.1%

176 Mine Lake Court, Suite 100, Raleigh,
NC 27615 USA

Glencarbry (Holdings) Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Glencarbry Supply Company Limited

**

Ireland

100%

Arthur Cox Building, Earlsfort Terrace,
Dublin 2, Ireland
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10 Subsidiaries and other investments continued
Name

Country of incorporation

Ownership
interest

Registered office

Glencarbry Windfarm Limited

**

Ireland

100%

Arthur Cox Building, Earlsfort Terrace,
Dublin 2, Ireland

Hurontario John Laing Holdco Corp

**

Canada

100%

100 King Street West, Suite 6200,
1 First Canadian Place, Toronto, Canada,
M5X 1B8

Innovative Solar 54 LLC

**

United States

90.1%

Note 9

Innovative Solar 67 LLC

**

United States

90.1%

Note 9

IS54 HoldCo LLC

**

United States

90.1%

Note 9

IS67 HoldCo LLC

**

United States

90.1%

Note 9

John Laing Live Oak Wind OpCo LLC

**

United States

100%

Note 8

John Laing US Solar Corp

**

United States

100%

Note 8

Kabeltrasse Morbach GmbH & Co. KG

**

Germany

81.82%

Oberdorfstraße 10, 55262 Heidesheim
am Rhein, Germany

KGE Windpark Schipkau-Nord GmbH & Co. KG

**

Germany

100%

Am Nesseufer 40, 26789 Leer, Germany

KGE Schipkau-Nord Infrastruktur GmbH & Co. KG

**

Germany

85%

Am Nesseufer 40, 26789 Leer, Germany

Kiata Wind Farm Holdings Pty Limited

**

Australia

72.39%

Level 4, 30 Marcus Clarke Street,
Canberra City ACT 2601, Australia

Kiata Wind Farm Pty Limited

**

Australia

72.39%

Level 4, 30 Marcus Clarke Street,
Canberra City ACT 2601, Australia

Klettwitz Schipkau Nord Beteiligungs GmbH

**

Germany

100%

Note 7

Klettwitz SN Holdings GmbH

**

Germany

100%

Note 7

Klettwitz SN Verwaltungs GmbH

**

Germany

100%

Note 7

Live Oak Wind Class B Member LLC

**

United States

75%

1675 South Estate Street, Suite B, Dover,
DE 19901

Live Oak Wind Holdco LLC

**

United States

75%

1675 South Estate Street, Suite B, Dover,
DE 19901

Live Oak Wind Partners LLC

**

United States

75%

1675 South Estate Street, Suite B, Dover,
DE 19901

Live Oak Wind Project LLC

**

United States

75%

1675 South Estate Street, Suite B, Dover,
DE 19901

Nordergründe Holdco GmbH

**

Germany

100%

Lise-Meitner-Strasse 5, 28359 Bremen,
Germany

NorthernPathways Holding Pty Ltd

**

Australia

90%

Note 4

NorthernPathways Pty Ltd

**

Australia

90%

Note 4

NorthernPathways Project Trust

**

Australia

90%

Note 4

NorthernPathways Holding Trust

**

Australia

90%

Note 4

Parkway 6 BV

**

Netherlands

85%

Taurusavenue 100, Hoofddorp,
Netherlands

Parkway 6 Holding BV

**

Netherlands

85%

Taurusavenue 100, Hoofddorp,
Netherlands

Rammeldalsberget Vindkraft AB

**

Sweden

100%

Sveavagen 17, 111 57 Stockholm, Sweden

Rammeldalsberget Holding AB

**

Sweden

100%

Sveavagen 17, 111 57 Stockholm, Sweden

Ruta del Cacao JL Holdco SLU

**

Spain

100%

Iberia Mart I, Calle Pedro Texeira 8,
28020 Madrid, Spain

Services Support (Surrey) Holdings Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Services Support (Surrey) Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Solar House Holdings

**

France

80%

6 Avenue du Coq, 75009 Paris, France

Solar House 1

**

France

80%

6 Avenue du Coq, 75009 Paris, France
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10 Subsidiaries and other investments continued
Name

Country of incorporation

Ownership
interest

Registered office

Solar House 2

**

France

80%

6 Avenue du Coq, 75009 Paris, France

Solar House 3

**

France

80%

6 Avenue du Coq, 75009 Paris, France

Solar House 4

**

France

80%

6 Avenue du Coq, 75009 Paris, France

Sunraysia Solar Farm Holdings Pty Ltd

**

Australia

90.1%

Level 4, 5 Talavera Road, Macquarie Park,
NSW 2113, Australia

Sunraysia Solar Project Pty Ltd

**

Australia

90.1%

Level 4, 5 Talavera Road, Macquarie Park,
NSW 2113, Australia

Sunraysia Solar Project Holdings Trust

**

Australia

90.1%

Level 4, 5 Talavera Road, Macquarie Park,
NSW 2113, Australia

Sunraysia Solar Project Trust

**

Australia

90.1%

Level 4, 5 Talavera Road, Macquarie Park,
NSW 2113, Australia

Sunraysia Solar Finance Pty Ltd

**

Australia

90.1%

Level 4, 5 Talavera Road Macquarie Park,
NSW 2113, Australia

Svartvallsberget SPW AB

**

Sweden

100%

Sveavagen 17, 111 57 Stockholm, Sweden

Svartvallsberget Holding AB

**

Sweden

100%

Sveavagen 17, 111 57 Stockholm, Sweden

Uliving@Brighton (Holdco) Limited

**

United Kingdom

85%

Linkcity, Becket House, 1 Lambeth Palace
Road, London SE1 7EU

Uliving@Brighton Limited

**

United Kingdom

85%

Linkcity, Becket House, 1 Lambeth Palace
Road, London SE1 7EU

US Solar John Laing Op Co LLC

**

United States

100%

Note 8

Vierte Nordergründe Beteiligungs GmbH

**

Germany

100%

Lise-Meitner-Strasse 5, 28359 Bremen,
Germany

West Valley JL Holdco Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Wind Hold Co 1 Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Wind Project Co 1 Limited

**

United Kingdom

100%

Note 1

Windpark Horath Holding GmbH

**

Germany

100%

Note 7

Windpark Horath Verwaltungs GmbH

**

Germany

100%

Note 7

WP Horath GmbH & Co KG

**

Germany

100%

Note 7

Zweite Nordergründe Beteiligungs GmbH

**

Germany

100%

Lise-Meitner-Strasse 5, 28359 Bremen,
Germany
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10 Subsidiaries and other investments continued
Details of the Company’s joint ventures and other investments at 31 December 2020 were as follows:
Name

Country of incorporation

Ownership
interest

Registered office

Non-recourse
Joint venture project companies (measured at fair value)
A-Lanes A15 Holding BV

**

Netherlands

28%

Venkelweg 64, Hoogvliet Rotterdam,
Netherlands

A-Lanes A15 BV

**

Netherlands

28%

Venkelweg 64, Hoogvliet Rotterdam,
Netherlands

A-Lanes Management Services BV

**

Netherlands

25%

Westkanaaldijk 2, Utrecht, Netherlands

Agility Trains East (Holdings) Limited

**

United Kingdom

30%

Note 6

Agility Trains East (Midco) Limited

**

United Kingdom

30%

Note 6

Agility Trains East Limited

**

United Kingdom

30%

Note 6

Alder Hey Holdco 3 Limited

**

United Kingdom

40%

Note 2

Alder Hey Holdco 2 Limited

**

United Kingdom

40%

Note 2

Alder Hey Holdco 1 Limited

**

United Kingdom

40%

Note 2

Alder Hey (Special Purpose Vehicle) Limited

**

United Kingdom

40%

Note 2

ALTRAC Light Rail Partnership

**

Australia

32.5%

Level 7, 280 Elizabeth St Surry Hills,
NSW 2010, Australia

Celsus Holding Pty Limited

**

Australia

17.26%

c/- Royal Adelaide Hospital, Port Road,
Adelaide SA 5000, Australia

Celsus Pty Limited

**

Australia

17.26%

c/- Royal Adelaide Hospital, Port Road,
Adelaide SA 5000, Australia

Celsus Holding Trust

**

Australia

17.26%

c/- Royal Adelaide Hospital, Port Road,
Adelaide SA 5000, Australia

Celsus Trust

**

Australia

17.26%

c/- Royal Adelaide Hospital, Port Road,
Adelaide SA 5000, Australia

Concesionaria Ruta del Cacao SAS

**

Colombia

30%

Carrera 26 No. 36 – 14 oficina 702 edificio
Fénix Bucaramanga, Santander

Cramlington Renewable Energy Developments Hold Co
Limited1

**

United Kingdom

44.72%***

Note 2

Cramlington Renewable Energy Developments Limited

**

United Kingdom

44.72%***

Note 2

Cross Yarra Partnership

**

Australia

30%

Level 8, 136 Exhibition St, Melbourne VIC
3000, Australia

De Groene Boog Holding BV

**

Netherlands

47.5%

Marten Meesweg 25, Rotterdam,
Netherlands

De Groene Boog BV

**

Netherlands

47.5%

Marten Meesweg 25, Rotterdam,
Netherlands

Denver Transit Holdings LLC

**

United States

45%

Note 8

Denver Transit Partners LLC

**

United States

45%

Note 8

East Rockingham RRF Finance Co Pty Ltd.

**

Australia

40%

Note 4

East Rockingham RRF Hold Co Pty Ltd

**

Australia

40%

Note 4

East Rockingham RRF Hold Co 2 Pty Ltd.

**

Australia

40%

Note 4

East Rockingham RRF Hold Trust

**

Australia

40%

Note 4

East Rockingham RRF Hold Trust 2

**

Australia

40%

Note 4

East Rockingham RRF Project Trust

**

Australia

40%

Note 4

East Rockingham RRF Project Co Pty Ltd.

**

Australia

40%

Note 4

GelreGroen BV

**

Netherlands

40%

Taurusavenue 100, 2132 LS Hoofddorp,
Netherlands
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10 Subsidiaries and other investments continued
Name

Country of incorporation

Ownership
interest

Registered office

GelreGroen Holding BV

**

Netherlands

40%

Taurusavenue 100, 2132 LS Hoofddorp,
Netherlands

Granville Harbour Holdings Pty Ltd

**

Australia

49.8%

Level 13, 664 Collins Street, Dockland VIC
3008, Australia

Granville Harbour Holdings Trust

**

Australia

49.8%

Level 13, 664 Collins Street, Dockland VIC
3008, Australia

Granville Harbour Operations Pty Ltd

**

Australia

49.8%

Level 13, 664 Collins Street, Dockland VIC
3008, Australia

Granville Harbour Operations Trust

**

Australia

49.8%

Level 13, 664 Collins Street, Dockland VIC
3008, Australia

Hornsdale Asset Co Pty Limited

**

Australia

23.33%

Note 5

HWF Holdco 1 Pty Limited

**

Australia

30%

Note 5

HWF FinCo 1 Pty Limited

**

Australia

30%

Note 5

HWF 1 Pty Limited

**

Australia

30%

Note 5

HWF Holdco 2 Pty Limited

**

Australia

20%

Note 5

HWF FinCo 2 Pty Limited

**

Australia

20%

Note 5

HWF 2 Pty Limited

**

Australia

20%

Note 5

HWF 3 Pty Limited

**

Australia

20%

Note 5

HWF Holdco 3 Pty Limited

**

Australia

20%

Note 5

HWF FinCo 3 Pty Limited

**

Australia

20%

Note 5

I-4 Mobility Partners HoldCo LLC

**

United States

50%

Note 8

I-4 Mobility Partners Midstream LLC

**

United States

50%

Note 8

I-4 Mobility Partners Op Co LLC

**

United States

50%

Note 8

I-66 Express Mobility Partners Holding LLC

**

United States

10%

1209 Orange St, Wilmington,
Delaware 19801, USA

I-66 Express Mobility Partners LLC

**

United States

10%

1209 Orange St, Wilmington,
Delaware 19801, USA

I-77 Mobility Partners Holding LLC

**

United States

17.45%

1209 Orange St, Wilmington,
Delaware 19801, USA

I-77 Mobility Partners LLC

**

United States

17.45%

1209 Orange St, Wilmington,
Delaware 19801, USA

Laing/Gladedale (Hastings) Holdings Limited

**

United Kingdom

50%

Note 1

Laing/Gladedale (Hastings) Limited

**

United Kingdom

50%

Note 1

Laing Wimpey Alireza Limited

**

Saudi Arabia

33%

P.O. Box 2059, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia

Mobilinx Hurontario General Partnership

**

Canada

35%

110 Matheson Boulevard West, 4th Floor,
Mississauga, Ontario, Canada L5R 4G7

NGR Holding Company Pty Limited

**

Australia

40%

c/- Allens, Level 33, 101 Collins Street,
Melbourne VIC 3000, Australia

NGR Project Company Pty Limited

**

Australia

40%

c/- Allens, Level 33, 101 Collins Street,
Melbourne VIC 3000, Australia

NGR Holding Trust

**

Australia

40%

c/- Allens, Level 33, 101 Collins Street,
Melbourne VIC 3000, Australia

NGR Project Trust

**

Australia

40%

c/- Allens, Level 33, 101 Collins Street,
Melbourne VIC 3000, Australia

Oakland Corridor Partners HoldCo LLC

**

United States

40%

1209 Orange St, Wilmington, Delaware
19801, USA

Oakland Corridor Partners LLC

**

United States

40%

1209 Orange St, Wilmington, Delaware
19801, USA
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10 Subsidiaries and other investments continued
Name

Country of incorporation

Ownership
interest

Registered office

OWP Nordergründe GmbH & Co. KG

**

Germany

30%

Stephanitorsbollwerk 3, 28217 Bremen,
Germany

Palisade Granville Harbour Investments Pty Ltd

**

Australia

49.8%

Level 13, 664 Collins Street, Dockland VIC
3008, Australia

Palisade Granville Harbour Investments Trust

**

Australia

49.8%

Level 13, 664 Collins Street, Dockland VIC
3008, Australia

Speyside Renewable Energy Partnership Hold Co Limited1

**

United Kingdom

43.35%****

13 Queens Road, Aberdeen, Scotland,
AB15 4YL

Speyside Renewable Energy Finance PLC

**

United Kingdom

43.35%****

Note 2

Speyside Renewable Energy Partnership Limited

**

United Kingdom

43.35%****

13 Queens Road, Aberdeen, Scotland,
AB15 4YL

Transcend Property Limited

**

United Kingdom

50%

Note 1

Westcoast Wind Pty Ltd

**

Australia

49.8%

Level 13, 664 Collins Street, Dockland VIC
3008, Australia

Wimpey Laing Iran Limited

**

United Kingdom

50%

Gate House, Turnpike Road, High
Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, HP12 3NR

Wimpey Laing Limited

**

United Kingdom

50%

Gate House, Turnpike Road, High
Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, HP12 3NR

*

Entities owned directly by the Company.

**

Entities owned indirectly by the Company.

*** 44.72% of share capital ownership and 55.9% investment in subordinated debt loan.
**** 43.35% of share capital ownership and 51% investment in subordinated debt loan.
¹

At 31 December 2020, these entities were under administration.

Notes:
1 The registered office of these companies is: 1 Kingsway, London, WC2B 6AN.
2 The registered office of these companies is: 8 White Oak Square, London Road, Swanley, Kent, BR8 7AG.
3 The registered office of these companies is: Schiphol Boulevard 253 D-building, Schiphol, 1118 BH, The Netherlands.
4 The registered office of these companies is: Level 16, 15 Castlereagh Street, Sydney NSW 2000, Australia.
5 The registered office of these companies is: Suite 3 Level 14, 219-227 Elizabeth Street, Sydney NSW 2000, Australia.
6 The registered office of these companies is: 4th Floor 4 Copthall Avenue, London, EC2R 7DA.
7 The registered office of these companies is: Münzstraße 21, D-10178 Berlin, Germany.
8 The registered office of these companies is: 251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, Delaware 19808, USA.
9 The registered office of these companies is: 2626 Glendwood Avenue Suite 550, Raleigh, North Carolina 27608, USA.
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Details of investments in project companies
Details of the Group’s investments in project companies as at 31 December 2020 broken down by infrastructure sector are as follows:

Sector

Operational
start date

No. of
operational
years

Equity
committed/
invested
(par value)

Company name

Project name

% owned

Description

Alder Hey (Special
Purpose Vehicle)
Limited

Alder Hey
Children’s
Hospital

40%

Design, build, finance and operate
a new hospital in Liverpool costing
£167 million.

Sept 2015

30

<£10 million

Celsus Holding Pty New Royal
17.26%
Limited
Adelaide Hospital

Design, build, finance and operate
a new hospital in Adelaide, South
Australia costing AUD $1,850 million.

Jun 2017

30

£25
– £50 million

NorthernPathways Clarence
Pty Ltd
Correctional
Centre

90%

Design, build, finance and operate
a 1,700 place prison at Grafton,
New South Wales, Australia costing
AUD $719 million.

Jun 2020

20

£50
– £100 million

Uliving@Brighton
Limited

University of
Brighton Student
Accommodation

85%

Financing, development and
management of the new student
facilities.

Oct 2021

50

<£10 million

Waste and biomass East Rockingham East Rockingham
RRF Project Co. Pty Waste
Ltd.

40%

Design, build, finance and operate
a 29 MW waste-to-energy plant in
Western Australia.

Jan 2023

40

£25
– £50 million

Wind and solar
generation

Rammeldalsberget RammeldalsberVindkraft AB
get Wind Farm

100%

Design, build, finance and operate
six 2.5 MW turbines in Sweden.

Jun 2016

25

£10
– £25 million

Glencarbry
Windfarm Limited

Glencarbry Wind
Farm

100%

Design, build, finance and operate
seven 3.3 MW and five 2.5 MW turbines
in Ireland.

Jul 2017

30

£10
– £25 million

Kabeltrasse
Morbach GmbH &
Co. KG

Horath Wind
Farm

81.82%

Design, build, finance and operate nine
3.3 MW turbines in Germany.

Nov 2016

25

£10
– £25 million

HWF 1 Pty Limited

Hornsdale Wind
Farm (Phase 1)

30%

Design, build, finance and operate
32 turbines to give 100 MW total
installed capacity in Australia.

Nov 2016

30

£10
– £25 million

HWF 2 Pty Limited

Hornsdale Wind
Farm (Phase 2)

20%

Design, build, finance and operate
32 turbines to give 100 MW total
installed capacity in Australia.

Jun 2017

30

< £10 million

HWF 3 Pty Limited

Hornsdale Wind
Farm (Phase 3)

20%

Design, build, finance and operate
35 turbines to give 109 MW total
installed capacity in Australia.

Dec 2017

30

< £10 million

Kiata Wind Farm
Pty Limited

Kiata Wind Farm

72.39%

Design, build, finance and operate
a nine turbine 30 MW wind farm in
Australia.

Nov 2016

30

£10
– £25 million

Klettwitz Schipkau Klettwitz Wind
Nord Beteiligungs Farm
GmbH

100%

Design, build, finance and operate
the re-powering of a wind farm with
27 turbines to give 89 MW total
installed capacity in Germany.

Nov 2016

25

£25
– £50 million

OWP
Nordergründe
GmbH & Co. KG

Nordergründe
Offshore Wind
Farm

30%

Design, build, finance and operate
18 offshore 6.15 MW turbines in the
German North Sea.

Nov 2017

28

£25
– £50 million

John Laing US
Solar Corp

Cypress Creek
solar farms

100%

Build, finance and operate a portfolio
of five utility scale solar projects
located in North Carolina. The total
capacity of the portfolio is 258.5 MW.

Oct 2018

35

£50
– £100 million

Finley Solar Farm
Pty Ltd

Finley solar farm

100%

Design, build, finance and operate a
163 MW Solar PV farm in south west
NSW, Australia.

Dec 2019

35

£50
– £100 million

Social
Infrastructure

Environmental
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Equity
committed/
invested
(par value)

Operational
start date

No. of
operational
years

Design, build, finance and operate a
255 MW Solar PV farm in south west
NSW, Australia.

Dec 2020

35

£50
– £100 million

49.8%

Build, finance and operate a 112 MW
wind farm in Tasmania, Australia.

May 2020

30

£50
– £100 million

Cherry Tree wind
farm

100%

Design, build, finance and operate a
57.6 MW wind farm in north east
Victoria, Australia.

May 2020

30

£25
– £50 million

Live Oak Wind
Project LLC

Live Oak wind
farm

75%

A 200 MW wind farm in Schleicher
County, Texas, US.

Dec 2018

30

£50
– £100 million

CountyRoute
(A130) plc

A130

100%

Design, build, finance and operate the
A130 bypass linking the A12 and A127
in Essex at a cost of £76 million.

Feb 2003

24

< £10 million

I-4 Mobility
Partners Op Co
LLC

I-4 Ultimate

50%

Design, build, finance and operate
21 miles of the I-4 Interstate in Florida,
US at a cost of USD $2.32 billion.

Dec 2021

40

£10
– £25 million

I-77 Mobility
Partners LLC

I-77 Managed
Lanes

17.45%

Design, build, finance and operate
25.9 miles of the I-77 Interstate in
Charlotte, North Carolina, US at a cost
of USD $665 million.

Nov 2019

50

£10
– £25 million

I-66 Express
Mobility Partners
LLC

I-66 Managed
Lanes

10%

Design, build, finance, operate and
maintain 22.5 miles of managed lanes
along the I-66 corridor in Northern
Virginia, US.

Dec 2022

50

> £100 million

Parkway 6 BV

A6 Parkway
Netherlands

85%

Design, build, finance, manage and
maintain for a 20-year operational
period the A6 Almere highway in the
greater Amsterdam region.

July 2019

20

< £10 million

A-Lanes A15 BV

A15 Netherlands

28%

Design, build, finance and maintain
July 2016
the A15 highway south of Rotterdam
(about 40 kilometres) at a construction
cost of €727 million.

21

£10
– £25 million

De Groene Boog
BV

A16 Road

47.5%

Design, build and finance a new 11 km
motorway connection on the north
side of Rotterdam.

Dec 2023

20

£25
– £50 million

Oakland Corridor
Partners LLC

I-75 Road

40%

Design, build, finance and maintain a
Aug 2023
5.5 mile existing section and four mile
new section of the I-75 at a construction
cost of $629 million.

25

£10
– £25 million

Boston AFC 2.0
Opco LLC

MBTA Automated 90%
Fare Collection
System

Design, build, finance, maintenance
and operation of a replacement to the
automated fare collection system
across the Boston public transport
system at a construction cost of
$204 million.

10

£10
– £25 million

Concesionaria
Ruta del Cacao
SAS

Ruta del Cacao

Design, build, finance, maintenance
May 2022
and operation of 236km of road
connecting the cities of Bucaramanga,
Barrancabermeja and Yondó, Colombia.

22.5

£50
– £100 million

Company name

Project name

% owned

Description

Sunraysia Solar
Project Pty Ltd

Sunraysia solar
farm

90.1%

Granville Harbour Granville wind
Operations Pty Ltd farm
Cherry Tree Wind
Farm Pty Ltd

Transport
Roads and other

30%

Feb 2022
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Sector

Equity
committed/
invested
(par value)

Operational
start date

No. of
operational
years

Provision and maintenance of 75
new six-car trains for Queensland
Rail, Australia. Construction cost
AUD $1.8 billion.

Dec 2019

26.5

£10
– £25 million

45%

Design, build, finance, maintenance
and operation of passenger rail
systems in Denver, Colorado.
Construction cost USD $1.27 billion.

Apr 2019

25

£10
– £25 million

32.5%

Design, build, finance, operate and
maintain both the Central Business
District and South East Light Rail and
to operate and maintain the Inner
West Light Rail in Sydney, Australia.

Mar 2020

16

£50
– £100 million

Melbourne Metro 30%

Design, build, finance, operate and
maintain twin nine-kilometre tunnels
and five new underground stations
in Melbourne, Australia.

Sep 2024

25

£25
– £50 million

Agility Trains East
Limited

IEP East

15%

Delivery and maintenance of intercity
train services on the East Coast Main
Line (UK) using a fleet of new Super
Express Trains and maintenance
facilities. Construction cost £1.6 billion.

Jun 2020

40

£50
– £100 million

Mobilinx
Hurontario
General
Partnership
Project Co

Hurontario
Light Rail

35%

Design, build, finance, operate and
maintain the Hurontario Light Rail
project on Ontario, Canada.

Sep 2024

30

£10
– £25 million

Company name

Project name

% owned

Description

NGR Project
Company Pty
Limited

New Generation
Rollingstock

40%

Denver Transit
Partners LLC

Denver Eagle P3

ALTRAC Light Rail
Partnership

Sydney Light Rail

Cross Yarra
Partnership

Rail and rolling
stock

John Laing Group plc
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Financial diary
4 March 2021
29 April 2021
30 April 2021
6 May 2021		
14 May 2021
August 2021
October 2021

Principal Group banks
Full year results presentation
Ex-dividend date for final dividend
Record date for final dividend
Annual General Meeting
Payment of final dividend
Announcement of half year results
Interim dividend expected to be paid

Updates to the financial calendar will be made on the Company’s website
www.laing.com when they become available.

Registered Office and Company Secretary
The Company’s Registered Office is:
1 Kingsway
London WC2B 6AN

Barclays Bank PLC
1 Churchill Place
Canary Wharf
London E14 5HP

HSBC UK Bank plc
71 Queen Victoria Street
London EC4V 4AY

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited
40 Bank Street
Canary Wharf
London E14 5EJ

MUFG Bank, Limited

Auditor

Ropemaker Place
25 Ropemaker Street
London EC2Y 9AN

Deloitte LLP

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation

1 New Street Square
London EC4A 3BZ

99 Queen Victoria Street
London EC4V 4EH

Solicitors

Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank

Clare Underwood is the Group Company Secretary

Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP
65 Fleet Street
London EC4Y 1HS

Joint stockbrokers
Barclays Bank PLC
5 The North Colonnade
Canary Wharf
London E14 4BB

Peel Hunt LLP

Broadwalk House
5 Appold Street
London EC2A 2DA

ABN AMRO Bank NV
Gustav Mahlerlaan 10
1082 PP Amsterdam
The Netherlands

National Australia Bank Limited
52 Lime Street
London EC3M 7AF

100 Liverpool Street
London
EC2M 2AT

AIB Group (UK) P.L.C.

Independent valuer

Registrars

KPMG LLP

Equiniti Limited

15 Canada Square
Canary Wharf
London E14 5GL

Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing
West Sussex BN99 6DA

1 Undershaft
London EC3A 8AB

Please contact the Registrars at the address above to advise of a change
of address or for any enquiries relating to dividend payments, lost share
certificates or other share registration matters. The Registrars provide
online facilities at www.shareview.co.uk. Once you have registered you will
be able to access information on your John Laing Group plc shareholding,
update your personal details and amend your dividend payment
instructions online without having to call or write to the Registrars.
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Registrars queries
Information on how to manage your shareholdings can be found at
https://help.shareview.co.uk. The pages at this web address provide
answers to commonly asked questions regarding shareholder registration,
links to downloadable forms and guidance notes.
If your question is not answered by the information provided, you can send
your enquiry via secure email from the pages at https://help.shareview.
co.uk. You will be asked to complete a structured form and to provide your
Shareholder Reference, name and address. You will also need to provide
your email address if this is how you would like to receive your response.
Alternatively you can telephone: 0371 384 2030. Lines are open from
8.30am to 5.30pm (UK time) Monday to Friday, excluding public holidays
in England and Wales.
Calls from overseas: +44 121 415 7047.

Company website
The Company’s website at www.laing.com contains the latest information
for shareholders. Email alerts of the latest news, press releases and
financial reports about John Laing Group plc may be obtained by
registering for the email news alert service on the website.

Share price information
The latest price of the Company’s ordinary shares is available
on www.laing.com.

Dividends
Shareholders holding shares directly may opt for dividends to be paid
straight to their bank or building society account, rather than being paid
by cheque. To elect for this swift and secure method of payment, contact
the Registrars, visit www.shareview.com or fill in the mandate form that will
be sent to you with your next dividend cheque.

Share dealing services
The Registrars offer a real-time telephone and internet dealing service
for UK residents. Further details including terms and rates can be obtained
by logging on to the website at www.shareview.co.uk/dealing or by calling
03456 037 037. Lines are open from 8:30am to 5:30pm (UK time) Monday to
Friday for dealing, excluding public holidays in England and Wales. For EEA
residents, the Registrars offer a postal share dealing service. Details can
be found at www.shareview.co.uk/dealing.

John Laing Group plc

John Laing Group plc
Registered Office:
1 Kingsway
London
WC2B 6AN
United Kingdom
Registered No. 05975300
Tel: +44 (0)20 7901 3200
Further copies of this Annual Report and Accounts
are available by visiting the Company’s website
or at the address above

www.laing.com

